# Southampton

# University of Southampton Research Repository

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis and, where applicable, any accompanying data are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis and the accompanying data cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder/s. The content of the thesis and accompanying research data (where applicable) must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder/s.

When referring to this thesis and any accompanying data, full bibliographic details must be given, e.g.

Thesis: Author (Year of Submission) "Full thesis title", University of Southampton, name of the University Faculty or School or Department, PhD Thesis, pagination.

Data: Author (Year) Title. URI [dataset]

# **UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON**

Faculty of Medicine

Clinical and Experimental Sciences

Capturing the intra- and extracellular redox metabolome by mass spectrometry -Significance of sample processing and methodology

by

**Thomas Rupert Sutton** 

Thesis for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

September 2019

#### UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON

## **ABSTRACT**

Faculty of Medicine

**Clinical and Experimental Sciences** 

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

### Capturing the intra- and extracellular redox metabolome by mass spectrometry -

#### Significance of sample processing and methodology

#### **Thomas Rupert Sutton**

Oxidative stress has recently become understood as a disruption of redox signalling and control, and is strongly associated with a wide number of physiological conditions and diseases. Redox metabolism plays a key role in the defence of cells against oxidative damage. Attempts to produce better outcomes in these conditions by correcting the redox imbalance with antioxidants have produced mixed results at best. Therefore, there is an increasing need to better understand redox metabolism and how the many redox pathways involved are connected.

In particular, hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) has emerged as a key signalling molecule in redox regulation, along with its associated metabolites and redox pathways. Whilst there are existing analytical methods available for the analysis of H<sub>2</sub>S and its metabolites, they are often limited in scope, and neglect detailed investigation of important steps in the analysis including sample processing. The ascorbate metabolome comprises a separate redox pathway and has close links to the sulfide metabolome. Some aspects of the ascorbate metabolome, such as ascorbic acid-2-sulfate, however have not been widely analysed in humans.

In order to better understand the sulfide redox metabolome, an ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS) based method was developed to quantify sulfide and other key metabolites. Important aspects of sample processing including collection, preparation and storage, were investigated to determine their impact on the measured metabolites. *N*-Ethylmaleimide was used to trap the sulfide and prevent oxidation and degradation of the other metabolites. The same method was then utilised to analyse persulfides and polysulfides, which are additional redox relevant sulfide related metabolites. The kinetics of the trapping reactions were also investigated in more detail. Additionally, a UHPLC-MS method for the simultaneous analysis of the two key components of ascorbate metabolism, ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid along with ascorbic acid-2sulfate was developed, and specific aspects of sample preparation for this analysis investigated.

The developed method for the analysis of the sulfide metabolome was successfully applied to the analysis of plasma from a cohort of ten healthy volunteers as a proof of concept study. This robust and versatile method could be easily applied to both existing sample cohorts and new studies, and provide new insights into sulfur redox metabolism. It could also be used in conjunction with stable isotope tracing and established methodologies for the analysis of other redox metabolomes. The analysis of polysulfides provided new insights into previously unknown sulfur related metabolic activities of the antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase. The method for the analysis of the ascorbate metabolome requires further work due to factors involving sample processing.

# **Table of Contents**

Table	of Conte	ents	i
List of	Tables .		vii
List of	Figures	and Schemes	ix
DECLA	RATION	I OF AUTHORSHIP	xxi
Ackno	wledger	ments	xxiii
Definit	tions an	d Abbreviations	xxv
Chapte	er 1:	Introduction	1
1.1	Oxida	tive Stress and Redox Regulation	2
1.2	Redo	x: The $H_2S$ and NO Metabolomes	3
1.3	The S	ulfur Redox Metabolome – Sulfide and Thiols	4
	1.3.1	Sulfide	5
	1.3.2	Sulfate	6
	1.3.3	Glutathione	7
	1.3.4	Glutathione Cycle Thiols	8
	1.3.5	Cysteine	9
	1.3.6	N-Acetylcysteine	11
	1.3.7	Homocysteine	12
	1.3.8	Methanethiol	13
1.4	Analy	sis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols and Sulfide	14
	1.4.1	Ellman's Reagent	15
	1.4.1	Sulfur Selective Electrode	15
	1.4.2	Methylene Blue	16
	1.4.3	Monobromobimane	16
	1.4.4	Iodoacetamide	17
	1.4.5	N-Ethylmaleimide	
1.5	React	ive Sulfur Species: Persulfides and Polysulfides	19
	1.5.1	Biochemistry of Polysulfides	19
	1.5.2	Analysis of Polysulfides	21
1.6	Ascor	bate Metabolome	23

	1.6.1	Ascorbic acid	23
	1.6.2	Dehydroascorbic acid	24
	1.6.3	Ascorbic acid-2-sulfate	26
	1.6.4	Analysis of the Ascorbate Metabolome2	27
1.7	The NO	Metabolome – Arginine and Related Metabolites	29
	1.7.1	Nitric oxide	30
	1.7.2	Arginine Synthesis and the Urea Cycle	31
	1.7.3	Production of NO	32
	1.7.4	Arginine Methylation	33
	1.7.5	Creatine and Creatinine	35
1.8	Crosstal	k	36
	1.8.1	Methylation	37
	1.8.2	Direct NO/H <sub>2</sub> S Interaction	37
	1.8.1	Antioxidant Enzymes and Reactive Sulfur Species	38
	1.8.2	Ascorbate and Sulfur Metabolism	39
1.9	Liquid C	hromatography and Mass Spectrometry4	10
1.10	) Use of S	table Isotopes	<b>ļ</b> 1
1.11	L Summar	γζ	13
Chapte	er 2:	Thesis Hypothesis and Overview	17
2.1	Thesis H	ypothesis	<b>1</b> 7
2.2	Approad	۲۲	17
Chapte	er 3:	Redox Analysis of Thiols and Sulfide	51
3.1	Introduc	ction5	51
	3.1.1	Use of Liquid Chromatography Couple with Tandem Mass Spectrometry	/
		for the Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols	53
	3.1.2	Opportunities and Challenges in Analysis of Low Molecular Weight	
		Thiols and Sulfide in Biological Matrices	54
	3.1.3	Bound and Total Thiols and Sulfide	57
3.2	Method	S5	58
	3.2.1	UHPLC-MS/MS Development and Optimisation	59

	3.2.2	Derivatisation of thiols and sulfide	66
	3.2.3	Method Validation	66
	3.2.4	Sample Collection, Preparation, Storage and Optimisation	67
	3.2.1	Bound and Total Thiols and Sulfide	68
3.3	Results		69
	3.3.1	UHPLC-MS/MS Development and Optimisation	69
	3.3.2	Optimisation of NEM Derivatisation Reaction Conditions	77
	3.3.3	Optimisation of Sample Preparation	79
	3.3.4	Optimisation of Total and Bound Thiol Analysis with DTT	84
	3.3.5	Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols and Sulfide in Plasma	86
3.4	Discussi	on	89
	3.4.1	UHPLC-MS/MS Method Development	89
	3.4.1	Optimisation of NEM Derivatisation Reaction Conditions	92
	3.4.1	Optimisation of Sample Preparation	93
	3.4.2	Optimisation of Total and Bound Thiol Analysis with DTT	96
	3.4.3	Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols and Sulfide in Plasma	97
3.5	Conclus	ion	98
Chapte	er 4:	Pitfalls in the Analysis of Biological Polysulfides1	01
4.1	Introduc	ction1	01
	4.1.1	Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides1	02
	4.1.2	High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides1	03
	4.1.3	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following	
		Chemical Derivatisation1	03
	4.1.4	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides1	05
	4.1.5	Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant	
		Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase1	06
4.2	Method	s1	08
	4.2.1	Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides1	08
	4.2.2	High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides	09

	4.2.3	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following	5
		Chemical Derivatisation	. 109
	4.2.4	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides	. 113
	4.2.5	Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant	
		Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase	. 113
4.3	Results		. 115
	4.3.1	Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides	. 115
	4.3.2	High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides	. 117
	4.3.3	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following	5
		Chemical Derivatisation	. 120
	4.3.4	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides	. 130
	4.3.5	Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant	
		Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase	. 132
4.4	Discussi	ion	. 134
	4.4.1	Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides	. 134
	4.4.2	High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides	. 135
	4.4.3	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following	5
		Chemical Derivatisation	. 136
	4.4.4	UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides	. 141
	4.4.5	Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant	
		Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase	. 142
4.5	Conclus	ion	. 144
Chapte	er 5:	Kinetics of Thiol Derivatisation	. 147
5.1	Introdu	ction	. 147
	511	<i>N</i> -ethylmaleimide	149
	5.1.2	lodoacetamide	. 149
	5.1.3	Monobromobimane	. 150
ГЭ	NAO+be-		150
5.2		15	150
5.3	Results		. 152
	5.3.1	N-ethylmaleimide	. 152

	5.3.2	Iodoacetamide	153
	5.3.3	Monobromobimane	155
5.4	Discus	sion	157
	5.4.1	N-ethylmaleimide	
	5.4.2	Iodoacetamide	
	5.4.3	Monobromobimane	
5.5	Conclu	ısion	162
Chapt	er 6:	Ascorbate Redox Analysis	165
6.1	. Introd	uction	165
	6.1.1	Supercritical Fluid Chromatography	167
	6.1.2	Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography	
	6.1.3	Sample Analysis, Preparation and Stability	
6.2	Metho	ods	170
	6.2.1	Supercritical Fluid Chromatography	
	6.2.2	Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography	
	6.2.3	Sample Analysis, Preparation and Stability	172
6.3	Result	s	173
	6.3.1	Supercritical Fluid Chromatography	
	6.3.2	Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography	
	6.3.3	Sample Analysis, Preparation and Stability	178
6.4	Discus	sion	
	6.4.1	Supercritical Fluid Chromatography	
	6.4.2	Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography	
	6.4.3	Sample Preparation, Analysis and Stability	
6.5	Conclu	ision	
Chapt	er 7:	Further Work	189
7 1	Outloc	ok	189
7.2	Thiols	and Sulfide	
7.3	Polvsu	lfides and Persulfides	
-	1		

7.4	Small Polar Metabolites and NO193
7.5	Ascorbate Redox Analysis194
7.6	Stable Isotope Tracing194
Append	ix A UHPLC-MS/MS Development197
A.1	Mass Spectrometry Settings197
Append	ix B Polysulfides and Persulfides199
B.1	Mass Spectrometry Settings199
B.2	Additional data generated for NEM and IAM concentration series
Append	ix C Small Polar Metabolites203
C.1	UHPSFC Mass Spectrometry Settings 203
Bibliogr	aphy

# List of Tables

Table 1:	Chromatographic conditions for thiol analysis on a reversed phase $C_{18}$ column, A
	= $H_2O$ + 5 mM ammonium acetate, B = 95% ACN + 5% $H_2O$ + 5 mM ammonium
	acetate and on a mixed mode Aqua UPLC column, A = $H_2O$ + 0.15 % formic acid
	and 5 mM ammonium formate, B = 95% acetonitrile + 5% $H_2O$ + 0.15% formic
	acid and 5 mM ammonium formate. The flow rate for all gradients and columns
	was 0.2 ml/min61
Table 2:	Structures, MS parameters, elution times and limits of detection (LOD) and
	quantification (LOQ) for the 12 analytes and 3 internal standards investigated.
	(n.d not determined) <sup>293</sup> 62
Table 3:	Free, total and bound concentrations of the 10 aminothiols and sulfide
	measured in human plasma from 10 individuals and redox ratios of the key
	redox pairs. *The measured concentrations of CySS are not physiologically
	accurate due to poor peak shape and ion suppression. Columns 1–10 show the
	mean $\pm$ SD of 3 technical replicate measures performed on plasma from 10
	individuals. Outliers were identified by our collaborators in the Cortese-Krott
	research group by applying the ROUT test, marked in <i>italics</i> , and excluded from
	descriptive statistics (mean ± SEM) <sup>293</sup> 87
Table 4:	Chromatographic conditions for NEM or IAM derivatised polysulfide analysis, A =
	$H_2O$ + 5 mM ammonium acetate, B = 95% ACN + 5% $H_2O$ + 5 mM ammonium
	acetate111
Table 5:	Precursor and fragment ion pairs used for the analysis of NEM and IAM alkylated
	polysulfide species112
Table 6:	Exact and measured accurate masses for polysulfide radical ions, thiosulfate and
	other observed species in the experiment depicted in Figure 18
Table 7:	MRM settings for SFC analysis of ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid
	(DHA) using negative ion electrospray ionisation (ESI-)171
Table 8:	Final MRM setting for UHPLC analysis of ascorbic acid (Asc), dehydroascorbic
	acid (DHA) and ascorbic acid-2-sulfate (AAS) using positive ion (ESI+) and
	negative ion (ESI-) electrospray ionisation171

Table 13:	Additional mass spectrometry settings for the NEM-thiol UHPLC-MS/MS method
Table 14:	Additional mass spectrometry settings for the ascorbic acid UHPSFC-MS/MS

## **List of Figures and Schemes**

- Figure 1:
   The major products of the direct crosstalk between nitric oxide and hydrogen

   sulfide at physiological conditions. SULFI/NO: N-nitrosohydroxylamine-N 

   sulfonate, SSNO<sup>-</sup>: nitrosopersulfide, RSSn<sup>-</sup> and HSn<sup>-</sup>: polysulfides<sup>10</sup>.....1

- Figure 4:Metabolic pathways defining the thiol redox metabolome<sup>293</sup>. For a more detailed<br/>overview of the metabolic pathways involved, see section 1.3.52

- Figure 7: Exemplary chromatographic separations using the developed method on a reversed phase C<sub>18</sub> column in both a standard mixture (A) and in human plasma (B). A) Chromatographic separation and selective detection by tandem mass spectrometry of authentic stock solutions of all analytes using selected MRM time windows B) Representative chromatogram of the same analytes at their

natural abundance in human plasma using specific MRM time windows for selected groups of compounds<sup>293</sup>. MRM settings used are listed in **Table 2** and chromatographic conditions in **Table 1**......71

- Figure 9:Stable isotope labelled internal standard chromatograms for the three classes of<br/>compounds analysed,  ${}^{13}C_2{}^{15}N$ -GSH for the reduced thiols,  ${}^{13}C_4{}^{15}N_2$ -GSSG for the<br/>oxidised thiols and D10-NEM2-Sulfide for the sulfide. The structure of each<br/>standard is shown above the relevant peak. The ratio of the peak area/internal<br/>standard peak area is used for quantification of analytes in samples. Final<br/>concentrations of the internal standards in samples were 100 nM GSH, 200 nM<br/>GSSG and 100 nM sulfide.
- Figure 10:Linearity of detector response for main analytes (n=3) over a range of 5 nM 1 $\mu$ M representative of the concentrations of analytes in biological samples afterdilution for analysis (see section 2.2.6 for details). All analytes show excellentlinearity over the range measured with overall r<sup>2</sup> values of between 0.994 and0.999<sup>293</sup>.76
- Figure 11: Effects of pH on the measurement of aminothiols and sulfide using NEM<sup>293</sup>. The effect of pH was investigated in a simple aqueous buffer (A) and in plasma (B). A) Standard curves were prepared at four different pHs, 6, 7.4 (physiological), 8, and 9, using NEM in ammonium phosphate buffer at the appropriate pH. In the inset graphs, the percentage change in peak area/internal standard peak area relative to the pH 7.4 buffer is shown for the highest standard, 1 μM, on a linear scale. The largest impact of pH is seen for Cys with a tenfold decrease in peak area from pH 6 to pH 9, sulfide shows the least difference between the different pHs. Data are from 2 independent measurements. Inset, for GSH and sulfide the difference between groups was not significant. B) The percentage changes in peak area/internal standard area is

Figure 12: Optimisation of sample preparation procedure: anticoagulation, and stabilisation with NEM<sup>293</sup>. For all experiments A-D, NEM (or other thiolalkylating agent) was added directly to whole blood after which the sample was centrifuged at 800x g for 10 min at room temperature. In experiment E NEM was added to plasma directly after separation from blood cells by the same centrifugation protocol. A) The choice of anticoagulant affects the concentrations of thiol measured; because of its metal chelating properties EDTA is the most suitable anticoagulant for assessment of the thiol redox metabolome. B) Delay in addition of NEM to whole blood leads to progressive decreases in GSH and CysGly concentrations as compared to time = 0. C) The apparent concentrations of GSH and sulfide increase with increasing concentrations of NEM when added to whole blood. D) The concentration of sulfide detected increases with increasing concentrations of alkylating agents added to whole blood. E) The NEM concentration-dependent increases of GSH levels were not observed when NEM was added to plasma (although absolute GSH concentrations were considerably lower), suggesting that these increases were largely due to leakage of GSH from blood cells; however, apparent plasma sulfide concentrations still increased with increasing NEM concentrations, suggesting removal of sulfide from bound forms in plasma at elevated concentrations of the alkylating agent. For all panels data were obtained by analysis of two independent biological samples taken from different human individuals (mean ± SD); measurements were carried out at least in duplicate.80

Figure 13: Optimisation of sample preparation procedures: A) and B) Addition of NEM before or after removal of red blood cells with two centrifugation methods. C) and D) Effect of freeze thawing and sample storage. A) When NEM is added to whole blood the centrifugation time and speed has a drastic effect on some of the measured thiols, particularly GSH and sulfide with the longer time/slower speed giving much higher levels. This is likely due to NEM induced leakage of these compounds from the RBCs. B) The same effect not being observed when NEM is added to plasma supporting this hypothesis. The longer centrifugation

xi

Figure 14: Optimisation of DTT reduction conditions, in each experiment key analytes were chosen to monitor the effect of different reaction conditions. A) Optimisation of DTT concentration required to fully reduce a plasma sample using a reaction time of 10 min (Data shown representative of n = 3 samples collected from separate individuals). Increasing the concentration of DTT from 10 – 50 mM results in an increase in all of the analytes, further increasing it to 100 mM only results in an increase in sulfide concentration with the other analytes remaining the same as 50 mM or decreasing. B) Optimisation of reaction time required for full reduction of a representative plasma sample using a DTT concentration of 50 mM. Increasing the reaction time from 5 – 20 min does not have much of an impact on the concentrations of the analytes tested. A reaction time of 30 min results in a drop in GSH and Cys concentrations.

- Figure 16:Direct infusion electrospray ionisation MS detection of aqueous inorganic<br/>polysulfides. A) Mixed potassium polysulfide, B) Sodium trisulfide, C) Sodium<br/>tetrasulfide. The observed polysulfide m/z are,  $S_2^{\bullet}$  63.9,  $S_3^{\bullet}$  95.9 and  $S_4^{\bullet}$  127.7,<br/>measured m/z varies slightly due to the low resolution of the mass<br/>spectrometer. Thiosulfate is also visible either occurring as a contaminant in the<br/>stock or an oxidation product after dissolution of the polysulfides stock. There is<br/>no significant difference in the measured polysulfide speciation regardless of the<br/>starting material used.
- Figure 17:Direct infusion electrospray ionisation MS detection of aqueous sodiumtetrasulfide before (A) and after (B and C) addition of IAM. B shows the presence

of alkylated polysulfide species (and associated sodiated peaks) in positive ionisation mode. **C** shows the absence of the polysulfide peaks in negative ionisation mode observed before IAM addition (**A**). There appears to be a change in polysulfide speciation after addition of IAM with the most abundant species observed shifting from trisulfide to disulfide......116

Figure 18:High-resolution direct infusion of aqueous inorganic polysulfides collected using<br/>a Waters SYNAPT G2-Si ESI-ToF-MS. All of the spectra are representative of n = 5<br/>experiments with similar results conducted under identical conditions. A) Full<br/>spectrum showing the observed peaks for disulfide  $(S_2^{\bullet})$ , trisulfide  $(S_3^{\bullet})$  and<br/>tetrasulfide  $(S_4^{\bullet})$  radical anions as well as thiosulfate and sulfuric acid. B) + C)<br/>Highlighted sections of the mass spectrum showing the trisulfide (B) and<br/>tetrasulfide (C) radical anion peaks and their M+2 isotope peaks.

Figure 21: Effects of alkylating conditions on polysulfide speciation using NEM (A) and IAM (B). Preparation methods: 1) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 900 μl buffer with 100 μl NEM/IAM solution. 2a) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 900 μl water, then 100 μl NEM/IAM was added after dissolving, 2b) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 900 μl water with 100 μl NEM/IAM 3) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 1000 μl water, then 100 μl of the solution was added to 800 μl buffer with 100 μl NEM/IAM.

only  $S_2$  and  $S_1$  were detected with  $S_2$  being more abundant. Conditions 2a) and 2b) show the same pattern of  $S_2>S_1>S_3$  whilst condition 3) shows  $S_1$  as most abundant with only  $S_2$  and no higher-chain polysulfides detected. **B:** With IAM all four of the conditions show the speciation pattern  $S_1>S_2>S_3>S_5>S_4>S_6$ . ..... 122

- Figure 23: Effect of pH on the measured speciation of polysulfides after derivatisation with NEM. A) Disulfide salt, B) trisulfide salt and C) tetrasulfide salt. Increasing pH leads to the speciation pattern shifting towards lower chain lengths for all three of the tested polysulfide salts.
- Figure 24: Effect of pH on the measured speciation of polysulfides after derivatisation with IAM. A) Disulfide salt, B) trisulfide salt and C) tetrasulfide salt. Changing the pH of the reaction mixture does not appear to significantly affect speciation pattern for all three of the tested polysulfide salts.
- Figure 25: Impact of the addition NEM to fully IAM alkylated polysulfides. A) Observed IAM alkylated polysulfide species before and after the addition of NEM. In all species, there is a decrease after the addition of NEM, but it is much greater for tetrasulfide and pentasulfide. B) The appearance of sulfide and polysulfide species alkylated with both IAM and NEM. Both tetrasulfide and pentasulfide show a decrease in abundance between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition whilst the sulfide, disulfide and trisulfide after addition of NEM. The disulfide shows a decrease in abundance between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition wholly NEM alkylated sulfide and disulfide after addition of NEM. The disulfide shows a decrease in abundance between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition whilst the sulfide shows an increase. 129

- Figure 28: Short-term measurements of the production of persulfide by SOD metabolism of Na<sub>2</sub>S. A) The impact of SOD concentration on the initial production of persulfide from 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S. Increasing the concentration of SOD increases the rate of formation of persulfide, at elevated SOD concentrations the persulfide starts to form within 10 seconds. B) Addition of the radical scavenger DMPO (2 mM) does not affect the production of persulfide by 10 μM SOD + 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S. .133
- Figure 30:Rates of reaction of IAM with example reduced thiols and sulfide. A) GSH with a<br/>1:1 molar ratio, B) Cys with a 1:1 molar ratio, C) Hcys with a 1:1 molar ratio, D)<br/>Methanethiol with a 1:1 molar ratio and E) sulfide with a 2:1 molar ratio<br/>(IAM:sulfide). The reaction of IAM with reduced thiols and sulfide proceeds with<br/>first order reaction kinetics.

- Figure 32:Rates of reaction of MBB with example reduced thiols and sulfide. A) GSH with a<br/>1:1 molar ratio, B) Cys with a 1:1 molar ratio, C) Hcys with a 1:1 molar ratio, D)<br/>Methanethiol with a 1:1 molar ratio and E) sulfide with a 2:1 molar ratio<br/>(MBB:sulfide). The reaction of MBB with reduced thiols and sulfide proceeds<br/>with first order reaction kinetics.
- Figure 34: A and B, faster 6 min elution gradient with 98% MeOH, 2% H<sub>2</sub>O and 25 mM ammonium formate co-solvent for the seoaration of Asc and DHA. C and D, the effect of ammonia in the co-solvent for the analysis of DHA using the shorter 6 min gradient. C) DHA with 100% MeOH co-solvent. D) DHA with 98% MeOH, 2% H<sub>2</sub>O + 0.5% ammonia co-solvent. The addition of ammonia to the co-solvent significantly effects the peak shape for DHA to the point where no peak is visible.

- Figure 36:Effect of formic acid concentration on the chromatographic separation of Asc,<br/>DHA and AAS. With 0.1% formic acid (A) AAS has significant peak tailing which<br/>interferes with the measured peak for Asc. With 1.0% formic acid (B) the peak<br/>shape for AAS is much improved and the Asc becomes more distinct.......177
- Figure 37:Analysis of DHA using negative ion (ESI-) and positive ion (ESI+) electrospray<br/>ionisation. Positive ionisation gives 10-fold higher signal than negative ionisation<br/>when measuring the same standard mix.178
- Figure 39:Initial investigations into the stability of Asc in plasma, all blood samples were<br/>immediately spun down after collection and the plasma was extracted with<br/>metaphosphoric acid. A) The difference in measured Asc levels in freshly<br/>collected plasma using EDTA and heparin blood tubes. Higher levels of Asc are<br/>recorded using EDTA tubes. B) Asc stability in plasma collected in both EDTA and<br/>heparin blood tubes in the sample manager (set to 4°C) over 72 min. Both<br/>plasma samples show significant drops in Asc concentration, more so in heparin<br/>than EDTA. C) Asc stability in plasma collected using both EDTA and heparin<br/>tubes after freezing at -80°C, there is a large drop in the measured Asc<br/>concentration after one freeze thaw for both tubes. D) Effect of spinning out and<br/>removing the proteins after MPA addition before or after freezing. All samples<br/>were stored in the same manner at -80°C. Leaving the proteins in the sample<br/>during storage decreases the measured levels of Asc.
- Figure 41: Chemical structure of the electrophile HPE-IAM compared to IAM......192

Figure 43:Measured polysulfide speciation with a series of NEM concentrations using<br/>different polysulfide salts. A) 0.0031 g mixed potassium polysulfide  $(K_2S_x)$  in 1 ml<br/> $H_2O.$  B) 0.0054 g mixed potassium polysulfide  $(Na_2S_x)$  in 2 ml  $H_2O.$  C) 0.0038 g<br/>mixed potassium polysulfide  $(K_2S_x)$  in 1 ml  $H_2O.$  D) 0.0018 g sodium trisulfide<br/> $(Na_2S_3)$  in 1 ml  $H_2O$  (120  $\mu$ M). E) 0.0017 g sodium tetrasulfide  $(Na_2S_4)$  in 10 ml<br/> $H_2O$  (10  $\mu$ M).200

Pathways for the synthesis of sulfate from cysteine via sulfide and cysteine Scheme 1: sulfinate<sup>59</sup>, **CSE**: Cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase, **CBS**: Cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase, **CDO**: Cysteine dioxygenase, **SQR**: sulfide quinone reductase, **TRD**: thioredoxin reductase ......7 Scheme 2: Synthesis and recycling of glutathione, the major controlling metabolic pathway Scheme 3: Metabolic pathways of cysteine including synthesis from homocysteine and Nacetylcysteine, and the production of  $H_2S$  by cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase (CSE), cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) and 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase Scheme 4: Key biological reactions of homocysteine in the methionine cycle and transsulfuration pathway (see also scheme 2) ......12 Scheme 5: Synthesis pathways of methanethiol from methionine and bacterial sources, and recycling of methanethiol to sulfide, which can feed back into the wider sulfur redox metabolome......13

Scheme 6:	Example of the reaction of Ellman's reagent with a reduced thiol (Cys)15
Scheme 7:	Reaction of <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethyl- <i>p</i> -phenylenediamine with H <sub>2</sub> S to form methylene blue <sup>18</sup> 16
Scheme 8:	Reaction of monobromobimane (MBB) with sulfide to form sulfur dibimane (SDB) <sup>18</sup> and with cysteine (as an example reduced thiol) forming a thiol-bimane adduct
Scheme 9:	Reaction of iodoacetamide (IAM) with the thiol cysteine forming the carboxamidomethyl cysteine derivative17
Scheme 10:	Alkylation of the reduced thiol cysteine and sulfide by <i>N</i> -Ethylmaleimide (NEM), note that reduced thiols such as cysteine react with a 1:1 molar ratio whilst sulfide reacts with a 1:2 molar ratio with NEM
Scheme 11:	The ascorbate redox pathway: The redox pair ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) with the sulfated metabolite of Asc, ascorbic acid-2- sulfate (AAS). The degradation pathway of dehydroascorbic acid to diketogulonic acid can account for loss of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid from this redox system. Crucially the oxidation of ascorbic acid is reversible but the degradation of dehydroascrobic acid to diketogulonic acid is irreversible23
Scheme 12:	Metabolic pathways of arginine – the urea cycle, NO production, and synthesis of homoarginine
Scheme 13:	Methylation of arginine and its further metabolic pathways
Scheme 14:	The arginine-creatine pathway and its interaction with the methionine cycle ( <b>Scheme 4</b> )
Scheme 15:	The production of NO from nitrite via polysulfide formation <sup>13</sup> 37
Scheme 16:	Reduction of a thiol disulfide by dithiothreitol (DTT) <sup>310</sup> 57
Scheme 17:	Alkylation of inorganic polysulfides by <i>N</i> -ethylmaleimide (NEM) and iodoacetamide (IAM). NEM reacts with nucleophiles such as polysulfides via Michael addition whilst IAM reacts through a nucleophilic substitution (S <sub>N</sub> 2) reaction <sup>107,325</sup> 103
Scheme 18:	Experimental workflow for the first set of polysulfide preparation experiments ( <b>Figure 21</b> ). The buffer used was pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate, in all four

	conditions the samples were diluted to the same concentration (based on the
	initial polysulfide concentration) before analysis. All experiments were
	performed at room temperature
Scheme 19:	Experimental workflow for the second set of polysulfide preparation
	experiments (Figure 22). Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>x</sub> , where $x = 2$ , 3 or 4, the buffer used was pH 7.4
	ammonium phosphate. All experiments were performed at room temperature
	and repeated three times 111
Scheme 20:	Example of heterolytic cleavage of IAM alkylated polysulfide and subsequent
	reaction with NEM to form a mixed alkylated species
Scheme 21:	Example of homolytic cleavage IAM alkylated polysulfide and subsequent
	reaction with NEM to form two mixed alkylated species
Scheme 22:	Example of hydrolysis induced IAM polysulfide fragmentation and subsequent
	reaction with NEM to form mixed alkylated species140
Scheme 23:	Suggested direct reaction between IAM derivatised polysulfide and NEM
	resulting in fragmentation of the polysulfide chain and the formation of a mixed
	IAM and NEM alkylated species 140
Scheme 24:	Reactions of <b>1)</b> NEM, <b>2)</b> IAM and <b>3)</b> MBB with and an example reduced thiol,
	cysteine. The different mechanism of reaction are illustrated, Michael addition
	for NEM and $S_{\ensuremath{\text{N}}\xspace}^2$ reaction for IAM and MBB148
Scheme 25:	The ascorbate redox pathway: The redox pair ascorbic acid (Asc) and
	dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) with the sulfated metabolite of Asc, ascorbic acid-2-
	sulfate (AAS). The degradation pathway of dehydroascorbic acid to diketogulonic
	acid can account for loss of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid from this
	redox system. Crucially the oxidation of ascorbic acid is reversible but the
	degradation of dehydroascrobic acid to diketogulonic acid is irreversible 166

# **DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP**

## I, Thomas R. Sutton .....

declare that this thesis and the work presented in it are my own and has been generated by me as the result of my own original research.

.....

## I confirm that:

- This work was done wholly or mainly while in candidature for a research degree at this University;
- 2. Where any part of this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this University or any other institution, this has been clearly stated;
- 3. Where I have consulted the published work of others, this is always clearly attributed;
- 4. Where I have quoted from the work of others, the source is always given. With the exception of such quotations, this thesis is entirely my own work;
- 5. I have acknowledged all main sources of help;
- 6. Where the thesis is based on work done by myself jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself;
- 7. Parts of this work have been published as:
  - van der Graaf AM, Paauw ND, Toering TJ, et al. Impaired sodium-dependent adaptation of arterial stiffness in formerly preeclamptic women: the RETAP-vascular study. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2016;310(11):H1827-33.
  - Olson KR, Gao Y, Arif F, et al. Metabolism of hydrogen sulfide (H2S) and Production of Reactive Sulfur Species (RSS) by superoxide dismutase. *Redox Biology* 2017;15:74-85.
  - Sutton TR, Minnion M, Barbarino F, et al. A robust and versatile mass spectrometry platform for comprehensive assessment of the thiol redox metabolome. *Redox Biology* 2018;16:359-80.
  - Diederich L, Suvorava T, Sansone R, et al. On the Effects of Reactive Oxygen Species and Nitric Oxide on Red Blood Cell Deformability. Frontiers in Physiology 2018;9.

- Erkens R, Suvorava T, Sutton TR, et al. Nrf2 Deficiency Unmasks the Significance of Nitric Oxide Synthase Activity for Cardioprotection. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2018.
- Bogdandi V, Ida T, Sutton TR, et al. Speciation of Reactive Sulfur Species and their Reactions with Alkylating Agents: Do we have any clue about what is present inside the cell? Br J Pharmacol 2018;0(ja).

.....

Signed:

Date: 26/06/2020 .....

# Acknowledgements

I would firstly like to thank my supervisor's, Professor Martin Feelisch and Professor Tony Postle, for their help and support in more ways than will fit on this page.

I would also like to thank the members of Professor Feelisch's research group; Bernie Fernandez, Magda Minnion and Diogo Silva as well as the mass spectrometry group; Joost Brandsma, Grielof Koster, Paul Townsend, Madhuri Panchal and Dave Stockley for their support and advice as well as Mia Meiss for her help and laboratory assistance. Magda provided invaluable support throughout my PhD both in laboratory, preparing papers and intellectually. Grielof provided essential support and training for the instrumentation as well as intellectual input.

I would like to thank my many collaborators who without I would not have been able to publish, or be involved in, as many papers as I have. In particular; Frederik Barbarino and Miriam M. Cortese-Krott for their collaboration and help producing figures and producing a paper as well as facilitating my involvement in other publications. Virág Bogdándi for her collaboration and work making the polysulfides paper possible as well as Tomoaki Ida, Peter Nagy and other co-authors for the scientific discussion and insights on the combined work. I would also like to thank Kenneth Olson for inviting me to be involved with his research on superoxide dismutase and apply my developed method to an interesting area of sulfur biology.

Finally, I would like to thank my wonderful wife Janice Sutton, Ivan and Boris as well as my parents and family for their support, love, encouragement, and for putting up with me whilst I undertake my PhD. Without them I would never have completed my thesis, and of course my son Ned who wasn't there when I started but has helped motivate me to complete my PhD.

# **Definitions and Abbreviations**

- 3MST: 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase
- AAS: Ascorbic acid-2-sulfate (Ascorbyl sulfate)
- ACN: Acetonitrile
- ADMA: Asymmetric-dimethylarginine
- AFR: Ascorbate free radical
- AGAT: L-arginine-glycine amidinotransferase
- Arg: Arginine
- AS: Arginosuccinate
- Asc: Ascorbic acid
- CBS: Cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase
- CDO: Cysteine dioxygenase
- Cit: Citrulline
- CO<sub>2</sub>: Carbon dioxide
- CSE: Cystathionine γ-lyase
- Cys: Reduced cysteine
- CysGly: Cysteinylglycine
- CySS: Oxidised cysteine (cystine)
- CysSSH: Cysteine persulfide
- DHA: Dehydroascorbic acid
- DKGA: Diketogulonic acid
- DTPA: Diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid
- DTT: Dithiothreitol
- EDRF: Endothelium-derived relaxing factor
- EDTA: Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
- eNOS: Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- ESI: Electrospray ionisation
- GluCys: Glutamylcysteine
- Gly: Glycine
- GSH: Reduced glutathione
- GSSG: Oxidised glutathione
- GSSH: Glutathione persulfide
- H<sub>2</sub>O: Water
- H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: Hydrogen peroxide

- H<sub>2</sub>S: Hydrogen sulfide
- Hcys: Reduced homocysteine
- HcySS: Oxidised homocysteine (homocystine)
- HILIC: Hydrophobic interaction liquid chromatography
- HPE-IAM: β-(4-hydroxyphenyl)ethyl iodoacetamide
- HSA: Human serum albumin
- IAM: Iodoacetamide
- IEC: Ion exchange chromatography
- iNOS: Inducible nitric oxide synthase
- LC: Liquid chromatography
- LMW: Low Molecular Weight
- *m/z*: Mass to charge ratio
- MBB: Monobromobimane
- MeOH: Methanol
- Met: Methionine
- mM: Millimolar
- MMC: Mixed mode chromatography
- Molar: Moles per litre
- MPA: Metaphosphoric acid
- MRM: Multiple reaction monitoring
- MS/MS: Triple quadrupole (tandem) mass spectrometry
- MS: Mass spectrometry
- MT: Methanethiol
- NEM: *N*-Ethylmaleimide
- nM: Nanomolar
- NMWL: Nominal molecular weight limit
- nNOS: Neuronal nitric oxide synthase
- NO: Nitric oxide
- NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>: Nitrite
- NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>: Nitrate
- Orn: Ornithine
- OxCysGly: Oxidised cysteinylglycine
- OxGluCys: Oxidised glutamylcysteine
- PFP: Pentafluorophenyl
- RBCs: Red blood cells

- RNS: Reactive nitrogen species
- ROS: Reactive oxygen species
- RPC: Reversed phase chromatography
- RSS: Reactive sulfur species
- SAH: S-adenosylhomocysteine
- SAM: S-adenosylmethionine
- SDMA: Symmetric-dimethylarginine
- Ser: Serine
- SFC: Supercritical fluid chromatography
- SIR: Selected ion recording
- SOD: Superoxide dismutase
- SQR: Sulfide quinone reductase
- SSA: Sulfosalicylic acid
- tHcys: Total homocysteine
- ToF-MS: Time of flight mass spectrometry
- TRD: Thioredoxin reductase
- UHPLC: Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography
- UHPSFC: Ultra-high performance supercritical fluid chromatography
- UPC<sup>2</sup>: Ultra-performance convergence chromatography
- UV: Ultraviolet
- UV-Vis: Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy
- μM: Micromolar

# Chapter 1: Introduction

Nitric oxide (NO) and hydrogen sulfide ( $H_2S$ ) are small, low molecular weight molecules that are endogenously generated in mammalian systems via regulated enzymatic catalysis. They play critical roles in numerous biological processes, including regulation of enzyme activity, protein structure and function, and cellular defence. The importance of NO and H<sub>2</sub>S in biological systems can be traced back to the evolution of life, before the development of an oxygen rich atmosphere<sup>1,2</sup> with these early pathways being incorporated into oxygen based metabolism and other processes<sup>3</sup>. Along with carbon monoxide (CO) and dioxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) they are part of an expanding class of small signalling species, known as gasotransmitters<sup>4</sup>, with important biological functions<sup>5</sup> that are only recently becoming better understood. NO is a well-established vasorelaxant, with H<sub>2</sub>S being more recently established as also having vasodilation effects<sup>6,7</sup> and is able to facilitate smooth muscle cell relaxation via a different, but not mutually dependant, mechanism to NO<sup>8</sup>. H<sub>2</sub>S not only has roles in the cardiovascular system, but also in the nervous and immune systems with the ability to provide protection against oxidative stress. Whilst the concentration of free H<sub>2</sub>S is considerably lower than that of other antioxidants such as glutathione it is able to increase the activity of redox regulatory enzymes to help restore antioxidant thiol levels and increasing the availability of rate limiting substrates<sup>9</sup>.



**Figure 1:** The major products of the direct crosstalk between nitric oxide and hydrogen sulfide at physiological conditions. **SULFI/NO:** *N*-nitrosohydroxylamine-*N*-sulfonate, **SSNO**<sup>-</sup>: nitrosopersulfide, **RSSn**<sup>-</sup> and **HSn**<sup>-</sup>: polysulfides<sup>10</sup>.

The NO and H<sub>2</sub>S pathways do not operate in isolation, but show significant interactions (crosstalk, **Figure 1**) between the two pathways exhibiting similar and often interdependent biological actions within the cardiovascular system and elsewhere<sup>11</sup>. It has been demonstrated that there is a rich network of coupled chemical reactions between NO and H<sub>2</sub>S/sulfide, which suggests that the bioactivity of either transmitter is governed by formation of polysulfides and anionic S/Nhybrid species<sup>10,12,13</sup>.

#### Chapter 1

There is a growing body of evidence for the significance of these small anionic species<sup>14-16</sup>, however, currently little is known about their uptake into cells, their transport between bodily tissues and their excretion or metabolism. Current methodology for tracing the flux and pathways of these compounds is limited in either specificity, sensitivity or scope<sup>17</sup>. Reported levels of free sulfide range from nanomolar to hundreds of micromolar concentrations<sup>14</sup> depending on the method used for analysis. This wide range in reported concentrations may be due to the liberation of sulfide from carrier molecules such as persulfides, polysulfides and thiosulfate<sup>18,19</sup> during sample preparation, with the higher range of concentrations unlikely to be free sulfide in blood<sup>20,21</sup>. The currently available analytical techniques used to characterise the NO/Arginine pathway and its related metabolites are likewise not entirely satisfactory. The reasons for this include pre-analytical, analytical, and compound-specific difficulties arising mainly from chemical instability and ubiquity, and in part from the relatively low concentrations of some L-Arg/NO family members (e.g., in the low nanomolar range) in biological systems<sup>22</sup>. For these reasons, the development of new methods is important for the exploration of H<sub>2</sub>S and NO and their biological functions.

## 1.1 Oxidative Stress and Redox Regulation

Oxidative stress has been implicated in a wide number of physiological conditions and diseases, including cardiovascular disease<sup>23</sup>, pulmonary disease, diabetes<sup>24</sup>, cancer<sup>25</sup>, obesity<sup>26</sup> and smoking<sup>27</sup>. Overall redox status, related to oxidative stress, is linked to cell survival<sup>28,29</sup> highlighting the importance of redox status in relation to oxidative stress in these conditions. Until recently, oxidative stress has been defined as an imbalance of pro-oxidants and antioxidants. However, this is an oversimplification as shown by the effect, or lack of effect, of treatment of oxidative stress related disorders by antioxidants<sup>30</sup>. The nature of oxidative stress is now becoming better understood as a disruption of redox signalling and control, reflecting the complexities of the wide reaching redox regulatory system. This complex nature is highlighted by the fact that the redox balance of plasma reduced and oxidised glutathione is not always reflected by the redox balance of the more abundant plasma thiol pair reduced and oxidised cysteine<sup>31</sup>.

The glutathione and cysteine redox ratios provide useful markers of oxidative stress<sup>32,33</sup> but the lack of equilibration between these thiol redox pairs in either cells or plasma shows that there is clearly no one global measure or balance for oxidative stress<sup>34</sup>. Recognising that there are a wide number of discreet redox regulatory pathways is important in order to increase our understanding of oxidative stress, to help develop a more meaningful biochemical understanding of a powerful clinical problem and to pave the way for more effective therapies to combat oxidative stress related disease. It has been proposed that there is a redox code along the lines of

2

the genetic code, a set of principles that define the regulatory elements on which organisms rely in order to function. This encompasses the redox organization of cells, tissues, and organisms not just in mammals but ultimately in all living matter<sup>35</sup>. Redox medicine is an emerging area following on from these observations.



## 1.2 Redox: The H<sub>2</sub>S and NO Metabolomes

Figure 2: Overview of the pathways involved in the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes. Arg: arginine, Cit: citrulline, Orn: ornithine, AS: arginosuccinate, P5C: pyrroline-5-carboxylate, ADMA: asymmetric dimethylarginine, MMA: monomethylarginine, GSH: reduced glutathione, GSSG: oxidised glutathione, Cys-gly: cysteinylglycine, Glu-cys: glutamylcysteine, SAM: S-adenosylmethionine, SAH: S-adenosylhomocysteine, B6 and B12: Vitamins B6 and B12, BH4: (6R)-5,6,7,8- tetrahydrobiopterin. For more detailed pathways see the specific schemes discussed later. (Adapted from <sup>36</sup>).

The redox system is essential for the maintenance of cellular homeostasis and redox balance is maintained by a series of complex interlinked and discreet redox pathways. These pathways not only involve reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide (O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) and hydroxyl radicals (HO<sup>-</sup>), but also include reactive nitrogen species (RNS) and reactive sulfur species (RSS) such as organic and inorganic polysulfides<sup>29</sup>. RNS can be formed through the reaction of NO produced from metabolism of arginine (**Figure 2**) with ROS. These interactions can produce RNS, which have stronger oxidative abilities than either of the precursors and have their own oxidative signalling properties<sup>37</sup>. Reactions of ROS and RNS with cysteine can produce analogous RSS that have recently generated interest as the biological functions of these species have emerged. The redox

#### Chapter 1

regulation system is no longer seen as a largely oxygen based system, but rather an integrated system utilising oxygen, nitrogen and sulfur based species<sup>36</sup>.

The chemistries of sulfur containing compounds such as organic and inorganic polysulfides (RSS), thiols, and sulfide are largely interlinked, with disturbances to one part of the metabolome having impacts throughout. Organic and inorganic polysulfides are compounds containing chains of two (persulfides) or more (polysulfides) sulfurs and are extremely powerful antioxidants that are actively involved in oxidative stress regulation and redox signalling<sup>38</sup>. Thiols are incredibly versatile in redox processes being able to undergo both one and two electron oxidation. Thiyl radical species that can be formed in these reactions are highly reactive sulfur species that are able to undergo further reactions forming other highly reactive sulfur radical species<sup>39</sup>. Thiols also have important antioxidant effects both outside of and within cells with their transport and metabolism having important effects on the redox system<sup>40</sup>. Homocysteine provides a crucial link between methionine and cysteine, as well as being a key part of the methionine cycle and one carbon metabolism (**Figure 2**), changes to the supply of methionine can not only impact transsulfuration but also transmethylation therefore impacting both the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes.

In the NO/Arg pathway the synthesis and transport of arginine are clearly important factors and for this reason attracted a lot of initial interest. However, the recognition that products of arginine metabolism also have important biological chemistries themselves shifted the focus towards a pathway wide view instead of simply arginine synthesis<sup>41</sup>. The NO/Arg metabolome comprises of a series of complex interlinked pathways that include significant crossovers with the H<sub>2</sub>S metabolome, often referred to as crosstalk. The recognition that these pathways do not operate in isolation, and that the status of one of the pathways does not necessarily reflect the wider redox status has been key to driving the idea that in order to understand redox biology, and related diseases and disorders. There needs to be a systems level approach instead of focusing on individual parts of the redox network.

## **1.3** The Sulfur Redox Metabolome – Sulfide and Thiols

Low molecular weight thiols and their disulfides such as reduced and oxidised glutathione, cysteine/cystine (reduced/oxidised) and homocysteine/homocysteine (reduced/oxidised) all play important roles in redox processes. The redox pairs of reduced and oxidised glutathione with cysteine and cystine are commonly used as markers for oxidative stress<sup>31,34,42</sup>. Homocysteine, particularly the total levels (free plus bound), is a clinically important marker in cardiovascular and neurological disease<sup>43</sup> as well as a key regulatory intermediate in the methionine cycle (**Figure 2**).
Hydrogen sulfide has recently emerged as an important signalling molecule with numerous cellular functions<sup>17</sup>. The majority of biological sulfide is produced by metabolism of cysteine as discussed in section 1.3.1. The small thiols also have key biological actions including redox regulation and signalling. These small thiols are typically found in micromolar concentrations in plasma and serum<sup>44</sup> with oxidised glutathione being the least abundant of these thiols in plasma but the most abundant in cells. There is emerging evidence for the importance of these small thiol redox pairs with apparent strong links between thiol levels and mortality<sup>45</sup>. Total levels of free thiols are strongly associated with other markers of heart failure severity and prognosis. Lower levels of free thiols are clearly associated with a worse outcome in heart failure<sup>46</sup> and potentially in other oxidative stress related diseases as lower free thiol. In order to better understand how the levels of free thiols are related to outcomes in conditions such as heart failure a more detailed picture of the levels of the individual free thiols is required.

# 1.3.1 Sulfide

Hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S), which had previously been considered only to be a toxic gas, is in fact an important small endogenous gasotransmitter that has recently been shown to have a range of biological actions. H<sub>2</sub>S has some similar functions as NO; they are both endothelium-derived relaxing factors (EDRF), a group of compounds that are able to regulate the dilation of blood vessels<sup>6</sup>. H<sub>2</sub>S is now known to be an important factor in cardiovascular regulation and disease<sup>7</sup>, as well as inflammation<sup>48</sup>, neurodegenerative diseases<sup>49</sup> and metabolic disorders such as obesity and diabetes<sup>50,51</sup>. Extracellular H<sub>2</sub>S helps to protect against oxidative stress by enhancing the production of the redox regulator glutathione, acting against oxidative glutamate toxicity. Despite the concentration of free H<sub>2</sub>S being much lower than that of other antioxidants such as glutathione it is able to modulate the production of GSH by increasing the activity of  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase, which increases glutathione production and replenishes levels depleted by oxidative stress. It is also able to increase the rate of cystine transport into cells, a rate limiting molecule in glutathione production that has a relatively low cellular concentration<sup>9</sup>.

 $H_2S$  is synthesised in vivo from cysteine by three different enzymes, cystathionine γ-lyase (CSE)<sup>7</sup>, cystathionine β-synthase (CBS)<sup>52</sup> and 3-mercaptopyruvate by 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3MST)<sup>53</sup> (**Figure 2**, **Scheme 3**). Not only is sulfide production dependent on the redox status as a whole, with levels of the two thiols involved, cysteine and homocysteine tied directly to redox regulation but the redox status is also tied to the levels of free sulfide. Crosstalk between  $H_2S$  and NO plays another important role in cellular signalling,  $H_2S$  is able to stimulate the NO producing enzyme endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) and increase the bioavailability of NO

resulting in cytoprotective effects when faced with oxidative stress related injuries<sup>54</sup>. This crosstalk is also responsible for the production of species such as polysulfides, persulfides, SSNO<sup>-</sup> and nitropersulfides<sup>55</sup> (**Figure 1**).

Sulfide does not only exist freely, but also as bound forms. The bound sulfide is defined as the pool of sulfide that can be liberated from proteins and other biomolecules under reducing conditions. Acid labile sulfide makes up a further pool and is defined as the concentration of sulfide that is liberated from binding to proteins or sulfane sulfur compounds following the treatment of a biological sample with mineral acid (e.g. HCl)<sup>16,18,56</sup>. This form of sulfide is thought to largely originate from the decomposition of inorganic and organic persulfides and polysulfides. These compounds act as stores of sulfide for redox regulation, but also have important biological effects themselves. These inorganic and organic polysulfides can also be formed from sulfide, and the corresponding thiols (for the organic polysulfides) modifying the properties of the thiols and sulfide. For more details on polysulfides see section 1.5. The reducible and acid labile sulfide pools may have some overlap, but the two pools have been demonstrated to be chemically distinct<sup>57</sup>. These different pools of sulfide are likely one of the causes for the large discrepancies in measured free sulfide concentrations, as different methodologies could liberate different levels of sulfide from these pools<sup>18</sup>.

### 1.3.2 Sulfate

Sulfate contributes to numerous processes in physiology and plays important roles during development<sup>56</sup>. A large proportion, approximately one third of requirements, of sulfate is obtained through the diet for adults and children though this can vary largely depending on diet and fluid intake<sup>57</sup>. One of the major ways in which sulfate expresses its biological activity is through sulfonation, which plays an important role in the biotransformation of endogenous compounds such as hormones and neurotransmitters. The sulfonation pathway has also been observed to have important roles in disease, blood clotting and formation of connective tissues<sup>58</sup>. Sulfate as a product of sulfide oxidation in microbes and plants is well known, but been found more recently that this same pathway operates in mammalian biology<sup>58</sup>. Sulfate can be produced in human metabolism by two main pathways (**Scheme 1**), the first utilises cysteine, which can be oxidised to sulfate by the enzyme cysteine dioxygenase (CDO)<sup>59</sup>. The second utilises sulfide produced from cysteine by CSE and CBS, sulfide is oxidised to thiosulfate by sulfide quinone reductase (SQR) which can then be oxidised by thioredoxin reductase (TRD) to produce sulfate.



Scheme 1: Pathways for the synthesis of sulfate from cysteine via sulfide and cysteine sulfinate<sup>59</sup>, CSE: Cystathionine γ-lyase, CBS: Cystathionine β-synthase, CDO: Cysteine dioxygenase, SQR: sulfide quinone reductase, TRD: thioredoxin reductase

Sulfate can be considered as the endpoint to sulfide metabolism, where it is either excreted or utilised in sulfonation. However, there are recycling pathways during sulfate metabolism, thiosulfate can be regenerated to sulfide by the enzyme 3MST<sup>58</sup>. Sulfate reducing bacteria form part of the normal intestinal microbiota in healthy humans as well as in saliva. These bacteria can metabolise sulfate to produce sulfide which can then renter the metabolic pathways<sup>60</sup>, complicating the tracing of sulfide and sulfate metabolism by monitoring excreted sulfate.

# 1.3.3 Glutathione

Glutathione (GSH) is a tripeptide formed from cysteine, glutamate and glycine (full name,

 $\gamma$ -L-glutamyl-L-cysteinylglycine)<sup>61</sup>. It is biosynthesised from cysteine and glutamate with a regulatory salvage pathway back to cysteine (

**Scheme 2**) which helps to maintain short-term GSH levels<sup>62</sup>. The availability of cysteine is often a rate-limiting factor for the synthesis of glutathione<sup>63</sup>. Along with its disulfide pair (GSSG) glutathione forms one of the most abundant redox regulation systems in cells where the concentration of GSH is in millimolar levels<sup>64</sup> with lower amounts found outside of cells<sup>44</sup>. GSH forms a key part of the defence against cell damage by reactive oxygen species (ROS) protecting against oxidative stress. The thiol group of the cysteine residue forms the reactive site on GSH with its high nucleophilicity allowing GSH to function as a free radical scavenger and facilitating it's interactions with other thiols and proteins such as human serum albumin (HSA)<sup>39</sup>.



**Scheme 2:** Synthesis and recycling of glutathione, the major controlling metabolic pathway for GSH levels.

Not only is GSH a significant antioxidant itself, but it is also responsible for the regulation and regeneration of other antioxidants such as ascorbic acid (vitamin C)<sup>65,66</sup>. GSH also acts as a cofactor and substrate for several enzymes with antioxidant effects such as glutathione peroxidase and glutathione *S*-transferase thereby providing another indirect mechanism by which GSH can regulate oxidative stress<sup>67</sup>. The glutathione redox system makes up a complex defence mechanism against the effects of oxidative stress and the ratio of reduced to oxidised glutathione and their total levels can be perturbed by a number of disease, nutritional and toxicological conditions<sup>68,69</sup>. GSH is an important storage form of cysteine, which is susceptible to oxidation extracellularly rapidly forming cystine in a process that can form potentially toxic reactive oxygen species. This makes up an important source of cysteine with GSH being transported outside of the cell in order to help regulate the extracellular levels of cysteine<sup>70</sup>. Glutathione plays important biological roles both on its own and as part of the wider redox and regulatory systems.

# 1.3.4 Glutathione Cycle Thiols

Cysteinylglycine (CysGly) is an intermediate in the conversion of glutathione to cysteine (

**Scheme 2**). In healthy individuals plasma CysGly has a concentration of ~1-10  $\mu$ M<sup>71</sup> and slightly higher concentrations in cells<sup>72</sup>. Since in plasma the Cys redox pair is more abundant, and in cells the most abundant redox couple is GSH and GSSG, CysGly is unlikely to be a major antioxidant. However, its contribution to redox regulation should not be underestimated or ignored, as it is a key intermediate in GSH and Cys regulation. CysGly has been shown to be involved in the regulation of GSH interactions with protein thiol groups<sup>73</sup>.

 $\gamma$ -Glutamylcysteine (GluCys) is the second intermediate thiol in the Cys-GSH cycle in the synthesis of GSH from Cys<sup>61</sup> (

**Scheme 2**). GluCys can be transported in and out of cells much more efficiently than GSH facilitating the synthesis of extracellular cysteine from cellular glutathione. There is some evidence to suggest that GluCys itself can act as an antioxidant as well as being a substrate for the synthesis of GSH<sup>74</sup>. GluCys is an important, if minor, thiol to consider when looking at the redox pathways and the flux through them due to its importance as an intermediate.

## 1.3.5 Cysteine

- Cysteine and cystine (reduced, Cys and oxidised, CySS) are another important redox couple similar to GSH/GSSG. There is a close link between cysteine and glutathione as it is one of the component peptides and required for the synthesis of GSH and can be a rate-limiting factor in this synthesis (
- Scheme 2). Cysteine is synthesised from homocysteine via the transsulfuration pathway by the actions of cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase (CSE) and cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) (Scheme 3)<sup>75</sup> providing a link between homocysteine and glutathione as part of the complex redox regulatory system<sup>76</sup>. The cysteine redox couple is the most abundant thiol pair in plasma, with oxidised cystine levels in healthy individuals being typically five times greater than reduced levels<sup>31,77</sup>. Levels of cysteine greater than the low micromolar amounts normally found in plasma are in fact toxic<sup>78</sup>, Cys is rapidly oxidised compared to GSH and safe, non-toxic levels of Cys are maintained by interconversion to and from GSH (

#### Scheme 2).

Whilst glutathione is the major redox regulator in cells levels are much lower in plasma, cysteine is the major small thiol redox regulator in plasma with conversely much lower levels than GSH in cells. This has made the status of free Cys and CySS in human plasma an attractive marker for oxidative stress in clinical settings. The Cys/CySS ratio becomes more oxidised in response to oxidative stress factors such as increasing age<sup>77</sup>, age related diseases, exercise<sup>79</sup>, alcohol consumption<sup>42</sup> and smoking<sup>27</sup>. Since Cys is a rate limiting substrate for the synthesis of GSH and the levels of Cys/CySS are relatively low in cells compared to in plasma, CySS is actively transported into cells in order to facilitate the production of GSH. Cystine uptake into cells is not only important for GSH synthesis but also has protective effects against oxidative stress on its own and so cannot be considered as only part of the glutathione protective system but as a discrete system its self<sup>80</sup>.



Scheme 3: Metabolic pathways of cysteine including synthesis from homocysteine and N-acetylcysteine, and the production of H<sub>2</sub>S by cystathionine γ-lyase (CSE), cystathionine β-synthase (CBS) and 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3MST). For the pathways involving glutathione, see Scheme 2.

Cysteine is a major source of H<sub>2</sub>S production<sup>16,81</sup> being a substrate for cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase (CSE)<sup>7</sup>, cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS)<sup>52</sup> and a precursor for the production of H<sub>2</sub>S during the synthesis of pyruvate from 3-mercaptopyruvate by 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3MST)<sup>53</sup> (**Scheme 3**). In a similar manner to glutathione the cysteine oxidised/reduced pair plays an important role in redox regulation, both on its own and as part of the larger interlinked system. Cys also provides a major source for H<sub>2</sub>S production and therefore links into the crosstalk between the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes (**Figure 1**). Cysteine is also a source of taurine which is the most abundant sulfur containing amino acid, it is however not a thiol due to the lack of a free sulfhydryl group. Taurine is semi-essential, it can be synthesised in vivo from cysteine by cysteine dioxygenase<sup>59</sup>, but the main source of taurine comes from the diet. Taurine potentially has beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system involving regulation of the NO pathway<sup>82</sup> as well as oxidative stress regulation<sup>83</sup>. Taurine can also increase the expression of the H<sub>2</sub>S producing enzymes CBS and CSE providing another mechanism by which it can help regulate the cardiovascular system and redox pathways<sup>84</sup>.

# 1.3.6 *N*-Acetylcysteine

*N*-Acetylcysteine (NAC), the acetylated precursor of cysteine (**Scheme 3**), is an important drug as well as being an endogenous aminothiol present both in human plasma and in urine<sup>85</sup>. As a drug, it assumes particular importance as a mucolytic agent for the treatment of chronic bronchitis and other pulmonary diseases and is widely used to treat paracetamol intoxication<sup>86</sup>. The physiological functions of NAC are largely associated with the regulation of intracellular GSH. NAC can undergo redox exchange with cystine, and cysteine-proteins in the plasma producing NAC-cysteine, NAC-NAC and cysteine. NAC provides intracellular cysteine, which can increase the synthesis of reduced glutathione in cells<sup>87</sup>. In turn, GSH has many important effects, and feeds into the wider thiol redox metabolic cycle (section 1.3.3). For this reason, it can be difficult to distinguish the direct physiological effects of NAC from those of GSH.

NAC itself has some antioxidant activities and been shown to interact with various metabolic pathways including, but not limited to, regulation of cell cycle and apoptosis; carcinogenesis and tumour progression; mutagenesis; gene expression and signal transduction; immune-modulation; cytoskeleton and trafficking; and mitochondrial functions<sup>85</sup>. The exact GSH-independent mechanisms behind the many of these biological effects of NAC however are still only partially understood.

Elucidation of these mechanisms is complicated by the fact that NAC interacts with many biological pathways, as well as acting as a radical scavenger and reacting with heavy metals. The endogenous levels of NAC, as well as well as its application as an antioxidant or mucolytic drug means that bioavailability monitoring and pharmokinetic studies require sensitive and selective methodology to ensure accurate and precise measurement of physiological levels. Improved methodologies will also be important in the investigation of its many biological effects and the determination of the biological mechanisms behind them<sup>88,89</sup>.

# 1.3.7 Homocysteine



Scheme 4: Key biological reactions of homocysteine in the methionine cycle and transsulfuration pathway (see also scheme 2)

Homocysteine and homocystine (reduced, Hcys, and oxidised, HcySS) make up the third thiol pair of interest. Homocysteine is a key thiol in the sulfide metabolome being an intermediate in both the metabolism of methionine and the transmethylation pathway<sup>76</sup> (**Scheme 4**). This forms another key link between arginine metabolism (NO metabolome) and thiol metabolism (H<sub>2</sub>S metabolome). Homocysteine is irreversibly removed from the methionine cycle by conversion to cysteine, this is a one-way reaction and homocysteine cannot be synthesised from cysteine<sup>90</sup>. This is an important link to consider as any perturbation of the cysteine and glutathione systems can feed back through the metabolic pathway and have a significant impact on the transmethylation pathway and methionine cycle. Tissue levels of Hcys are typically maintained at low concentrations with high concentrations exhibiting toxic effects<sup>43</sup>, the levels of homocysteine are regulated by the aforementioned transmethylation pathway as well as the transsulfuration pathway (**Scheme 3**).

Disturbances in homocysteine levels can be caused by two different mechanisms, a reduction in the rate of remethylation to methionine or by impaired removal of Hcys by transsulfuration to cysteine. Reduced remethylation can be caused by deficiencies of some vitamins such as folate and vitamin  $B_{12}^{91}$  as well as inborn errors affecting methionine synthase. Reduced transsulfuration can be caused by deficiencies in vitamin  $B_6^{92}$  as well as inborn errors in CBS<sup>93</sup>. The redox status of homocysteine is less well defined than for glutathione and cysteine with the majority of studies looking at the total homocysteine levels (reduced, oxidised and bound) but it forms another potentially important redox couple. In plasma, the majority of free Hcys exists in its oxidised form HcySS, but this ratio can be perturbed in disease states. Total homocysteine (tHcys) is used

clinically as an important marker for cardiovascular disease with abnormally raised levels of homocysteine being termed hyperhomocysteinemia<sup>94</sup>.

Elevated levels of Hcys in plasma are not only a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, Hcys is also linked to deficiencies in the regulating vitamins such as B<sub>12</sub> and folate<sup>91</sup> linked with mental disorders<sup>95</sup>, genetic disorders<sup>93</sup> as well as Alzheimer's and dementia<sup>96</sup>. However tHcys is a relatively crude measure, as it does not distinguish between the free Hcys which makes up ~2%, free HcySS, and protein bound or mixed disulfides containing Hcys which make up ~98% of the Hcys pool. The redox status of Hcys both affects and is linked to the redox status of the other thiol pairs<sup>97</sup> therefore it is important to try and understand the changes in the levels of the different Hcys species as opposed to looking at the total levels of Hcys.

## 1.3.8 Methanethiol



Scheme 5: Synthesis pathways of methanethiol from methionine and bacterial sources, and recycling of methanethiol to sulfide, which can feed back into the wider sulfur redox metabolome.

Methanethiol (CH<sub>3</sub>SH, MT), also known as methyl mercaptan, like H<sub>2</sub>S is a volatile sulfur compound. Methanethiol can be synthesised in mammals from methionine by the enzyme L-methionine  $\gamma$ -lyase as well as via transamination of methionine in mammalian cells. It can also be generated by bacteria found in the gut as well as through the methylation of sulfide by the enzyme thiol S-methyltransferase<sup>98-100</sup>. Conversely, it has been found that MT can be converted back into sulfide by the enzyme methanethiol oxidase<sup>101,102</sup> (**Scheme 5**).

Despite the fact that MT is clearly synthesised, metabolised and recycled the biological relevance of MT is not yet well understood, with few extensive studies performed so far<sup>103</sup>. It has been

found that as well as free MT it also exists in both acid labile forms and DTT labile forms. DTT labile MT has been found to be a reliable measure of exposure to MT and may serve as an important marker for the potential role of MT in both normal metabolism and in disease states<sup>104</sup>. Free MT exists in its highly volatile dissociated form at physiological pH due to its high pK<sub>a</sub>. In much of the same manner as free sulfide if it is to be measured in biological samples, care must be taken to avoid the volatilisation, and therefore loss, of MT. However, it has been reported that in the blood and tissues of healthy men and rats there is no measurable MT, and when added to blood MT was rapidly oxidised to thiosulfate and sulfate<sup>104</sup>. Free MT has however been reported in urine, especially in various disease states such as isolated persistent hypermethioninemia where levels have been found to be elevated as well as after eating asparagus<sup>103</sup>.

Both acid and DTT labile MT have been reported in serum in normal persons as well in elevated levels some disease states. In a similar manner to the free MT acid and DTT labile MT have also been found in urine in greater concentrations than blood/serum/plasma and with much larger elevations associated with abnormal metabolism<sup>103</sup>. It is clear that methanethiol has biological relevance even if it is not yet fully understood. The importance of all three forms of MT in different biological matrices requires further investigation. This relies on the development of new robust methodology that can be used to gain an accurate picture of the levels of MT and changes in order to gain a better insight into the physiological role of MT in its various forms.

# 1.4 Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols and Sulfide

Accurately quantifying the levels of free thiols can be difficult<sup>68</sup>, in part due to the rapid oxidation of the reduced thiols that can occur during and after sample collection. The plasma concentration of reduced glutathione can be 100x greater than that of oxidised glutathione; any oxidation that occurs will significantly increase the concentration of oxidised glutathione and affect the measured redox ratio<sup>44</sup>. Enzymatic activity will still continue after sample collection if not blocked and enzymes such as glutathione reductase can lead to losses of thiols or changes in their distribution<sup>33,105</sup>. Whilst the differences in concentration between the reduced and oxidised forms of cysteine and homocysteine are not as great, oxidation is still an important effect to consider. These small thiols are not only susceptible to oxidation but both the reduced and oxidised forms can be taken up by proteins as well as forming numerous mixed thiol pairs<sup>44</sup>. Sulfide being a small volatile molecule is susceptible to loss from samples and especially sensitive to changes in pH, derivatisation is important to trap sulfide and prevent this loss. As discussed levels of free sulfide have recently been found to be much lower than previously thought<sup>21</sup>. This is likely due to the accidental liberation of sulfide from labile stores such as polysulfides, persulfides and thiosulfate during sample collection, preparation or analysis.

Whilst there is no shortage of methods for the analysis of the H<sub>2</sub>S metabolome and its related pathways, many of those that exist are limited in some fashion. There are currently no methods that encompass the full range of relevant compounds with the required specificity and sensitivity. For these reasons, a comprehensive, sensitive and specific method is needed in order to analyse the key components involved in sulfide production and thiol metabolism. The most extensively used methods generally use an alkylating agent such as monobromobimane, methylene blue and *N*-Ethylmaleimide (NEM) to both enable the detection and analysis of thiols or sulfide as well as to prevent artificial oxidation of samples after collection. The most widely used methods are discussed below.

1.4.1 Ellman's Reagent





Ellman's reagent (5,5'-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid) or DTNB) can be used to measure the levels of thiols by monitoring the absorbance of visible light spectrophotometrically. The reaction of Ellman's reagent with free thiol groups (**Scheme 6**) produces a free chromophore, which absorbs strongly at 412 nm within the UV-vis range<sup>106</sup>. This provides a quick, simple and cheap method of analysis. However as it reacts with all free thiol groups and uses a detection method that is completely non-specific without any form of separation so whilst it can easily measure total free thiol levels it does not provide any further details into the thiol compositions. Ellman's reagent is also unstable over pH 8, but for the reaction to proceed optimally it requires more basic conditions with a compromise needed either for stability or reaction speed<sup>107</sup>. Ellman's reagent has also been utilised for the analysis of polysulfides in wastewater<sup>108</sup> but suffers from the same issues as for the thiols, particularly the non-specificity, in biological matrices.

### 1.4.1 Sulfur Selective Electrode

A sulfide selective electrode can be used for the measurement of free sulfide down to low  $\mu$ M concentrations<sup>109</sup> though the limit of detection can be affected by the pH of the solution being measured. An advantage of this method is that it measures the free sulfide ions directly, without need for derivatisation, and has a fast response time allowing for dynamic measurements. However, other thiols present may interfere with the electrode, a major disadvantage for

measuring physiological free sulfide in biological systems. This method is also not capable of distinguishing between the different thiol species.

# 1.4.2 Methylene Blue



**Scheme 7**: Reaction of *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*p*-phenylenediamine with H<sub>2</sub>S to form methylene blue<sup>18</sup>.

The methylene blue method is one of the most commonly used methods for the determination of sulfide. It is based on the reaction of sulfide with *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*p*-phenylenediamine, in a ferric chloride catalysed reaction forming methylene blue, which has a blue colour (**Scheme 7**) with detection by spectrophotometry<sup>110</sup>. There are a few issues with this method, the lower limit of detection by this method is around 1  $\mu$ M which is above some of the reported levels of physiological free sulfide. There is a potential issue of other thiols reacting with the *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*p*-phenylenediamine producing chromophores which will produce erroneous signal for free sulfide. One way to try and avoid erroneous signals is by precipitating with Zn-Acetate and then re-dissolving the ZnS precipitate under highly acidic conditions in the presence of the *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*p*-phenylenediamine. However, this acidification step means the measurements are not made at physiological pH and there are a large number of acid labile thiols that may still be present and would contribute to the levels of free sulfide measured<sup>111</sup>.

## 1.4.3 Monobromobimane

The monobromobimane (MBB) method utilises the alkylation of free RSH groups on thiols and sulfide with MBB to produce highly fluorescent sulfide dibimane (SDB) or thiol-bimane adduct (**Scheme 8**). One advantage of this method is the stabilisation of the sulfide and the other thiols preventing oxidation and the ability to measure other thiols and the mild reaction conditions that should not perturb other sulfide storage forms. SDB can be separated from the remaining MBB and other thiols chromatographically and detected by fluorescence<sup>112</sup> with excitation and emission wavelengths of 390 and 475 nm, respectively. The limit of detection of this method can be as low as in the nM range, however in biological samples with an excess of MBB levels lower than 1  $\mu$ M can be hard to detect. In order to accurately quantify lower levels of sulfide the SDB first has to be extracted into ethyl acetate in order to remove interference from the remaining MBB<sup>113</sup>. Another disadvantage is the fact that MBB itself fluoresces as well as its hydrolysis

products which can give rise to additional peaks which may interfere with thiol determination<sup>114</sup> though they can normally be separated by reversed phase chromatography.



Scheme 8: Reaction of monobromobimane (MBB) with sulfide to form sulfur dibimane (SDB)<sup>18</sup> and with cysteine (as an example reduced thiol) forming a thiol-bimane adduct.

# 1.4.4 Iodoacetamide





Iodoacetamide (IAM) is a commonly used alkylating agent which irreversibly reacts with thiols and other reactive sulfur species through a nucleophilic substitution ( $S_N 2$ ) reaction mechanism<sup>115</sup>. IAM is less reactive than both MBB and NEM and is considered a milder electrophile<sup>105,116</sup>. For this reason it has been used in the analysis of inorganic and organic polysulfides where it is considered to be more suitable for the analysis of longer chain polysulfides<sup>117</sup>. IAM is membrane permeable and so can freely enter cells without lysis. This offers a big advantage for the analysis of intracellular thiols and sulfide as they can be alkylated without the risk of intracellular thiol levels being disturbed during lysis.

IAM derivatised thiols can be separated using liquid chromatography and detected using a variety of techniques including mass spectrometry and UV absorbance detection<sup>118,119</sup>. However, it has been found that IAM is not as well suited for the alkylation of thiols at physiological pH as some

other alkylation agents, and requires at least a pH of 8 in order to react effectively. It has also been noted that IAM is capable of producing several unwanted reaction products<sup>118</sup>, though these can be potentially separated chromatographically and distinguished by mass spectrometry they may pose issues for other less specific methods of detection. IAM has a relatively slow rate of reaction compared to other alkylating agents (see Chapter 5: for a more in depth discussion) which could potentially lead to the artifactual oxidation and loss of thiols as well as the volatilisation of sulfide, make IAM less suited for the analysis of biological thiols and sulfide<sup>120</sup>.

## 1.4.5 *N*-Ethylmaleimide





*N*-Ethylmaleimide (NEM) reacts similarly to monobromobimane, rapidly alkylating H<sub>2</sub>S and other reduced thiols<sup>121</sup> (**Scheme 10**), both stabilising them<sup>122</sup> and enabling efficient analysis by enhancing the ionisation efficiency in mass spectrometry<sup>123</sup>. NEM is currently used to stabilise *S*-nitrosothiols, products of NO metabolism and potential NO stores<sup>124</sup>, and so is already used routinely in the analysis of the NO metabolome. This offers the advantage of being able to use the same sample collection methodology for both nitrosothiol and sulfide/thiol analysis. In a similar manner to IAM, NEM is membrane permeable and so is well suited for the analysis of intracellular thiols and sulfide as it will trap the intracellular levels without the need for lysis<sup>105</sup>. NEM has been used previously for the analysis of sulfide<sup>125</sup> and biological thiols<sup>126</sup> and provides an advantage for the separation of analytes by improving retention on reversed phase chromatographic columns<sup>127</sup>.

The derivatisation reaction occurs rapidly, over around five minutes at room temperature at physiological pH making it a rapid reaction that will quickly prevent the volatilisation and therefore loss of free sulfide<sup>120</sup>, and should not significantly release sulfide from its storage forms

present in biological samples. The derivatised sulfide and thiols can be easily separated by reversed phase chromatography<sup>128</sup> and detected by tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS). NEM derivatisation should help prevent artificial oxidation, block enzymatic activity, improve the separation and sensitivity of measurement and stabilise the volatile sulfide. These advantages will help provide a sensitive and selective method allowing the identification and quantification of free sulfide, polysulfides and other thiols<sup>129</sup>. NEM derivatisation is well positioned to deliver a comprehensive and robust method for the analysis of the key small thiols and sulfide, which is superior to existing methodologies.

# **1.5** Reactive Sulfur Species: Persulfides and Polysulfides

Reactive sulfur species (RSS) are a family of sulfur containing molecules found in biological systems that have numerous biological activities and are key players in a large number of biological processes<sup>130-132</sup>. Among the RSS are persulfides, molecules containing two linked sulfurs, and polysulfides, molecules containing more than two linked sulfurs, which have only come to attention relatively recently and their exact biological mechanisms are still not well understood. Persulfides and polysulfides broadly fall into two different classes, organic and inorganic. Inorganic polysulfides consist of only  $H_2S_n$  where  $n \ge 2$  (though in solution will be disassociated); organic polysulfides consist of multiple sulfurs joined to the sulfur of a thiol such as cysteine or glutathione (RS<sub>n</sub>H,  $n \ge 2$ ). Organic polysulfides can also exist on the cysteine residues of proteins<sup>117,133</sup>.

# 1.5.1 Biochemistry of Polysulfides

The biological importance of inorganic polysulfides has recently become apparent following the discovery of inorganic polysulfides in the brain. They have also been found to be produced from multiple biological pathways including during sulfur containing amino acid metabolism<sup>13</sup> and by the enzyme 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3-MST)<sup>134</sup>. 3-MST utilises 3-mercaptopyruvate (3MP) as a substrate, which is produced from the metabolism of cysteine and has long been known to be a source of  $H_2S^{134}$  (**Scheme 3**). Cysteine and glutathione per- and polysulfides can be produced from cystine and oxidised glutathione respectively by the enzymes cystathione  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) and cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lysase (CSE)<sup>135</sup>. However there must be other biological pathways for the formation of these reactive sulfur species as per- and polysulfides have been measured in appreciable levels in mice lacking both CSE and CBS<sup>136</sup>. It has more recently become apparent that some enzymes thought to be exclusively involved in the metabolism of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as catalase and superoxide dismutase (SOD), are also able to metabolise sulfide and produce polysulfides<sup>137,138</sup>. Organic persulfides can also be formed by the

direct reaction of  $H_2S$  with a disulfide such as GSSG with an equilibrium formed between the corresponding persulfide and reduced thiol species<sup>139</sup>.

Per- and polysulfides are reactive molecules that possess both nucleophilic and electrophilic properties and have greater reactivity than their single sulfide equivalents. Organic per- and polysulfides are more nucleophilic than corresponding thiols, which is due to additional sulfur electrons enhancing the nucleophilicity of the external sulfur atom ( $\alpha$ -effect) as well as the lower pK<sub>a</sub> of persulfides. The increased stability of the persulfide radical form compared to thiol leads to their increased reducing ability as well as contributing to their increased nucleophilicity<sup>36,130,140</sup>. Reactive per- and polysulfides have been proven to be extremely powerful antioxidants which are involved in oxidative stress regulation as well as redox signalling. The antioxidant ability of GSSH and CysSSH is approximately 10-100 times greater than their thiol equivalents GSH and Cys. Much of the presumed utility of persulfides has been based on their unique chemistry, which is distinct from that of thiols, however the mechanisms by which persulfides exert their biological functions have not yet been determined. For example, whilst GSH does not readily react with O<sub>2</sub> at a significant rate, GSSH is able to react much more rapidly, which demonstrates the increased reactivity of the persulfide and opening up additional chemistry by which it may have some biological effects<sup>38</sup>.

Free sulfide levels are now understood to be in the low nanomolar range<sup>21</sup> as opposed to the previously reported micromolar ranges<sup>141</sup>; it is possible that these differences are due to the existence of labile stores of sulfide that may be liberated by some analytical methods. Per- and polysulfides have been suggested as making up some of these potential stores of sulfide and acting as mediators of its biological effects. Some of the signalling effects previously attributed to H<sub>2</sub>S are now being recognised as being attributed to the more reactive inorganic polysulfides (H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>n</sub>)<sup>55</sup>. Much of the biological activities currently ascribed to polysulfides are thought to occur through *S*-persulfidation, the formation of protein persulfides (P-S-SH) on protein cysteine residues through reaction with H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>n</sub><sup>42,132</sup>. Cellular regulatory mechanisms that have previously been thought to be targets of H<sub>2</sub>S have been found to respond much greater to H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>n</sub>. For example, TRPA1 channels which are involved in the regulation of inflammation, pain, cardiovascular system, gastrointestinal tract, and in cancer. Polysulfides have also been found to upregulate the release of nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), which in turn has important antioxidant activities. It is clear that the role of polysulfides in signalling is greater than previously appreciated<sup>142</sup>.

Despite these well-known and important physiological activities of both inorganic and organic persulfide and polysulfides there are still many aspects that remain unclear. The precise details of

their mechanism of formation, their prevalence and speciation in biological systems as well as their interaction with NO are only just starting to emerge<sup>10</sup>. It has been found that persulfides and polysulfides are direct intermediates in the interaction between H<sub>2</sub>S and NO (crosstalk, section 1.8), and persulfides react with nitrite producing NO via intermediate polysulfide species (**Scheme 15**)<sup>13</sup>. Polysulfides have proven to be challenging to analyse. Many methods make use of an electrophile in order to attempt to trap the physiological distribution of the polysulfide species. However, if the polysulfide species are in a dynamic redox equilibrium, then the levels of the various alkylated species will be a function of the relative rates of electrophilic trapping versus the redox equilibrium interconversions of the trappable species. This will depend on a number of different parameters including concentrations of the electrophile and polysulfides, the pH and the temperature<sup>143</sup>. In order to understand the biochemistry of polysulfides accurate and precise methods must be developed with a proper understanding of the chemistries involved in order to obtain a true picture of the physiological distribution of these important species.

# 1.5.2 Analysis of Polysulfides

Before the biological importance of polysulfides became apparent<sup>134</sup>, a large number of methods for the detection of polysulfides existed focusing on sample matrices such as plants<sup>144</sup>, and water sources including, potable water<sup>145</sup>, wastewater<sup>108</sup> and natural bodies of water<sup>146</sup>. Whilst these methods may be sufficient for these matrices, they may not be appropriate for analysis of complex human biological samples such as plasma or tissues. The majority of these methods offer no distinction between the polysulfide species, or in some cases not even between any species with a free SH group such as reduced thiols. Polysulfide specific fluorescent probes such as SSP4<sup>137,138</sup> and HSip-1<sup>147</sup> have been used to detect the presence of polysulfides in samples. Although these probes specifically react with sulfane sulfurs they only provide a measure of total polysulfide levels and do not give any information on the speciation of the polysulfide species. Monobromobimane (MBB) has also been employed for fluorescence detection of polysulfides<sup>134,148</sup>. MBB reacts less specifically than the other probes (see section 1.4.3) and will react with any free SH groups present including reduced thiols and albumin potentially confusing the analysis. UV detection has been used for the more specific determination of polysulfide species but has led to varying and conflicting results from different research groups. The UV spectra of aqueous polysulfides only shows at most two peaks within the UV range and therefore requires deconvolution of the spectra complicating the analysis and leading to the varying results<sup>149</sup>. Even when combined with a separation technique such as HPLC, UV detection requires derivatisation (with MBB for example) and complex extraction<sup>146,150</sup>, though it does provide a

more specific measure of the polysulfide species and enables quantification of the species present<sup>132</sup>.

Electrospray ionisation (ESI) mass spectrometry has been used with and without separation techniques for the specific analysis of polysulfide species. ESI is a soft ionisation technique that should not alter the polysulfide speciation (for more information on ESI see section 1.9). ESI-MS analysis provided more consistent analysis of underivatised polysulfides on two different platforms compared to UV analysis, and looks to be a promising technique for the identification of polysulfide speciation<sup>149</sup>. When coupled to liquid chromatography (LC) an electrophile is typically used to alkylate the reactive end sulfurs of the polysulfides to attempt to trap the distribution of the species and prevent changes during the chromatographic run. LC will be essential for the analysis of polysulfides in biological matrices due to the complex nature of the samples. Many different electrophiles have been used including MBB<sup>151</sup>, IAM<sup>152</sup>, and NEM<sup>117,153</sup>, for more details on these electrophiles see section 1.4. When alkylated the polysulfides are well retained and separated on a reversed phase column using a simple gradient elution<sup>151</sup>. However, there are questions over the suitability of the different electrophiles used as the alkylation reaction could potentially alter the polysulfide speciation and provide a measure of the reactivity of the polysulfide species instead.



# 1.6 Ascorbate Metabolome

Scheme 11: The ascorbate redox pathway: The redox pair ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) with the sulfated metabolite of Asc, ascorbic acid-2sulfate (AAS). The degradation pathway of dehydroascorbic acid to diketogulonic acid can account for loss of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid from this redox system. Crucially the oxidation of ascorbic acid is reversible but the degradation of dehydroascrobic acid to diketogulonic acid is irreversible.

#### 1.6.1 Ascorbic acid

Ascorbic acid (Asc), or as it is commonly known, vitamin C, is a dietary antioxidant that cannot be synthesised by humans. Since its first isolation in 1928 it has been the focus of a wide range of research due to its importance as a constituent of the human diet<sup>154-157</sup>. Asc is an electron donor and acts as a reducing agent, which is key to its antioxidant properties and biological effects. Asc helps to neutralise damaging free radicals, protecting cells, proteins, and DNA from oxidative damage. Asc also acts as an electron donor for at least eight different enzymes for a variety of functions including the addition of hydroxyl groups to proline or lysine in collagen and other biochemical synthetic pathways<sup>154</sup>. An increased intake of Asc along with elevated plasma levels is associated with lower risk in a variety of diseases including cancer, cataract and heart disease. It is

however not yet clear if this effect is a direct action of Asc or if it is associated with corresponding protective agent<sup>158</sup>.

It is one of the most widely used vitamin/antioxidant supplements taken worldwide on top of being used as an antioxidant in cosmetics and the food industry<sup>159</sup>. It is an essential dietary constituent that can be found in many fruit and vegetables, notably citrus fruits<sup>160</sup>. Many fruit juices are fortified with Asc, and the content found naturally in fruit and vegetables can vary depending on factors including the time of harvest, transport, storage and preparation. Asc supplements (referred to as vitamin C in this form usually) are available in many forms including tablets and powders and it is often included in multi-vitamin formulations. At high doses of vitamin C Asc in the plasma is not as easily absorbed as lower doses and there is a maximum level that can be absorbed, excess Asc is excreted through the kidneys and lost in the urine. In cosmetics Asc is used to protect the skin from UV damage in conjunction with vitamin E. As Asc is required to enable the synthesis of collagen, it is also added to anti-aging formulas to boost collagen production in skin<sup>161</sup>.

Due to the importance of Asc reliable detection and quantification in a wide range of complex sample types is of great interest. The Asc content of fruit and vegetables is used as a marker of quality<sup>162</sup> and with the popularity of Asc as an antioxidant additive and fortifier, determination of accurate levels is of importance. As with food and drinks the Asc content of cosmetics is of interest to analyse especially concerning the stability of Asc in various formulations<sup>161</sup>. Physiological samples such as plasma and tissues provide a challenging area for the analysis of Asc, though are of great interest, due to their complex nature and the inherent instability of Asc after sample collection. With circulating Asc levels strongly correlated to health and outcomes along with the closely interlinked redox metabolome this area is only increasing in interest.

# 1.6.2 Dehydroascorbic acid

Dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) is the oxidised form of Asc and makes up the second half of the ascorbate redox pair (**Scheme 11**). Since DHA is the oxidised form of Asc is not as effective an antioxidant, but it does have some distinct protective properties of its own via irreversible oxidation to diketogulonic acid. It is able to chelate metal ions and in fact is better at protecting low-density lipoproteins from damage from copper ions than Asc in some cases<sup>163</sup>. In fruits, the total vitamin C content is assumed to be the sum of the Asc and DHA and the ratio of Asc to DHA is also used as a marker of quality<sup>162</sup>. Key to being a redox couple, DHA is recycled back to Asc. DHA is transported across cellular membranes more efficiently than Asc and is almost immediately reduced to Asc once it enters the cell by a variety of processes including

enzymatically. This process helps maintain cellular Asc levels for defence against oxidative stress<sup>164</sup>. The glutathione dependant enzymes, such as glutathione dependant dehydroascorbate reductase, are the most important recycling enzymes in this regard<sup>165,166</sup>. There are also NADPH dependant enzymes including thioredoxin reductase and NADPH-dependent dehydroascorbate reductase<sup>167,168</sup>. The mechanism by which DHA is reduced to Asc is largely dependent on the availability of GSH, when GSH levels are depleted NADPH dependant reduction is favoured, whilst when GSH is readily available then GSH dependant is favoured<sup>164</sup>. Direct, non-enzyme mediated, interaction of DHA with GSH can also reduce DHA back to Asc whilst GSH is oxidised to GSSG, which itself can be recycled back to GSH by other mechanisms.<sup>65,169</sup>.These mechanisms provide redundancy that ensures that cellular Asc concentrations are maintained in a variety of conditions. The ascorbate free radical (AFR) is the intermediary species in this redox couple (**Scheme 11**) and is relatively stable. The AFR is directly detectable in most biological samples by electron paramagnetic resonance and potentially has important biological effects of its own<sup>170</sup>.

DHA is highly unstable in solution, even more so than Asc, and is extremely sensitive to factors such as oxygen, high temperature, light, metal ions and pHs neutral and above<sup>171</sup>. These recycling pathways are key for the maintenance of cellular Asc as well as a recycling mechanism for DHA, though they are not 100% effective. Any DHA which is not recycled back to Asc is rapidly and irreversibly hydrolysed to diketogulonic acid (DKGA) which has no apparent biological function and is excreted<sup>172</sup> (**Scheme 11**) leading to the loss of Asc which can only be regained through the diet. The hydrolysis of DHA to DKGA occurs more rapidly under higher oxidative stress conditions and likely occurs to remove harmful oxygen species as a last line of defence against oxidative stress<sup>163</sup>.

It has been established that DHA can trigger diabetes<sup>173</sup> and elevated circulating levels are found in the blood of diabetic patients. Elevated levels of DHA could be used as markers for early detection of diabetes or as a measure of risk<sup>174</sup>. Treatment of diabetic patients by Asc supplementation did not significantly lower their blood glucose despite increasing the circulating Asc levels<sup>175</sup>. This, as with the sulfur related redox metabolome, points towards the complex nature of redox regulation. Whilst there is a strong correlation of decreased Asc and increased DHA, pointing towards redox imbalance and oxidative stress, the answer is not as simple as administering an antioxidant to try and correct one point of redox imbalance. The complex interlinked nature of the whole redox metabolome will require a systems level approach rather than a focus on any one pathway.

## 1.6.3 Ascorbic acid-2-sulfate

Ascorbic acid-2-sulfate (AAS), or ascorbyl-2-sulfate, is found in the diet as well as being a metabolite of Asc, formed by the enzymatic reaction of cellular Asc with sulfate (**Scheme 11**), a metabolic product of  $H_2S^{155}$  (section 1.3.2). This interaction makes up a further point of crosstalk in the redox interactome linking ascorbate redox regulation and sulfide metabolism. This metabolic activity has not been investigated as a point of crosstalk to my knowledge, and there has been little investigation into the biochemistry of AAS in humans since 2000, and particularly not since the complex interlinked nature of the redox metabolome has become apparent<sup>35,36</sup>. AAS has been detected in human plasma and is rapidly filtered from the blood by the kidneys and excreted in urine<sup>176</sup>.

AAS has been shown to have radical scavenging properties<sup>177,178</sup>. Unlike Asc, AAS does not scavenge radicals rapidly but instead more slowly and continuously in a similar manner to GSH. This longer lasting radical scavenging ability is physiologically relevant as slow reacting radical scavengers can effectively inhibit lipid peroxidation and can work in conjunction with the more rapidly reacting cellular defences to provide both rapid short term defence with longer lasting protection against oxidative damage<sup>178</sup>. AAS has also been found to be able to sulfate cholesterol in rats, though the mechanism by which this occurs has not been determined<sup>179</sup>. Beyond this not much is known about its functions in humans or mammals with most literature, particularly recently, focusing on its biochemistry in fish<sup>180,181</sup>.

AAS is far more stable in solution than both Asc and DHA and has been detected in urine samples over two years old<sup>176</sup>. This stability could point towards its biological functions as a storage form of Asc, being more resilient to oxidation, or perhaps as a stable metabolic end product. However it has been demonstrated that orally administered AAS does not increase the excreted levels of Asc suggesting that AAS is not able to be metabolised to Asc in humans raising questions about whether it can be a storage form of Asc<sup>182</sup>. On the other hand human arylsulfatase A, which breaks down sulfatides<sup>183,184</sup>, is able to hydrolyse AAS to Asc and sulfate and cultured human fibroblasts were demonstrated to have this activity<sup>184</sup>. These apparently conflicting observations only raise further questions about the biochemistry of AAS in humans. Despite it being known that AAS can both synthesised and metabolised in humans, and that it is unlikely this occurs for no reason, it is unclear whether it forms part of a buffer system, acts as a specific cofactor for an enzyme or some other unknown biological function.

#### 1.6.4 Analysis of the Ascorbate Metabolome

Many analytical techniques have been utilised for the analysis of Asc including titrimetric, spectrophometric, flurometric and amperometric methods<sup>159,185</sup> but many of these methods do not directly quantify DHA. The use of a separation technique is regarded as advantageous, high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) and ultrahigh pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC) are the separation techniques most widely used for the analysis of Asc and DHA<sup>159,186-188</sup>.

Chromatographic methods are more accurate and selective than other techniques and generally avoid the need for sample derivatisation or other intensive sample preparation. This reduces the analysis time of samples and helps prevent losses of analytes during sample preparation. Since Asc and DHA are both small polar molecules, they can be difficult to retain using reversed phase columns, which are the most widely used type. This is particularly an issue for complex biological samples due to the large number of matrix components interfering with detection if the Asc and DHA are not sufficiently retained. Reversed phase approaches have been utilised but tend to offer limited separation of the two analytes<sup>188</sup>. In order to obtain any retention they often have to utilise a high percentage of aqueous mobile phase, even up to 100%<sup>189,190</sup>, which accelerates column degradation (stationary phase collapse) and can cause loss of peak shape over long sample runs<sup>191</sup>. The addition of an ion pairing agent such as trifluoroacetic acid<sup>192</sup> can improve the retention and separation of Asc and DHA on reversed phase columns and has been utilised widely for the analysis of Asc<sup>193,194</sup>. Ion pairing agents unfortunately can cause multiple issues, particularly with MS detetction, including signal suppression, more difficult gradient elution, and can contaminate the LC and MS systems used affecting other analysis and so are generally avoided on instruments used for different types of analysis<sup>186,192</sup>. Hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography (HILIC) has also been widely utilised offering polar separation characteristics, which better retain and separate Asc and DHA<sup>186</sup>. HILIC utilises a normal phase stationary phase such as silica with a mainly organic mobile. Despite the better polar separation, HILIC has disadvantages over reversed phase chromatography. These include poor stability requiring long column equilibration times before, during and after analysis, drifting peak times and poor peak shape<sup>195</sup>.

A variety of detection techniques have been coupled to LC including ultraviolet (UV), fluorescence detection, electrochemical detection, and mass spectrometry (MS). A large number of existing methods for analysing the ascorbate redox pair do so making use of a subtraction technique, particularly those using UV, electrochemical or MS detection. Each sample is analysed twice, once to measure the levels of free Asc, and then a second time following a reduction step to measure the total Asc with the difference being taken as the levels of free DHA<sup>185,196</sup>. Determining the

levels of DHA in this manner will double the analysis time required and require additional sample preparation leading to potential degradation of samples and inaccuracies in the measured ascorbate redox ratio. The imprecision associated with this method for determining DHA concentrations has led to negative values being measured in some cases<sup>197</sup>.

The most common detector type for analysis of Asc and DHA is UV detection<sup>159,185,187,198,199</sup> with a UV absorption maximum for Asc in the range 244-265 nm depending on the mobile phase. However, it is difficult to analyse Asc and DHA simultaneously in a single run using UV detection as DHA has a very low UV absorbance<sup>163</sup>. DHA absorbs UV light at 185 nm, but it has a little absorbance above 220 nm<sup>163</sup>, direct analysis of DHA by UV requires derivatisation in order to have sufficient UV absorption. UV detection can lack adequate sensitivity and selectivity in biological matrices for both Asc and DHA due to the presence of many organic molecules in these matrices with similar UV absorbances.

Asc and DHA have no fluorescence properties themselves. Therefore, in order to utilise fluorescence detection DHA has to be derivatised with a fluorophore and Asc first has to be oxidised to DHA and then likewise derivatised<sup>200</sup>. This is a complex multi-step, time-consuming process and introduces potential losses of both DHA and Asc through the irreversible oxidation of DHA to DKGA (**Scheme 11**) and is not widely utilised. Simultaneous determination of AA and DHA using fluorescence detection can be accomplished by post-column on-line derivatisation, for example with O-phenyldiamine<sup>201</sup>.

HPLC methods utilising electrochemical detection provide high sensitivity, selectivity and specificity for the analysis of Asc. Asc is relatively reactive and therefore well suited for analysis by electrochemical detection<sup>193,202</sup>, DHA on the other hand cannot be directly determined without using the subtraction method discussed earlier as it is electrochemically inactive<sup>188</sup>. Electrochemical detection provides some advantages over UV detection for Asc as it is more selective and sensitive. Unfortunately, it can require very long column equilibration times and conditions can be sensitive to minor changes, DHA cannot be directly analysed either.

Mass spectrometry has been coupled with liquid chromatography in order to overcome these issues but only in a very few methods<sup>172,186,189</sup>. However, simultaneous analysis of Asc and DHA can still be challenging due to matrix effects and the relatively low abundance of DHA. DHA is prone to hydrolyisis and can have a complicated mass spectra depending on the sample conditions<sup>203</sup>. The few methods that have utilised mass spectrometry have done so for fruit and vegetables which can have relatively higher concentrations of DHA than samples such as human plasma<sup>204</sup>. MS detection is not very suitable when ion pairing agents and/or non-volatile buffers have been used in the chromatographic conditions. These components can cause signal

suppression, interference and even block the inlet to the instrument. Due to the difficulties in detecting DHA by MS many of the methods make use of the subtraction method as discussed earlier.

To my knowledge, AAS has never been incorporated into a method for the simultaneous analysis of Asc and DHA only having been measured alongside Asc<sup>182,205</sup> thereby missing out on the important information contained is the ascorbate redox ratio. The majority of methods for the analysis of AAS have made use of mass spectrometry<sup>181</sup>, UV<sup>155</sup> or electrochemical detection<sup>206</sup> coupled to liquid chromatography, radioactive labelling has also been utilised for the tracing and detection of AAS<sup>176,183</sup>. These methods however are relatively old and many advances have been made in the selectivity and sensitivity of the separation and detection techniques, especially mass spectrometry. It is likely that the application of modern analytical equipment will be beneficial for the detection and provide detailed analysis of AAS to help increase our understanding of its biological importance.

Asc is highly unstable and readily oxidises to DHA particularly when exposed to oxygen, light, high temperatures, metal ions, alkaline pHs or as a consequence of enzymatic activity<sup>158,207-209</sup>. DHA is even more unstable than Asc<sup>171</sup> and is degraded irreversibly to DKGA. In physiology DHA can be recycled back to Asc but this is not a 100% efficient process and some DHA is inevitably lost irreversibly through oxidation to DKGA (Scheme 11, see also section 1.6.2). Even when stored at -80°C Asc is irreversibly lost over a matter of weeks if not otherwise stabilised<sup>210,211</sup>. Many different methods have been utilised to try to prevent this loss of Asc and DHA after sample collection, including the addition of meta-phosphoric acid (MPA) to precipitate the proteins and acidify the samples, addition of various metal chelators to block metal ion catalysed oxidation and storage at a variety of different temperatures. Whilst there is agreement in the literature that acidification with MPA is the best method for protein removal and Asc stability there is less agreement on whether further steps are required or not. The type of blood tube use for sample collection is under debate with some groups reporting that EDTA (ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid) tubes are the best for the collection of whole blood<sup>159,204,207</sup> whilst other groups report that heparin tubes are more appropriate<sup>158,171</sup>. Some papers state that use of MPA is sufficient for Asc/DHA stability, whilst others propose that addition of a metal chelator such as EDTA or DTPA is required<sup>204</sup>.

# 1.7 The NO Metabolome – Arginine and Related Metabolites

Small polar metabolites such as arginine, citrulline, ornithine, methionine, proline and glycine all play an important role in the wide reaching, interlinked NO metabolome. Arginine is the major source of NO production by conversion to citrulline by three enzymes, neuronal, inducible and

endothelial nitric oxide synthase (nNOS, iNOS and eNOS)<sup>212</sup>. Arginine is the key component in these cycles and undergoes many other metabolic fates, it is involved in the urea cycle<sup>213</sup> as well as being utilised in peptide and protein synthesis, and as a precursor to ornithine and homoarginine<sup>214</sup> (**Figure 2**). To illustrate the complex nature of this metabolome it should be highlighted that citrulline is also produced from arginine as part of the urea cycle via ornithine with the release of urea instead of NO. This reaction can be inhibited by homoarginine, which is also produced from arginine-glycine amidinotransferase (**Scheme 12**). Tracing the fluxes through these pathways is challenging due to the wide number of metabolites involved and the multiple linked pathways.

Unlike for the sulfide metabolome there is a much wider range of methods available for the analysis of arginine and its related metabolites in the NO metabolome<sup>22,215-220</sup>. Although there are some limitations in current methodologies<sup>220</sup> the field is much more mature, and whilst further development would be beneficial, analytical development for the sulfide metabolome will be of greater impact. This is one of the reasons why the initial development was focused on the sulfide metabolome including on areas of crosstalk with NO/arginine metabolism. New developments in the analysis of sulfide metabolism can be combined with the existing NO/arginine methodologies and stable isotope tracing to help elucidate the interactions between these two key redox systems in addition to the direction and flux of metabolites though these pathways.

# 1.7.1 Nitric oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) is a small gaseous molecule which is produced endogenously as a signalling agent<sup>221</sup> (gasotransmitter). The production of NO is largely from the metabolism of arginine by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzymes (**Scheme 12**), which can be inhibited by methylated arginines produced during protein turnover<sup>222</sup> (**Scheme 13**). It has many important biological effects<sup>113</sup>, including cardiovascular regulation<sup>223</sup>, neurotransmission<sup>224</sup> and adhesion of platelets and leucocytes<sup>225,226</sup>. NO has been found to be involved in numerous diseases and inflammatory conditions. The biological properties of NO have been the subject of some confusion with seemingly contradictory effects, for example NO is able to render cells susceptible to cytotoxic agents whilst also exhibiting protective effects including protecting cells from damage caused by oxidative stress. NO can act as an antioxidant, being able to react with and neutralise reactive oxygen species that can cause oxidative stress, whilst also being able to react with oxygen and generate a variety of reactive intermediates that can in turn cause cellular damage<sup>227,228</sup>.

Similarly to H<sub>2</sub>S, NO is also able to stimulate the enzyme  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase as well as  $\gamma$ -glutamyl transpeptidase in order to increase the synthesis of glutathione as a response to

glutathione depletion by oxidative stress<sup>229</sup>. The uptake of extracellular cystine into cells can be stimulated by NO leading to an increase in the bioavailability of cellular cysteine used for glutathione and H<sub>2</sub>S synthesis<sup>230</sup>.

Nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) form the endpoint of NO metabolism as well as being obtained through the diet. NO is rapidly oxidised to nitrite and nitrate in biological systems, this oxidation can be enhanced in circulation by the multicopper oxidase, ceruloplasmin. The predominant NO oxidation product in plasma is nitrate with micromolar concentrations at least two orders of magnitude higher than nitrite. In circulation, the half-lives of nitrate and nitrite are approximately 6 hours and 20 min respectively, nitrate and nitrite are excreted in urine and can be used as a measure of NO production<sup>231,232</sup>. However nitrate and nitrite can also be reduced and recycled back to NO by several pathways including by haemoglobin acting as a nitrite reductase as wells as NOSs and other enzymes<sup>233</sup>. This provides a pathway by which NO can be produced independent of arginine by reduction of nitrate and nitrite obtained through the diet.

# 1.7.2 Arginine Synthesis and the Urea Cycle

Arginine is a semi-essential amino acid with additional arginine only being required in the diet during times of maximal growth or illness such as in growth of an infant and recovery from serious injuries<sup>234</sup>. As well as dietary sources, arginine can be biosynthesised from both glutamate and proline<sup>234</sup> (glutamate also being involved in the synthesis of glutathione from cysteine,

**Scheme 2**) through synthesis into ornithine then into citrulline. The circulating citrulline is taken up by cells and then converted into arginine via arginosuccinate as part of the metabolic pathway of the urea cycle (**Scheme 12**).

The first step of the urea cycle, the conversion of arginine into ornithine with the release of urea can be inhibited by homoarginine. This inhibition is due to the structural similarities between arginine and homoarginine with the only difference between the two being an extra methyl group in the main carbon chain of homoarginine. It is synthesised from the reaction of arginine with lysine by the enzyme L-arginine-glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) (**Scheme 12**). This reaction is regarded as a side reaction of AGAT with the main activity of the enzyme being the reaction of arginine with glycine in the first step of the formation of creatinine<sup>235</sup>. The ability of homoarginine to inhibit the activity of arginase may play a beneficial role as it increases the bioavailability of arginine for other metabolic processes<sup>216</sup>.



Scheme 12: Metabolic pathways of arginine – the urea cycle, NO production, and synthesis of homoarginine.

# 1.7.3 Production of NO

Arginine is the major source of NO (**Scheme 12**), NO is produced by oxidation of arginine to citrulline and is catalysed by three enzymes; neuronal, inducible and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (nNOS, iNOS and eNOS). nNOS is expressed almost entirely in central and peripheral neurons, it produces NO in these cells in order to effect synaptic plasticity, smooth muscle relaxation, blood pressure regulation and other NO related functions. iNOS is expressed in many cell types and produces NO in response to factors such as oxidative stress<sup>236</sup> and the presence of

cytokines, iNOS is a major factor in the production of NO in response to disease and inflammation. eNOS is expressed mainly in endothelial cells where it is heavily involved in the production of NO to control blood vessel dilation and blood pressure<sup>237</sup>. However, only a very small amount of arginine is oxidised to produce NO, about 0.2% of endogenous arginine<sup>238</sup> though this is obviously a sufficient amount for normal biological functions. The citrulline produced by NOS can be recycled back to arginine via transamination in a process known as the citrulline/NO or arginine/citrulline cycle, though this is much less efficient than the hepatic urea cycle<sup>41</sup>.

Since homoarginine is structurally similar to arginine, it can act as a substrate for NOS instead of arginine for the production of NO. However, despite not being a major source of NO compared to arginine, homoarginine does not appear to have a major impact on NO production as it is much lower in concentration and has a much lower conversion rate into NO by NOS than arginine<sup>239</sup>. In fact, as homoarginine can increase the bioavailability of arginine, lowered levels of homoarginine are associated with increased negative outcomes in cardiovascular disease due to overall decreased NO production<sup>240</sup>.

# 1.7.4 Arginine Methylation

Arginine is a major component in the synthesis of proteins, a proportion of the arginine residues that have been incorporated into proteins are then post-translationally methylated by protein arginine methyltransferase enzymes. This process utilises the transmethylation pathway in the methionine cycle with the conversion of S-adenosyl-methionine to S-adenosylhomocysteine (**Scheme 4**) by SAM methyltransferase providing the required methyl group. During protein turnover these methylated arginine residues are liberated becoming the free methylated arginines; monomethylarginine (MMA), asymmetric-dimethylarginine (ADMA) and symmetricdimethylarginine (SDMA) (**Scheme 13**).

Asymmetric-dimethylarginine is a competitive inhibitor of NOS<sup>222</sup> therefore interfering with the production of NO from arginine. Due to the reduced production of NO elevated plasma levels of ADMA as well as the Arg/ADMA ratio can be used as strong prognostic markers for many different vascular diseases such as hypertension, atherosclerosis and congestive heart failure<sup>241</sup>. The levels of ADMA are regulated by the dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase family of enzymes that hydrolyse the majority of ADMA (around 80%) into citrulline and dimethylamine (**Scheme 13**) which can feed back into arginine synthesis. ADMA in a lesser extent is also excreted via the kidneys<sup>216</sup>.





Monomethylarginine (MMA) undergoes many of the same pathways as ADMA, it is also able to inhibit NOS and be metabolised into citrulline and dimethylamine by the same enzymes, however it has a much lower concentration than ADMA, by about 5-10 fold. Therefore, whilst it has many of the same biological functions it is often not used as a cardiovascular marker as it does not show any additional information but is more challenging to analyse than ADMA<sup>242</sup>.

Symmetric- dimethylarginine (SDMA) on the other hand does not show any ability to inhibit NOS or the production of NO, neither is it metabolised by the dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase enzymes. SDMA in fact is mainly excreted unchanged by the kidneys and can be used as a marker for impaired glomerular filtration rate and the early stages of kidney disease<sup>243</sup> but has no direct impact on further arginine metabolism.

# 1.7.5 Creatine and Creatinine



Scheme 14: The arginine-creatine pathway and its interaction with the methionine cycle (Scheme 4).

Large amounts of arginine are metabolised into creatine involving one carbon metabolism and the methionine cycle with the methylation of guanidinoacetate to creatine, (**Scheme 14**). This provides another important link between the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes (discussed in 1.3.7). In fact the formation of creatine consumes more methyl groups than all other methylation reactions acting as a regulatory step for the availability of methyl groups for other methylation reactions including the synthesis of methionine from homocysteine<sup>244</sup> (**Scheme 4**). Through this mechanism, arginine can indirectly have an impact on one carbon metabolism and even redox regulation by the thiols. The majority of creatine (up to 94%) is found in muscular tissues, creatine synthesis however mainly takes place in the kidneys and liver. Muscle has little or no creatine synthesising

ability so all creatine found in muscle tissue is taken up from the blood after synthesis or dietary intake. Creatine has been shown to have antioxidant functionality itself<sup>245</sup>, as well as being able to reduce inflammatory responses<sup>246</sup> and improve glucose tolerance<sup>247</sup>. These benefits have been attributed to the ability of creatine to buffer cellular ATP levels, which if not buffered could decrease and lead to the formation of reactive oxygen species<sup>248</sup>.

Muscular creatine is nonenzymatically degraded to creatinine at a steady rate of ~2% of total creatine per day in healthy individuals. Creatinine is widely seen as a metabolically inert substance in humans that diffuses out of the cells and is simply excreted in urine without many further biological actions. However, there is some evidence to suggest creatinine can be recycled back into creatine, arginine, guanidinobutyrate, or guanidinopropionate especially during times of renal insufficiency<sup>249</sup>. Creatinine can be used as a marker of the arginine to creatine pathway due to its high excretion and relatively little recycling. Since creatinine is produced from muscle at a steady rate, and there is little or no reabsorption it can be used as a marker for skeletal muscle mass in healthy individuals as well as individuals with chronic kidney disease<sup>250</sup>.

# 1.8 Crosstalk

There are significant interactions between the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes, known as crosstalk. These interactions can take the form of direct interaction between NO and H<sub>2</sub>S forming S/Nhybrid species (**Figure 1**) as well as less direct interactions such as through methionine and homocysteine and the transmethylation pathway. The function of the key enzyme cysteine- $\beta$ synthase (CBS) in the transsulfuration pathway (**Scheme 4**) is in fact regulated by NO, with its expression being enhanced by oxidative stress as well as in response to substrate levels<sup>75</sup>. Conversely H<sub>2</sub>S can activate eNOS to facilitate the production of NO with some of the cardioprotective effect of H<sub>2</sub>S being mediated by this related NO release<sup>251</sup>.

The exact nature of the interactions between NO and H<sub>2</sub>S have proven hard to track down due to the highly reactive and unstable nature of some of the interaction products and intermediates such as persulfides and polysulfides. It is clear that both the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes are closely interwoven presenting both directly linked and discreet pathways. The actions of either H<sub>2</sub>S or NO cannot be considered or studied in isolation with the chemistries of either species modulating each other and their interactions producing key hybrid species with unique and distinct bioactivities.

# 1.8.1 Methylation

The methionine cycle, or transmethylation cycle, provides a point of crosstalk between the two metabolomes. Not only is it responsible for the methylation of protein arginine residues (**Figure 2**) but it also forms a key step in the synthesis of creatine from arginine (**Scheme 14**). The methylation of arginine residues in proteins is another point of crosstalk, relying on the actions of the methionine cycle to provide the methyl groups required. Methylated arginine's have important regulatory actions in the arginine cycle with asymmetric-dimethylarginine (ADMA) competitively inhibiting the production of NO by NOS<sup>222</sup>, the actions of the methionine cycle not only affect the cysteine metabolome but also feeds into the regulation of NO production and the bioavailability or arginine. The synthesis of creatine has a direct impact on the bioavailability of both arginine and the methyl groups used for the synthesis of methionine from homocysteine and methylated arginines<sup>244</sup>.

# 1.8.2 Direct NO/H<sub>2</sub>S Interaction

NO and H<sub>2</sub>S are able to directly interact with sulfide levels directly linked to NO bioavailability<sup>15</sup>. This interaction forms key bioactive reaction products such as persulfides, polysulfides, S/N-hybrid species and nitroxyl (**Figure 1**). These species exhibit distinct chemistries and biological interactions. Nitropersulfide (SSNO<sup>-</sup>) is resistant to thiols and cyanolysis, and is both a sulfane sulfur and NO donor, as well as potently lowering blood pressure. Dinitrososulfite (SULFI/NO) is also a combined donor but for NO and nitroxyl, releasing mainly N<sub>2</sub>O on decomposition, and has less of an impact on blood pressure<sup>10</sup>. The nature of these interactions is still not clear due to the highly reactive and unstable nature of these species with other interaction products such as nitrosodisulfide [S<sub>2</sub>NO]<sup>-</sup> proposed<sup>252</sup>. It is still not clear if signalling effects involved in vascular control by crosstalk products are due to the actions of SSNO<sup>-</sup>, NO<sup>-</sup> or in fact due to the production of polysulfides<sup>55</sup>.



Scheme 15: The production of NO from nitrite via polysulfide formation<sup>13</sup>.

Persulfides are able to react with nitrite to generate NO independent of arginine with polysulfides as an intermediary species (**Scheme 15**) with persulfide themselves being generated through the reaction of sulfide with thiols<sup>13</sup>. Persulfides and polysulfides have important chemistries themselves, being potential stores of sulfide and possessing strong antioxidant properties. It has

become apparent that polysulfides are at least in part responsible for many of the biological activities previously ascribed to H<sub>2</sub>S, and have greater potency as regulatory molecules. This suggests that the crosstalk between H<sub>2</sub>S and NO is multifaceted, with not just the products of this crosstalk playing important physiological roles but also the intermediary compounds.

# 1.8.1 Antioxidant Enzymes and Reactive Sulfur Species

It has been found that there are a number of similarities between reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive sulfur species (RSS)<sup>3,253</sup>. With the importance of RSS becoming more apparent, these similarities are raising questions over the role of RSS compared to ROS and it has been shown that in some cases systems regulated by  $H_2O_2$  have identical responses to polysulfides ( $H_2S_n$ , where n = 2-5)<sup>36,254</sup>. In fact, many of the methods currently used to detect ROS such as those based on fluorescent probes or amperometric electrodes are unable to distinguish between ROS and RSS<sup>253</sup>. These findings suggest that RSS may be, at least in part, responsible for some of the functions that have previously been attributed to ROS.

The enzymes catalase and superoxide dismutase (SOD), which were previously thought to solely be involved in the metabolism of ROS have recently been found to have significant biological activities involving RSS. Catalase catalyses peroxide dismutation to oxygen and water as part of cellular defence against oxidative damage but has been shown that it can oxidise both sulfide and polysulfides using oxygen and  $H_2O_2^{137}$ . SOD is another key antioxidant enzyme which catalyses the dismutation of superoxide to oxygen and peroxide<sup>255</sup>. SOD works in conjunction with catalase as it produces peroxide, which can still have damaging effects, which is then metabolised into oxygen and water by catalase.

These enzymes make up a new area of crosstalk in the reactive species interactome between ROS and RSS. As opposed to direct interaction of the two groups of species, the metabolism of ROS and RSS by the same enzymes makes up a more indirect point of crosstalk, with changes in one of the metabolomes potentially impacting the mediating enzymes and thereby affecting the other metabolome. These links further highlight the complex interlinked nature of the reactive species interactiome<sup>36</sup> and open up new potentially important biological activities of widely known antioxidant enzymes. It is likely that catalase and SOD are not the only antioxidant enzymes that have biological activities involving RSS as well as ROS. These enzymes as well as thioredoxin and peroxiredoxin, all appear to have evolved long before the presence of oxygen in the atmosphere<sup>138</sup>, and so before the need to deal with damaging oxygen species. This suggests that they performed important biological functions with substrates other than ROS before adapting to the presence of oxygen.

# 1.8.2 Ascorbate and Sulfur Metabolism

Reduced glutathione and ascorbic acid are two powerful antioxidants and essential for the maintenance of redox balance. These two antioxidant compounds have separate redox mechanisms whilst also being closely interlinked, both directly and through enzyme mediated interactions. There is a strong correlation between GSH and Asc levels in cells, when one is depleted so is the other and vice versa<sup>256</sup>. As Asc is oxidised to the ascorbate free radical (AFR) and DHA during the process of protecting cells from damage there is a need for a recycling mechanism to regenerate the levels of Asc or it will be irreversibly lost (see section 1.6.2). One of these mechanisms is the direct reduction of AFR and DHA by GSH producing Asc and GSSG. The GSSG can then itself be reduced by other mechanisms to regenerate GSH levels<sup>65,169</sup>. DHA is also recycled back to Asc through a variety of enzymatic processes (see section 1.6.2). The most important enzymes in these processes are the glutathione dependant reductases<sup>163,167</sup> (Figure 3). This enzymatic pathway makes up an indirect crosstalk between GSH and Asc, and predominantly functions when GSH levels are normal. If GSH levels become depleted then alternative enzymes become the preferred Asc regeneration pathways<sup>164</sup>. This crosstalk provides regulation of the levels of both of these important antioxidants. Glutathione – ascorbate crosstalk (Figure 3) once again illustrates that the different redox cycles cannot be considered as discreet separate mechanisms but must be taken as part of the wider interlinked redox interactome and that in order to gain a full understanding of redox regulation a wider approach to analysis must be taken<sup>36</sup>.



Figure 3: Recycling of DHA by GSH dependant processes resulting in regeneration of Asc and production of GSSG. The GSSG can be recycled back to GSH by other processes including by NADPH dependant reductases. [O] = oxidants, including reactive oxygen, nitrogen, and sulfur species.

There is also crosstalk between the sulfide and ascorbate metabolomes through the interaction of Asc and sulfate. Sulfate can be formed through oxidation of sulfide (**Scheme 1**) and is also obtained through the diet<sup>57,155</sup>. Sulfate can be considered as an endpoint to sulfide metabolism, where it is either excreted or utilised in sulfonation<sup>58</sup>, one such reaction being the sulfonation of Asc, producing AAS<sup>155</sup>. As discussed (section 1.6.3), there is not much known about AAS in human physiology, but as it is much more stable than Asc and DHA it could make up a storage form for these antioxidants. It could also be a longer acting radical scavenger<sup>177,178</sup> or even have sulfonation reactions of its own in conjunction with sulfate<sup>179</sup>. It is clear that AAS can have biological activities combining those of Asc and sulfate whilst potentially having distinct redox activities. This crosstalk has not yet been widely investigated but could have wider ramifications within the redox network.

# 1.9 Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry

Ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) is a highly versatile and powerful analytical technique coupling separation by liquid chromatography with the mass analysis capabilities of mass spectrometry. UHPLC works on the same principles as high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) using a liquid mobile phase with a stationary phase to perform the separation. UHPLC utilises a smaller stationary-phase particle size, typically 1.7 µm, which results in much greater separation efficiency providing a large increase in resolution, speed and sensitivity<sup>257</sup>. In order to analyse complex biological samples such as plasma, urine and red blood cells a separation technique is required to prevent suppression of the analytes of interest by other compounds present in the sample matrix, and allow conclusive identification and quantification.

Electrospray ionisation (ESI) is a popular method of coupling UHPLC to a mass spectrometer. ESI-MS provides sensitive, robust, and reliable tool for studying, at low concentrations in low/limited volume samples, non-volatile and thermally labile bio-molecules that are not amenable to analysis by other conventional techniques<sup>258</sup>. ESI utilises a high voltage applied to a capillary sprayer to aerosolise the mobile phase as it elutes from the column producing charged droplets. These droplets are subjected to a drying gas flow and are continuously reduced in size by solvent evaporation resulting in a concentration of charge leading to Coulombic explosion of the droplets producing many smaller droplets eventually leading to the production of gas phase ions allowing detection in the mass spectrometer<sup>259,260</sup>. ESI is a soft ionisation technique producing very little fragment ions during the ionisation process leading to majority precursor mass +1 (positive ionisation, M+1) or precursor mass -1 (negative ionisation, M-1) ions<sup>261</sup>. This provides little in the way of structural information for the molecules of interest, in order to obtain
more information about the molecules, tandem mass spectrometry (also known as triple quadrupole) is used. By fragmenting the precursor ions, much greater structural information is provided on top of the precursor masses. This allows monitoring of specific precursor-product masses known as multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) providing both a highly selective and sensitive analysis. By coupling the fast and sensitive separation abilities of UHPLC with the specificity and sensitivity of a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer with ESI complex biological mixtures are able to be analysed with minimal sample preparation and analysis time and these techniques are widely utilised in clinical settings<sup>217,258,262</sup>.

Supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC) is an emerging separation technique that works on the same principles as UHPLC. Whilst SFC has been practised for 50 years it is only recently that equipment has become robust and reliable enough for routine use, with modern techniques being termed ultra-high performance supercritical fluid chromatography (UHPSFC). The main difference between the two systems lies in the mobile phases used; UHPLC typically makes use of a combination of two liquid mobile phases typically comprised of an aqueous or more polar phase combined with an organic or more apolar phase. UHPSFC uses one mobile phase comprised of a supercritical fluid, typically CO<sub>2</sub>, combined with a polar, mainly organic solvent mobile phase such as methanol. Supercritical fluids have the properties of both liquid and gaseous phases; CO<sub>2</sub> is commonly used due to its relatively low critical point, only requiring a pressure of 7.38 MPA and a temperature of 31.1°C to reach its critical point<sup>263</sup>. UHPSFC offers a good alternative to conventional normal phase liquid chromatography, providing more robust and reproducible chromatography. Since the mobile phase can easily switch from apolar  $CO_2$  to increasing amounts of polar co-solvent such as methanol compounds with a wide range of polarities can be efficiently separated on a single column in a single analysis<sup>264</sup>. Whilst UHPSFC can potentially offer a faster, higher resolution and more robust separation than some comparable UHPLC methods it is not a straight upgrade, rather the two techniques can be seen as being complementary, each with their own advantages and disadvantages<sup>265</sup>.

# **1.10** Use of Stable Isotopes

Stable isotope standards are commonly used to enable accurate quantification of analytes measured using mass spectrometry. As the absolute peak areas retuned by UHPLC-MS/MS can vary day to day due to a number of factors including the temperature and pressure of the ion source and the performance of the ion source<sup>266</sup>. The use of internal standards is essential to be able to accurately quantify samples and to allow comparison between different analyses. Internal standards are used to correct for variability in dilutions, evaporation, degradation, recovery, adsorption, derivatisation, and instrumental parameters. In a biological matrix there is also the

potential issue of ion suppression which may cause incomplete ionisation of the analyte of interest and is another uncontrollable variable<sup>267</sup>. Since a stable isotope labelled version of the analyte(s) of interest has the same overall structure but a higher mass it should behave similarly and ionise with the same efficiency and so give an equivalent response whilst being distinguishable by its mass.

Stable isotope tracers have also been widely used in the NO metabolome to measure the direction of travel and rate of substrates, metabolites and products<sup>268</sup> as well as the activity of the enzymes responsible<sup>269</sup>. The first evidence that arginine was a precursor for NO was obtained using <sup>15</sup>N-labeled arginine with the labelled guanidine nitrogen found to be incorporated into <sup>15</sup>N-labeled nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) in macrophages<sup>270</sup>. <sup>15</sup>N is widely used as a stable isotope tracer for the NO metabolome, with <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>18</sup>O also being used<sup>213,271,272</sup>. Different parts of the arginine-NO-nitrate pathway can be targeted using stable isotope tracing by monitoring the conversion of arginine into either citrulline or NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (**Scheme 12**)<sup>215</sup>. The production of NO from arginine can be estimated, for example, by using <sup>15</sup>N<sub>4</sub> labelled arginine as a stable isotope tracer and monitoring the levels of <sup>15</sup>N<sub>3</sub>-citrulline and <sup>15</sup>N<sub>3</sub>-arginine<sup>269</sup>. The use of nitrite and nitrate as NO metabolism endpoints in stable isotope tracing is complicated by dietary nitrite and nitrate as well as the nitrate-nitrite-NO reduction pathway<sup>233</sup>.

The methionine cycle (one carbon metabolism) is another metabolic pathway that has been characterised using stable isotope tracing<sup>273</sup>, and forms an important link between the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes (**Figure 2**, **Scheme 4**). The movement of the one-carbon units has numerous important effects in biology tracing the direction and flux of these one-carbon units is important to understand better how numerous biological pathways are interconnected, and how one metabolite can influence the function of numerous interconnected pathways<sup>274</sup>. For example, dual labelled <sup>13</sup>C<sup>15</sup>N serine and methionine has been used for the quantification of the one-carbon contribution from extracellular serine and methionine onto DNA and RNA in the crosstalk between cellular metabolism and the epigenome<sup>275</sup>.

Stable isotope techniques have not yet been widely applied to the H<sub>2</sub>S metabolome as a means to trace the fluxes and enzyme activities throughout its pathways. The fate, direction and overall importance of the different substrates in human biology has not been well established so far<sup>10</sup>. Sulfide metabolism could also make use of <sup>15</sup>N, <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>18</sup>O as well as <sup>34</sup>S, which would be a powerful and unique tracer for the fate of sulfur throughout the redox system. As metabolic pathways are often closely interlinked, a single metabolite will often have multiple biological actions. The use of multi-labelled compounds allows the tracing of these different actions, potentially allowing a powerful method that can trace the flux of metabolites through multiple

pathways and how this changes in response to factors such as oxidative stress. Furthermore the interactions between the NO and  $H_2S$  pathways have only just started to be explored and would likely benefit from the use of stable isotope tracers. Sulfate (1.3.2) provides a potential target to monitor for stable isotope tracing of the sulfide metabolome. By using a <sup>34</sup>S labelled tracer such as methionine or cysteine sulfate would provide an accessible endpoint to sulfide metabolism, as it is readily excreted, and allow the tracing of the flux of sulfur through the sulfide metabolome. However, not only would dietary intake of sulfate have to be considered but also the recycling pathways that would complicate the tracing of <sup>34</sup>S, complicating matters.

Using stable isotope tracers the flux through the metabolic pathways will be important to gain a better understanding of how metabolic pathways operate and interact with each other. It is becoming increasingly apparent that these pathways cannot be treated as if they operate in isolation, but are linked to the whole metabolome.

# 1.11 Summary

There is a large body of evidence for the biological significance of low molecular weight (LMW) thiols and sulfide<sup>93,103,276</sup>. In addition to sulfide, the polysulfides (both organic and inorganic) have emerged as important redox and signalling species<sup>117,132,143,277</sup>. The general biochemistry of these species is well known, their uptake into cells, their transport between bodily tissues and their excretion or metabolism. Yet there is a lack of understanding of how these species are involved in the redox network and their response to oxidative stress. Whilst LMW thiols and sulfide all form part of an interconnected metabolome, the redox status of one thiol pair does not necessarily reflect the redox status of the wider network<sup>34</sup>. There are also close links between glutathione and ascorbic acid, which both form important redox couples each performing different roles but also working in conjunction with each other<sup>65,163,166,256</sup>. There is emerging evidence for the importance of these small thiol redox pairs with strong links between total free thiol levels and mortality<sup>45</sup>, with total levels of free thiols strongly associated with other markers of heart failure severity and prognosis. Lower levels of free thiols are clearly associated with a worse outcome in heart failure<sup>46</sup> and potentially in other oxidative stress related diseases, as lower free thiol levels have been recorded in these diseases<sup>47</sup>. However, the methods used to analyse total free thiol levels are non-specific and so questions remain about the contribution of individual thiol redox pairs or species to these diseases<sup>46</sup>. Physiological levels of inorganic and organic polysulfides are poorly characterised, in part due to the difficulty in analysing these species, whilst it is know that they are present and have important biological effects the specifics of these are still unclear<sup>143</sup>. New biochemistries involving polysulfides are emerging including their metabolism by antioxidant enzymes that were previously only associated with reactive oxygen species<sup>137,138</sup>. The biological

importance and activities of Asc and DHA (otherwise known collectively as vitamin C) are well known, but due to their high instability accurate quantification of the physiological concentrations of Asc and DHA has proven to be challenging<sup>171,187,190,196</sup>.

Current methods used to analyse these redox networks are often limited in some aspect, in either specificity, sensitivity or scope. Reported levels of LMW free thiols, the ratios between reduced and oxidised thiols and sulfide concentrations can vary depending on the methodology used to quantify them. Reported concentrations of free sulfide can range from nanomolar to hundreds of micromolar<sup>14</sup> depending on the method used for analysis. This wide range in reported concentrations may be due to the liberation of sulfide from carrier molecules such as persulfides, polysulfides and thiosulfate<sup>18,19</sup> during sample preparation, with the higher range of concentrations unlikely to be free sulfide in blood<sup>20,21</sup>. Quantification of free oxidised LMW thiols by reduction<sup>278,279</sup> is flawed as the reduction process also liberates LMW thiols bound to proteins and contained in mixed thiol disulfides. The collection and handling of samples before analysis can also have a drastic impact on the levels of thiols and sulfide measured. Reduced thiols are readily oxidised, skewing the redox ratio of thiol pairs away from the in vivo values whilst oxidised thiols can potentially react with proteins<sup>63,280</sup> or degraded enzymatically<sup>44</sup>. These issues are also present in the analysis of the ascorbate redox pair, with both Asc and DHA readily degrading at physiological pH<sup>171,187,190,196</sup>. Analysis of organic and inorganic polysulfides can also be problematic with existing methods either being limited in the information they provide or potentially altering the speciation of polysulfides during the sample preparation<sup>143</sup>.

Treatment of oxidative stress related conditions with antioxidants has so far proven to be largely ineffective. This suggests that the current understanding of these processes is incomplete which could be due in part to the complexity of the redox network<sup>30</sup>. Sulfur redox metabolism does not operate in isolation. There are close links between the sulfur redox metabolome, oxygen redox metabolome, nitrogen redox metabolome, and ascorbate metabolism. Changes to one part of the system can have effects that spread throughout the whole network. On the other hand, the redox status of one pathway is not necessarily reflected by the other pathways. This in part may help explain why so far seemingly obvious methods of treatment have been ineffective.

The aim of the thesis was to develop new methodology that will allow better characterisation of the low molecular weight free thiols involved in redox regulation as well as sulfide, also an important redox regulator, by developing a method that is sensitive, specific and encompasses the full range of LMW free thiols and sulfide involved in redox regulation. This method development includes methods for the analysis of polysulfides, which are closely linked to sulfide and the thiols. I also aim to develop methodology to help characterise the ascorbate metabolome

with a focus on the simultaneous analysis of Asc and DHA and on appropriate sample collection, handling and processing conditions to avoid artefactual losses. I will also be incorporating the analysis of ascorbic acid-2-sulfate, a metabolite of Asc that has not been widely investigated in humans. With a better understanding of how these pathways operate and interact, their role in redox related disorders can be better understood and potentially lead to better therapies to combat redox related disease.

# Chapter 2: Thesis Hypothesis and Overview

# 2.1 Thesis Hypothesis

The primary hypothesis for my project is as follows:

An imbalance between sulfur intake and handling in intermediary metabolism is associated with a disruption of redox mechanisms and unfavourable outcomes in diseases associated with oxidative stress.

*Clarification of hypothesis identifying metabolic areas of interest related to the hypothesis:* 

Sulfur intake occurs mainly through S- containing amino acids as well as inorganic sulfate. The intermediary metabolism of sulfur involves the methionine recycling and transsulfuration pathways with ultimately sulfur being excreted via sulfate, a stable oxidation product of sulfide.

Research question to enable the hypothesis to be answered:

Low molecular weight (LMW) free thiol redox pairs, intermediary thiol metabolites, sulfide and polysulfides can be used as markers of redox status as well as other redox pairs linked to thiol metabolism such as ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid.

# 2.2 Approach

Initial development was focused on the analysis of the sulfide redox metabolome. This area of metabolism has not yet been fully characterised and lacked the appropriate analytical methods and understanding to do so. Conversely, the NO/arginine metabolome is much better understood and there are a large number of existing methods that can be used for its analysis. Therefore, the initial method development focused on the sulfide metabolome as this is the area in which the biggest impact could be made and any newly developed methods could be used in conjunction with the existing methods for the NO/arginine metabolome to examine the crosstalk between them. Method development was initially performed using standard mixtures before moving on to the more complex biological samples, with the focus being on plasma. The sample collection, processing and handling proved to be just as important, if not more, as the analysis method itself. With differences such as the blood tube used, or the time taken to centrifuge the whole blood after addition of NEM, having large impacts on the measured species. These differences were not only important to understand to establish the best conditions for the samples, but also to understand what effect they would have on the measured species. Optimally prepared samples

may not always be available for analysis, with the sample preparation demands of other analysis for studies having precedence or the desire to analyse existing samples in storage that were not collected with this analysis initially in mind. By understanding the limitations of non-ideal sample collection, processing and handling analysis of these samples can still provide useful information and further insight into thiol and sulfide metabolism.

The analysis of thiols and sulfide lead onto other recently identified biologically relevant sulfur species, the per- and polysulfides. Analysis was performed making use of the methods developed for the analysis of thiols and sulfide and making use of derivatisation using two electrophiles, NEM and IAM. The conditions used to analyse the polysulfides can have a huge impact on the distribution of species that are measured, particularly the choice of electrophile. Despite the difficulty in accurately analysing the polysulfide speciation the methods used can still provide useful information on the biological activities of per- and polysulfides. To this end, the metabolism of sulfide and production of polysulfides by the antioxidant enzyme SOD was measured in detail confirming this unexpected metabolic activity and providing more detailed information.

The use of NEM for the derivatisation of the reduced thiols and sulfide as well as for polysulfides alongside IAM lead to questions on the rates of reaction of each electrophile. The rate of reaction is particularly important as the longer a complete reaction takes the more the concentrations of thiols and sulfide can be altered from physiological levels through oxidation, enzymatic activity and other processes. It will also have an impact on the measured speciation of polysulfides where the rate of interconversion between the species is rapid and so the slower the rate of reaction the more opportunity there will be for the speciation changing from the physiological distribution. MBB was also compared as it is currently the gold standard for analysis of sulfide and has been widely utilised for analysis of thiols.

Ascorbate redox metabolism is closely linked with glutathione metabolism along with potential important crosstalk between ascorbic acid and sulfate. The ascorbate metabolome has less active components to analyse, which should facilitate easier and quicker method development with less components to optimise. Whilst ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) have been widely measured, ascorbic acid-2-sulfate (AAS) has not widely been analysed in humans using modern analytical techniques. Many existing methods do not directly measure DHA but instead rely on reduction to measure the total Asc. This adds additional steps to the analysis, doubling the amount of measurements that need to be made, increasing sample preparation time and sample volume requirements, and creating extra opportunities for errors to occur. Development of a robust and rapid method for the simultaneous analysis of Asc, DHA and AAS would allow efficient analysis of the strong links between thiol and sulfide metabolism and the ascorbate metabolome.

The inclusion of AAS in the same method would allow the analysis of this less well understood metabolite of Asc. In particular, this would be a powerful combination with stable isotope tracing and separate methodology to measure sulfate levels. Suitable separation and detection conditions were established but the stability of Asc and DHA proved to be problematic. Due to limited time and resources, these issues remain unsolved and require further investigation.

Due to the manner in which the thesis project evolved method development for the NO/arginine metabolome was not investigated. In part, this was due to more time than anticipated being required for method development of the sulfide and thiols method due to unforeseen questions needing to be answered. Likewise, the developed method lead into analysis of polysulfides, which proved to be more challenging and time consuming than expected. Ultimately, the thesis progressed in areas where the biggest contribution could be made in the time available for the project. The existing methods for analysis and tracing of the NO/arginine metabolome could now be combined with the newly developed methodologies and stable isotope labelling in order to trace the crosstalk between these areas of redox metabolism. There is now the potential for further insight into the interlinked nature of these metabolomes; this would not have been as feasible without the development focus used and gives the greatest potential for further work built on the work done in this project.

# Chapter 3: Redox Analysis of Thiols and Sulfide

# 3.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress has previously been associated with an overabundance of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and/or an impaired antioxidant and free radical scavenging capacity resulting in cell death and tissue damage. More recently it has become understood to be more closely linked to a shift in redox balance, affecting both global and regional redox status as well as cysteine-based redox signaling<sup>35,36,281</sup>. At the same time as these developments there has be a resurgence of interest in the biological effects of hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) and related oxidation products such as persulfides and polysulfides<sup>19,55,282</sup>. No specific biological targets have yet been identified for these compounds, and many of their effects appear to be mediated by interaction with either metals, heme proteins or redox interaction with other sulfur species. Additionally sulfide is involved in post-translational protein modification (persulfidation, S-sulfhydration) where reactive cysteine groups involved in redox signaling are modified, resulting in altered chemical reactivity and protein function<sup>283</sup>. There is growing interest in the sulfur related redox metabolome (Figure 4) with growing evidence that measurement of these species can be applied in clinical settings to predict morbidity and mortality from redox diseases<sup>36</sup>. Unfavorable outcomes in oxidative stress related conditions may be better managed by an early enough intervention to correct the redox imbalance. It is therefore unsurprising that there is now increased interest in analytical methods that provide a more refined mapping of the associated metabolic changes and enable further study of the underlying mechanisms.

A wide range of separation and detection techniques have previously been utilised for the analysis of small thiols and sulfide. The majority of these methods utilise liquid chromatography as the separation technique coupled with ultraviolet-visible (UV-Vis) spectroscopy, fluorescence detection<sup>107</sup> or mass spectrometry<sup>284,285</sup>. These analytical techniques are often used in conjunction with chemical derivatisation in order to stabilise the thiols, with a number of different electrophiles used including Ellman's reagent, monobromobimane (MBB), *N*-Ethylmaleimide (NEM) and iodoacetamide (IAM) as discussed in section 1.4. There are likewise many different assays for the quantification of sulfide in biological material<sup>17,18</sup>. Modifications of the methylene blue assay<sup>286,287</sup> have been used by many research groups to detect sulfide in blood but it suffers from limitations<sup>288</sup>. More recently, number of fluorimetric probes have been developed for the measurement of sulfide<sup>289</sup>. In particular, one of the currently most widely used methods for sulfide quantification in biological material is a HPLC-based method coupled with fluorimetric

detection that utilises the reaction of sulfide with mBB<sup>113,290,291</sup> (**Scheme 8**). Most recently, the same reaction principle was exploited to develop a more specific detection technique for sulfide using liquid chromatography hyphenated to tandem mass spectrometry<sup>292</sup>.



**Figure 4:** Metabolic pathways defining the thiol redox metabolome<sup>293</sup>. For a more detailed overview of the metabolic pathways involved, see section 1.3.

These methods often have significant drawbacks, UV-Vis and fluorescence detection can be nonspecific with no way to distinguish between different reactive sulfur species including the thiols without knowing the retention times and interference by excess of the labelling probe. Mass spectrometry is more specific but can be prone to ion suppression by matrix components and limits the buffers used, as they have to be volatile. Additionally it is not clear how the different steps involved during analysis, from sample collection, processing, handling and storage to the reaction conditions and even the separation and detection method can affect the measured concentrations of the thiols and sulfide. It is apparent from the large variation in reported physiological concentrations of these important compounds that these factors must be having an effect. This is especially noticeable in the reported levels of free sulfide in plasma with reported concentrations varying widely<sup>18,20,290</sup>.

One of the aims of the thesis was to develop a reference UHPLC-MS/MS method using NEM derivatisation that is capable of analysing free reduced thiols, oxidised thiols, and sulfide in a single chromatographic run to provide a comprehensive method for the analysis of the small sulfur related metabolites central to redox regulation<sup>276</sup>, one carbon metabolism and sulfide metabolism. I also aimed to investigate the many factors that can potentially affect the analysis of

these compounds from the initial sample collection to the quantification of the data after analysis is complete. Ultimately, the results of these investigations will allow stable isotope tracing techniques to be applied to the developed methodology to allow the analysis of the flux and direction of select analytes through the pathways of the sulfur redox metabolome (**Figure 4**) and their further interactions in the reactive species interactome.

# 3.1.1 Use of Liquid Chromatography Couple with Tandem Mass Spectrometry for the Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols

Despite the many existing methods for low molecular weight (LMW) thiols and sulfide analysis there are still significant blind spots in our knowledge of sulfur redox metabolism. This is largely due to the various limitations of existing methodologies (see section 1.4). Additionally, many existing methods fail to capture the whole range of free thiols and sulfide involved in redox regulation<sup>294</sup> (see section 1.3). Oxidised thiols are often analysed by first, analysing the free reduced thiols, before treating with a reducing agent and taking the increase in reduced thiol concentration as the amount of oxidised thiols present<sup>279</sup>. This approach is flawed, as the increase in reduced thiols does not necessarily represent the physiological levels of the free oxidised thiols, but includes all bound thiols including protein bound and mixed thiol disulfide species. Only by directly measuring the free oxidised thiols simultaneously with the reduced thiols can an accurate picture of the state of the redox balance be determined. Tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) provides a powerful tool for this sort of analysis. The ability to monitor specific precursor-product ion pairs for target analytes enables sensitive and specific detection and quantification even in complex mixtures<sup>295</sup>.

Chromatographic separation is essential for the analysis of complex mixtures such as biological samples due to the high complexity, with a wide range of matrix components that can interfere with the detection of the compounds of interest. Ideally, the separation will be powerful enough to avoid the need for complex sample preparation whilst being short enough to allow high sample throughput. Reversed phase liquid chromatography utilising a C<sub>18</sub> stationary phase (silica particles functionalised with C<sub>18</sub> chains) is a widely used technique due to its robust and reliable nature. The high stability of the column minimises the equilibration time needed, shortening chromatographic runs compared to traditional normal phase chromatography with reproducible results. However traditional reversed phase columns should not be run with a high percentage of the aqueous mobile phase (>80%) for extended periods of time as this can have a negative impact on column stability, retention, and peak shape, which is known as phase collapse<sup>191</sup>. Unfortunately since thiols, especially the oxidised forms, are small polar molecules in order to get sufficient retention on a C<sub>18</sub> column the starting conditions used generally have a high percentage

of aqueous mobile phase (>80%)<sup>127</sup>. Mixed mode stationary phases combine the stability of reversed phase chromatography with some of the polar separation characteristics normally associated with normal phase chromatography and allows the use of higher percentage of aqueous phase<sup>296</sup>. By utilising mixed mode chromatography the more polar thiols should be better separated and enabling a better analysis.

Reduced thiols and sulfide are all highly reactive compounds and are not stable in solution after samples have been collected<sup>18,44,116</sup>. The reduced thiols are highly susceptible to oxidation resulting in both the loss of reduced thiols and the artifactual increase in the concentration of the corresponding oxidised thiols. Additionally, enzymatic activity continues in biological samples after sample collection which results in additional losses unless the enzyme activity is blocked<sup>297</sup>. Sulfide and its metabolite methanethiol are both highly volatile and easily lost through evaporation unless trapped. Both thiols and sulfide can also potentially be taken up by proteins present in the sample<sup>120,283</sup>, form mixed oxidised species and even organic and inorganic polysulfides<sup>143</sup> all of which can contribute to losses after sample collection. For these reasons, many current methods employ an electrophile to alkylate the reactive sulfurs, blocking the loss of these reactive species<sup>105</sup>. One such electrophile is *N*-Ethylmaleimide (NEM) which has long been used for the analysis of hydrogen sulfide<sup>125</sup> and thiols<sup>122</sup> due to its ability to rapidly react with the free –SH group. As well as protecting reduced thiols and sulfide from loss by blocking the reactive sulfur and trapping the sulfide. It also has the added advantage of improving ionisation efficiency in electrospray ionisation sources commonly used in mass spectrometry<sup>123</sup> as well as providing increased retention on reversed phase chromatography columns<sup>127</sup>. These properties make NEM an ideal choice for the analysis of the sulfur redox metabolome using UHPLC-MS/MS.

# 3.1.2 Opportunities and Challenges in Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols and Sulfide in Biological Matrices

Biological samples present more of a challenge for analysis than buffered standard mixtures due to their complex nature and varying levels of the compounds of interest. Matrix components found in biological samples can potentially cause many issues including degradation of chromatographic separation, ion suppression of analytes and false signal caused by compounds with the same m/z or fragments leading to inaccurate quantification. Differences in the abundance of analytes can cause issues, as whilst one analyte might fall in the linear range on the calibration curve for quantification, other analytes at the same dilution may be too low to be quantified reliably or overloaded. For example, red blood cells (RBC) have large amounts of reduced glutathione (GSH) compared to the other thiols<sup>298</sup> which could potentially cause issues when quantifying the less abundant thiols. Conversely, plasma has lower levels of GSH compared

to cells but higher cystine levels. Issues related to matrix components can be alleviated by removing interfering components during sample preparation or by extracting the analytes of interest. Unfortunately, sample purification or extraction adds additional, time-consuming and often expensive steps to the analysis, which makes high throughput analysis difficult. The advantage of using a technique such as UHPLC-MS/MS is that it alleviates the need to use intensive sample preparation for a good analysis and allows the use of simpler techniques saving on both time and cost.

Protein precipitation is a simple method of sample preparation and removes some of the major interfering matrix components<sup>299</sup>. If left in the samples the proteins can precipitate onto the column as well as modify the stationary phase degrading the chromatographic separation. However only removing proteins will leave other small matrix components in the sample that can potentially interfere with the mass spectrometry detection. The simplest method of protein removal involves using organic solvents to precipitate the proteins (at least 1:1 organic solvent to sample) which can then be spun down and the supernatant analysed or stored<sup>300</sup>. However, when the chromatographic gradient starts with a high amount of aqueous mobile phase the relatively high organic solvent content in the prepared sample can lead to a loss of chromatographic retention. Ideally, when a high percentage of aqueous mobile phase used at the beginning of the chromatographic run, the samples must also be mainly aqueous as the sample composition must be close to the chromatographic starting conditions in order to get sufficient separation. Other protein removal methods utilise a strong acid<sup>216</sup> that can potentially disturb the levels of some of the more unstable compounds of interest including sulfide, polysulfides and thiol persulfides. Ultrafiltration uses centrifugal filters with a nominal molecular weight limit (NMWL), for example 10 kDa, which will exclude the majority of proteins found in biological samples without the use of strong acids or organic solvents<sup>301</sup>. Ultrafiltration however will not remove smaller peptides and other matrix components that fall under the molecular weight cut-off potentially resulting in a "dirtier" sample than other protein precipitation methods<sup>302</sup>.

### 3.1.2.1 Plasma

Plasma is collected from whole blood in tubes containing an anti-coagulant such as ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA), heparin or sodium citrate; it differs from serum as it contains clotting factors such as fibrinogen. Red blood cells are removed from plasma samples by centrifugation during which care must be taken to avoid lysing the RBCs as this will affect the contents of the plasma. Different anticoagulants can potentially have effects on the contents of plasma samples so the choice of anticoagulant must be carefully considered<sup>303</sup>. Care must also be taken to avoid haemolysis during sample collection and preparation as cellular levels of thiols vary

compared to those in plasma with ~500-times more GSH in RBCs<sup>44</sup> any lysis will therefore cause abnormally high GSH levels to be measured in the plasma.

For the analysis of thiols in plasma, ideally the whole blood should be derivatised on collection or as soon as possible after. This is to avoid any artificial oxidation of the free thiols, loss of sulfide, thiols being taken up by proteins or enzyme activity affecting the thiol makeup. Where this is not possible the plasma should be frozen as soon as possible and then derivatised the first time it is thawed to avoid any possible freeze-thaw effects.

### 3.1.2.2 Serum

Serum is the liquid fraction of blood excluding cells and clotting factors. It is obtained by letting the collected blood clot, generally for 30-60 min at room temperature, before the sample is spun down and the supernatant collected<sup>303</sup>. The method used to collect serum has some potential issues for thiol analysis, GSH and the other reduced thiols oxidise at room temperature with GSH having a half-life of ~5 minutes<sup>304</sup>. Whilst this might be only a slight decrease in the GSH concentration, it can represent a large increase in the concentration of GSSG and significantly affect the measured redox ratio. Enzyme activity in the sample will also continue during clotting resulting in additional losses. Sulfide being a small volatile molecule is also potentially susceptible to loss from the blood samples whilst they are left to coagulate by irreversibly evaporating or potentially reacting with oxidised thiols forming thiol persulfides<sup>139</sup>. These potential issues may be mitigated by the addition of NEM to the sample as it clots but it is not known how this might affect the clotting procedure or affect the result.

## 3.1.2.3 Red Blood Cells

Red blood cells (RBCs) are collected from whole blood using anticoagulant containing tubes in the same way as plasma collection. RBC and plasma collection can be done from the same whole blood sample; after the whole blood is spun down the supernatant (plasma) is removed. The RBCs form a pellet at the bottom of the tube and any remaining supernatant after plasma collection is pipetted off leaving the RBC pellet<sup>305</sup>. Before they can be analysed red blood cells first have to be lysed in order to release the intracellular thiols and sulfide. RBCs can be lysed in 3:1 pure water:RBC, with 10 mM NEM to derivatise the thiols and sulfide as they are released. The cell debris and proteins can then be removed during the protein precipitation or removal step.

The most abundant thiol in RBCs is reduced glutathione, which is ~100 times more abundant than the other thiols<sup>298</sup>. This could potentially cause an issue for RBC analysis, as at the dilutions needed to prevent overloading the GSH, other thiols may be too dilute below the limit of quantification.

### 3.1.2.4 Urine

Urine makes an attractive sample matrix as collection is non-invasive and often provides a large sample volume and is largely free from interfering proteins or lipids<sup>306</sup>. There are some drawbacks however as urine contains many small metabolic breakdown products and salts that may interfere with analysis<sup>307</sup>. It is especially susceptible to changes in the diet altering the matrix components<sup>308</sup> that may lead to inconsistent ion suppression between samples though the use of good internal standards can alleviate this. Although urine is largely protein and lipid free it is still best to utilise a deproteinisation step before analysis. The pH of urine is also not as consistent as that of plasma or other human sample matrices<sup>309</sup>, differing pHs may have an effect on the distribution of some species such as polysulfides or even redox pairs and so buffering of the urine may be required for consistency.

### 3.1.3 Bound and Total Thiols and Sulfide



Scheme 16: Reduction of a thiol disulfide by dithiothreitol (DTT)<sup>310</sup>.

Other methods have utilised reduction of oxidised and bound thiols in biological samples in order to measure the total free and bound thiol content. Total homocysteine (tHcys) is a widely used marker for conditions such as cardiovascular disease<sup>94</sup> and Alzheimer's<sup>96</sup>. The total level of thiols measured in this way provide a relatively crude measure as they often do not distinguish between the free circulating thiols (reduced and oxidised), mixed disulfides, and protein bound thiols<sup>68</sup>. There also exists a further thiol and sulfide component referred to as the acid labile thiols. They are defined as the concentration of LMW thiols that are liberated from binding to proteins or sulfane sulfur compounds following the treatment of a biological sample with mineral acid (e.g. HCI). These three components of the thiol redox metabolome represent 1) the redox status of a tissue/cell, according to the ratio of free reduced/oxidised thiols and 2) the redox reserve (or total thiol status), which is an index of the total reducing capacity of a cell/tissue or organism that defines its resilience to oxidative modification measured by the bound and acid labile components<sup>293</sup>.



**Figure 5:** Developed workflow for the efficient use of samples in the determination of free (1), total (2) and acid-labile (3) thiols and sulfide in biological samples such as blood plasma, blood cells and other biofluids.

Dithiothreitol (DTT) is commonly used as a reducing agent for thiol analysis<sup>311</sup>, DTT is able to rapidly react with the disulfide bonds in oxidised thiols reducing them and forming a stable six membered DTT ring and leaving the thiols in their reduced form (**Scheme 16**)<sup>310</sup>. An efficient workflow was developed to make the best use of samples (**Figure 5**). First, the free thiols and sulfide in samples can be analysed after NEM derivatisation, the same sample can then either be reduced using DTT in order to measure the total thiols, with the total thiols minus the free thiols giving the levels of bound and mixed disulfide thiols. The same sample could also be treated with acid instead to obtain the acid labile thiol and sulfide component. A single sample split would enable the free thiols and sulfide, bound thiols and sulfide and the acid labile thiols and sulfide to be determined. This powerful combination would make efficient use of samples like plasma that are often limited in volume, and provide a comprehensive picture of physiological thiol and sulfide status. By simultaneously measuring the free reduced and oxidised thiols, followed by reduction and/or treatment with acid to measure the total and acid labile thiols this distinction can be made providing a much more comprehensive picture of thiol status and metabolism.

# 3.2 Methods

Unless otherwise stated all reagents and materials were of the highest purity available and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Gillingham, UK or Munich, Germany). Dual stable isotope (<sup>13</sup>C, <sup>15</sup>N) labelled reduced (GSH) and oxidized glutathione (GSSG) were from Cambridge Isotopes and obtained from CK Isotopes Ltd (Newtown Unthank, UK), N-ethyl-d5-maleimide (d<sub>5</sub>-NEM) was from Sigma-Aldrich. Sodium persulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>) was provided by Dojindo Europe (Neuss, Germany). HPLC-grade solvents from Fisher Scientific (UK). Argon gas (> 99.99%) was from BOC Group (Guildford, UK). Ultrapure N<sub>2</sub> gas was produced by a nitrogen generator (Parker Balston, UK).

#### 3.2.1 UHPLC-MS/MS Development and Optimisation

#### 3.2.1.1 Mass Spectrometry

The detector used was a Xevo TQ-S triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Waters) equipped with an electrospray ionisation source (ESI). Optimal mass spectrometry settings were obtained by direct infusion of oxidised thiol standards and NEM derivatised reduced thiol and sulfide standards. All analytes were detected using positive ion mode. To improve the specificity and sensitivity for each analyte specific precursor and product ions (MRMs) were established for each compound (**Table 2**). By monitoring the precursor ion and a specific fragment ion produced by that precursor a highly specific measurement can be made which reduces the noise level and increasing the signal to noise ratio. The reduced thiol standards were prepared to a concentration of 1 mM by addition of the dry powder to pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer containing 10 mM NEM. The standards were then diluted with pure water to bring them down to reduce the concentration to a measureable range (1 nM - 5  $\mu$ M). The individual standards were infused directly into the ESI source of the mass spectrometer at 8  $\mu$ l/min and scanned for one minute. To obtain optimal signal for each compound each one-minute scan was performed with manual adjustment of each parameter, adjusting one at a time in order to gain the highest signal intensity for each setting for each compound. The optimised precursor and product ion pairs, cone voltages, and collision voltages used are listed in Table 2, further mass spectrometry settings chosen are listed in appendix A.1, Table 9. Signals were captured and data processed using MassLynx v.4.0 and Quanlynx v.4.0 software (Waters).

### 3.2.1.2 Chromatography Development and Optimisation

Different column chemistries and chromatographic gradients were tested with the final gradients and columns used are summarised in **Table 1**. All chromatographic separations were carried out using a Waters Aquity ultrahigh performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) system with a thermostat controlled autosampler (kept at 5°C) with an ultrahigh performance binary pump.

Initial development used an Aquity UPLC CSH  $C_{18}$  (1.7 µm), 2.1 x 100 mm column kept at a temperature of 30°C, with a sample injection volume of 5 µl. Following the work performed by Lee-Sun New and Eric C.Y. Chan<sup>127</sup>, water (H<sub>2</sub>O) and acetonitrile (ACN) were selected as the solvents for the two main mobile phases (A and B respectively). Mobile phase A was H<sub>2</sub>O with 5 mM ammonium formate and mobile phase B was 95% acetonitrile with 5% H<sub>2</sub>O and 5 mM ammonium formate. The chromatographic gradient (**Table 1**) started at 95% A, decreasing to 40% A over 5 min before returning to 95% A over 1 min and being held at that level for a further 1 min, resulting in a total run time of 7 min at a constant flow rate of 0.2 ml/min. Experimental results

depicted in **Figure 7**, **Figure 12** and **Figure 13** were obtained using these separation conditions, as indicated in the figure legend. For long sample runs due to the high amount of aqueous solvent used a wash step was included every four or five samples. The wash step consisted of a short five minute wash with 100% B followed by a blank run using the gradient in **Table 1** to ensure the column was equilibrated before the next set of samples.

**Table 1:**Chromatographic conditions for thiol analysis on a reversed phase  $C_{18}$  column, A = $H_2O + 5$  mM ammonium acetate, B = 95% ACN + 5%  $H_2O + 5$  mM ammonium acetateand on a mixed mode Aqua UPLC column, A =  $H_2O + 0.15$  % formic acid and 5 mMammonium formate, B = 95% acetonitrile + 5%  $H_2O + 0.15$ % formic acid and 5 mMammonium formate. The flow rate for all gradients and columns was 0.2 ml/min.

C	18 Column		Aqua Column				
Time (min)	% A	% B	Time (min)	% A	% B		
0.00	95	5	0.00	99	1		
5.00	40	60	4.50	60	40		
6.00	95	5	5.00	0	100		
7.00	95	5	6.50	0	100		
			7.00	99	1		
			8.00	99	1		

Further development focused on using a 1.6  $\mu$ m Modus 100 x 2.1 mm Aqua UPLC column (Chromatography Direct, Runcorn, UK) kept at a temperature of 30°C; mobile phase A was H<sub>2</sub>O with 0.15 % formic acid and 5 mM ammonium formate and mobile phase B was 95% acetonitrile with 5% H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.15% formic acid and 5 mM ammonium formate. The chromatographic gradient (**Table 1**) starts at 99% A, decreasing to 60% A over 4.5 min, before dropping to 0% A over 0.5 min and being held at that level for 1.5 min. The column is brought back up to 99% mobile phase A over 0.5 min and held at 99% for a further 1 min to equilibrate. A flow rate of 0.2 ml/min was used throughout, and total run time including equilibration was 8 min. An injection volume of 5  $\mu$ l was used, with a wash step every ten injections consisting of 100% mobile phase B for 5 min, followed by a blank using the regular gradient to control for potential carry-over and column equilibration. We found that carry-over was negligible with two needle rinse steps (300  $\mu$ l methanol, followed by 600  $\mu$ l H2O /acetonitrile 90/10%, v/v) between injections.

 Table 2:
 Structures, MS parameters, elution times and limits of detection (LOD) and quantification (LOQ) for the 12 analytes and 3 internal standards investigated.

 (n.d. - not determined)<sup>293</sup>

Analyte/Internal Standard	Structures of Oxidised Thiols, NEM Derivatised Reduced Thiols and Sulfide	Precursor Ion m/z	Product Ion m/z	Cone Energy / V	Collision Energy / V	Elution time (C <sub>18</sub> ) / min	Elution time (Aqua) / min	LOD / nM	LOQ / nM
Reduced Thiols (NEM Derivatised)									
N-Acetylcysteine		289.0	201.0	17	14	n.d.	4.05	0.5	4
Coenzyme A		892.5	389.0	12	31	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
Cysteine	NH <sub>2</sub> OH	247.1	158.1	8	18	2.18	2.80	8	20
Cysteinyl-glycine		304.0	212.0	8	8	2.30	2.90	20	50

Chap	oter 3
------	--------

Glutamyl-cysteine		376.0	246.6	5	10	1.80	3.20	0.2	0.5
Glutathione		433.1	304.0	6	13	2.00	3.26	0.2	0.5
<sup>13</sup> C <sub>2</sub> , <sup>15</sup> N Glutathione*	0	436.1	307.0						
Homocysteine	NH2 OH	261.1	56.0	8	16	2.40	3.08	1	4
Oxidised Thiols									
Cystine		241.0	152	8	12	1.15	1.10	60	100

Glutathione (Oxidised)	о NH2 Н Н	613.0	355.0					0.5	2
<sup>13</sup> C, <sup>15</sup> N, Glutathione	HO * * N OH	619.0	361.0	10	20	1.00	2.50		
(Oxidised)*	i i i i	015.0	501.0						
Homocystine		269.1	136.1	14	4	1.20	1.50	4	7
	HO S S NH2 OH								
Sulfide Related Species	Sulfide Related Species (NEM Derivatised)								
Sulfide	° *	285.1	160.1	0	14	4 05	F 00	4	8
$(D_5-NEM)_2-Sulfide*$		295.1	165.1	0	14	4.65	5.90		
Persulfide	o 	317.0	160.1	8	14	5.50	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
Mathanathial		172.6	74 6	1	11	nd	E GG	50	100
memanethioi	s—	1/3.6	74.6			n.a.	5.66	50	100

### 3.2.1.3 Linearity, Precision, Limits of Detection and Reproducibility

The linearity of the standard curves for each analyte was determined using accurately weighed amounts of analytical-grade reduced thiols dissolved in the appropriate volume of NEMsupplemented ammonium phosphate buffer giving a 10-fold molar excess of NEM over thiol. The solutions were allowed to react for 5 min at room temperature. Accurately weighed sulfide was first dissolved in water before addition of a defined volume of this concentrated stock to NEMcontaining buffer in a septum-sealed reaction vial under otherwise identical reaction conditions. NEM-derivatised thiol and sulfide solutions were then combined with roughly equimolar concentrations of the oxidised thiols to yield a stock solution of all analytes to be tested. The mixed standard was serially diluted with buffer to yield targeted final concentrations of 10 µM, 5  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 500 nM, 100 nM, 50 nM, 10 nM and 5 nM when added to the biological sample (2x more concentrated in the mixed standard). For most compounds this is well within the physiological range, except for cellular/tissue GSH levels (being in the low mM range), which may therefore necessitate appropriate dilution of samples before analysis. To each dilution of the standard calibration set and the biological samples the same volume of internal standard was added yielding final concentrations of 100 nM GSH, 200 nM GSSG, and 100 nM sulfide. This allowed adjustment of peak areas by taking into account the ratios between analyte and internal standard. Limits of detection were determined using measurements of serially diluted standards prepared as previously described. Limits of detection and quantification are defined as signal-tonoise ratio of >3 and >10 respectively. Between-run reproducibility was tested using repeated measurements of a pooled plasma sample over several days following the established method.

### 3.2.1.4 Quantification

Quantification of the compounds of interest was accomplished using stable isotope labelled internal standards. Stable isotope labelled standards were used as they have different masses than the endogenous thiols and sulfide (NEM reacted) but have the same chromatographic and ionisation properties. Three internal standards were used, one for each of the three classes of compounds analysed; the reduced thiols, oxidise thiols and sulfide. One internal standard for each class is required to account for the differences in ionisation between them as NEM modifies the ionisation (ESI) properties of the molecules it reacts with<sup>123</sup>. For the oxidised thiols, <sup>13</sup>C<sub>4</sub><sup>15</sup>N<sub>2</sub>-GSSG was used; for the reduced thiols <sup>13</sup>C<sub>2</sub><sup>15</sup>N-GSH was derivatised with an excess of NEM and used as internal standard. For sulfide, a deuterated stable-isotope labelled standard (<sup>32</sup>S-(D<sub>5</sub>-NEM)<sub>2</sub>) was prepared by reacting an exact amount of D<sub>5</sub>-NEM with a two-fold molar excess of Na<sub>2</sub>S in pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer for 30 min at room temperature, and removing excess sulfide by bubbling for 60 min with high-purity argon (see **Table 2** for the structures of the

standards). A mixed internal standard working solution was prepared by combining all three stable-isotope labelled compounds in pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer. Specific MRM conditions were established to monitor each of the internal standards (**Table 2**), and the ratio between the signal intensity of each analyte and its corresponding internal standard was used for quantification. Internal standard was added to all samples and standards to give a final concentration of 100 nM GSH, 200 nM GSSG and 100 nM sulfide. Stock solutions of standards containing each analyte of interest were prepared fresh for each analysis in pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer (except for cystine and homocysteine, which were prepared in 0.1 N HCl and sulfide and methanethiol were first dissolved in water) and serially diluted in buffer to construct a concentration response curve for calibration. Each concentration of standard was spiked with the same final concentration of stable isotope standards.

### 3.2.2 Derivatisation of thiols and sulfide

Initial experiments carried out with mixed thiol standards at room temperature (RT) and pH 7.4 revealed that the reaction with NEM was complete for all analytes in under 10 min. Those results were confirmed by spectrophotometric monitoring of NEM consumption under the same conditions (302 nm; Cary 60 UV/vis spectrophotometer), demonstrating rapid kinetics for the reactions of NEM with GSH, cysteine (Cys) and homocysteine (Hcys) (at a 1:1 molar ratio, reactions were complete within 12-15 seconds). The reaction between NEM and sulfide (2:1 molar ratio) took longer and required 10 min for running to completion (see Chapter 5: for more details). Optimal reaction pH was assessed either by comparing reactions of NEM with aqueous standards of select thiols (GSH, Cys, Hcys, sulfide and stable-isotope labelled GSH) or by addition of NEM stocks prepared at different pH to human plasma. For those experiments, 100 mM NEM stock solutions were prepared in different ammonium phosphate buffers adjusted to pH 6.0, 7.4, 8.0 and 9.0 and used within 5 min of preparation. Freshly prepared aqueous solutions of thiols were reacted individually with NEM at the different pH values with a final concentration of 10 mM NEM, and after 5 min reaction time aliquots of the NEM-thiol incubates were combined and analysed immediately. Endogenous thiols contained in human plasma (obtained by centrifugation of EDTA blood using the rapid centrifugation protocol as detailed in section 3.2.4.1) were derivatised using freshly prepared NEM stock solutions of different pH at a 1:10 v:v ratio (10 mM NEM final).

## 3.2.3 Method Validation

The final method was validated for linearity, over a range of biologically relevant concentrations (5 nM  $- 1 \mu$ M for diluted samples), and a preliminary assessment of precision, reproducibility and

limits of detection were carried out using authentic standards, according to standard procedures, and are shown in **Table 2** and **Figure 10**.

### 3.2.4 Sample Collection, Preparation, Storage and Optimisation

Blood was taken from healthy volunteers of either gender (20-58 years old) with informed consent to participate before enrolment. Procedures were approved by the ethics committees of the University of Southampton (ERGO 30507/31426) and conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Venous blood was collected from healthy human volunteers using a 21-gauge (0.80mmx19mm) butterfly needle and BD VacutainerTM tubes. Following gentle mixing by inversion, blood was processed immediately as described below. Sample aliquots were measured either fresh or transferred into cryovials (Nunc), snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis.

### 3.2.4.1 Plasma and Serum

Each step of the sample preparation was carefully optimised and validated. To compare detection of thiols and sulfide in plasma with that in serum, whole blood was also collected into serum BD vacutainers, incubated for 60 min at room temperature to allow clotting, and then centrifuged at 3000x g according to the manufacturer's protocol. To test the effects of other anticoagulants, whole blood was collected into BD vacutainers containing EDTA, heparin or citrate, diluted 9:1 with NEM (final NEM concentration 10 mM), centrifuged at 800 x g for 10 min at 4°C. Centrifugation speed was optimised by comparing GSH levels in plasma obtained by standard/low-speed centrifugation of whole blood (800 x g, 10 min, 4°C) with short/high-speed centrifugation (1 min 3000x g or 3 min 3000x g at 4°C). Any potential haemolysis was assessed by our collaborators in the Cortese-Krott research group (see acknowledgements) by measuring the plasma free haemoglobin concentration using UV-visible spectroscopy<sup>312</sup>. Sample stability and stabilisation conditions were determined by focusing primarily on the levels of GSH, GSSG and sulfide (although other thiols were assessed in parallel). When comparing the addition of different concentrations of NEM (1, 5, 10, 20 mM final concentration) to whole blood, or when NEM addition was delayed by specified periods of time (30 s; 5, 10, 15 and 20 min). To test the effects of stage of addition of NEM in during sample processing the same blood sample was divided into identical aliquots. NEM was added either before the whole blood sample was spun down or added to the plasma after centrifugation. Additionally to test the effects of freeze/thawing on NEM stabilised samples the same sample was split into aliquots before being subjected to the different freeze/thaw conditions; the aliquots were either analysed without freezing, stored in the autosampler at 5°C overnight, frozen and thawed once, or frozen and thawed twice. The stability

of frozen underivatised samples compared to frozen derivatised samples was also assessed using identical aliquots of plasma that were either, reacted with NEM and analysed without freezing, reacted with NEM after being frozen and then defrosted before analysis, or reacted with NEM before freezing and then analysed after defrosting.

In the final optimised sample collection procedure for human plasma analysis, whole blood was collected directly into EDTA BD vacutainer<sup>™</sup> tubes and gently mixed by repeated inversion. 1 volume (vol) of NEM (100 mM stock solution in phosphate buffered saline) was added to 9 vol of blood within 1 min, resulting in a final concentration of 10 mM NEM (1:10 dilution), again followed by gentle mixing. Stabilised, anticoagulated blood was then centrifuged for 1 min at 3000x g to separate plasma from cellular components, snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and kept at -80°C until analysis. Before analysis, NEM-derivatised plasma samples were supplemented with the internal standard mixture (dual stable-isotope labelled GSSG and NEM-derivatised GSH as well as D<sub>5</sub>-NEM-derivatised sulfide in ammonium phosphate buffer (see 3.2.1.3), 1:1 v/v; target sample concentrations of 100 nM GSH, 200 nM GSSG, 100 nM sulfide). Proteins were then removed from the samples by ultrafiltration using spin columns with a 10 kD cut-off (Millipore).

### 3.2.4.2 Red Blood Cells

NEM can freely move across cell membranes and alkylate the cellular thiols before lysis<sup>293,313</sup>. Therefore when NEM is added to whole blood additional NEM is not required during lysis. If the whole blood has not been NEM treated then addition of NEM is required during or before lysis. To release the cellular thiols the red blood cell pellet first has to be lysed in pure water (3:1 H<sub>2</sub>O:RBC). In order to do so the RBC pellet was defrosted and 50  $\mu$ l of RBCs were added to 140  $\mu$ l ultra-pure H<sub>2</sub>O + 10  $\mu$ l 100 mM NEM solution giving a total volume of 200  $\mu$ l. The lysing solution was allowed to sit at room temperature for 30 min before proteins and cell debris were removed from the samples by ultrafiltration using spin columns with a 10 kD cut-off (Millipore). The filtrate was decanted and split into two aliquots. One aliquot was diluted 1000 times with pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer for the analysis of GSH and the other 10 times for the other thiols and sulfide, the diluted RBC filtrate was then analysed using the established UHPLC-MS/MS method (see section 3.2.1).

### 3.2.1 Bound and Total Thiols and Sulfide

Different reaction conditions for the reduction of disulfides by treatment with dithiothreitol (DTT) were tested for each biological matrix to establish optimal reaction conditions. The concentration of DTT needed to reduce the samples completely was assessed using different concentrations of DTT. The reaction time needed for complete reduction was also tested. Samples were reacted

with 10, 25, 50 and 100 mM DTT for 10, 20, 30 and 60 min at RT before NEM was added. After the reduction was finished, the samples were reacted with NEM (in ammonium phosphate buffer) giving an excess of 10 mM over the DTT concentration used (20, 35, 60 and 110 mM respectively). 10 mM excess NEM was used to ensure all of the SH equivalents of DTT were neutralised and to ensure full capture of additionally released thiols (Pathway 2, **Figure 5**). An alternative reaction sequence was tested in which DTT was added to NEM pre-treated human plasma to achieve (following neutralisation of the excess NEM) a similar final DTT concentration. Results obtained with either sequence were not significantly different.

To determine the concentration of total thiols, free thiols and bound-thiols (see section 3.1.3), NEM stabilised plasma was divided into two aliquots: One to assess total thiols (free thiols + bound thiols) one aliquot was treated with 50 mM DTT for 30 min, which reduces LMW disulfides and mixed disulfides with proteins. The other aliquot was used to determine free thiols one aliquot was left untreated. In both aliquots, thiol concentrations were assessed following NEM derivatisation by the same LC-MS/MS method as before. Bound thiols were calculated by subtracting free thiols from total thiols. The same procedure was carried out with the red blood cell pellet.

### 3.3 Results



#### 3.3.1 UHPLC-MS/MS Development and Optimisation

Figure 6: Reaction of NEM with Reaction of NEM with sulfide and reduced aminothiols (using cysteine as an example). The sulfhydryl group can add to either side of the double bond on the maleimide ring (Michael addition reaction, with sulfur adding either to the highlighted C3 or C4 of the maleimide ring) leading to the formation of two distinct diastereomers (with sulfide four different diastereomers can potentially be formed).

### 3.3.1.1 Initial development on a Reversed Phase C<sub>18</sub> Column

Initial development focused on key compounds of interest involved in the metabolic pathways summarized in Figure 4, including Hcys, homocystine (HcySS), Cys, cystine (CySS), GSH, GSSG, cysteinylglycine (CysGly), glutamylcysteine (GluCys), and sulfide. These compounds were used to establish appropriate separation and detection conditions using UHPLC-MS/MS. During the initial development a reversed phase C<sub>18</sub> was utilised with a simple chromatographic gradient for analyte separation (Table 1), allowing us to make general observations regarding the elution profile of the selected compounds. Generally, the small polar oxidised thiols (GSSG, HcySS and CySS) which do not react with NEM eluted first, they were followed by the reduced thiols (GSH, Hcys, Cys, CysGly and GluCys) with the sulfide which gains two NEM adducts eluting last (Figure 7). It is clear that the addition of an NEM adduct increases the retention on the column and the addition of two adducts even more so. Since the oxidised thiols do not react with NEM they are poorly retained and elute close together near to the solvent front. Double or split peaks were observed for a few of the compounds, particularly GSH and Cys. This phenomenon has previously been reported for NEM derivatised thiols<sup>314</sup> and has been attributed to the formation of two diastereomers that differ in position of the sulfur atom in relation to the maleimide nitrogen, depending on where the reduced thiol adds to the double bond of the pyrrole ring (Figure 6). The MRM for CysGly also shows two peaks when analysing the mixture of compounds with the additional peak eluting at the same time as the peak for GSH. This additional CysGly peak only occurs when GSH is present at the same time indicating that it is generated by in source fragmentation of GSH. The precursor m/z of CysGly is 304 whilst the main fragment ion of GSH has exactly the same m/z. The true CysGly peak can only be distinguished from the peak generated from GSH by its elution time.

In order to get suitable retention on the  $C_{18}$  column the starting conditions have to be 95% aqueous mobile phase (A) or higher. In large sample numbers using such a high percentage aqueous starting conditions can cause loss of peak shape due to column degradation<sup>191</sup>. This necessitates regular organic solvent wash and re-equilibration steps when running large sample numbers in order to maintain column condition and prevent poor peak shapes developing. The oxidised thiols are not well separated on the  $C_{18}$  column due to their small polar nature and elute close to the solvent front. This in particular causes an issue for the analysis of free oxidised thiols in biological samples due to the differences in concentration, with CySS being ~100x more concentrated than GSSG or HcySS leading to ion suppression and other issues.



Figure 7: Exemplary chromatographic separations using the developed method on a reversed phase C<sub>18</sub> column in both a standard mixture (A) and in human plasma (B). A) Chromatographic separation and selective detection by tandem mass spectrometry of authentic stock solutions of all analytes using selected MRM time windows B) Representative chromatogram of the same analytes at their natural abundance in human plasma using specific MRM time windows for selected groups of compounds<sup>293</sup>. MRM settings used are listed in Table 2 and chromatographic conditions in Table 1.

## 3.3.1.2 Further Development Using Mixed Mode Type Columns

Despite the good separation for the reduced thiols and sulfide, the oxidised thiols were not well separated on the reversed phase  $C_{18}$  column. It is clear that the addition of an NEM adduct or in the case of sulfide, two adducts, improved the separation but since the oxidised thiols do not react with NEM and are small polar molecules they were poorly retained. Therefore mixed mode

type stationary phases which combine reversed phase type stationary phases with some polar separation characteristics were investigated. The Aqua UHPLC column was found to offer suitable separation properties. The polar separation characteristics of the column allowed for much better separation of the GSSG and HcySS, but unfortunately the retention of CySS was still not ideal and it eluted close to the solvent front with a poor peak shape. The general order of elution remained the same as with the C<sub>18</sub> column, first the oxidised thiols eluted followed by the NEM derivatised reduced thiols and finally the NEM derivatised sulfide (**Figure 8**). The exact order of elution however did change slightly for the reduced thiols with Cys eluting first followed by CysGly, Hcys, GluCys and the GSH. The same double peak for CysGly is observed as with the C<sub>18</sub> column due to the signal generated by source fragmentation of the GSH. The true CysGly signal can be determined by its elution time.

Further development of the method included the addition of three further metabolites, N-acetylcysteine (NAC), methanethiol (MT) and coenzyme A (CoA). As with the other metabolites, MRMs were established and detection conditions optimised before testing their chromatographic properties using the developed method. NAC and CoA did not differ much from other thiols in terms of fragmentation properties. Methanethiol, however, was found to be extremely sensitive to in-source fragmentation, requiring a very low cone voltage for optimal detection (**Table 2**). MT was well retained on the column, eluting between the other thiols and sulfide whilst NAC eluted sooner with the other reduced thiols (**Figure 8**). CoA eluted with an extremely long peak tail over many minutes, this is likely due to CoA having multiple strong interactions with the mixed mode column, preventing inclusion of CoA in this method.

In a plasma sample the chromatographic separation remains largely the same, though due to differing endogenous concentrations of the analytes some peaks have different shapes. Specifically CySS which still elutes close to or on the solvent front has poor peak shape with significant tailing and possible ion suppression by matrix components.



Figure 8: Exemplary chromatographic separations using the final developed method on a mixed mode aqua modus column in both a standard mixture (A) and in human plasma (B). A) Chromatographic separation and selective detection by tandem mass spectrometry of authentic stock solutions of all analytes using full registration for the entire run. B) Representative chromatogram of the same analytes at their natural abundance in human plasma using specific MRM time windows for selected groups of compounds<sup>293</sup>. MRM settings used are listed in Table 2 and chromatographic conditions in Table 1.

### 3.3.1.3 Internal Standards

Three different stable isotope labelled internal standards were required to cover each of the classes of compounds analysed. As NEM enhances ionisation in ESI<sup>123</sup> one stable isotope labelled internal standard was selected to cover the oxidised thiols, which do not react with NEM. A second internal standard was selected to cover the reduced thiols, which all react with one NEM

adduct, and a third internal standard was used to cover the sulfide and related analytes, which react with two NEM adducts. For the oxidised thiols  ${}^{13}C_4{}^{15}N_2$ -GSSG was used, and for the reduced thiols  ${}^{13}C_2{}^{15}N$ -GSH was reacted with NEM to give  ${}^{13}C_2{}^{15}N$ -GSH-NEM for use as the internal standard (see **Figure 9** for structures). On addition of NEM derivatised stable isotope labelled GSH, and GSSG to plasma which had not yet been treated with NEM a rapid loss of internal standard was observed. This is consistent with the known dynamics of glutathione in blood<sup>304</sup>. Treatment of the plasma with NEM before addition of the internal standard prevented this loss. Therefore, the internal standards were only added to plasma and the other matrices analysed after they had been reacted with NEM for at least 10 min consistent with the developed reaction conditions (section 3.2.2). This prevented loss of internal standard even after deproteinisation.



**Figure 9:** Stable isotope labelled internal standard chromatograms for the three classes of compounds analysed, <sup>13</sup>C<sub>2</sub><sup>15</sup>N-GSH for the reduced thiols, <sup>13</sup>C<sub>4</sub><sup>15</sup>N<sub>2</sub>-GSSG for the oxidised thiols and D<sub>10</sub>-NEM<sub>2</sub>-Sulfide for the sulfide. The structure of each standard is shown above the relevant peak. The ratio of the peak area/internal standard peak area is used for quantification of analytes in samples. Final concentrations of the internal standards in samples were 100 nM GSH, 200 nM GSSG and 100 nM sulfide.

Developing a stable isotope labelled standard for the sulfide proved more challenging. The most commonly available stable isotope for sulfide is <sup>34</sup>S, which is only different by two m/z units from <sup>32</sup>S. Initial studies using <sup>34</sup>S-(NEM)<sub>2</sub> showed that the degree of ion suppression of the sulfide adduct in a variety of biological matrices was different on occasion from that of the GSH internal standard adduct, justifying a separate internal standard for sulfide. However these experiments highlighted the issue with using a stable isotope labelled standard so close in mass to the natural molecule. The natural abundance of the <sup>34</sup>S isotope (4.2%) means that high concentrations of endogenous sulfide can lead to interference in measured signal for both the internal standard and the endogenous sulfide. This required the use of cumbersome and inaccurate mathematical correction factors. A more appropriate internal standard was therefore developed, a pentadeuterated NEM analogue, N-ethyl-D5-maleimide (D<sub>5</sub>-NEM) was reacted with sulfide (see 3.2.1.3 for details) to produce the stable isotope labelled (D<sub>5</sub>-NEM)<sub>2</sub>-S which has a much larger difference of 10 m/z units (see **Figure 9** for the structure). This internal standard coeluted with the regular NEM adduct of sulfide (**Figure 9**) without showing any overlap in signal.

A mixture of  ${}^{13}C_2{}^{15}N$ -GSH-NEM,  ${}^{13}C_4{}^{15}N_2$ -GSSG and (D<sub>5</sub>-NEM)<sub>2</sub>-S prepared in ammonium phosphate buffer pH 7.4 was used for the internal standard and added to the external standard curve as well as all samples as early on during sample preparation as possible. Specific MRMs were established for each of the internal standards (**Table 2**). A final concentration in the external standard mixture or sample of 100 nM GSH, 200 nM GSSG and 100 nM sulfide was used. The ratio between the signal intensity of each analyte and its corresponding internal standard was used for quantification in the biological matrix.

### 3.3.1.4 Linearity, Precision, Limits of Detection and Reproducibility

All analytes showed excellent linearity over a wide range of concentrations (>3 orders of magnitude), with overall  $r^2$  values of between 0.994 and 0.999 (**Figure 10**).



**Figure 10:** Linearity of detector response for main analytes (n=3) over a range of 5 nM – 1  $\mu$ M representative of the concentrations of analytes in biological samples after dilution for analysis (see section 3.2.4 for details). All analytes show excellent linearity over the range measured with overall r<sup>2</sup> values of between 0.994 and 0.999<sup>293</sup>.

Using an injection volume of 5 µl the sensitivity limits achieved were all in the nanomolar range, differing by class of compound and structure. NEM enhances ionisation efficiency for ESI so it is not surprising that the sulfide with two NEM adducts has the best sensitivity followed by the reduced thiol NEM adducts and the oxidised thiols (no NEM adduct) with the least sensitivity. Limits of detection and quantification, as defined by a signal-to-noise ratio of >3 and >10 respectively, are listed in **Table 2**. The majority of analytes included in the method could be readily detected in fresh human plasma and quantified without problems in each sample measured. Some analytes were not detected in plasma but were found in other sample matrices as detailed later. Between-run reproducibility was tested for a pooled plasma sample over several days and was better than 20% overall.
#### 3.3.2 Optimisation of NEM Derivatisation Reaction Conditions



Figure 11: Effects of pH on the measurement of aminothiols and sulfide using NEM<sup>293</sup>. The effect of pH was investigated in a simple aqueous buffer (A) and in plasma (B). A) Standard curves were prepared at four different pHs, 6, 7.4 (physiological), 8, and 9, using NEM in ammonium phosphate buffer at the appropriate pH. In the inset graphs, the percentage change in peak area/internal standard peak area relative to the pH 7.4 buffer is shown for the highest standard, 1 μM, on a linear scale. The

largest impact of pH is seen for Cys with a tenfold decrease in peak area from pH 6 to pH 9, sulfide shows the least difference between the different pHs. Data are from 2 independent measurements. Inset, for GSH and sulfide the difference between groups was not significant. **B)** The percentage changes in peak area/internal standard area is presented relative to those at pH 7.4. Contrary to the analysis in buffer (**A**) sulfide shows the largest difference in measured peak areas with a large increase above pH 7.4 as well as a slight increase at pH 6. Data are from 6 independent samples. For GSH, and HCys the differences among the groups were not significant.

To avoid additional sample preparation steps reaction conditions were optimised to perform well under biologically relevant conditions. Human blood plasma does not often vary from a pH of 7.4 under most physiological conditions and is naturally buffered to maintain this pH. At physiological pH NEM reacts rapidly with the thiols and sulfide as confirmed experimentally (see Chapter 5: for details). However, the pH still can have a significant effect on the alkylation of thiols by NEM, and in previous studies a range of pH values from 6.5-7.5 have been used. Selected analytes were used to test the effect of pH on the thiol alkylation reaction from pH 6 to 9 in simple aqueous buffer systems as well as by additional incubations of NEM with human plasma at the same pH values (**Figure 11**).

There are clear differences in the reactions of the different thiols with NEM at different pH's, whilst little difference was observed for the reaction of sulfide and NEM. For GSH only small differences were observed, with larger differences seen for Hcys and the largest differences with Cys. For Cys there was a 10-fold difference in the measured peak areas (representative of concentration) between pH 7.4 and pH 9. When NEM made up in buffers of different pH was added to human plasma, the measured changes in peak area were less pronounced than the changes for the thiols in simple aqueous buffered solution. Nevertheless, a few differences were noted; peak areas decreased slightly with increasing alkalinity for GSH and Cys with a much greater increase for sulfide. A small increase compared to physiological pH was also observed for Cys and sulfide upon acidification. All further experiments were therefore carried out using NEM containing stock solutions kept at pH 7.4. Since the physiological pH of plasma, saliva and cellular samples is almost always pH 7.4 there is no need to add a stabilising buffer for these compartments or to alter the pH. However, the pH of urine may vary from slightly acidic to alkaline, depending on nutritional habits and metabolic status; thus, checking pH after addition of NEM-containing buffer would be advisable.

#### 3.3.3 Optimisation of Sample Preparation

The most commonly used commercially available blood tubes (EDTA, heparin, citrate and serum vacutainers) were tested for their suitability for thiol and sulfide analysis using blood collected from three individuals. The suitability of these tubes were assessed as if this method is to be applied to clinical studies there may not be a choice of blood tube and so the effect of different tubes is important to understand. Plasma from blood collected in citrate tubes had greatly reduced sulfide levels compared to the other anticoagulants. The citrate plasma also had lower levels of GSH, Cys and CysGly than the heparin and EDTA plasma. Blood collected in heparin tubes showed slightly higher levels of GSH and sulfide compared to EDTA, but lower levels of Cys and CysGly. Serum tubes were found to be wholly unsatisfactory for measurement of physiological levels of thiols and sulfide as they showed greatly reduced concentrations of the majority of thiols measured (except GluCys) and sulfide (Figure 12, A). Whether this was due to excessive protein thiolation due to the coagulation process remains speculative and was not investigated further. Serum and citrate tubes are clearly unsuitable for thiol redox measurements. EDTA and heparin tubes both gave similar levels of each of the analytes tested, EDTA however has the advantage of being a metal chelator and therefore should reduce oxidation of thiols my metal ions removing the need for addition of a separate metal chelator. All further validation experiments were therefore carried out using EDTA as anticoagulant.

Due to the rapid oxidation of reduced thiols when samples are exposed to the air as well as the volatility of sulfide, it should be apparent that the sooner NEM is added to the sample the better. Therefore, when collecting blood samples for plasma and red blood cell analysis NEM was added immediately after collection before any other sample processing took place. As anticipated, when addition of NEM to whole blood was delayed lower levels of GSH and CysGly were detected with increasing time (Figure 12, B). The optimal concentration of NEM to alkylate fully the compounds of interest was investigated. The absolute levels of the thiols and sulfide cannot be known before analysis. Additionally, the most abundant thiol in human plasma is the single free sulfhydryl group of Cys-34 of serum albumin<sup>39</sup>, whilst it is not analysed in this method it will still react with NEM and therefore reduce the amount available to react with the analytes of interest. To ensure that all of the low-molecular weight thiols and sulfide are fully alkylated a range of NEM concentrations (1-20 mM final concentrations) were tested (Figure 12, C). For the majority of the analytes there was no significant change in the measured concentrations between 1 and 5 mM NEM. Above 5 mM NEM (added to whole blood) however there were large increases in the measured levels of GSH and sulfide, whilst the concentrations of the other thiols were not significantly affected or for Cys and Hcys reduced. Sulfide levels showed the largest variation, tripling between 1 mM NEM and 10 mM but with less of an increase between 10 and 20 mM.

Chapter 3



Figure 12: Optimisation of sample preparation procedure: anticoagulation, and stabilisation with NEM<sup>293</sup>. For all experiments A-D, NEM (or other thiol-alkylating agent) was added directly to whole blood after which the sample was centrifuged at 800x g for 10 min at room temperature. In experiment E NEM was added to plasma directly after separation from blood cells by the same centrifugation protocol. A) The choice of anticoagulant affects the concentrations of thiol measured; because of its metal chelating properties EDTA is the most suitable anticoagulant for assessment of the thiol redox metabolome. B) Delay in addition of NEM to whole blood leads to progressive decreases in GSH and CysGly concentrations as compared to time = 0. C) The apparent concentrations of GSH and sulfide increase with increasing

concentrations of NEM when added to whole blood. **D)** The concentration of sulfide detected increases with increasing concentrations of alkylating agents added to whole blood. **E)** The NEM concentration-dependent increases of GSH levels were not observed when NEM was added to plasma (although absolute GSH concentrations were considerably lower), suggesting that these increases were largely due to leakage of GSH from blood cells; however, apparent plasma sulfide concentrations still increased with increasing NEM concentrations, suggesting removal of sulfide from bound forms in plasma at elevated concentrations of the alkylating agent. For all panels data were obtained by analysis of two independent biological samples taken from different human individuals (mean ± SD); measurements were carried out at least in duplicate.

Surprisingly, at the two highest concentrations of NEM tested (10 and 20 mM), the measured plasma GSH concentration was much higher than the ranges reported in the literature<sup>44</sup>. When different concentrations of NEM were added to plasma after centrifugation, rather than whole blood, the increase in GSH and sulfide concentrations were much lower (**Figure 12, E**). This difference implies that the increase plasma levels of these two analytes with higher NEM concentrations are an artefact related to the presence of red blood cells during the addition of NEM. This effect was also noticeable for sulfide when utilising alternative alkylating agents such as MBB and IAM (**Figure 12, D**). A comparison of the three alkylating agents showed that IAM gave the lowest measured levels of plasma sulfide whilst MBB gave measured levels of sulfide over five times greater than both IAM and NEM. This shows that the choice of alkylating agent can have significant impacts on the measured levels of sulfide and potentially other analytes.



Figure 13: Optimisation of sample preparation procedures: A) and B) Addition of NEM before or after removal of red blood cells with two centrifugation methods. C) and D) Effect of freeze thawing and sample storage. A) When NEM is added to whole blood the centrifugation time and speed has a drastic effect on some of the measured thiols, particularly GSH and sulfide with the longer time/slower speed giving much higher levels. This is likely due to NEM induced leakage of these compounds from the RBCs. B) The same effect not being observed when NEM is added to plasma supporting this hypothesis. The longer centrifugation time and slower speed gives lower levels of thiols due to oxidation and other biological losses. C) Freezing of NEM stabilised plasma leads to an increase in GSH, Cys and CysGly concentrations compared to their levels in fresh samples; when samples were frozen without stabilisation by NEM concentrations of GSH dramatically decreased, and GSSG increased (n = 3). D) In samples stabilised with NEM, freeze/thawing or storage of samples in the thermostatted autosampler at 5°C did not affect the concentrations of the analytes measured (n = 3, differences among groups are not significant). For all panels 2 or 3 independent biological samples from different individuals were analysed; measurements were carried out in triplicate.

When NEM is added to the plasma, centrifuging the whole blood to separate the red blood cells from the plasma contributes to the delay before addition of NEM resulting in the oxidation and loss of thiols and sulfide (**Figure 12, B**). On the other hand, adding NEM to the whole blood before centrifugation artifactually increases the measured levels of GSH and sulfide (**Figure 12, C**). Therefore, a rapid centrifugation protocol was tested spinning at 3000x g for 1 min (**Figure 13, A**)

and **B**). No haemolysis of the RBCs was detected as assessed by UV-vis spectrophotometry of the plasma obtained after centrifugation by our collaborators in the Cortese-Krott research group<sup>293</sup>. It was again seen that when NEM was added to the whole blood before the 10 min centrifugation higher levels of GSH were detected, likely due to leakage from the RBCs. With the shorter centrifugation protocol lower levels of GSH were detected, but these were much more in line with those measured when NEM was added to plasma after centrifugation (compare **Figure 13**, **A** with **B**). Sulfide levels were also higher when using the quick spin when NEM was added to whole blood versus plasma. There were not many other differences between the two centrifugation methods when looking at whole blood. Nevertheless, with plasma the quicker method generally gave higher levels of the reduced thiols, which is due to the shorter time before addition of NEM after sample collection.

It is unlikely that samples will be able to be analysed soon after collection and generally will need to be stored, especially in the case of large multicentre studies. Samples will therefore be frozen and in the case of whole blood this will be shortly after the red blood cells have been separated from the plasma. For some studies, the stored samples may not even be treated with NEM before freezing. Therefore we investigated the effects of freeze/thawing samples on the concentrations of the different analytes both with and without NEM treatment before freezing (**Figure 13, C** and **D**). When plasma was frozen without NEM there were some significant decreases in the levels many of the analytes, GSH, Cys, Hcys, NAC and CysGly with lesser decreases observed for Hcys, HcySS and GluCys. There was also an increase in the concentration of GSSG after one freeze/thaw. When plasma was frozen with NEM however, some of the analytes in fact increased in concentration after one freeze/thaw including GSH, Cys, and CysGly with the only significant decrease occurring for NAC (**Figure 13, C**). In further comparisons, using NEM stabilised plasma there were no significant changes in analyte concentrations between identical samples that were either stored for an extended time at 5°C in the autosampler of the UHPLC, stored at -80°C and freeze/thawed once or twice (**Figure 13, D**).

Following these results, in order to best preserve the natural speciation of the thiols and sulfide in plasma NEM was added to a concentration of 10 mM as soon as feasibly possible after collection of the blood in EDTA tubes and coupled with the shorter centrifugation protocol. As long as plasma samples have been stabilised with NEM before freezing then they can be stored without significant decreases in analyte concentrations even with multiple freeze/thaw cycles though absolute values may vary slightly from those measured on immediate analysis of samples.

#### 3.3.4 Optimisation of Total and Bound Thiol Analysis with DTT

Total amounts of a specific thiol in a sample can be determined by reduction of all disulfides by DTT before addition of NEM, whilst the corresponding free thiol is assessed in samples untreated with DTT. The bound thiol is then obtained by calculating the difference of total thiol minus free thiol. First, to ensure complete reduction of all disulfides (including sulfide) we determined the minimally concentration of DTT needed for full reduction and the optimum incubation time required to achieve the highest final concentration of thiols and sulfide in the reaction solution. Select key analytes were used to monitor the effect of different DTT reaction conditions (**Figure 14**). Addition of DTT to plasma resulted in much higher measured concentrations for each of the analytes monitored as expected. There is a general increase in analyte concentrations with increasing DTT concentrations from 10 - 50 mM. At 100 mM of DTT sulfide increases in concentration. There is little impact on the concentrations of the analytes when using reaction times between 5 - 20 min. A reaction time of 30 min however results in a drop in both GSH and Cys concentrations.

Therefore, for complete reduction plasma was treated with 50 mM DTT and left to react for 10 min at RT (**Figure 14**). Similar results were obtained by analysing other biofluids, including saliva and urine, whereas human blood cells required 100 mM DTT and 30 min incubation for complete reduction. There were no significant differences in the final concentration of thiols in plasma samples reacted with NEM before reduction compared with samples reduced with excess DTT and then reacted with NEM. This means that any sample collected for measurement of free thiols can also be utilised to measure the total and bound thiols.



Figure 14: Optimisation of DTT reduction conditions, in each experiment key analytes were chosen to monitor the effect of different reaction conditions. A) Optimisation of DTT concentration required to fully reduce a plasma sample using a reaction time of 10 min (Data shown representative of n = 3 samples collected from separate individuals). Increasing the concentration of DTT from 10 – 50 mM results in an increase in all of the analytes, further increasing it to 100 mM only results in an increase in sulfide concentration with the other analytes remaining the same as 50 mM or decreasing. B) Optimisation of reaction time required for full reduction of a representative plasma sample using a DTT concentration of 50 mM. Increasing the reaction time from 5 – 20 min does not have much of an impact on the concentrations of the analytes tested. A reaction time of 30 min results in a drop in GSH and Cys concentrations.

#### 3.3.5 Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols and Sulfide in Plasma

As a proof of concept study the steady-state concentrations of free reduced and oxidised thiols as well as the total thiol content in plasma of 10 healthy human volunteers were determined (Table 3). As previously established, the difference between total thiol concentrations and the sum of free reduced/oxidised thiols corresponds to the amount of bound thiols<sup>97</sup>. Overall, the measured concentrations in the ten subjects correspond to the previously reported values in the literature<sup>39</sup>. The distribution of the circulating concentrations among healthy human volunteers however shows additional information that is not obvious from just looking at the average values. Firstly, the concentrations of free thiols vary significantly between individuals, sometimes up to 2-3 fold or in some cases as much as 10-fold. Secondly, the ratios between reduced and oxidised thiols (the "redox ratio") vary considerably between glutathione, cysteine and homocysteine. Thirdly, the concentrations of bound thiols are generally higher than the circulating concentrations of free reduced thiols. This is particularly noticeable for GluCys and sulfide, with the bound sulfide exceeding free sulfide by a factor of 100. Neither persulfide nor methanethiol were detected in any of the plasma samples. When NEM treated persulfide (S22-) was tested in a standard mixture it was found not to be stable over time, representing a significant limitation that cannot be avoided whilst using NEM as the alkylation agent.

Table 3:Free, total and bound concentrations of the 10 aminothiols and sulfide measured in human plasma from 10 individuals and redox ratios of the key redox<br/>pairs. \*The measured concentrations of CySS are not physiologically accurate due to poor peak shape and ion suppression. Columns 1–10 show the<br/>mean ± SD of 3 technical replicate measures performed on plasma from 10 individuals. Outliers were identified by our collaborators in the Cortese-Krott<br/>research group by applying the ROUT test, marked in *italics*, and excluded from descriptive statistics (mean ± SEM)<sup>293</sup>.

		1	2	2	л	F	6	7	o	٥	10	Mean ±
			2	5	4	5	0	/	o	9	10	SEM
GSH	Eroo / uM	6.34 ±	2.65 ±	1.40 ±	3.24 ±	6.36 ±	1.60 ±	2.26 ±	3.14 ±	6.25 ±	5.67 ±	3.89 ±
	Γιέε / μίνι	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.11	0.04	0.04	0.08	0.23	0.18	0.65
	Total / uM	9.56 ±	7.33 ±	5.48 ±	9.49 ±	9.26 ±	5.69 ±	5.78 ±	6.75 ±	8.42 ±	8.35 ±	7.61 ±
		0.69	0.94	0.22	0.32	0.88	0.38	0.24	0.47	0.37	0.45	0.51
	Bound / uM	3.22 ±	4.68 ±	4.07 ±	6.24 ±	2.90 ±	4.09 ±	3.52 ±	3.61 ±	2.17 ±	2.69 ±	3.72 ±
	Βουπα / μινι	0.66	0.97	0.21	0.32	0.98	0.35	0.23	0.39	0.18	0.48	0.36
GSSG	Free / nM	7.17 ±	31.86 ±	6.01 ±	9.76 ±	6.24 ±	26.41 ±	6.86 ±	5.00 ±	7.89 ±	7.80 ±	7.09 ±
		0.34	2.55	0.40	0.91	0.89	2.24	0.81	0.57	0.53	0.59	0.51
ดรม/ดรรด	Redox Ratio	884	83	234	332	1020	61	329	628	792	726	509 ±
	neuox nutio			201		1020		525	020	,,,,	, 20	109
Cys	Eroo / uM	15.98 ±	22.3 ±	10.81 ±	17.72 ±	15.14 ±	12.65 ±	15.42 ±	13.50 ±	9.81 ±	11.28 ±	14.46 ±
	πεε γ μινι	0.54	1.46	0.47	0.46	1.15	0.71	0.62	0.44	0.34	0.28	1.18
	Tatal / NA	210.01 ±	198.81 ±	188.68 ±	177.75 ±	195.03 ±	242.2 ±	155.08 ±	215.78 ±	125.86 ±	168.66 ±	187.8 ±
	Γοται / μινι	26.96	13.25	1.82	5.52	4.37	8.76	0.48	11.31	12.10	10.73	10.43
	Downed ( ).4	194.03 ±	178.59 ±	177.87 ±	160.02 ±	179.9 ±	229.55 ±	139.66 ±	202.28 ±	116.04 ±	157.39 ±	173.5 ±
	Bound / µivi	27.48	22.71	1.66	5.46	5.45	8.20	0.79	10.88	11.83	11.00	32.26
CySS*	Free / uNA	*14.90 ±	*15.10 ±	*11.42 ±	*12.45 ±	*13.22 ±	*19.96 ±	*9.06 ±	*14.78 ±	*10.59 ±	*12.22 ±	*13.37 ±
	Free / µivi	0.69	0.34	0.05	0.43	0.32	5.28	0.27	0.63	0.69	0.49	0.96
Cuc/CuSS*	Reday Patio	*1 07	*1 /0	*0.05	*1 /17	*1 15	*0.62	*1 70	*0.01	*0 02	*0 02	*1.12 ±
Cy3/Cy33		1.07	1.40	0.95	1.42	1.15	0.05	1.70	0.91	0.95	0.92	0.10
Hcys	Free / uM	0.15 ±	0.24 ±	0.13 ±	0.17 ±	0.17 ±	0.14 ±	0.14 ±	0.07 ±	0.12 ±	0.13 ±	0.15 ±
	μίνι	0.002	0.004	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.006	0.003	0.001	0.004	0.002	0.01

Hcys	Total /NA	8.62 ±	5.47 ±	5.21 ±	7.81 ±	5.65 ±	9.59 ±	6.02 ±	6.37 ±	4.40 ±	7.95 ±	6.71 ±
		0.49	0.46	0.17	0.21	0.21	0.33	0.42	0.09	0.57	1.31	0.53
	Bound / uM	8.47 ±	5.23 ±	5.08 ±	7.64 ±	5.48 ±	9.45 ±	5.88 ±	6.29 ±	4.29 ±	7.82 ±	6.56 ±
	Βουπά / μινι	0.49	0.45	0.16	0.21	0.21	0.34	0.42	0.09	0.57	1.31	0.53
HcySS	Free / nM	18.95 ±	15.92 ±	9.72 ±	22.08 ±	11.39 ±	29.08 ±	11.7 ±	5.94 ±	13.00 ±	14.22 ±	15.2 ±
		0.78	1.44	3.54	1.16	0.74	11.08	1.39	2.32	2.01	1.15	2.12
Hcys/HcySS	Redox Ratio	8.05	15.36	13.06	7.54	14.84	4.64	11.76	12.15	8.95	8.86	10.52 ± 1.09
Sulfide		0.27 ±	0.29 ±	0.03 ±	0.28 ±	0.05 ±	0.22 ±	0.30 ±	0.06 ±	0.11 ±	0.04 ±	0.17 ±
	Free / µivi	0.020	0.016	0.001	0.005	0.001	0.017	0.013	0.010	0.011	0.001	0.04
	Tatal /NA	15.82 ±	15.83 ±	16.50 ±	15.45 ±	12.66 ±	16.09 ±	17.82 ±	16.35 ±	17.90 ±	19.55 ±	16.4 ±
	Total / μίνι	3.78	3.34	2.92	0.98	3.73	1.75	0.60	2.30	1.85	3.12	0.58
	Bound / uM	15.55 ±	15.54 ±	16.46 ±	15.16 ±	12.60 ±	15.87 ±	17.52 ±	16.29 ±	17.79 ±	19.51 ±	16.23 ±
	Βουπά / μινι	3.77	3.35	2.92	0.99	3.73	1.76	0.60	2.29	1.84	3.12	0.58
Cys-gly	Eroo ( uNA	1.47 ±	1.74 ±	1.12 ±	1.63 ±	1.91 ±	1.65 ±	1.41 ±	1.35 ±	1.64 ±	1.02 ±	1.49 ±
	Γιέε / μίνι	0.08	0.10	0.01	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.05	0.09
	Total / uM	27.38 ±	29.75 ±	24.28 ±	28.66 ±	34.13 ±	41.15 ±	28.31 ±	29.11 ±	19.61 ±	26.31 ±	28.87 ±
		0.96	0.42	0.37	0.48	1.08	1.18	1.20	0.18	0.54	0.60	1.81
	Bound / uM	25.91 ±	28.01 ±	23.16 ±	27.03 ±	32.22 ±	39.50 ±	26.90 ±	27.77 ±	17.97 ±	25.29 ±	27.38 ±
	Βοαπά / μινι	0.94	0.48	0.37	0.51	1.04	1.22	1.18	0.20	0.53	0.55	1.78
Glu-cys	Free / uM	0.07 ±	0.09 ±	0.05 ±	0.09 ±	0.08 ±	0.08 ±	0.07 ±	0.07 ±	0.05 ±	0.08 ±	0.08 ±
	πος γ μινι	0.001	0.003	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.003	0.004	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.004
	Total / uM	3.30 ±	2.62 ±	2.01 ±	3.02 ±	3.17 ±	3.18 ±	2.52 ±	2.34 ±	1.33 ±	2.69 ±	2.62 ±
		0.21	0.32	0.41	0.60	0.82	0.10	0.11	0.57	0.23	0.29	0.19
	Bound / uM	3.23 ±	2.53 ±	1.96 ±	2.93 ±	3.10 ±	3.10 ±	2.46 ±	2.27 ±	1.28 ±	2.61 ±	2.55 ±
		0.21	0.33	0.41	0.61	0.82	0.10	0.12	0.57	0.23	0.29	0.19
NAC	Free / nM	4.23 ±	5.48 ±	5.23 ±	4.40 ±	8.50 ±	4.69 ±	4.47 ±	5.12 ±	9.1 ±	95.10 ±	5.69 ±
		0.30	0.87	0.15	0.32	0.12	0.38	0.18	0.89	0.07	2.42	0.61
	Total / nM	428.94 ±	35.04 ±	34.82 ±	36.32 ±	31.34 ±	34.71 ±	36.49 ±	42.77 ±	36.6 ±	512.7 ±	36.01 ±
	,	10.48	1.47	0.79	1.37	1.22	1.79	2.08	1.82	2.69	5.27	1.14
	Bound / nM	424.71 ±	29.56 ±	29.59 ±	31.92 ±	22.85 ±	30.02 ±	32.02 ±	37.65 ±	27.51 ±	417.6 ±	30.14 ±
		10.77	0.70	0.91	1.07	1.12	2.06	1.93	2.21	2.67	6.67	1.49

#### 3.4 Discussion

A novel specific, highly sensitive and robust mass spectrometry-based approach has been developed for the measurement of the thiol redox metabolome capable of quantifying total and free thiols, and their corresponding disulfides as well and sulfide in complex biological matrices, initially focusing on blood plasma. The method has been carefully validated focusing on 1) the development of the analytical procedure, i.e. suitable detection and separation conditions, quantification strategy (external and internal standards, linearity, and versatility of the method); 2) optimisation of sample preparation, using blood as starting material (choice of anticoagulant, sample stabilisation, centrifugation and storage); 3) versatility of the method with examples of how further compounds of interest can be included for a more comprehensive coverage of the thiol redox metabolome in the future; 4) analysis of the thiol metabolome (including total and free thiols and their corresponding disulfides, as well as hydrogen sulfide) in plasma samples of 10 healthy human volunteers. Altogether, this validation approach has demonstrated that the developed method can be effectively used to characterise the redox metabolome in patient cohorts and animal models of disease. It can therefore be applied in clinical and translational studies in search for novel prognostic and diagnostic strategies for patient stratification; moreover, it may assist in identifying novel interventional approaches for the treatment of redox diseases<sup>36</sup>.

#### 3.4.1 UHPLC-MS/MS Method Development

#### 3.4.1.1 Initial development on a Reversed Phase C<sub>18</sub> Column

Initially, despite the challenges in analysing the small polar reduced and oxidised thiols and sulfide using reversed phase chromatography a workable method was developed. Sufficient retention and separation of the reduced thiols and sulfide was achieved utilising NEM derivatisation that improved retention and stabilised the analytes. This included the separation of CysGly from glutathione, which is particularly important due to the m/z 304 fragment produced from glutathione that has the same m/z and fragmentation as the precursor ion for CysGly. This causes a false peak for CysGly to be seen eluting at the same time as GSH, this requires sufficient separation to be able to distinguish between the true and false peaks. The addition of an NEM adduct to the reduced thiols improves their retention compared to the oxidised thiols. The addition of two NEM groups to sulfide likewise improves its retention even further eluting much later than the reduced thiols. This gave a rough elution order of oxidised thiols>reduced

thiols>sulfide. The oxidised thiols, which do not react with NEM, were poorly retained on the column due to their small polar nature.

Despite being sufficiently separated in a standard mixture (Figure 7, A) the oxidised thiols proved to be a challenge when applying the method to more complex biological matrices such as plasma (Figure 7, B). As they are not well retained and elute at, or close to, the solvent front they are affected by ion suppression and interference by matrix components. Additionally where CySS has a much higher concentration than HcySS and GSSG it can cause interference with the peaks and make quantification difficult. In order to obtain better separation for the majority of the analytes, especially the oxidised thiols, a high starting percentage of the aqueous mobile phase was required (>95%). Unfortunately using such a high amount of aqueous solvent is not ideal for a C<sub>18</sub> column and can cause degradation of the peak shapes and a loss of retention after only a few samples have been run due to collapse of the stationary phase<sup>191</sup>. A regular column equilibration step and wash with organic solvent is needed for long sample runs to prevent this from happening, increasing the overall time required for sample analysis whilst potentially shortening the column lifetime. This additional step reduces the advantages of the reversed phase column over traditional normal phase chromatography.

#### 3.4.1.1 Further Development Using Mixed Mode Type Columns

Due to the limitations of the reversed phase method alternate stationary phases were investigated. A stationary phase that provides the reversed phase type separation that works well for the NEM derivatised analytes combined with some polar separation characteristics to improve the retention of the oxidised thiols would be ideal. To this end I investigated mixed mode type columns which offer more than one interaction type which can allow separation of polar and apolar components within a single chromatographic run<sup>296</sup>. A Modus Aqua column was selected and used for the final method. This mixed mode column gave a similar separation pattern to the  $C_{18}$  column, with the oxidised thiols eluting first followed by the reduced thiols and then the sulfide. This reflects the reversed phase separation characteristics of the column and the effect the NEM derivatisation has on the retention time of the analytes. Additionally there was improved retention and separation of the oxidised thiols due to the polar characteristics of the column (Figure 8, A), with GSSG in particular eluting later. As well as the improved retention and separation mixed mode columns are far more stable with high amounts of aqueous mobile phase. This enables the chromatographic gradient to start at 99% aqueous, which further improves the chromatography, as well as reducing the need for equilibration and wash steps. This decreases the overall analysis time required for large sample runs. Unfortunately, CySS is still not very well retained on the column and elutes close to the solvent front. Whilst this is sufficient for the

analysis of standard mixtures in more complex samples such as biofluids this leads to interference by matrix components making quantification difficult. In order to improve the analysis of CySS alternate stationary phases will need to be investigated. Potentially coupling two columns in sequence with one being the Aqua Modus column and the other a more polar stationary phase could lead to improved separation of CySS whilst retaining the good chromatography for the other analytes. Coenzyme A was also not suited for analysis on this column, when tested it gave a very poor peak shape spread over multiple minutes. This poor chromatographic resolution is likely due to CoA having a polar head group with a more apolar tail, which is similar to the composition of the mixed mode stationary phase leading to multiple types of interaction. It is likely that a different type of stationary phase such as the reversed phase C<sub>18</sub> column would be much better suited to analysis of CoA.

#### 3.4.1.2 Internal Standards

The developed method effectively covers three classes of compounds within the thiol redox metabolome. The oxidised thiols which do not react with NEM, the reduced thiols, which react with one NEM adduct and sulfide(s), which react with two NEM adducts (Figure 6). Since NEM modifies the ionisation properties of the compounds it reacts with<sup>123</sup> each class of compound analysed will have different ionisation efficiencies, therefore three different stable isotope labelled standards were chosen, one to cover each of the classes of compounds analysed. For the reduced and oxidised thiols, <sup>13</sup>C<sub>2</sub><sup>15</sup>N-GSH-NEM and <sup>13</sup>C<sub>4</sub><sup>15</sup>N<sub>2</sub>-GSSG were chosen. Reduced and oxidised glutathione were selected as the representative compounds for their classes as glutathione is one of the major intracellular antioxidants and the GSH/GSSG ratio in plasma and tissues widely regarded as the 'gold standard' for the assessment of systemic or cellular redox status. Initially NEM derivatised <sup>34</sup>S was used as the internal standard for sulfide. However, this internal standard was not suitable for quantification of the NEM derivatised sulfide. The natural abundance of the <sup>34</sup>S isotope (4.2%) and is only two m/z units higher in mass than <sup>32</sup>S which led to interference between the endogenous sulfide and the internal standard. A more appropriate internal standard was then developed utilising N-ethyl-D5-maleimide (D<sub>5</sub>-NEM) to derivatise sulfide. This produced the decadeuterated  $(D_5-NEM)_2$ -S as a NEM derivatise sulfide analogue with a difference in mass of ten m/z units. This internal standard eluted with the unlabelled sulfide without causing any signal interference.

The internal standards are added to each sample as soon as possible in the preparation process, for example for plasma after removal of the RBCs or after defrosting, to give a final concentration of 100 nM GSH, 200 nM GSSG and 100 nM sulfide standards in the final sample dilution. Exactly the same amount of internal standard is added to each of the concentration points in the

standard curve and the ratio of compound of interest peak area to internal standard peak area in the samples and standard curves is used for quantification. The labelled internal standards elute and should ionise in exactly the same manner as the unlabelled compounds but have a higher *m/z* and so can be distinguished in the mass spectrum. Using stable isotope standards allows correction for a number of factors including variability in dilutions, evaporation, degradation, recovery, adsorption, derivatisation, and instrumental parameters<sup>267</sup>. Since the absolute peak areas retuned by UHPLC-MS/MS can vary day to day due to any number of these factors, the use of internal standards is essential to be able to quantify samples accurately.

#### 3.4.1 Optimisation of NEM Derivatisation Reaction Conditions

Reaction pH is known to be critical for thiol alkylation by NEM for a number of reasons. The pH plays a central role not only for reagent and product stability, but also because it affects the amount of thiolate available along with the pka of the SH group. It is a fortunate coincidence for analytical chemistry that the reaction of NEM with thiols proceeds optimally around the physiological pH, within in the range of 7 to 7.5. At pHs above ~7.5 NEM can potentially react with amines or undergo hydrolysis. Conditions either more acidic or alkaline than the physiological pH were found to affect the yield and/or the stability of the product and/or reaction to a different extent with each of the thiols tested (**Figure 11**). The most dramatic difference in the aqueous buffered mixtures occurs with Cys where an overestimation of up to a factor of 10 could occur. With the fresh plasma the largest difference occurs for the sulfide with increased levels of sulfide becoming available for reaction with NEM outside of pH 7.4. This could occur due to decomposition of metastable per/polysulfides or due to enhanced release of sulfide from non-covalent binding sites but this remains unclear at this stage. The effect of the pH in plasma is likely less so than for the standard mixtures due to the natural buffering capacity of plasma.

Fortunately, the physiological pH of plasma is 7.4 and acts as a buffered system without the need for any additional buffer to be added. At pH 7.4 the rate of reaction of NEM with amine groups is significantly slower than the rate of reaction with sulfhydryl groups<sup>315</sup> and so should not be a major concern at normal physiological pHs. Whilst hydrolysis of NEM will occur at pHs above 6<sup>316</sup> the rate of hydrolysis at pH 7.4 is much lower than the rate of reaction with aminothiols and sulfide (see Chapter 5: for more details on the rate of reaction of NEM). Hydrolysis is therefore not a concern for the quantitative analysis of these compounds using NEM<sup>317</sup>. It should however be noted that not all biological compartments will have a pH of 7.4, such as urine, or the same buffer capacity as plasma. For such samples care should be taken to make sure appropriate buffer is used to ensure the pH does not exceed 7.4 to avoid the issues discussed and ensure consistency in pH across samples as this may effect aminothiol speciation.

#### 3.4.1 Optimisation of Sample Preparation

In order for the developed methodology to be used in translational studies<sup>36</sup> the optimisation for the analysis of thiols and sulfide was focused on biological matrices. This method could easily be applied to any number of different sample matrices but would have to be optimised and validated for each different matrix. Blood is a useful sample matrix to analyse as it is in contact with all tissues and is very likely to play a central role in systemic thiol and sulfide metabolism. Blood samples are also routinely taken meaning that it is a convenient and easily accessible sample matrix. We therefore focused on optimising the sample preparation for blood plasma but these procedures can be easily adapted to analyse other biological matrices<sup>293</sup>. In order to avoid interferences in the chromatographic separation and mass spectrometry, as well as to avoid changes in thiol speciation proteins were removed from samples by ultrafiltration using a centrifugal 10 kDa membrane. This method of protein removal offers the advantages over other protein removal methods of avoiding analyte dilution, pH changes, and addition of organic solvents, which interferes with the chromatographic separation.

It is known that the choice of anticoagulant used for blood collection can have a significant effect on the measured concentrations of the thiols and sulfide. It has previously been highlighted that the presence of metal chelators in the blood tube are important to help reduce artifactual oxidation after the blood has been collected<sup>44</sup>. Initial sample collection and preparation optimisation therefore focused on the type of anticoagulant used (Figure 12, A). As the developed method is intended for routine use in clinical studies the comparison of anticoagulants was limited to commercially available vacutainer tubes, heparin, EDTA, citrate and serum. NEM was added immediately to the tube after filling with whole blood, and before centrifugation using the initial 800 x g, 10 min method (see section 3.2.4.1). A final concentration of 10 mM NEM was used (volume of stock solution added depending on the volume of blood collected) which has previously been used successfully by the Feelisch group and others in the context of NO related research<sup>318</sup>. It was unsurprising that the serum tubes were not suitable for the analysis of reduced thiols. In order to collect serum the whole blood is allowed to coagulate at room temperature for 30 min which gives ample time for the reduced thiols to oxidise or be metabolised by enzymes present in the blood. The exact mechanism by which the reduced thiols are lost is not clear at this stage, there was no corresponding increase in the concentrations of the oxidised thiols seen so either the oxidised thiols are also lost by other mechanisms or the reduced thiols are lost by means other than oxidation. It is possible that both reduced and oxidised thiols could be lost in the coagulated component of the blood. As well as symmetrical oxidised species the reduced thiols could also form mixed oxidised species (such as the CysGly or GluCys), only some of which are currently included in the method, and could include the formation of protein-thiol disulfides.

Citrate tubes likewise are also not suitable for the analysis of sulfide and shows decreased levels of most of the thiols tested. It is likely that the low pH of the citrate tubes volatilises the sulfide before it can react with NEM and the lower pH will interfere with the reaction of NEM with the thiols and sulfide (section 3.4.1). There were not any significant differences between the EDTA and heparin tubes so EDTA tubes were selected for use as the metal chelating properties of the EDTA should help with sample stability by preventing metal ion catalysed oxidation.

The choice of protein removal method also required careful consideration. Biological fluids such as plasma are complex matrices, the constituents of which can potentially cause interference with chromatographic separation and analyte detection (for example by lowering ionisation efficiency or causing ion suppression). We opted to remove the majority of the proteins present in plasma by using a 10 kDa ultrafiltration centrifugal column. Many other method utilise a strong acid such as trichloroacetic acid or sulfosalicylic acid (SSA) for the deproteinisation step or metals like zinc sulfate/NaOH<sup>319</sup>. It is clear however that either of these methods will cause drastic changes in the pH which may affect the detection of sulfur species and sulfide<sup>18</sup>. In fact, sulfur species are well known to be particularly labile under acidic conditions though sulfide can also be released from thiols under alkaline conditions<sup>18</sup>. Additionally zinc sulfate is known to trap free sulfide and form a water-insoluble ZnS precipitate. Another widely used protein precipitation method involves the addition of organic solvent, such as MeOH, ACN, or acetone, to the plasma<sup>319</sup>. We observed that using organic solvents for protein precipitation decreases the recovery of GSSG. Furthermore, the high concentration of organic solvent in the sample interferes with the chromatographic separation as the start of the gradient requires a high percentage of aqueous mobile phase. The loss of chromatographic separation results in co-elution of analytes as well as increased interference by matrix components causing issues detecting and quantifying the analytes. Therefore, in order to quantify aminothiols and sulfide using the same sample processing procedure, removing the proteins by ultrafiltration, which neither changes the pH nor add any acid or solvent appears to be best practice to us for matrices such as plasma.

At high concentrations, NEM can also react with the amino groups of peptides/proteins and aminothiols<sup>315</sup>. The specificity of NEM relies heavily on the reaction conditions; the potential side reaction with amines does not pose a major problem as long as the pH of the reaction solution is kept near neutral. However, when reagent concentrations are greater than the levels we determined to be optimal for the majority of the analytes in a specific biological matrix (determined to be 10 mM NEM for plasma in this method) this may lead to lower apparent concentrations of some analytes. Cys in particular has been shown to undergo intramolecular transamidation to form a cyclic reaction product. This reaction can occur under alkaline conditions<sup>315</sup>, and may explain the observed progressive decrease in apparent Cys levels when

increasing concentrations of NEM were tested (**Figure 12**, **E**) as well as the drop in reaction yield when the reaction pH was increased from 7.4 to 9 (**Figure 11**, **B**). A direct comparison of mBB, NEM and IAM (**Figure 12**, **D**) revealed that IAM resulted in the lowest sulfide levels detected, demonstrating that the nature of the alkylating agent applied as well as the concentration used can also have a marked influence on the levels of sulfide detected.

One unexpected observation was the large increase in measured plasma GSH and sulfide when using the two highest NEM concentrations (10 and 20 mM) in whole blood. The GSH concentrations were considerably higher than the range typically reported in the literature<sup>44</sup>. By contrast, GSH and sulfide concentrations increased to a much lesser extent when NEM was added to plasma after its separation from RBCs by centrifugation (compare Figure 13, A and B). This data suggests that the observed elevated plasma concentrations of these two analytes, when higher NEM concentrations were added to whole blood, were an artefact resulting from leakage and/or transport of material from blood cells. This phenomenon was not specific to this particular thiol alkylating agent since even higher levels of sulfide were found when mBB instead of NEM was used as thiol alkylating agent and added to whole blood under otherwise identical conditions. In order to avoid the leeching of GSH and sulfide from the RBCs and improved rapid centrifugation protocol was developed. Instead of centrifuging the whole blood for 10 min at 800 x g it was spun for 1 min at 3000 x g. The faster spin prevents the artifactual elevation of plasma GSH and sulfide when NEM is added to the whole blood before centrifugation (Figure 13, A and B). It also has an advantage when NEM is not added until after the RBCs have been separated as it reduces the time where reduced thiols can be oxidised or otherwise lost.

For the application of the established methodology in studies, especially when high sample numbers and multiple sites are involved, the stability of samples during storage and the effects of freeze/thawing are key to consider. For this reason, the investigation of the stability of the analytes both before and after derivatisation was key for the development of the method. This includes both storage in the refrigerated autosampler to ensure sample stability during long analysis runs as well as during storage whilst frozen which is essential when collecting large sample numbers over long lengths of time. The effect of multiple freeze/thaw cycles was also considered as repeat analysis of samples can also be important. The only analyte that significantly decreased after freeze/thawing was NAC which dropped by 30-50% after one cycle when compared to unfrozen samples. The other analytes in fact showed an increase in concentration after freeze/thawing. The reasons for this behaviour are not immediately obvious, but clearly the problem does not lie with the stability of the thiol-NEM adduct. One possible explanation for this behaviour may be the presence of other thiol derivatives that we are not currently detecting such as persulfides and polysulfides, if these compounds are unstable during freeze/thaw they could

decompose increase the apparent concentration of the thiols measured. However, levels of sulfide did not change under the same conditions, suggesting that the product of decomposition of these per/polysulfides might be a higher oxidised form not currently captured in this method. When an alternate deproteinisation method, addition of SSA, was used by our collaborators in the Cortese-Krott group as cross validation of the method, the same freeze/thaw effects were not observed<sup>293</sup>. This suggests that an alternative mechanism may be the cause of these observations. In theory, aminothiols may exist not only in free and protein-bound forms (which are DTTreducible), but a fraction of them could also bind to proteins in a non-covalent fashion. When the protein conformation is changed by precipitation with acid/organic solvents or due to the freeze/thaw process, this non-covalent association is disturbed releasing the aminothiols, which can then react with excess NEM present and increase the measured concentrations. This could also explain the apparent differences in absolute concentration of analytes (which were independent of the detection method) when plasma is processed by ultrafiltration versus acid precipitation<sup>293</sup>. The idea of non-covalent protein binding of thiols is also consistent with the observed concentration dependence of NEM in plasma with greater amounts of NEM pulling aminothiols out from equilibrium with the proteins. It has been reported that H<sub>2</sub>S non-covalently binds to albumin and haemoglobin<sup>292</sup>, which is consistent with the concentration dependant behaviour of sulfide in our experiments. This hypothesis requires further investigations and potentially offers much greater insight into so far unrecognised thiol redox regulation by modulation of protein association.

#### 3.4.2 Optimisation of Total and Bound Thiol Analysis with DTT

Not only can thiols exist as oxidised symmetric disulfides such as GSSG, CySS and HcySS (in vivo and formed artificially during sample handling), they can also form asymmetric mixed disulfides resulting in both low molecular weight and protein mixed disulfides. It has been proposed that these protein bound thiols represent either posttranslational modifications or that they can be involved in inter-organ thiol transport<sup>36</sup>. It is important to recognise that the formation of these asymmetric disulfides may mask the detection of a particular thiol when only assessing the concentrations of free thiols, especially when these asymmetric disulfides are formed after sample collection. The total (bound + free) concentrations of particular thiols may therefore be of interest for diagnostic or prognostic purposes, such as for total Hcys which is a widely used measure for cardiovascular disease risk factor and a stronger measure than the free Hcys on its own<sup>114</sup>. The total thiol concentrations are determined following the reduction of the covalent bond between the two components of the oxidised thiols. In order to obtain the total thiol concentrations in the different biological matrices tested (plasma, blood cells, urine, and saliva)

the samples were subjected to reduction with DTT. The minimal effective concentration of DTT to ensure complete reduction of all bound thiols and sulfide was determined as well as the incubation time required. Since NEM also reacts with DTT, any excess remaining after the reduction will reduce the amount of NEM available to react with the reduced thiols, which will be in higher concentrations than in un-reduced samples. It was therefore key to ensure that the concentration of DTT used was not so high as to reduce the effectiveness of the NEM derivatisation. For plasma, the final concentration of DTT used was 50 mM and incubation time was 10 min, for RBCs 100 mM DTT was used with an incubation time of 30 min. This highlights the importance of validating each step of the analytical procedure for the different matrices being analysed. For the analysis of plasma, the DTT was added to plasma that had already been treated with NEM. There was no significant difference observed in the final concentrations of the total thiols in samples treated in this manner when compared to plasma that was first reduced with DTT and then alkylated with NEM after reduction was complete. This demonstrates that in contrast to alkalinisation which leads to hydrolysis and ring opening of the thioether<sup>320</sup>, the thiol-maleimide adducts formed are stable under acidic conditions.

#### 3.4.3 Analysis of Low Molecular Weight Thiols and Sulfide in Plasma

The developed method was successfully applied in the analysis of free, total and bound low molecular weight thiols and sulfide in human plasma taken from ten healthy volunteers. Whilst the average measured values correspond generally with the values reported in the literature<sup>39</sup> looking at the distribution of the individual values reveals further information which would otherwise be hidden (Table 3). The levels of free thiols can vary significantly between individuals, with differences in a particular thiol not necessarily being reflected by the other thiols. This is also true when comparing the redox ratios (reduced/oxidised) of glutathione, cysteine and homocysteine, as within individuals the ratios can vary significantly. It was also found that the concentrations of bound thiols are generally higher than the circulating concentrations of free reduced thiols. These observations highlight the importance of looking at the wider redox metabolome rather than taking a smaller section as representative of the wider network. Although the redox metabolome is closely interlinked, changes in the individual components of the network are not necessarily reflected by the wider network. Likewise, if only the free or total thiols and sulfide are analysed then the major redox relevant component of the bounds thiols would be missed. The bound thiols may even provide further insight into the resilience of the redox network and provide a store for the thiols and sulfide thereby explaining why changes in one component of the network are not more widely reflected. These components of the thiol redox metabolome represent; 1) the redox status of a tissue/cell, according to the ratio of free

reduced/oxidised thiols and 2) the redox reserve (or total thiol status), which is a measure of the total reducing capacity of a cell/tissue or organism that defines its resilience to oxidative modification measured by the bound and acid labile components<sup>293</sup>.

It is important to note that sulfide levels assessed here by NEM derivatisation are higher compared to methods using other protocols employing mBB<sup>113,291</sup>.We found that the absolute "free" sulfide levels are strictly dependent on the alkylating agent used as well as the concentration, and this dependence may be linked to the chemistry of the reaction of the alkylating agent. Very different concentrations in measured sulfide concentrations were found with aliquots of the same sample using NEM, IAM or mBB (**Figure 12**, **D**). The reason for these differences is not yet clear and requires further investigation. Importantly, other reports have demonstrated that bromobimanes can extract sulfur from other sources<sup>321</sup>, and that NEM reacts differently with polysulfides compared to IAM or IAA<sup>143,322</sup> (see Chapter 4: for more details). We also found that the levels of sulfide measured with MBB can vary significantly depending on the concentration of MBB used (**Figure 12**, **D**) suggesting that similar validation experiments for MBB as we have performed for NEM may be useful for these methods.

#### 3.5 Conclusion

Many methods currently exist for the analysis of thiols and/or sulfide with many utilising a chromatographic separation coupled with mass spectrometry for detection<sup>294,302</sup>. Yet, many pitfalls still exist in the analysis of thiols and sulfide in cells and biofluids (some of which have been known for decades) and often appear to have been neglected. Many existing methods are somewhat limited in scope, some relying on reduction to measure the oxidised thiols (as the difference between total and reduced) but this does not reflect the true free oxidised thiols. Likewise, many methods do not cover the wider range of the thiol metabolome, especially sulfide and so do not provide a full picture of thiol redox status. These issues remain to be better characterised in order to avoid the enormous variations in GSH/GSSH ratios reported in the literature<sup>297</sup>. Even sophisticated, validated and robust methods for the simultaneous determination of glutathione and cysteine redox state<sup>68</sup> would appear to leave room for improvement as the pre-analytical sample handling is somewhat cumbersome and timeconsuming, involving multiple steps, and the total assay time is rather long by today's standards. Many of the issues leading to the variation in reported concentrations may well be linked to poor sample handling and preparation procedures. The measured concentrations of thiols and sulfide cannot only be artificially decreased through oxidation or degradation (e.g. by enzymes) but can also be increased through alkylating agent induced leakage from cells or inadvertently liberated from storage forms. The platform technology we present here for the measurement of reduced

and oxidised thiols in combination with sulfide related metabolites is robust, sensitive and versatile. Its strengths include the possibility to measure the thiol redox metabolome including total and free thiols and their corresponding disulfides as well as sulfide in complex biological matrices.

A novel specific, highly sensitive and robust mass spectrometry-based approach has been developed for the measurement of the thiol redox metabolome capable of quantifying total and free thiols, and their corresponding disulfides as well and sulfide in complex biological matrices such as blood, saliva and urine. The developed method has been carefully validated at every step starting with the development of the analytical procedure (separation and detection) and quantification of the analytes using stable isotope labelled internal standards. The sample collection, preparation and storage procedures have likewise been carefully optimised using blood as the example matrix (including choice of anticoagulant, sample stabilisation, centrifugation and protein removal). The versatility of the method has been demonstrated through the incorporation of addition analytes such as methane thiol and the analysis of addition biological matrices such as urine and saliva. The developed method was then demonstrated using plasma samples taken from a small cohort of ten healthy volunteers successfully quantifying the total, bound and free thiols as well as their corresponding disulfides as well as hydrogen sulfide. The method can also be easily applied to the analysis of free, total and bound thiols and sulfide in red blood cells, saliva and urine as well as the acid labile components as demonstrated by other members of the Feelisch group<sup>293</sup>. The method can easily be combined with other compatible analytical procedures for detection of NO metabolites and nitrosospecies, using other established methods<sup>10,318</sup>, utilising NEM for stabilisation of thiols.

It was important during method optimisation to ensure that workflows were simplified, from sample collection through to preparation and storage, realising there will be a need to translate critical steps into easy-to-follow standard operating procedures. This is important in particular when measurements are to be carried out in large numbers, human studies are run in a multi-centre fashion and/or biobanked samples are used. Lack of reproducibility and robustness or a very particular sample handling requiring specialist training could easily make a particular method wrongly appear unsuitable for use in clinical studies, or worse perhaps, lead clinicians towards incorrect treatment decisions. This method could easily be applied for stable isotope tracing studies to measure the flux and direction of metabolites through the thiol redox metabolome requiring only the addition of specific MRM scans for the labelled compounds or a more general mass spec measurement. Stable isotope labelled compounds could be monitored at any point of the metabolic pathways from the bloodstream through to excretion in urine and saliva. The flux of the isotope labels could likewise be monitored at any point of the metabolic pathway (**Figure 4**) as

intermediary metabolites, in oxidised protein bound and free disulfide storage forms, and as metabolic end products such as sulfide and methanethiol. All of the data taken together demonstrates that the approach developed here can be used to characterise the redox metabolome in patient cohorts and animal models of disease. It can therefore be applied in clinical and translational studies in search for novel prognostic and diagnostic strategies for patient stratification. Additionally it may assist in identifying novel interventional approaches for the treatment of redox diseases that have so far been overlooked and may help provide a deeper understanding on the systemic thiol redox status within the reactive species interactome<sup>36</sup>.

# Chapter 4: Pitfalls in the Analysis of Biological Polysulfides

## 4.1 Introduction

Further to my project hypothesis; Reactive sulfur species such as inorganic and organic polysulfides play an important role in redox regulation as well involvement in crosstalk in the reactive species interactome.

Polysulfides are highly reactive species that exist in an equilibrium in solution. Analysis of the polysulfides will disturb this equilibrium meaning that the results will reflect the nature of the analysis rather than the physiological distribution of the polysulfides.

In order to understand the biological relevance of these species first it has to be understood how, or if, analytical approaches alter polysulfide speciation. By doing so the role of organic and inorganic polysulfides in redox biology can be better investigated and understood.

It is only relatively recently that the biological importance of inorganic and organic polysulfides has been realised. Free inorganic polysulfides have been identified as biologically relevant signalling molecules<sup>55,277</sup>, with H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> identified as being produced in the brain by 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3MST)<sup>148</sup>. Other polysulfide species have also been identified, including H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>5</sub>, with their production potentially being controlled by other metabolic pathways<sup>134</sup>. Polysulfides have also been recognised as important mediators in sulfide based redox biology<sup>10,40,283,323</sup>. With these emerging biological effects it has become increasingly important to be able to accurately determine the speciation of these polysulfides which describes the distribution of the individual polysulfide species in solution. Only by being able to form an accurate picture of their biological distributions will we be able to better understand their biological actions and how the different polysulfide species may have different physiological effects. In fact, many mechanistic details of how polysulfides elicit or mediate these effects remain elusive, in part due to reliable analysis of these compounds continuing to prove a challenge.

The identification and quantification of per- and polysulfide species and their flux through biological systems is challenging in part due to the high reactivity of these compounds as well as the ability of polysulfide species to rapidly interconvert, existing in an easily disturbed equilibrium in aqueous systems. Many of the widely used techniques for the analysis of polysulfides now rely

on an electrophile in order to alkylate the polysulfides and make inferences on their distribution in biology and physiology. These electrophiles include *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM), iodoacetamide (IAM) and monobromobimane (MBB)<sup>133,322</sup>. However, with an understanding of the chemistry involved in these reactions it is clear that different electrophiles could have differing effects on the measured speciation of polysulfides. If these species exist in an equilibrium system, a reactive electrophile may well disturb this system, NEM which reacts via Michael addition<sup>324</sup> could effect the equilibrium in a different manner to IAM or MBB which react via a S<sub>N</sub>2 mechanism<sup>107,325</sup>. This would make it difficult to be certain that the true biological distribution has been trapped or if it has been altered by the alkylation reaction.

In order to assess and accurately quantify the physiological distribution of polysulfide species there is also a need for readily available standards that can be accurately prepared. Accurate standards are required not only for quantification but also essential to assess whether the chosen methodology is altering the measured species away from their physiological distribution. The most commonly used polysulfide standards are prepared by reaction of Na<sub>2</sub>S or K<sub>2</sub>S with elemental sulfur in either aqueous solution or sodium/potassium hydroxide<sup>326,327</sup>, producing polysulfides of mixed chain length as well as other sulfur species such as thiosulfate. The unknown composition of these standards makes them unsuitable for the quantification of biological polysulfide to be weighed out of a known chain length. However to be used as an accurate standard for quantification they need to be made up in aqueous solution and alkylated. These standards were tested to establish their suitability for use of identification and quantification of polysulfides in biological samples.

Using the findings from the experiments carried out, the crosstalk between reactive oxygen species metabolism and reactive sulfur species metabolism was investigated, examining the activity of the antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase around sulfide and polysulfides.

#### 4.1.1 Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides

To investigate the speciation of inorganic polysulfides in solution both underivatised and derivatised aqueous inorganic polysulfide solutions were analysed by direct infusion into a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (TQD-MS). By analysing the polysulfide species distribution before and after derivatisation the effect of the alkylation on this distribution can be observed. Pure sodium trisulfide, tetrasulfide and mixed potassium polysulfide were investigated to assess their suitability as standards for quantification and identification purposes as well as to determine if there was any observable difference in the speciation pattern in solution before and after

alkylation. The underivatised polysulfides were found to have m/z values closer to radical anion species rather than the expected hydropolysulfide anions. Each of the standards tested showed the same speciation pattern after dissolution both with and without alkylation. Alkylation of the polysulfides changes the measured speciation pattern, though it is unclear if this is due to the alkylation reaction or a difference in the ionisation between alkylated and unalkylated species.

#### 4.1.2 High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides

To confirm the tentative assignment of the polysulfide species assigned as radical anions in the low resolution direct infusion experiments using a TQD-MS, high-resolution time of flight mass spectrometry (ToF-MS) was used. The resolution of the ToF-MS<sup>328</sup> (calibrated to 0.5 ppm using sodium formate clusters) used is high enough to be able to distinguish the additional mass of the electron (0.00054 *m/z* units) in a radical ion and confirm the absence of any hydrogen polysulfide anions. These experiments strengthened the assignment of the underivatised polysulfide species as radical anions, although these species may form due to the mechanism of ionisation in the ESI source and exist as different species in solution.

# 4.1.3 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following Chemical Derivatisation



Scheme 17: Alkylation of inorganic polysulfides by N-ethylmaleimide (NEM) and iodoacetamide (IAM). NEM reacts with nucleophiles such as polysulfides via Michael addition whilst IAM reacts through a nucleophilic substitution (S<sub>N</sub>2) reaction<sup>107,325</sup>.

Two different electrophiles, *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM) and iodoacetamide (IAM) were investigated to ascertain their suitability for the analysis of polysulfides. NEM and IAM have different structures (**Scheme 17**), and reaction mechanisms<sup>107,325</sup>, with a large difference in rates of reaction<sup>324</sup> that could influence the speciation of the derivatised polysulfides. The mechanism and rate of reaction will likely have a significant impact on polysulfide speciation. If the rate of reaction between the different chain lengths of polysulfide with the electrophile differs, then the

equilibrium between the polysulfide species and speciation could be altered by the derivatisation reaction and would no longer be representative of the true polysulfide speciation in vivo. Different reaction conditions were tested to establish if there was any effect on the polysulfide speciation.

Pure sodium disulfide, trisulfide and tetrasulfide salts, as well as mixed potassium polysulfide salts were tested under a variety of conditions. Important aspects of the alkylation of polysulfides including the electrophile used, the preparation method and the effect of different concentrations of electrophile were investigated in order to determine the impact on the analysis of polysulfides. The UHPLC-MS/MS method developed for thiol analysis (see section 3.2) was used to separate the different polysulfide species improving identification of the individual species as well as avoiding ion suppression and false signal that can be potentially generated by source fragmentation of the higher chain length polysulfides. UHPLC separation will also be important for the analysis of polysulfides in biological samples to avoid matrix effects.

It was found that the choice of alkylating agent can have a significant impact on the measured polysulfide speciation. NEM generally gave shorter chain length polysulfides whilst with IAM longer chain lengths are seen. As with the direct infusion experiments (4.1.1) the choice of starting polysulfide salt used in the reaction did not have an effect on the measured speciation. The preparation methods and reaction conditions were however found to have varying effects on the observed polysulfide speciation with both NEM and IAM. Ultimately, whilst the exact polysulfide standards can be accurately weighed out and prepared, the measured results can vary making their use for quantification tricky. For biological measurements it must be considered that the choice of electrophile, preparation method and reaction conditions can all influence the measured species and may not be representative of the physiological distribution of these species.

#### 4.1.3.1 Impact of NEM on Polysulfide Chains

NEM derivatisation generally results in shorter chain length polysulfides being detected compared to IAM derivatisation for unclear reasons. Key differences between the two electrophiles are; NEM is a stronger electrophile and has a faster rate of reaction than IAM<sup>322</sup> with a different mechanism of reaction, NEM reacts with nucleophiles such as polysulfides via Michael addition<sup>329</sup> whilst IAM reacts through a nucleophilic substitution (S<sub>N</sub>2) reaction<sup>115</sup> (**Scheme 17**). Along with these differences in reactivities, there is also the possibility of unexpected secondary reactions between NEM and the polysulfides resulting in the shorter chain lengths.

In order to test the potential impact of NEM a polysulfide standard was derivatised with excess IAM to ensure all of the polysulfide was fully alkylated, NEM was then added to the fully reacted solution. The reactive end sulfurs of the polysulfide chains should be fully alkylated and so unavailable to react with NEM, therefore if any NEM alkylated polysulfide species are observed then they must arise from secondary reactions.

After addition of NEM to the fully reacted IAM polysulfide solution, new alkylated polysulfide species were observed that were either alkylated with one NEM and one IAM or fully alkylated with NEM. Additionally all of the polysulfide species that were detected were of shorter chain lengths than before the addition of NEM. This confirms the hypothesis that NEM is in some way able to react with the mid chain sulfurs and produce shorter chain length polysulfides though the exact mechanism by which this occurs remains unclear.

# 

#### 4.1.4 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides



The formation of persulfides and polysulfides on protein cysteine residues is a relatively new concept in redox biology and it has recently been shown that these residues are actually quite abundant in cells and tissues and have important biological functions<sup>131,135,283,322</sup>. The antioxidant capabilities of organic persulfides and polysulfides have also been found to be much greater than their base thiols by approximately 10-110 times<sup>130</sup>. However, the physiological levels of these polysulfides, their speciation and importance of individual species and their biosynthesis are still

unclear, especially in disease states<sup>38</sup>. Methodologies designed to study these species are currently hampered by the fact that there are no readily available accurate standards for thiol persulfides for use in identification and quantification. Coupled to this, the chemistries involved in the gold-standard alkylation based protocols are not well understood, and as we have shown, the conditions used in these methods can have significant impacts on the polysulfide speciation measured.

Since no standards are readily available for organic polysulfides, to investigate the alkylation of these species we followed the method set out by Francoleon N.E. *et al.*<sup>139</sup> in order to generate them (by reaction of sodium sulfide with an oxidised thiol such as GSSG). Two different conditions for generating organic per- and polysulfides were tested, the first using sodium sulfide and the second using sodium trisulfide. The expectation was that using sulfide would generate mainly glutathione persulfide (GSS<sup>-</sup>) with the addition of only a single sulfur, whilst using trisulfide would generate longer chain glutathione polysulfides such as glutathione tetrasulfide (GSSS<sup>-</sup>) as it would be able to add longer polysulfide chains. As was seen with the inorganic polysulfides electrophiles can significantly alter the measured speciation patterns making it important to use an electrophile that reacts quickly and efficiently, but also preserves the in-vivo speciation pattern. NEM was initially tested due to its rapid rate of reaction, but with the understanding that it will likely be biased towards shorter chain organic polysulfides.

The speciation pattern observed after alkylation of glutathione polysulfides with NEM was similar to that of the inorganic polysulfides with pentasulfide being the highest species seen. Unexpectedly both the reaction with sulfide and trisulfide produced the same speciation pattern showing that organic polysulfides with more than two sulfurs can be synthesised from just sulfide and oxidised thiols. NEM generally produces shorter chain length polysulfides therefore, it is unlikely that the longer organic polysulfides are produced during the alkylation reaction. This reaction could readily occur in biological samples after collection and so caution should be exercised during sample collection and processing to try and avoid the artifactual production of organic polysulfide species.

# 4.1.5 Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase

There are a number of key similarities both biological and chemical between reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated from oxygen and reactive sulfur species (RSS) generated from one electron oxidation of hydrogen sulfide<sup>3</sup>. These reactive sulfur species include the thiyl radical (HS<sup>•</sup>) as well as inorganic persulfides and polysulfides as both hydrated species and radical anions. RSS

have come to attention recently and appear to play a much greater role in redox biology than previously appreciated<sup>55,130,152,330</sup>. In some cases it has been shown that systems regulated by  $H_2O_2$ have identical responses to polysulfides ( $H_2S_n$ , where n = 2-5)<sup>36,254</sup>. It has also recently become apparent that many methods used to measure ROS such as those based on fluorescent probes or amperometric electrodes are in fact unable to distinguish between ROS and RSS<sup>253</sup>. This suggests that RSS may in fact be responsible for some, if not many, of the biological effects previously attributed to only ROS.

Catalase, an enzyme that catalyses peroxide dismutation to oxygen and water as part of cellular defence against oxidative damage, has recently been demonstrated to have biological activities involving RSS. It has been shown to be able to oxidise both sulfide and polysulfides using both oxygen and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub><sup>137</sup>. It is likely that catalase is not the only antioxidant enzyme that has biological activities involving RSS as well as ROS. After all, life evolved in an anoxic and reducing environment, likely depending on RSS to provide the necessary energy. Therefore, there would have been the need to deal with damaging RSS long before ROS. Antioxidant enzymes such as catalase, super oxide dismutase, thioredoxin and peroxiredoxin, all appear to have evolved long before the presence of oxygen in the atmosphere<sup>138</sup> which suggests that they performed important biological functions on substrates other than ROS. Super oxide dismutase (SOD) is a key antioxidant enzyme which catalyses the dismutation of superoxide to oxygen and peroxide<sup>255</sup>. It is closely linked to catalase since it produces peroxide which catalase then dismutases into oxygen and water. Since catalase has recently been demonstrated to have biological activities involving RSS as well as ROS this makes SOD a strong candidate to have similar activities centring on RSS. These antioxidant enzymes may in fact form a new area of crosstalk between ROS metabolism and RSS metabolism in the reactive species interactome<sup>36</sup>.

To further explore the hypothesis that antioxidant enzymes were originally involved in RSS metabolism, and indeed still show this biological activity, the potential biological activity of mammalian SOD (Cu/Zn) with sulfide was investigated. The findings from the experiments carried out for this chapter and the developed detection method were applied to the novel investigation into the potential sulfur related metabolic activity of SOD. IAM was used to alkylate and trap any polysulfide species present and the UHPLC-MS/MS used in section 4.2.3 was used for the detection of the polysulfide species. In order to quantify any formed polysulfides pure sodium tetrasulfide alkylated with IAM was used. Although when made up in solution and alkylated the tetrasulfide equilibrates to different polysulfide species since a known molar amount could initially be weighed out the quantity of each polysulfide species was taken as a fraction of the total amount made up. This only provides a rough quantification and so is only used as a guide for

comparison between experiments rather than an accurate measure of the concentration of each polysulfide species.

Inorganic polysulfide species are formed from sulfide in the presence of SOD at a greater rate than autooxidation of sulfide on its own in solution. The polysulfide species appear to be formed by sequential addition of sulfide elongating the chain though the exact mechanism by which this reaction is performed by SOD remains unclear. The radical scavenger DMPO did not have any effect on the formation of polysulfides suggesting that either this reaction does not involve thiyl radicals, the formation of the polysulfides is much more rapid than the scavenging by DMPO or that the catalytic site of SOD is inaccessible to DMPO. This sulfur related activity of SOD forms a further point of crosstalk in what is being termed the "reactive species interactome"<sup>36</sup> with SOD providing a link between ROS and RSS highlighting the complex interlinked nature of redox regulation.

## 4.2 Methods

Pure sodium disulfide, trisulfide and tetrasulfide standards were kindly provided by by Dojindo Europe (Neuss, Germany). Mixed potassium polysulfide ( $K_2S_x$ , where x = 1-5) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. All other materials were sourced from Sigma-Aldrich (Gillingham, UK or Munich, Germany) unless otherwise stated. HPLC-grade solvents from Fisher Scientific (UK). Argon gas (> 99.99%) was from BOC Group (Guildford, UK). Ultrapure N<sub>2</sub> gas was produced by a nitrogen generator (Parker Balston, UK).

#### 4.2.1 Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides

Polysulfide solutions were made up by addition of three different polysulfide salts as a dry powder, mixed potassium polysulfide ( $K_2S_x$ ), sodium trisulfide ( $Na_2S_3$ ) and sodium tetrasulfide ( $Na_2S_4$ ) to either ultra-pure water or pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer. Solutions were made up to 10 mM and diluted x100 with H<sub>2</sub>O before analysis. The polysulfide solutions were directly infused into the ESI source of the triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (ESI-MS/MS) at 8 µl/min and scanned for one minute. Due to the low pK<sub>a</sub> of inorganic polysulfides<sup>149</sup>, they were detected using negative ion mode.

To investigate the potential effect of the alkylation (**Scheme 17**) on the polysulfide speciation first the underivatised polysulfide solution was analysed by direct infusion in negative ion mode before IAM (100 mM) was added to the remaining solution (volume of IAM added was equal to 1% of remaining polysulfide solution volume). The derivatised polysulfide solution was then analysed by direct infusion using both negative and positive ion mode. Negative ion mode was used to confirm

the absence of unreacted polysulfides and positive ion mode was used to confirm the presence of the derivatised polysulfides and analyse their composition. Mass spectrometry settings used are listed in appendix B.1.

#### 4.2.2 High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides

Polysulfide solutions were prepared as described in section 4.2.1, mass spectrometry measurements were made by direct infusion of the aqueous polysulfide solution at a rate of 8 μl/min into the ToF-MS ESI source using negative ion mode. The instrument used was a Waters SYNAPT G2-Si ESI-ToF-MS that was calibrated for the low *m/z* range using sodium-formate clusters to a 0.5 ppm resolution using a fifth order polynomial.

# 4.2.3 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following Chemical Derivatisation

#### Condition Condition Condition Condition 2a 2b 3 1 Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> Dissolved in (to give 10 mM) 100 mM NEM Pure H<sub>2</sub>O 100 mM NEM Pure H<sub>2</sub>O or IAM in or IAM in Added to 10 mM buffer pure H<sub>2</sub>O Then (1:10)10 mM NEM 100 mM NEM or IAM added or IAM in 10 mM buffer Diluted 1:10 with Pure H<sub>2</sub>O Pure H<sub>2</sub>O Pure H<sub>2</sub>O Analysed

#### 4.2.3.1 Derivatisation with Electrophiles

Scheme 18: Experimental workflow for the first set of polysulfide preparation experiments (Figure 21). The buffer used was pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate, in all four conditions the samples were diluted to the same concentration (based on the initial polysulfide concentration) before analysis. All experiments were performed at room temperature.

Stock solutions of 100 mM *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM) and iodoacetamide (IAM) were prepared in 10 mM pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer. Different concentrations (see appendix B.2 for full list of concentrations used) of each electrophile, ranging from 0.5 mM to 98 mM, were prepared using different dilutions of the stock solutions with buffer to a total volume of 1 ml. Polysulfide solutions were made up by addition of pre-weighed dry powder standards to ultra-pure water using either mixed potassium polysulfide ( $K_2S_x$ ), sodium trisulfide ( $Na_2S_3$ ) or sodium tetrasulfide ( $Na_2S_4$ ) to produce either 10 mM or 1 mM solutions (see appendix B.2 for amounts used in each experiment). 10 µl of the polysulfide solution was added to each of the different reaction solutions containing different electrophile concentrations to give a final (total) polysulfide concentration of 10 or 100 µM. Following the results of the kinetics experiments outlined in Chapter 5: the polysulfides were allowed to react with NEM at room temperature for 10 min before analysis, and IAM was left for 30 min to ensure a complete reaction.

In two separate sets of experiments, different preparation methods were tested to investigate the impact of the starting solution composition on the polysulfide speciation. In the first set of experiments four different preparation methods were tested as shown in **Scheme 18**, briefly; **1**) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 900 µl buffer with 100 µl NEM/IAM solution. **2a**) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 900 µl water, then 100 µl NEM/IAM was added after dissolving, **2b**) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 900 µl water with 100 µl NEM/IAM **3**) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> was added to 1000 µl water, then 100 µl of the solution was added to 800 µl buffer with 100 µl NEM/IAM. Solutions **1**), **2a**) and **2b**) were diluted 10x in ultra-pure water before analysis.



Scheme 19: Experimental workflow for the second set of polysulfide preparation experiments (Figure 22).  $Na_2S_x$ , where x = 2, 3 or 4, the buffer used was pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate. All experiments were performed at room temperature and repeated three times.

The second set of experiments used the preparation methods detailed **Scheme 19** for both NEM and IAM expanding on the first experiments, briefly; Condition **1**: Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> dissolved in NEM or IAM containing buffer. Condition **2**: Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> first dissolved in ultra-pure water, then diluted in NEM or IAM containing buffer. Condition **3**: Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> dissolved in ultra-pure water, then diluted in buffer, then diluted in NEM or IAM containing buffer. All of these conditions were tested using Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>, Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub>. All conditions tested used the same final dilution before analysis. As before, in both sets of experiments NEM was allowed 10 min to react and IAM 30 min at room temperature.

Table 4:	Chromatographic conditions for NEM or IAM derivatised polysulfide analysis, $A = H_2O$
	+ 5 mM ammonium acetate, B = 95% ACN + 5% $H_2O$ + 5 mM ammonium acetate.

Time (min)	% A	% B	Flow (ml/min)
0.00	95	5	0.20
5.00	40	60	0.20
6.00	95	5	0.20
7.00	95	5	0.20

Table 5:	Precursor and fragment ion pairs used for the analysis of NEM and IAM alkylated
	polysulfide species.

FSI+	NFM	IAM			
LJII					
S1	285 > 160	149 > 104			
S <sub>2</sub>	317 > 160	181 > 91			
S <sub>3</sub>	349 > 160	213 > 91			
<b>S</b> <sub>4</sub>	381 > 160	245 > 91			
S <sub>5</sub>	413 > 160	277 > 91			
S <sub>6</sub>	445 > 160	309 > 91			
S <sub>7</sub>	477 > 160	341 > 91			

The composition of the derivatised polysulfides was analysed by UHPLC-MS/MS using a Waters Aquity UPLC system with a Xevo TQ-S detector. Mobile phase A was  $H_2O + 5$  mM ammonium acetate; mobile phase B was 95% ACN + 5%  $H_2O + 5$  mM ammonium acetate. An Aquity UPLC CSH C18 (1.7 µm), 2.1 x 100 mm column was used for the separation with the gradient used described in **Table 4**, the injection volume was 5 µl, column temperature 30°C and the MRMs used are listed in **Table 5**. Mass spectrometry settings are listed in appendix B.1.

#### 4.2.3.2 Impact of pH on Polysulfide Speciation After Derivatisation

Stock solutions of 100 mM NEM and IAM were prepared in pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer. Additionally, the pH 7.4 buffer was adjusted to separate solutions of pH 5.0, 6.0, 8.0 and 9.0 using either 1 M HCl or NaOH. The Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>, Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> salts were made up in ultra-pure water to give a concentration of 10 mM assuming all of the polysulfide remained as the starting chain length. Sodium sulfate was made up in ultra-pure water and diluted to a concentration of 10 nM.

For the reaction, to 880  $\mu$ l of the appropriate pH buffer 10  $\mu$ l of sulfate (10 nM) and 100  $\mu$ l of NEM/IAM (100 mM) was added, followed by 10  $\mu$ l of polysulfide solution (10 mM). The solutions were allowed to react for 5 min for NEM and 20 min for IAM before being analysed using the UHPLC-MS/MS method outlined in the previous section (4.2.3.1). Sulfate was monitored using a selected ion recording (SIR) scan of m/z 97.03 (HSO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>) in negative ionisation mode and eluted at 1.10 min.

#### 4.2.3.3 Impact of NEM on Polysulfide Chains

In order to investigate if NEM has any unanticipated effects on polysulfide speciation 0.0019 g sodium tetrasulfide was added to 9 ml water + 1 ml of 100 mM IAM (giving a 1 mM concentration
assuming all the polysulfide remained as tetrasulfide, and 10 mM IAM). The solution was allowed to react at room temperature for 60 min before 100 µl of the solution was added to 800 µl water + 100 µl of 100 mM NEM (10 mM NEM final concentration, 1:10 dilution) and allowed to react at room temperature for a further 30 min. Aliquots were taken for analysis 60 min after IAM addition before the addition of NEM as well as 15 and 30 min after NEM addition. Potential polysulfide species alkylated with one IAM and one NEM were monitored using precursor masses only (selected ion scan) due to unknown fragmentation patterns and a lack of accurate standards. Analysis was performed using UHPLC-MS/MS using the same method as detailed in section 4.2.3.1**Error! Reference source not found.**.

#### 4.2.4 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides

Due to a lack of accurate standards glutathione polysulfide species were produced by reaction of oxidised glutathione (GSSG) with either sodium trisulfide or sodium sulfide salts following the method set out by Francoleon N.E. *et al.*<sup>139</sup>. GSSG and either sodium trisulfide or sodium sulfide were mixed with a 1:1 molar ratio (10 mM, assuming for Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> that all remained as S<sub>3</sub> after dissolution) in pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer and incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes. The reaction was terminated by addition of excess NEM, which also allowed for analysis of the formed glutathione species. The analysis was performed using UHPLC-MS/MS using the method developed in section 4.2.3.1 and the chromatographic gradient detailed in **Table 4** using specific MRMs for the five detected glutathione species (as well as the remaining unreacted GSSG used in the reaction). The MRMs used were (all NEM derivatised): GSH 433.2>304, GS<sub>2</sub>H 465.2>336, GS<sub>3</sub>H 497.1>368, GS<sub>4</sub>H 529.1>400 and GS<sub>5</sub>H 561.1>432. The cone energy was 6 V and collision energy 13 V for all measured species.

# 4.2.5 Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase

Formation of inorganic polysulfides was monitored using the UHPLC-MS/MS method described in section 4.2.3.1. In order to provide a rough quantification for any formed polysulfide species pure sodium tetrasulfide was added to a tenfold molar excess of IAM in pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer. The solution was allowed to react at room temperature for 60 min before being diluted serially to give a standard series with the concentrations 100  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 500 nM, and 100 nM assuming all of the polysulfide remained as tetrasulfide. Since the tetrasulfide salt actually forms sulfide, disulfide, trisulfide, tetrasulfide and pentasulfide after dissolution the proportion of each of these species is taken as the concentration of that species in relation to the initial concentration of the tetrasulfide as it was weighed out. For example, if the initial

concentration of the tetrasulfide would have been 100  $\mu$ M if it had all remained as tetrasulfide and the peak for the trisulfide formed represents 10% of the total peak areas for all of the measured polysulfide species then the concentration of the trisulfide is taken as 10  $\mu$ M.

Different experimental conditions were tested. Initially the ability of mammalian SOD (Cu/Zn, 3700 units/mg) to produce polysulfides from sulfide was investigated using two conditions **1)** 1  $\mu$ M SOD + 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S and **2)** 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S as a control. Both of the reaction mixtures were made up in pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer and left open under normoxic conditions at room temperature. Between 0-90 min 50  $\mu$ l aliquots of each reaction mixture were taken every ten minutes, and added to 50  $\mu$ l of 100 mM IAM and well mixed. Two additional aliquots were taken at 150 and 180 min. All aliquots were analysed using the established UHPLC-MS/MS method.

The initial rapid formation of persulfide (within 60 s) and its dependence on the concentration of SOD was investigated following the same method as for the previous experiments. Three different concentrations of SOD were tested, 1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M with 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S. Aliquots taken for analysis at 10 s, 30 s, 60 s, 120 s and 300 s after SOD addition, which were added to 50  $\mu$ l of 100 mM IAM and well mixed before analysis.

To investigate whether the formation of the persulfide occurred by SOD catalysed one electron reduction of two sulfides the radical scavenger 5,5-Dimethyl-1-pyrroline N-oxide (DMPO) was used to attempt to trap any thiyl radicals formed. Four different conditions were used, two controls, **1**) 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S only, **2**) 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S + 2 mM DMPO, and two reaction conditions, **3**) 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S + 1  $\mu$ M SOD and **4**) 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S + 1 $\mu$ M SOD + 2 mM DMPO. As before, the initial formation of persulfide was monitored by taking 50  $\mu$ l aliquots at 10 s, 30 s, 60 s, 120 s and 300 s after SOD addition, which were added to 50  $\mu$ l of 100 mM IAM and well mixed before analysis.

## 4.3 Results



## 4.3.1 Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides

Figure 16: Direct infusion electrospray ionisation MS detection of aqueous inorganic polysulfides. A) Mixed potassium polysulfide, B) Sodium trisulfide, C) Sodium tetrasulfide. The observed polysulfide m/z are, S2\* 63.9, S3\* 95.9 and S4\* 127.7, measured m/z varies slightly due to the low resolution of the mass spectrometer. Thiosulfate is also visible either occurring as a contaminant in the stock or an oxidation product after dissolution of the polysulfides stock. There is no significant difference in the measured polysulfide speciation regardless of the starting material used.

Chapter 4



Figure 17: Direct infusion electrospray ionisation MS detection of aqueous sodium tetrasulfide before (A) and after (B and C) addition of IAM. B shows the presence of alkylated polysulfide species (and associated sodiated peaks) in positive ionisation mode. C shows the absence of the polysulfide peaks in negative ionisation mode observed before IAM addition (A). There appears to be a change in polysulfide speciation after addition of IAM with the most abundant species observed shifting from trisulfide to disulfide.

Sodium trisulfide, tetrasulfide and mixed potassium polysulfide ( $K_2S_x$ , where x = 1-5) all show a similar speciation pattern when made up in ultra-pure water (**Figure 16**). Unexpectedly, the

underivatised polysulfide species seen have m/z that correspond more closely to radical anion species ( $S_n^{\bullet-}$ ) as opposed to the expected hydropolysulfide anions ( $HS_n^{-}$ ) which have been previously reported<sup>149</sup>. The most abundant polysulfide observed has an m/z of ~95.9, which corresponds closely to a trisulfide radical anion ( $S_3^{\bullet-}$ ) with m/z values corresponding with disulfide (m/z ~63.9) and tetrasulfide (m/z ~127.8) radical anion species ( $S_2^{\bullet-}$  and  $S_4^{\bullet-}$ ) also being observed. The measured m/z of the polysulfide species has a slight variance between separate measurements due to the low-resolution nature of the instrument leading to a slight shift in the peak top between measurements.

Upon derivatisation with iodoacetamide (**Figure 17**) the most abundant species measured changes to the disulfide (IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>2</sub>, m/z 181.0) followed by trisulfide (IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>3</sub>, m/z 212.9) and the least abundant being tetrasulfide (IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>4</sub>, m/z 244.9), suggesting that the alkylation reaction has altered the measured speciation pattern. No underivatised polysulfides are observed after the alkylation reaction showing the reaction has completed.

## 4.3.2 High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides

The exact masses for the three potential polysulfide radical ions observed were calculated to be as follows;  $S_2^{\bullet} m/z 63.9448$ ,  $S_3^{\bullet} m/z 95.9168$  and  $S_4^{\bullet} m/z 127.8890$ . The closest in mass is the  $S_3^{\bullet}$ with a mass difference of only 0.0002 m/z units.  $S_2^{\bullet}$  and  $S_4^{\bullet}$  have greater differences, 0.0020 m/zunits and 0.0167 m/z units respectively (**Figure 18** and **Table 6**). These larger differences may be due to the lower abundances of these two species giving a lower mass accuracy as well as the low mass of the  $S_2^{\bullet}$  which is close to the lower range of the ToF-MS (m/z 50) with a corresponding loss of resolution at that range. This loss of resolution is due to the fact that the lower the m/z of the ion, the less time it spends in the ToF region, meaning that less scans can be performed on low mass ions compared to a higher mass ions leading to a loss of mass accuracy<sup>331</sup>.

Table 6:Exact and measured accurate masses for polysulfide radical ions, thiosulfate and<br/>other observed species in the experiment depicted in Figure 18.

	Exact Mass ( <i>m/z</i> units)	Measured Mass ( <i>m/z</i> units)	Difference ( <i>m/z</i> units)	Difference (ppm)
S <sub>2</sub> •-	63.9448	63.9469	0.0021	33
S <sub>3</sub> •-	95.9168	95.9170	0.0002	2
S4 <sup>•-</sup>	127.8890	127.9057	0.0167	131
$S_2O_3^{\bullet}$	111.9294	111.9312	0.0018	16
$HS_2O_3^-$	112.9367	112.9398	0.0031	27
HSO <sub>4</sub>	96.9601	96.9599	0.0002	2

The isotopic distribution of the observed peaks also provides additional conformation of peak assignment. The most abundant natural stable isotope of sulfur is <sup>34</sup>S, meaning that inorganic polysulfide radical anions will only have a significant isotope peak at M+2, and no isotope peak at M+1. The exact difference in atomic mass between <sup>34</sup>S and <sup>32</sup>S is 1.9958 *m/z* units, which can also be used as further confirmation that these are the correct isotope peaks for the polysulfide species. **Figure 18, B** shows an expanded section of the spectrum showing the S<sub>3</sub>\* peak and its +2 isotope peak at *m/z* 97.9128. The difference in mass between the suggested S<sub>3</sub>\* and this isotope peak is exactly 1.9958 *m/z* units and it has a relative abundance to the main peak of ~12%. Likewise, **Figure 18, C** shows an expanded section of the spectrum for S<sub>4</sub>\* with the +2 isotope peak at *m/z* 129.9001 and a relative abundance of ~16%. This gives a mass difference of 1.9944 *m/z* units, which is close to the theoretical difference between <sup>32</sup>S and <sup>34</sup>S. No isotope peak was observed for S<sub>2</sub>\* (not shown), likely due to its low signal intensity meaning the isotope peak which would be ~8% of the intensity of the main peak would fall into the noise level. There are no M+4 isotope peaks observed which is not unexpected as the abundance of these isotopes would fall into the noise level.





- 4.3.3 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following Chemical Derivatisation
- 4.3.3.1 Derivatisation with Electrophiles



**Figure 19:** Exemplary chromatograms for NEM and IAM derivatised polysulfides displayed in stacked view using the chromatographic method described in 4.2.3.1. From S<sub>1</sub> at the bottom to S<sub>4</sub> at the top for NEM and S<sub>7</sub> at the top for IAM and showing the increasing elution time with increasing sulfur number.

Using the UHPLC method developed in chapter 3 (see section 3.2.1), NEM alkylated polysulfides elute with increasing number of sulfurs with S<sub>1</sub>-S<sub>4</sub> eluting from 4.85 min to 6.45 min (**Figure 19**). NEM derivatised polysulfides higher than S<sub>4</sub> were not observed. IAM derivatised polysulfides likewise elute with increasing sulfur number but a higher range of species is observed than with NEM, with S<sub>1</sub>-S<sub>7</sub> eluting from 1.85 min to 4.80 min (**Figure 19**). Unidentified peaks are observed in the chromatogram for IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>7</sub> at 3.40 min and 6.25 min, these are likely noise peaks caused by contaminants or from the sample matrix. These unidentified peaks do not follow the expected elution pattern of the derivatised polysulfides on the C<sub>18</sub> column, with an increasing number of sulfurs the elution time also increases; therefore, I am confident that the peak at 4.80 min is the true peak for IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>7</sub>.



**Figure 20:** Effect of increasing NEM (**A**) and IAM (**B**) concentrations (0.5-98 mM) on the apparent concentration of individual inorganic polysulfide species. **A:** Increasing NEM concentration from 0.5-20 mM decreases the amount of  $S_2$ ,  $S_3$  and  $S_4$  above 20 mM the measured amounts then start to increase, apart from  $S_3$ , which increases until dropping at 98 mM NEM. Sulfide shows an initial increase from 0.5-20 mM before starting to decrease with increasing NEM. **B:** With increasing IAM concentration sulfide shows an overall increase,  $S_2$  increases from 0.5-5 mM before decreasing up to 40 mM IAM followed by a slight increase.  $S_3$  increases with increasing IAM concentration whilst  $S_4$  and  $S_5$  show a decrease until 98 mM. This data is representative of n = 5 experiments all with qualitatively similar results.

As with the underivatised polysulfides (section 4.3.1) the composition of the starting polysulfide (mixed potassium polysulfide or pure sodium tri or tetrasulfide) does not appear to have any significant effect on the measured polysulfide speciation after being made up in solution and

derivatised (Figure 22). However, the concentration of NEM or IAM used does have an impact on the speciation (Figure 20).

Generally, with NEM the measured levels of S<sub>2</sub>, S<sub>3</sub> and S<sub>4</sub> polysulfides decrease from 0.5 to 20 mM NEM before starting to increase. The sulfide however shows an initial increase over the same range before starting to decrease (appendix B.2 and **Figure 20**, **A**). With IAM, the measured sulfide increases with the increasing IAM concentration, though this was not consistent when repeated with a lower concentration of polysulfide (appendix B.1). S<sub>2</sub> and S<sub>3</sub> show an overall increase in measured levels with increasing IAM concentration, though there is a dip in the measured S<sub>3</sub> at 40 mM IAM. Both S<sub>4</sub> and S<sub>5</sub> show a decrease in measured levels until 98 mM where they both show a slight increase (appendix B.2 and **Figure 20**, **B**). Overall increasing NEM and IAM concentrations have significant and varied effects on the speciation pattern of inorganic polysulfides that could be linked to changes in the rates of reaction or possible secondary reactions with the excess alkylating agents.





With a lower concentration of polysulfide (1 mM stock solution instead of 10 mM), only  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  are detected across the whole concentration range for both NEM and IAM and with  $S_3$  detectable for IAM only. This is potentially due to the abundance of the larger polysulfides after equilibration dropping below the limit of detection due to the lower starting concentration. The lack of signal for the higher polysulfides may also be due to them being more unstable at lower concentrations and equilibrating to smaller chain lengths more rapidly than the rate of alkylation. Both  $S_4$  and  $S_5$  are detectable at the higher IAM concentrations (appendix B.2).

When using IAM to alkylate polysulfides the preparation method does not appear to have a significant impact on the overall speciation of the polysulfides. In all four starting conditions in the first set of preparation experiments (Scheme 18, Figure 21) and in all three conditions in the second set (Figure 22) the speciation pattern observed is  $S_1>S_2>S_3>S_4>S_6$ . However, when using NEM as the alkylation agent the starting conditions do appear to have a more significant effect on the measured polysulfide speciation. Using the same preparation methods as with IAM, in the first set of experiments (Figure 21) in condition 1) only  $S_2$  and  $S_1$  are present with  $S_2$  being the most abundant. In conditions 2a) and 2b)  $S_3$  is now observed and both conditions show the same speciation pattern of  $S_2>S_1>S_3$  (in terms of abundance). Condition 3) shows only  $S_2$  and  $S_1$  as with condition 1) but  $S_1$  is now more abundant than the  $S_2$ . These results are consistent with the second set of experiments (Figure 22) with generally longer chain polysulfides detected using IAM rather than NEM though there are some differences in the patterns seen.

In the second set of experiments using different preparation methods (**Scheme 19**), when using NEM to alkylate polysulfides the speciation pattern does not change with the three different, polysulfide salts (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>, Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub>) in that the lower chain length polysulfides are more abundant. What does change is that longer chain length polysulfides are detectable with the longer starting salts. Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub> only NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>1</sub> and NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>2</sub> are observed, with Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>3</sub> is also detectable and with Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>4</sub> becomes detectable. Regardless of the starting polysulfide salt however the differences in measured polysulfide speciation are the same with the three different preparation methods. With NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>1</sub> and NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>2</sub> condition **2** (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> first dissolved in ultra-pure water, then diluted in NEM containing buffer) gives the highest abundance followed by a decrease in condition **3** (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> dissolved in ultra-pure water, then diluted in NEM containing buffer) and a further decrease with condition **1** (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> dissolved in NEM containing buffer). The longer chain polysulfides observed using Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> both show the same pattern, with the highest abundance in condition **1** and no detectable signal for either NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>3</sub> or NEM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>4</sub> with condition **3**.

Chapter 4



**Figure 22:** Differences in polysulfide speciation using three different polysulfide salts with three different preparation conditions<sup>143</sup>. **NEM: A)** Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>, **B)** Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and **C)** Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub>. **IAM: D)** Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>, **E)** Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and **F)** Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub>. Condition **1**: Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> dissolved in NEM or IAM containing buffer. Condition **2**: Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> first dissolved in ultra-pure water, then diluted in NEM or IAM containing buffer. Condition **3**: Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub> dissolved in ultra-pure water, then diluted in buffer, then diluted in NEM or IAM containing buffer. Specific experimental procedures and conditions are described in **Scheme 19**, the shown data is representative of *n* = 3 experiments with similar results. Generally, shorter polysulfide chains were observed and speciation was more affected by the preparation conditions with NEM compared to IAM. These observations are consistent with **Figure 21**.

When using IAM to alkylate the polysulfides the starting polysulfide salt has less of an effect on the number of polysulfide species detected. Using  $Na_2S_3$  and  $Na_2S_4$  IAM alkylated polysulfide species from  $S_1$  to  $S_6$  are all observed. With  $Na_2S_2$  it is only the  $S_6$  that is not detected though with

the Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> the S<sub>6</sub> levels are very low so it may be that they have dropped below the limit of detection. The preparation methods used have a varying effect on the alkylated polysulfide speciation depending on the starting salt used. Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub> shows different changes with different preparation methods than Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> which both show similar changes. However with all three salts IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>1</sub> has the highest abundance with condition followed by condition **1** then condition **2** (same preparation methods used. When using Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> as the starting salts for the IAM alkylated polysulfides S<sub>3</sub>, S<sub>4</sub> and S<sub>5</sub> condition **1** gives the highest abundance followed by conditions and starting salts (**Figure 22**). For Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub> with S<sub>3</sub> and S<sub>4</sub> it is condition **2** that has the highest abundance whilst S<sub>5</sub> follows the same pattern as the other two starting salts.

#### 4.3.3.1 Impact of pH on Polysulfide Speciation After Derivatisation

As previously observed (section 4.2.3.1) derivatisation with NEM produces shorter chain length polysulfides than IAM, at all of the pHs tested. Increasing the pH of the reaction mixture for the NEM derivatisation mixture shifts the polysulfide speciation pattern towards the shorter chain length species observed (Figure 23). Above pH 7.4 there is a drop in the relative amounts of S<sub>4</sub>, S<sub>3</sub> and S<sub>2</sub> compared to the sulfide. At pH 5.0 there is a relatively higher amount of S<sub>2</sub> and S<sub>4</sub> observed compared to the sulfide. These differences are consistent over the three polysulfide salts tested.

There is however less variation in the speciation pattern with pH for the IAM derivatised polysulfides (Figure 24), with the overall pattern remaining consistent, though some absolute peak areas vary. Slightly lower chain lengths are seen with the disulfide starting salt at pH 7.4 and higher but the overall pattern remains the same. The sulfate peak area did not vary by more than 10% across the whole course of the experiments, with less than 5% variation within each group of pHs and alkylating agents tested.



Figure 23: Effect of pH on the measured speciation of polysulfides after derivatisation with NEM. A) Disulfide salt, B) trisulfide salt and C) tetrasulfide salt. Increasing pH leads to the speciation pattern shifting towards lower chain lengths for all three of the tested polysulfide salts.



Figure 24: Effect of pH on the measured speciation of polysulfides after derivatisation with IAM.
A) Disulfide salt, B) trisulfide salt and C) tetrasulfide salt. Changing the pH of the reaction mixture does not appear to significantly affect speciation pattern for all three of the tested polysulfide salts.

## 4.3.3.2 Impact of NEM on Polysulfide Chains

Unexpectedly the addition of NEM to polysulfides that have been fully alkylated with IAM results in significant changes to the speciation pattern observed as well as resulting in the appearance of alkylated species other than those derivatised with two IAM groups (**Figure 25**). Before the addition of NEM (60 min after IAM addition) sulfide (S<sub>1</sub>), disulfide (S<sub>2</sub>), trisulfide (S<sub>3</sub>), tetrasulfide (S<sub>4</sub>) and pentasulfide (S<sub>5</sub>) IAM alkylated species were observed. The lack of higher chain length polysulfide species, which were observed using IAM in earlier experiments (**Figure 19**), may be due concentration of sodium tetrasulfide used as the levels of S<sub>6</sub> and S<sub>7</sub> may be below the limit of detection. In order to confirm this the experiment would have to be repeated using a higher initial concentration of tetrasulfide. No other alkylated polysulfides species were observed.

After the addition of NEM, IAM derivatised polysulfides (S<sub>1</sub>, S<sub>2</sub>, S<sub>3</sub> S<sub>4</sub> and S<sub>5</sub>) are still detected but overall in a lower abundance than before NEM addition (**Figure 25**, **A**). The most significant decrease occurs in the S<sub>4</sub> and S<sub>5</sub> IAM alkylated species. Also observed after NEM addition are new alkylated polysulfide species which are alkylated with one IAM group and one NEM group, S<sub>1</sub>, S<sub>2</sub>, S<sub>3</sub> and S<sub>4</sub> mixed alkylated species are all observed (**Figure 25**, **B**). The S<sub>2</sub> species is initially the most abundant followed by the S<sub>3</sub> then the S<sub>2</sub> with S<sub>4</sub> being the least abundant, mixed species above S<sub>4</sub> are also not observed. Since the polysulfides should have fully reacted with IAM (x10 molar excess) there should have been no end-chain sulfurs left with which to react (**Scheme 23**). This implies that the addition of NEM has caused the polysulfide chains to fragment, either by direct reaction or by another mechanism. A small amount of fully NEM derivatised sulfide and disulfide are also observed after the addition of NEM (**Figure 25**, **C**).



Figure 25: Impact of the addition NEM to fully IAM alkylated polysulfides. A) Observed IAM alkylated polysulfide species before and after the addition of NEM. In all species, there is a decrease after the addition of NEM, but it is much greater for tetrasulfide and pentasulfide. B) The appearance of sulfide and polysulfide species alkylated with both IAM and NEM. Both tetrasulfide and pentasulfide show a decrease in abundance between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition whilst the sulfide, disulfide and trisulfide show an increase. C) The appearance of wholly NEM alkylated sulfide and disulfide after addition of NEM. The disulfide shows a decrease in abundance between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition whilst the sulfide sulfide and disulfide after addition of NEM. The disulfide shows a decrease in abundance between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition whilst the sulfide shows an increase.

The time of reaction with NEM also has significant effects on the observed speciation and alkylated polysulfides detected. All of the fully IAM alkylated species show a decrease between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition with the largest decrease being for the  $S_5$  species. For the polysulfide species that have been alkylated with one IAM group and one NEM group the  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  species both increase between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition, with the  $S_1$  increasing the greatest. Conversely the  $S_3$  and  $S_4$  species both decrease with the greatest being for the  $S_4$ . The fully NEM alkylated species show the same pattern with the  $S_1$  increasing between 15 and 30 min after NEM addition and the  $S_2$  decreasing. This suggests that even the short chain NEM alkylated polysulfides are vulnerable to chain fragmentation.

Overall, NEM appears to be able to cause fragmentation of polysulfide chains even when fully alkylated and this is likely the reason that generally shorter polysulfide chains are observed using NEM compared to IAM.

#### 4.3.4 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides

The reaction of sodium sulfide with oxidised glutathione produces glutathione persulfide as expected. Surprisingly however this reaction also produces glutathione polysulfides, specifically, glutathione trisulfide, glutathione tetrasulfide and glutathione pentasulfide (**Figure 26, A**). The species measured (glutathione -  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$ ,  $S_3$ ,  $S_4$  and  $S_5$ ) elute in the same manner as the inorganic polysulfides, with the retention time increasing with increasing number of sulfurs, and with decreasing abundances. GSH-NEM elutes at 2.20 min, the persulfide at 2.30 min, trisulfide at 2.60 min, tetrasulfide at 3.20 min and glutathione pentasulfide elutes last at 3.45 min. Equally surprising there were no measured differences in the glutathione per- and polysulfide species produced either in relative abundance or the number of species observed when using sodium trisulfide instead of sulfide in the reaction mixture (**Figure 26, B**). Sulfide is able to generate glutathione polysulfides from oxidised glutathione as easily as inorganic polysulfides can. No inorganic polysulfides were detected in the sodium sulfide solution over the same period of time (not shown) eliminating inorganic polysulfide contamination or production as the source of the longer chain organic polysulfides.

Unknown peaks were observed in the chromatogram for glutathione pentasulfide staring at 2.20 min. These peaks are likely to be contaminants either in the reaction mixture or on the column used or potentially false peaks stemming from the other glutathione species present. Particularly the first unknown peak at 2.20 min is likely false signal originating from the reduced glutathione as the elution times are the same, it has a high abundance compared to glutathione pentasulfide and can produce the same fragment as the pentasulfide. The true pentasulfide peak can be

distinguished by the elution order, the glutathione polysulfides elute with increasing sulfur number and the peak at 3.45 min on the pentasulfide chromatogram falls in the expected elution time following this pattern. This highlights the importance of chromatography when analysing inorganic and organic polysulfides due to the non-specific fragmentation patterns of these species (**Table 5**).



Figure 26: Exemplary chromatograms showing the glutathione polysulfides produced by incubation of GSSG with A) Na<sub>2</sub>S and B) Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> (1:1 molar ratio). For both Na<sub>2</sub>S and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> the same organic polysulfide species are observed, from bottom to top: Glutathione, glutathione disulfide, glutathione trisulfide, glutathione tetrasulfide and glutathione pentasulfide.

# 4.3.5 Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase



# Figure 27: Production of inorganic polysulfides by SOD metabolism of Na<sub>2</sub>S. A) Total production of polysulfides by 1 μM SOD + 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S and 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S only, no significant amounts of polysulfide are produced by only Na<sub>2</sub>S. B) Lack of production of polysulfides (total) by 1 μM SOD + 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S under hypoxic conditions, with no significant difference in polysulfide levels in the absence of SOD the polysulfides present are likely contaminants in the stock Na<sub>2</sub>S. C) Production of individual polysulfide species by 1 μM SOD + 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S showing sequential formation of polysulfide species ranging from persulfide to tetrasulfide. D) Lack of production of polysulfides with 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S only (note the reduced scale), persulfide is initially present, likely as a contaminant in the stock Na<sub>2</sub>S but does not show a significant increase over 150 min.

By using mass spectrometry detection, we were able to identify the specific polysulfide species formed by SOD metabolism of Na<sub>2</sub>S in aqueous solution. Under normoxic conditions no polysulfides were produced by 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S only in solution over 150 min, some persulfide was observed but this did not increase over the 150 min and is likely a contaminant in the Na<sub>2</sub>S stock. However, in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M SOD significant amounts of polysulfides are formed over 180

min (**Figure 27**, **A-D**). Persulfide is formed initially before longer chain polysulfides start to form, trisulfide after 20 min, tetrasulfide after 150 min, and pentasulfide after 180 min. The polysulfides appear to be produced sequentially, with longer chain lengths not being produced until the preceding polysulfide has been formed. In hypoxic conditions when 1  $\mu$ M SOD is incubated with 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S there is no production of polysulfides (**Figure 27**, **B**).



Figure 28: Short-term measurements of the production of persulfide by SOD metabolism of Na<sub>2</sub>S. A) The impact of SOD concentration on the initial production of persulfide from 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S. Increasing the concentration of SOD increases the rate of formation of persulfide, at elevated SOD concentrations the persulfide starts to form within 10 seconds. B) Addition of the radical scavenger DMPO (2 mM) does not affect the production of persulfide by 10 µM SOD + 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S.

Persulfide formation occurs within two minutes after addition of 1  $\mu$ M SOD to 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S (**Figure 28**, **A**). The rate of persulfide formation increases in a SOD concentration dependant manner with 5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M SOD showing an initial increase in persulfide formation occurring rapidly within 10 s of SOD addition (faster than samples could be processed) followed by a slower rate of production. Both the rapid and slower rates of formation appeared to be SOD concentration dependant. In order to investigate the potential mechanism of polysulfide production by thiyl radical formation DMPO was added to the SOD/Na<sub>2</sub>S reaction mixture in an attempt to trap any thiyl radicals potentially formed. However, the addition of DMPO has no effect on the formation of persulfide by SOD metabolism (**Figure 28**, **B**).

# 4.4 Discussion

#### 4.4.1 Direct Infusion Analysis of Aqueous Polysulfides

Regardless of the starting polysulfide salt used the measured distribution of aqueous inorganic polysulfide species in pure water are qualitatively the same. The mixed potassium polysulfide (S<sub>1</sub>-S<sub>5</sub>) shows a very similar species distribution as the pure sodium tri and tetrasulfides. Initially it was expected that hydropolysulfide anions ( $HS_n^-$ ) would be observed<sup>149</sup>, the underivatised polysulfide species seen in these experiments however have an m/z that corresponds more closely to that of a radical anion species ( $S_n^-$ ). Due to the low-resolution nature of the TQD detector the exact assignment cannot be made with a high degree of certainty, so higher resolution analysis was needed to confirm the assignment of these polysulfide species in aqueous solution.

Derivatisation with IAM changes the measured speciation pattern; when underivatised the  $S_3^{\bullet}$  is the most abundant polysulfide species observed, after derivatisation however the IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>2</sub> species is the most abundant. Therefore, chemical derivatisation with an electrophile most likely alters the distribution of polysulfide species upon reaction. One explanation for this observation is that the rate of equilibration between the different polysulfide species in solution is more rapid than the rate of reaction with the electrophile; if this were the case, the derivatisation reaction would disturb the equilibrium and favour the most reactive polysulfide species. It is also possible that the differences in polysulfide distribution seen are due to the mechanism of ionisation in the ESI source. The underivatised polysulfides are best seen using negative ionisation due to their low  $pK_a^{149}$ , whilst the derivatised species are best observed using positive ionisation mode. It should be considered however that there may be differences in the ionisation efficiencies of the different polysulfide species. Any differences could also potentially be altered after alkylation, therefore it may not be a shift in the abundance of the species after derivatisation but instead a change in the ionisation efficiencies of the different species.

Because the pure polysulfide standards all produce the same speciation pattern as each other and the mixed potassium polysulfide when made up in solution, and this pattern then changes upon derivatisation, these standards cannot be easily used for the quantification of polysulfide species in biological samples. A compromise could be used by making up a known amount of pure polysulfide such as Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> or Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub> (e.g. to 100 mM) and alkylating with the relevant electrophile. The relative proportion of each measured polysulfide in solution could then be taken from the initial concentration as the amount of each species. For example if the IAM<sub>2</sub>-S<sub>3</sub> was 40% of the total polysulfides from an initial 100 mM it would be assumed to have a concentration of 40 mM. These changes in polysulfide composition on dissolution and alkylation call into question the

speciation patterns observed in biological samples. If the derivatisation reaction changes the speciation, how can it be certain that the speciation measured is representative of the actual physiological distribution.

#### 4.4.2 High Resolution Mass Spectrometry of Aqueous Polysulfides

The results of the high-resolution analysis strengthen the previous assignment of the aqueous polysulfide species observed using ESI-MS/MS as radical anions. The measured accurate masses of the previously assigned radical anion polysulfide species ( $S_2^{\bullet,}, S_3^{\bullet,}$  and  $S_4^{\bullet,}$ ) are all in close agreement with the calculated exact masses with the biggest difference of 131 ppm being for the  $S_4^{\bullet,}$  species (**Table 6**), which is likely that high due to the low abundance of that species. Key to note is that even with the larger difference between exact and measured mass the measured masses are still much closer to those of radical anions than for hydropolysulfide anions. The isotopic distribution of the observed species provides further confirmation of the assignments. The most abundant natural stable isotope of sulfur, other than <sup>32</sup>S is <sup>34</sup>S with a natural abundance of 4.22%, <sup>33</sup>S has a relatively low natural abundance (0.76%)<sup>332</sup>. The only isotope peak that should be observed for radical anion polysulfide species will be at M+2 with a signal intensity relative in height to the parent peak. This is reflected in the isotope peaks of the measured polysulfide species. No M+1 peaks are observed, but for  $S_3^{\bullet,}$  and  $S_4^{\bullet,}$  and there are clear M+2 peaks at *m/z* 97.9128 and *m/z* 129.9001 respectively (**Figure 18, B and C**). These isotope peaks also show the expected relative abundance when compared to their parent peaks.

The observed *m/z* for the polysulfide species could potentially be explained by doubly charged anions rather than radical anion species. A doubly charged hexasulfide anion ( $S_6^{-2}$ ) would give exactly the same *m/z* as the proposed trisulfide radical anion ( $S_3^{\bullet}$ ) whilst a doubly charged octasulfide anion ( $S_8^{2-}$ ) would give the same *m/z* as tetrasulfide. These two possibilities can be distinguished by looking at the *m/z* of the isotope peaks and their relative abundances to the parent peak. For  $S_3^{\bullet}$  the isotope peak would fall at the parent *m/z* + ~2 *m/z* units (M+2) and have an intensity of ~12% of the parent peak as <sup>34</sup>S has an abundance of 4.22% and there are three potential <sup>34</sup>S in the trisulfide. For  $S_6^{2-}$  the isotope peak would fall at the parent *m/z* + ~1 *m/z* units (M+1) due to the multiple charge halving the *m/z* of both the parent and isotope peaks, and would have a much higher relative intensity of ~25% of the parent peak. In the measured polysulfide solution there is a clear isotope peak for the *m/z* 95.9168 observed at M+2 (*m/z* 97.9128) with an intensity of ~12% of the parent peak. No isotope peak with ~25% intensity is observed at M+1 (**Figure 18, B**) which suggests that it is in fact a trisulfide radical anion species being observed and not a doubly charged hexasulfide anion. The same argument is equally applicable to the assigned tetrasulfide peak as to why it is not a doubly charged octasulfide anion.

A point of caution however is that the SYNAPT G2-Si ESI-ToF-MS uses the same ESI source as the TQD mass spectrometer used in the previous experiments (section 4.2.1). Therefore, if the polysulfide radical ions originated in the source or were due to the mechanism of ionisation no differences in apparent species would be observed between these two experiments. A different ionisation source could potentially produce hydro-polysulfides instead and/or different polysulfide speciation patterns. Investigating the effect of different ionisation sources would be a useful comparison and help determine if the polysulfide radical anions are generated in solution or generated by the ESI source. It has however been noted that in similar experiments no major changes in the measured speciation were seen upon changing some MS parameters including source temperature, voltage and flow rate<sup>143,149</sup>.

# 4.4.3 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Inorganic Polysulfide Speciation Following Chemical Derivatisation

Even with a rapidly reacting electrophile such as NEM the rate of polysulfide equilibration on dissolution occurs much more rapidly than the rate of reaction with the electrophile (NEM or IAM). As a result the speciation of the derivatised products appears the same regardless of the starting polysulfide salt used (mixed potassium polysulfide, sodium trisulfide and tetrasulfide). This phenomenon is described by the Curtin-Hammett principle<sup>333</sup>; Under Curtin-Hammett control, the ratio of products (the speciation) is not equal to the ratio of the precursors, but instead dependant on the rate of interconversion between the precursors in equilibrium, as the rate of interconversion is much greater than the rate of reaction. In this case it is apparent that the polysulfides are able equilibrate in solution much more rapidly than they react with the electrophile. Under Curtin-Hammett control the reaction with the electrophile can also serve to pull the equilibrium towards the most stable and reactive polysulfide species and away from the true distribution in solution, with the most reactive polysulfide species then being overrepresented in the derivatised products.

The choice of electrophile has a significant impact on the speciation observed after derivatisation; IAM shows a larger range of polysulfide species than NEM, with longer chains being observed (**Figure 19**, **Figure 22**). The two electrophiles have significantly different reactivities as well as different reaction mechanisms; NEM reacts with nucleophiles such as polysulfides via Michael addition whilst IAM reacts through a nucleophilic substitution ( $S_N 2$ ) reaction (**Scheme 17**). The difference in measured species could be due to NEM being a more reactive electrophile than IAM<sup>322</sup> and potentially causing fragmentation of the longer polysulfide chains. The longer observed chain lengths could also be due to the slower rate of reaction of IAM allowing the polysulfides to equilibrate to longer chain lengths before complete alkylation. The differences in

reaction mechanism could also cause the equilibrium between the polysulfide species to shift differently depending on which polysulfide species reacts the quickest with either electrophile. The concentration of the electrophile also has impact on the measured speciation, which could be linked to the rate of reaction. With NEM the average chain length of detected polysulfides tended to decrease with increasing NEM concentration (**Figure 20, A**). With IAM however the polysulfide speciation appears to be more stable with changing IAM concentration (**Figure 20, B**). It should also be noted that when lower starting concentrations of polysulfide only S<sub>1</sub> and S<sub>2</sub> were detected for all concentrations tested for NEM and S<sub>1</sub>, S<sub>2</sub> and S<sub>3</sub> for IAM. This could be due to the abundance of the longer chain polysulfides dropping below the limit of detection due to the overall lower sulfane sulfur concentration. Another explanation could be due to slower disproportionation of the smaller polysulfides as this is a second order reaction meaning the rate depends on the overall concentration.

The methods used to prepare the polysulfide salts were also found to have varying effects on the measured polysulfide speciation depending on the alkylation agent used. The effect of the exact composition and order of mixing of the starting solution was investigated (Figure 21) at first using four different conditions, see Scheme 18 for details. It was found that the preparation method when using IAM did not have a large impact on the speciation pattern observed, though the absolute levels of some of the polysulfide species did vary slightly. However when using NEM there was a more significant effect with the speciation pattern differing depending on the preparation method used. This difference between IAM and NEM is likely due to the polysulfide distribution equilibria shifting more during alkylation with NEM than with IAM under the conditions tested. This assumption is backed up by the second set of experiments looking further at different preparation conditions (Figure 22), three further conditions were tested, see Scheme **19** for details. When using NEM the highest chain length polysulfides observed corresponded to the polysulfide salt used as the starting material whilst with IAM longer chain length polysulfides are also observed. These differences further illustrate the huge complexities associated with measuring the speciation of aqueous inorganic polysulfides and the huge number of factors that can potentially alter the speciation that is measured.

Despite the three polysulfide salts tested having different  $pK_a$  values (disulfide  $pK_{a1} = 5.0$ ,  $pK_{a2} = 9.7$ , trisulfide  $pK_{a1} = 4.2$ ,  $pK_{a2} = 7.5$  and tetrasulfide  $pK_{a1} = 3.8$ ,  $pK_{a2} = 6.3$ )<sup>149</sup>, the pH of the reaction mixture does not have a large impact on the measured speciation of the different polysulfide salts with either NEM or IAM. With NEM whilst there is some variation with pH with (Figure 23) these differences are reflected by all three polysulfide salts and therefore not influenced by the different  $pK_a$  values. This change in polysulfide speciation with pH was not reflected when using IAM. This is potentially due to the difference in rate of reaction between the two alkylating

agents, with IAM taking significantly longer for a complete reaction (see Chapter 5:. The longer reaction time would allow a longer equilibration time for the polysulfides during the reaction and reduce the effect of different pHs on the speciation pattern.

Initially NEM was considered more appropriate for the trapping of polysulfide speciation than IAM due to its much higher rate of reaction. However, throughout the series of experiments it became apparent that when using NEM consistently shorter polysulfide chains were measured when compared to the equivalent reaction using IAM (Figure 19 and Figure 22). It has also been noted that NEM may be able to cause the decomposition of protein-bound cysteine polysulfides<sup>117</sup> making NEM less suitable for the analysis of longer chain polysulfides. In order to test the hypothesis that NEM is able to attack midchain sulfurs in inorganic polysulfides and cause the chains to fragment, polysulfide solutions were fully reacted with an excess of IAM before NEM was added to the solution. After full reaction with IAM there should be no end-chain sulfurs available for NEM to react with based on the data shown in Figure 17. After the addition of NEM to the IAM alkylated polysulfide solution, the measured IAM alkylated species all show a decrease in abundance along with the appearance of polysulfide species that are alkylated with both IAM and NEM (Figure 25). This suggests that NEM was able to react with non-terminal sulfurs leading to the polysulfur chain fragmenting. The largest decrease in the IAM alkylated species occurs with  $S_4$  and  $S_{5,i}$  it is likely that these species are more vulnerable to attack by the NEM as they have longer polysulfide chains that may give NEM more opportunities to attack the mid chain sulfurs or the mid chain sulfurs may have a greater reactivity. For the mixed alkylated species, the  $S_2$  and  $S_3$ are the most abundant with no  $S_5$  observed either. This supports the hypothesis that the mixed species are forming from chain fragmentation and that the longer chains are more vulnerable to mid chain attack, longer chains will always fragment to produce two shorter chains. This equally applies to the observed S<sub>1</sub> and S<sub>2</sub> NEM alkylated species. In order to produce doubly NEM alkylated species the IAM alkylated polysulfide chains will have to undergo fragmentation twice, greatly shortening the chain lengths observed. These observations are further supported by the continuing changes in the measured polysulfide species between 15 and 30 minutes after addition of NEM (Figure 25). An increase in the concentrations of the S<sub>1</sub> and S<sub>2</sub> mixed alkylated species is mirrored by a decrease in the S<sub>3</sub> and S<sub>4</sub> species. Again this suggests that the longer chains, including the mixed polysulfides, are more vulnerable to chain fragmentation by NEM whilst the shorter chains are continuing to be generated from the fully IAM alkylated species.

This reaction is somewhat unexpected and the exact mechanism is unclear as it suggests that NEM is able to react with polysulfides by a mechanism other than nucleophilic addition. There are several potential models that could explain these observations<sup>143</sup>.

 Heterolytic cleavage; It is possible that preceding the reaction with NEM there is a heterolytic cleavage of the S-S bond in the fully IAM alkylated polysulfide adduct resulting in the formation of two alkylated polysulfur chains one with a positive charge and one with a negative charge. In a following second step NEM could react with the negatively charged IAM polysulfide to form the hybrid adduct (Scheme 20).





2) Homolytic cleavage; The IAM alkylated polysulfides may have a tendency to cleave homolytically resulting in the formation of IAM-S<sub>x</sub> radical species that could then add to the double bond of NEM. This is supported by the observation that the NEM adduct of  $S_2^$ is not stable at pH 7.4<sup>293</sup> suggesting that NEM and IAM derivatised polysulfide adducts are metastable with both NEM-S and IAM-S being good leaving groups (**Scheme 21**).



**Scheme 21:** Example of homolytic cleavage IAM alkylated polysulfide and subsequent reaction with NEM to form two mixed alkylated species.

 Hydrolysis; It is also possible that the alkylation by NEM is able to shift the hydrolysis of longer chain polysulfide equilibria towards shorter chain lengths. As well as producing shorter chain alkylated species it would also generate alkylated sulfenic acid (Scheme 22).



- **Scheme 22:** Example of hydrolysis induced IAM polysulfide fragmentation and subsequent reaction with NEM to form mixed alkylated species.
  - 4) Direct reaction; The alkylating agents could also potentially attack a midchain sulfur bond (Scheme 23), producing an IAM alkylated polysulfide anion (1) and a mixed NEM and IAM alkylated polysulfide species (2). The IAM alkylated polysulfide anion could react further with NEM producing another mixed derivatised species such as 2 or with H<sub>2</sub>O to produce an alkylated sulfenic acid. This potential model is supported by the fact that he longer chain (S<sub>4</sub> and S<sub>5</sub>) IAM alkylated polysulfides are more vulnerable to fragmentation after addition of NEM (Figure 25).



Scheme 23: Suggested direct reaction between IAM derivatised polysulfide and NEM resulting in fragmentation of the polysulfide chain and the formation of a mixed IAM and NEM alkylated species.

Tools and methods for the analysis of polysulfides have been available for some time<sup>133,149,283</sup> and will continue to be developed and refined as the importance of reactive sulfur species becomes better known. However many of these methods have serious caveats as has been demonstrated with alkylation-based methodology shown here. Whilst these methods are more than capable of detecting polysulfides, the measured speciation is likely not representative of the physiological

distribution. NEM based methodology is biased towards shorter chain polysulfides and may even miss the existence of longer polysulfide species when compared to IAM. However, IAM has a much slower reaction time so for the analysis of disulfides NEM will provide a benefit with the faster reaction time preventing artifactual oxidation compared to IAM. Monobromobimane (MBB) is another commonly used electrophile for the analysis of thiols and sulfide (section 1.4.3, **Scheme 8**). The use of MBB is often coupled with fluorescence detection<sup>112</sup>, but can also easily be detected using mass spectrometry. The effects of MBB on inorganic polysulfides have not yet been thoroughly investigated, but since IAM and NEM have differing effects on the polysulfide species measured and their distribution, MBB could also potentially cause other changes in the speciation of polysulfides. It has also been demonstrated that MBB has similar effects to NEM on protein cysteine polysulfides<sup>143</sup> and so will be less suited for analysis of longer polysulfide the discussed chemistries should be considered when applying these methods when analysing the chemical biology of polysulfides.

#### 4.4.4 UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Organic Persulfides and Polysulfides

Initially it was thought that the reaction of oxidised glutathione (GSSG) with sodium sulfide would produce glutathione persulfide and no other longer chain organic polysulfides, whilst the reaction with sodium trisulfide would produce longer chain polysulfides. The reasoning being that sulfide would only be able to add single sulfurs to the GSSG, producing the persulfide, whist the trisulfide which equilibrates in solution to form multiple different chain length polysulfides (see section 4.3.1) would be able to add multiple sulfurs therefore forming a mix of glutathione polysulfides. Unexpectedly however, the glutathione per- and polysulfide species generated by reaction of sodium sulfide and sodium trisulfide with GSSG show qualitatively the same distribution of species (**Figure 26**). These results have been confirmed by a separate group using both oxidised glutathione and cysteine<sup>143</sup>.

This has implications for the measurement of organic persulfides and polysulfides in biological samples. Since free sulfide will be present in the biological matrix per- and polysulfides could be artifactually generated during sample collection and handling by the same reaction employed here. Therefore, it will be important to ensure that sample collection and preparation is done in such a way that minimises the artifactual production of these species. This could potentially be done by keeping samples on ice as much as possible throughout processing to slow down the reaction producing organic polysulfides as well as by adding a rapidly reacting electrophile to trap the organic polysulfide species as quickly as possible after sample collection in order to block any reactive sulfane sulfurs.

However, as discussed in section 4.4.3, NEM causes fragmentation of polysulfide chains by reacting with the mid chain sulfurs. It should therefore be considered that whilst NEM is one of the fastest reacting electrophiles used in this context it will be able to fragment organic polysulfides as well and so will not be as suitable an electrophile for trapping the in-vivo status of organic polysulfides. IAM or other electrophiles may be more suitable for this kind of analysis, in that they will cause less fragmentation of the organic polysulfides, but slower rates of reaction would likely allow the artifactual generation of some organic polysulfide species. Further investigations into the alkylation of organic polysulfides using monobromobimane (MBB) and the IAM based electrophile  $\beta$ -(4-hydroxyphenyl)ethyl iodoacetamide (HPE-IAM) have been performed in conjunction to the work presented here. It was found that MBB has similar effects to NEM and when used it produces shorter polysulfide chains when compared to IAM, with its effectiveness sitting between NEM and HPE-IAM. HPE-IAM was not found to cause any significant fragmentation of the organic polysulfides with little effect on the observed speciation with concentration of HPE-IAM<sup>143</sup> but if the rate of reaction is comparable to IAM or slower, the measured species may still not be representative of the physiological distribution.

Generally, NEM is unsuited for the analysis of long chain organic polysulfides though analysis of organic persulfides could benefit from the faster reaction time of NEM though caution should be used to ensure NEM is not artifactually generating persulfides from polysulfides. Care must also be taken during sample collection, handling and processing to ensure artifactual production of organic polysulfides is kept to a minimum.

# 4.4.5 Investigation of Potential Polysulfide Formation by the Antioxidant Enzyme Superoxide Dismutase

IAM was chosen as the electrophile to trap the polysulfides as they were produced despite its limitations, such as its slower reaction time and potential to alter the speciation (section 4.4.3). NEM was not used, as the chain fragmentation caused by NEM would lead to a more inaccurate picture of the polysulfide species formed (section 4.4.3). The main aim of the experiment was to confirm the formation of inorganic polysulfides by SOD and IAM is suitable for this aim as polysulfides will only be measured using IAM derivatisation when they are indeed present (see **Figure 27, C** and **D**).

Na<sub>2</sub>S in ammonium phosphate buffer does not produce any significant polysulfides (**Figure 27**, **A** and **D**), whilst there is some persulfide present this does not significantly increase and is likely a contaminant in the sulfide stock. It is only in the presence of SOD that production of polysulfides from Na<sub>2</sub>S is observed (**Figure 27**, **A** and **C**). This confirms that SOD has biological activity involving

RSS as it is able to catalyse the oxidation of sulfide to polysulfides. The polysulfide formation occurs in a sequential fashion, first the persulfide is formed, then the trisulfide followed by tetrasulfide and finally pentasulfide (in the time monitored for these experiments, longer chains may be formed if allowed to react for longer than 180 min). The mechanism of formation of the polysulfides is unclear; one possibility is that SOD generates thiyl radicals (HS<sup>•</sup>) from sulfide, two of which could combine to form the initial persulfide, further thiyl radicals generated could then react with the sulfane sulfurs on persulfide (and other polysulfides) elongating the sulfur chain<sup>138</sup>. Alternatively, the longer polysulfide chains could be a result of normal polysulfide equilibration (see section 4.3.3), which would occur more over the longer reaction times, or possibly through the combination of shorter polysulfide chains, i.e.  $H_2S_2$  and  $H_2S_3$  forming  $H_2S_5$ .

The radical scavenger DMPO was used to investigate the potential mechanism by which SOD catalyses the formation of polysulfides from sulfide. If SOD catalyses one electron reduction of sulfide by formation of thiyl radicals (HS<sup>•</sup>), then by adding a radical scavenger any thiyl radicals formed would potentially be trapped by the DMPO, thereby preventing the formation of the initial persulfide and other polysulfides. However adding DMPO to the SOD and Na<sub>2</sub>S reaction mixture did not have any effect on the formation of persulfide (**Figure 28**, **B**). There are a number of potential explanations as to why DMPO had no effect; Persulfide formation may not occur through the formation of thiyl radicals but rather via two-electron oxidation of sulfide that could then combine with a second sulfide. The rate of reaction of the thiyl radicals with one another may exceed the rate of reaction of DMPO with the thiyl radicals, the rate of equilibration of polysulfide species has already been observed to be incredibly rapid and so the reaction of the thiyl radicals may well out compete the reaction with DMPO. Alternatively, if the production of persulfide occurs wholly in the catalytic site of SOD then DMPO may have limited access and not be able to scavenge the thiyl radical as it is formed.

What is clear about the mechanism of formation is that it requires the presence of oxygen to proceed. Under normoxic conditions SOD readily produces polysulfides with rapid formation of persulfide within 2 min (1 mM SOD + 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S). Under hypoxic conditions, there is no significant formation of any polysulfides observed using the same amounts of SOD and Na<sub>2</sub>S (**Figure 27**, **B**). The reaction is also SOD concentration dependant, with the initial rate of formation of persulfide increasing with SOD concentration. In fact, increasing SOD from 1  $\mu$ M to 5 and 10  $\mu$ M has such a large impact on the initial rapid rate formation of the persulfide that a large increase in the persulfide concentration is seen within the first 10 seconds of reaction, which is faster than the samples can be reasonably processed (**Figure 28**, **A**). On top of this initial rapid increase in persulfide, there is then a slower but steadier increase in persulfide concentration that is also SOD concentration dependant.

Overall, these experiments help confirm the hypothesis that antioxidant enzymes not only are involved in ROS metabolism but also have potentially important activities around RSS. However, these experiments show that the presence of oxygen is required for the metabolism of sulfide to polysulfides. If these enzymes did originate before the advent of oxygen in the atmosphere by SOD then alternate, and as of yet unidentified, electron acceptors would have been required for this metabolic activity. Indeed in further sets of experiments collaborating groups have shown that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> can also act as an electron acceptor in this metabolic activity<sup>138</sup>. In rat hepatocyte cytosol the Cu/ZnSOD concentration is equivalent to 42  $\mu$ M, and in human red blood cells it is equivalent to 75  $\mu$ M<sup>334,335</sup>. This is far greater in excess than the 1  $\mu$ M SOD used for the majority of the experiments and the lower threshold for polysulfide production by SOD was found to be  $\sim$ 0.3  $\mu$ M in another series of experiments<sup>138</sup>. The Na<sub>2</sub>S concentrations used in these experiments (1 mM) are far greater than are thought to exist freely in the cell which are <1  $\mu$ M. The initial concentrations of persulfide produced when compared to the starting concentration of Na<sub>2</sub>S are also relatively low. Several factors might account for these discrepancies. Firstly intracellular concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>S are expected to be considerably higher in the vicinity of their production<sup>336</sup>, but as of yet these levels have not been determined. It has also been proposed that whilst the free circulating and intracellular levels of H<sub>2</sub>S may be relatively low there likely exists readily available storage forms such as the inorganic, organic and protein bound polysulfides<sup>19,277</sup> that could rapidly produce more  $H_2S$  as it is consumed.  $H_2S$  is very volatile, as evidenced by the obvious odour upon dissolution. It is very likely that the actual concentration of sulfide in solution during the experiments is in fact lower than the initial 1 mM that was made up, and will be decreasing throughout the length of the experiment. Finally, it may also be possible that other sulfur moieties in addition to the polysulfides are produced but are not detected. In order to understand the full physiological relevance of H<sub>2</sub>S metabolism by SOD these issues will need to be examined and resolved.

# 4.5 Conclusion

The analysis of polysulfides using a combination of derivatisation with an electrophile, to stabilise the polysulfides, followed by separation and detection by UHPLC-MS/MS is possible but has significant limitations. NEM or IAM alkylated polysulfides are well separated by the chromatographic method, combined with the selective and sensitive mass spectrometry detection, the individual inorganic and organic polysulfide species are easily resolved providing a rapid and robust analytical method for these key species. However, there are significant caveats to the analysis of polysulfides that are not only relevant to the methodologies investigated here but to other analytical methods.

When different polysulfide salts were made up in solution, they all equilibrated to show the same speciation pattern without alkylation. Even with alkylation, the speciation patterns seen were not dependant on the starting polysulfide salt but more on the choice of electrophile and the reaction conditions used. All of this suggests that the alkylation of polysulfides occurs under Curtin-Hammett control as the rate of interconversion is much greater than the rate of reaction. This means that the ratio of products (the speciation) is not equal to the ratio of the precursors, but instead dependant on the rate of interconversion between the precursors in equilibrium. Additionally, the choice of alkylating agent has a larger impact on the measured polysulfide speciation than the pH and pK<sub>a</sub>s of the aqueous polysulfides. These factors present an issue for the quantification of polysulfides as without a standard that can be accurately made up quantification proves difficult. The best compromise to enable the better comparison of results between experiments was to alkylate a known molar amount of a pure polysulfide salt. The concentration of each of the species measured was then taken as a ratio of the individual peak area over the total peak area with the total peak area representing the initial molar concentration of the starting polysulfide salt. NEM was found to produce shorter polysulfide chains than IAM, as it is able to cause fragmentation of alkylated polysulfides. IAM would then be assumed to be a more suitable electrophile for this analysis but due to the much slower rate of reaction the polysulfide equilibrium is likely to change during derivatisation under Curtin-Hammett control. Both NEM and IAM will significantly alter the speciation of aqueous polysulfides and will not reflect the physiological distribution. Neither electrophile will generate polysulfides when only sulfide is present making both suitable for detecting the presence of polysulfides, but care must be taken when drawing conclusions based on the individual species measured as they likely will not be representative of the physiological distribution. In order to get a true picture of the physiological distribution of polysulfides using these methods then alternative electrophiles will need to be investigated to determine if there are any with a high enough rate of reaction without fragmenting longer polysulfide chains.

With these caveats in mind, the developed method was successfully applied to the detection of polysulfide species generated from sulfide by SOD. Not only was the previously unknown production of polysulfides by SOD confirmed but we also gave insight into how they are formed. My monitoring the specific species it was found that polysulfides are produced sequentially with higher chain lengths not being formed until the preceding polysulfide had been produced. With the limitations of IAM in mind, this provides further insight into potential mechanisms by which SOD catalyses polysulfide production. The production of per and polysulfides by SOD presents yet another area of crosstalk in the reactive species interactome<sup>36</sup>. Polysulfides are now well known as important signalling species, as well as potential stores for sulfide which is an important

gasotransmitter<sup>55,148,337</sup>. SOD shares this activity with another antioxidant enzyme, catalase<sup>137</sup> which also has metabolic activities around sulfur being able to oxidise sulfide using  $O_2$  or  $H_2O_2$ , or in the absence of oxygen regenerate sulfide from other sources. These enzymes could form an important regulatory loop that could potentially involve other antioxidant enzymes such as thioredoxin and peroxiredoxin. Further investigations into the potential activities of these enzymes with reactive sulfur species as well as identifying alternative electron acceptors other than oxygen will help provide further insight into the mechanisms by which the polysulfides are formed and even the evolution of these enzymes in an anoxic environment.

# Chapter 5: Kinetics of Thiol Derivatisation

# 5.1 Introduction

Further to my project hypothesis; Differences in the rates of reaction of alkylating agents commonly used for thiol and sulfide redox analysis may in part be responsible for differing reported results.

The rates of reaction of some commonly used alkylating agents are often referred to but not backed up by data. These assumptions can lead to inconsistencies in results and make comparisons of data collected using different methods more challenging.

Detailed kinetic analysis can give further insight into the rates of reaction of the commonly used alkylating agents NEM, IAM and MBB and further inform their use for thiol and sulfide redox analysis.

Alkylating agents such as *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM), iodoacetamide (IAM) and monobromobimane (MBB) have been extensively used for the analysis of thiols and sulfide<sup>112,317,324,338</sup>. Each alkylating agent has a different mechanism of reaction<sup>324</sup>, NEM reacts via Michael addition, IAM and MBB by a S<sub>N</sub>2 reaction<sup>107,325</sup> (**Scheme 24**). The differences in reaction mechanism will have a significant impact on how the reaction with thiols and sulfide proceeds, the rate of reaction, and can potentially have an effect on the measured results. As discussed in Chapter 4:, there are significant differences in the observed speciation of inorganic polysulfides when using either NEM or IAM to alkylate them before analysis<sup>143</sup>. This could be affected by the difference in reaction mechanism causing less chain fragmentation with IAM, or could be due to a slower rate of reaction mechanism the polysulfides longer to equilibrate before the reactive end sulfurs are alkylated.

The rate of reaction of an alkylating agent with reduced thiols and sulfide is an important factor to consider in sulfur related redox analysis. Sulfide and its metabolite methanethiol are both highly volatile and the longer the collected sample is left without alkylation the lower the measured concentrations will be. If the alkylation reaction itself is slow, it will also result in lower concentrations being measured even if the alkylating agent is added soon after sample collection. Likewise, where the concentration of reduced glutathione (GSH) can be up to 100x greater than oxidised glutathione (GSSG) in plasma the longer the GSH is left un-alkylated the greater the artifactual oxidation skewing the GSH/GSSG redox ratio. There are also many other biological process that can still occur even after collection and separation of blood and other biological samples. Glutathione reductase, for example, can still function after separation of the plasma

until the GSH has all been alkylated. Therefore, in order to preserve the most accurate picture of the physiological redox ratios and cycle it is best to use an alkylating agent with a raid rate of reaction to avoid these potential issues.





Despite their widespread use, there is limited information on the reaction rates of these alkylating agents. It is widely accepted that NEM has a very rapid rate of reaction, whilst IAM and MBB have a slower rate of reaction. Nevertheless, this is hardly ever backed up by data and is simply taken as a fact. It is important to understand how much slower than NEM that IAM and MBB react with thiols and sulfide. Different thiols will also have different rates of reaction with an alkylating agent, and especially sulfide as it reacts with the nucleophiles with a 1:2 ratio. To this end, studies were undertaken investigating the rates of reaction of the three different alkylating agents using the three major reduced thiols glutathione, cysteine and homocysteine as well as sulfide and its related metabolite methanethiol (MT). MT was used as an analogue to sulfide that reacts with the nucleophiles with a 1:1 molar ratio to examine whether this had a major effect on the reaction rate.

It was found that generally, the reaction rates of NEM, IAM and MBB are largely as reported in the literature, NEM reacts rapidly and both IAM and MBB react much slower. However, the
magnitude of the differences between the different alkylating agents was unexpected. Additionally, whilst NEM reacted rapidly with reduced thiols taking around 30 seconds to complete, the reaction with sulfide took up to twenty times longer to complete. Both IAM and MBB took hours to react completely with differing individual rates with the tested reduced thiols and sulfide. This raises questions about the suitability of both for the analysis of reduced thiols and sulfide as the slow rate of reaction could lead to changes in the physiological distribution of these species before the reactive sulfurs can be fully blocked.

#### 5.1.1 *N*-ethylmaleimide

NEM has a long history of use for the analysis of both thiols and sulfide<sup>279,317,339</sup>. NEM has numerous advantages, it both rapidly reacts with sulfhydryl groups and is relatively stable at physiological pH, can freely pass through cell membranes and alkylate cellular thiols and sulfide without the need for lysis<sup>293,313</sup>. Alkylation with NEM is also beneficial for the analysis of thiols and sulfide either by enhancing the ionisation of the alkylated molecules for analysis by mass spectrometry or through the formation of fluorescent products that can be easily monitored. Whilst it is known to react rapidly, this has not been studied in depth. The rate of reaction is unlikely to be the same for all of the thiols and especially with sulfide since it reacts with a molar ratio of 1:2 (sulfide:NEM) as opposed to reduced thiols which react with a 1:1 ratio (**Scheme 10**). Despite this, the potential difference in rates of reaction with the different species is currently neglected.

#### 5.1.2 Iodoacetamide

Iodoacetamide is less widely used than NEM and MBB for the analysis of reduced thiols and sulfide. It neither improves the ionisation of the thiols it reacts with for analysis my mass spectrometry nor forms a fluorescent product. Another disadvantage is that alkylation with IAM results in less of an improvement in the retention of reduced thiols when using reversed phase chromatography when compared to NEM (section 4.3). IAM does have an advantage when analysing inorganic and organic polysulfides as it causes less chain fragmentation than NEM and MBB (section 4.3)<sup>143</sup>. Like NEM IAM is able to pass easily through cell membranes enabling the alkylation of cellular target molecules without the need for lysis.

The rate of reaction of IAM with both reduced thiols and sulfide is known to be slower than that of NEM. Similarly to NEM, potential differences in the rate of reaction with different thiols, and sulfide especially, are not considered. As IAM reacts slower it is likely that any differences in rates of reaction will be more pronounced than with the NEM, though due to the different mechanism

of reaction these potential differences may not be the same as with NEM. IAM is not as well suited as NEM for the alkylation at physiological pH, requiring at least a pH of 8 in order to react effectively<sup>118</sup>. This could factor into the rates of reaction for redox analysis as it is desirable to keep the pH at physiological levels in order to avoid perturbing the redox ratios.

#### 5.1.3 Monobromobimane

Like NEM, MBB is widely used for the alkylation of both reduced thiols and sulfide<sup>17,112,113</sup>. MBB has many of the same advantages as NEM with the alkylation reaction taking place at physiological pH as well as being cell membrane permeable<sup>340</sup>. One advantage for the analysis of sulfide is that the double nucleophilic substitution reaction product, the sulfur dibimane (**Scheme 8**), is highly fluorescent. Whilst MBB will also react with reduced thiols the single nucleophilic substitution reaction products are not fluorescent allowing the sulfide to be easily determined in biological samples without the need for intensive sample preparation or complex detection methods<sup>18</sup>.

The reaction time of MBB is known to be slower than NEM and has been noted to be in the order of hours when used for the detection of very low concentrations of sulfide<sup>18</sup>. Other methods however use shorter reaction times from ten minutes up to one hour<sup>294</sup>. This raises the question; what are the reaction times of MBB with different reduced thiol and sulfur species and how might this affect their analysis?

# 5.2 Methods

Unless otherwise stated all reagents and materials were of the highest purity available and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Gillingham, UK or Munich, Germany). HPLC-grade solvents were from Fisher Scientific (UK).

All measurements were carried out using an Agilent Cary 60 UV-vis spectrophotometer, data processing was performed using Cary WinUV software. Quartz cuvettes were used and all experiments were carried out using 10 mM pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer. Before each analysis, the spectrophotometer was zeroed against an ammonium phosphate buffer blank to account for background absorbance. The reaction temperature was set to  $25 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$ C using a thermostat controlled circulating water bath and the solutions were mixed with a magnetic stirrer. NEM was monitored using a wavelength of 302 nm, IAM with 280 nm and MBB was monitored by scanning from 200 to 500 nm. For MBB the absorbance decrease at the MBB absorbance peak (400 nm) was minimal due to the product peak being close in wavelength (**Figure 31, A**). In order to get a larger decrease in absorbance to obtain clearer kinetics data the

difference spectrum was calculated by  $Ab_D = Ab_n - Ab_1$  where  $Ab_D =$  the "difference" absorbance,  $Ab_1 =$  the initial absorbance in the first scan and  $Ab_n =$  the following scans. In the difference scan the largest decrease in absorbance is seen at a wavelength of 250 nm which was then used for subsequent kinetics graphs and calculations.

Stock solutions of each electrophile were prepared using the same 10 mM pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer, NEM and IAM both were made up to a concentration of 100 mM and MBB to 10 mM. A lower concentration of MBB was used, due to its higher absorbance, in order to keep the starting absorbance in the same general level as NEM and MBB. Solutions of each thiol were prepared by accurately weighing out the dry powder and dissolving in ammonium phosphate buffer apart from methanethiol (MT) and sulfide, which were dissolved using ultra-pure water. The reactions were performed for NEM and IAM by adding 20  $\mu$ l of the stock electrophile to 1960  $\mu$ l ammonium phosphate buffer in the cuvette giving a final concentration of 1 mM, and allowed to equilibrate in the spectrophotometer at 25°C. A lid was used on the cuvette for MT and sulfide to minimise losses through evaporation. The absorbance measurement was then started, and after 30 seconds 20 µl of either 100 mM of GSH, Cys, Hcys or methanethiol was added or 10 µl of 100 mM NaS giving final concentrations of 1 mM and 0.5 mM respectively. The experiments using MBB were performed following the same overall procedure, using 10 mM stock solutions for all of the reactants. In the same manner as for NEM and IAM 30  $\mu$ l of MBB was added to 1940  $\mu$ l of ammonium phosphate buffer, which was allowed to equilibrate at 25°C before either 30  $\mu$ l of 10 mM GSH, Cys, Hcys or MT was added or 15  $\mu$ l of 10 mM NaS. The reactions were monitored until beyond completion. All of the NEM reactions were repeated five times, for IAM and MBB the GSH, Cys, Hcys and sulfide reactions were repeated five times, the MT reactions however were only repeated twice due to the long reaction times.

Data analysis was performed using Microsoft Excel, the reaction order was determined by a mathematical fit of the data using either In[Abs] (1<sup>st</sup> order) or 1/[Abs] (2<sup>nd</sup> order). The fit that gives a linear plot determines the order of reaction. The rate constant was determined from the slope of the trendline and averaged over the number of repeats performed.

# 5.3 Results

### 5.3.1 *N*-ethylmaleimide



Figure 29: Rates of reaction of NEM with example reduced thiols and sulfide. A) GSH with a 1:1 molar ratio, B) Cys with a 1:1 molar ratio, C) Hcys with a 1:1 molar ratio, D)
Methanethiol with a 1:1 molar ratio and E) sulfide with a 2:1 molar ratio (NEM:sulfide). The reaction of NEM with reduced thiols proceeds with second order reaction kinetics whilst sulfide reacts with first order kinetics.

At physiological pH the rate of reaction of NEM with the three reduced thiols tested, GSH, Cys and Hcys are all very rapid (**Figure 29, A, B and C**). At a 1:1 molar ratio, the reactions are all complete within 30 seconds of addition of NEM. The rate of reaction with sulfide however is much slower in comparison to the reduced thiols. At a 2:1 molar ratio (NEM:sulfide) it takes at least 10 minutes for the reaction to complete (**Figure 29, E**). There does appear to be a slight difference in the rates of reactions between the three reduced thiols tested with Hcys taking slightly longer to complete than GSH and Cys. However, due to the short reaction times these differences are difficult to discriminate with accuracy. Based on the mathematical fits of the data, NEM reacts with the reduced thiols, including methanethiol with second order kinetics. GSH reacts with a rate constant of  $182 \pm 3 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ . However, NEM seemingly reacts with sulfide in a first order reaction with a rate constant of  $0.551 \pm 0.13 \text{ min}^{-1}$ .

For both methanethiol and sulfide, the measured absorbance does not drop to close to zero, as with the reduced thiols (**Figure 29**), despite the molar ratios used in the reactions meaning that all of the NEM should react. This is likely due to an incomplete reaction occurring due the loss of sulfide, because of its high volatility, leading to a decreased molar amount of sulfide being available to react with the NEM.

#### 5.3.2 Iodoacetamide

IAM has a much slower rate of reaction than NEM with all of the reduced thiols tested including methanethiol, and sulfide. For GSH and Cys the equimolar reaction takes at least 150 min to complete, with Hcys taking up to 300 min (**Figure 30, A, B and C**). Based on the mathematical fits of the data, IAM reacts with all of the reduced thiols and sulfide with apparent second order kinetics. The differences in the rates of reaction of the three reduced thiols are much more obvious than with NEM, due to the longer reaction times, and follow the same order; IAM reacts with Cys the fastest followed by GSH and then Hcys. Unlike with NEM sulfide does not take longer to react than the reduced thiols. In fact, the reaction of sulfide with IAM completes in under 150 min, which is quicker than for Hcys (**Figure 30, E**). Methanethiol on the other hand appears to take much longer to react with the complete reaction taking up to 600 min (**Figure 30, D**). GSH reacts with a rate constant of  $0.187 \pm 0.008 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ , Cys with  $0.202 \pm 0.012 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ , Hcys with  $0.101 \pm 0.004 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ .

Even when completely reacted there is still some absorbance at 280 nm due to the acteamidethiol adduct having some absorbance at this wavelength. For both sulfide and methanethiol, the

absorbance does not drop as low upon completion as with the reduced thiols. This is likely due to the volatility of sulfide and methanethiol resulting in a large loss before they can react, leaving unreacted IAM in the solution.



Figure 30: Rates of reaction of IAM with example reduced thiols and sulfide. A) GSH with a 1:1 molar ratio, B) Cys with a 1:1 molar ratio, C) Hcys with a 1:1 molar ratio, D)
 Methanethiol with a 1:1 molar ratio and E) sulfide with a 2:1 molar ratio (IAM:sulfide). The reaction of IAM with reduced thiols and sulfide proceeds with first order reaction kinetics.

#### 5.3.3 Monobromobimane

MBB has a similar rate of reaction as IAM, with a complete reaction taking hours rather than minutes for NEM. The absorbance of MBB (400 nm) does not drop by as much as NEM or IAM making following the reaction more difficult. Following the reaction by scanning between a wavelength of 200-500 nm allows the area of maximal decrease in absorption to be observed (**Figure 31**, **A**). In order to make this decrease clearer the difference spectrum is calculated from the initial scan absorbance minus the absorbance of each successive scan (**Figure 31**, **B**). The reaction of MBB with the thiols and sulfide was therefore followed using a wavelength of 250 nm in the difference spectrum to give the maximum decrease and make the reaction easier to follow.

With the reduced thiols, MBB follows a different pattern in rate of reaction to NEM and IAM (**Figure 32**). Cys is still the fastest reacting reduced thiol with a complete reaction taking less than an hour. Hcys is the next fastest taking less than three hours for a complete reaction followed by GSH, which takes over three hours to complete. MT is even slower to react, and after six hours, the reaction had still not completed. As with IAM, sulfide reacted faster than both Hcys and GSH with the reaction finishing in around two hours. Based on the mathematical fits of the data, all of the reactions of MBB with reduced thiols and sulfide take place with apparent second order reaction kinetics. GSH reacts with a rate constant of  $0.179 \pm 0.02 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ , Cys with  $0.307 \pm 0.051 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ , Hcys with  $0.092 \pm 0.006 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ , MT with  $0.023 \pm 0.008 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$  and sulfide with a rate constant of  $0.188 \pm 0.052 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ .

As with NEM and particularly, IAM with sulfide and methanethiol, the absorbance does not drop as low upon completion as with the reduced thiols. This is likely due to the volatility of sulfide and methanethiol resulting in a large loss before they can react, leaving unreacted IAM in the solution.

Chapter 5



Figure 31: Scanning measurements of MBB + Cys (1:1 molar ratio) over 60 min as an example for the method used to follow MBB reaction kinetics as discussed in section 5.3.3. A) Full scan over 200-500 nm, note that at the maximal absorption of MBB at 400 nm there is not much decrease as it reacts with Cys. The absorption maxima in fact appears to shift to a lower wavelength instead. B) The difference spectrum of the data shown in A) taken as each successive scan minus the initial scan. The largest difference between the first and last scans is seen at 250 nm, therefore the change in absorbance is monitored by using the difference spectrum at this wavelength.



Figure 32: Rates of reaction of MBB with example reduced thiols and sulfide. A) GSH with a 1:1 molar ratio, B) Cys with a 1:1 molar ratio, C) Hcys with a 1:1 molar ratio, D)
Methanethiol with a 1:1 molar ratio and E) sulfide with a 2:1 molar ratio (MBB:sulfide). The reaction of MBB with reduced thiols and sulfide proceeds with first order reaction kinetics.

# 5.4 Discussion

## 5.4.1 *N*-ethylmaleimide

As was expected, the rate of reaction of NEM with reduced thiols was rapid with GSH, Cys and Hcys all reacting fully within 30 seconds. All of the reduced thiols, including methanethiol react with apparent second order reaction kinetics where the rate of reaction depends on the concentration of both reactants. There does appear to be slight differences in the rates of

reaction with each of the thiols, with Cys (k =  $192 \pm 16 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) being the quickest followed by GSH (k =  $182 \pm 3 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) and Hcys (k =  $105 \pm 3 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ). These differences were consistent throughout the repeats of the experiment, but due to the rapid reaction time the differences are only very small.

It was surprising to find that the rate of reaction of NEM with sulfide is much slower than with the thiols with a complete reaction taking almost 10 minutes (k =  $0.551 \pm 0.13 \text{ min}^{-1}$ ). There are three major differences between the two sets of reactions. Sulfide is much smaller than any other of the reduced thiols, and does not have any functional groups that might modify the reaction speed, though MT only has a methyl group. Based on the mathematical fit of the data, NEM and sulfide appear to react with first order reaction kinetics where the rate of reaction is more dependent on the concentration of one of the reactants rather than both. This could be explained by the fact that each sulfide reacts with two NEMs (unlike the reduced thiols) with each addition potentially having different reaction kinetics. It is unlikely that the addition of two NEMs occurs simultaneously but rather sequentially. The addition of the first NEM adduct to the sulfide not only increases the size of the molecule significantly potentially causing steric effects but could also significantly affect the availability of the electron lone pair and therefore alter the kinetics of the second reaction. It also has to be considered that due to the volatility of sulfide even when accurately weighed out and made up in solution there will inevitably be some loss of sulfide due to the lid only loosely fitting before the reaction with NEM can complete. This explains why the UV absorbance does not drop to close to zero as with the thiols but should not decrease the rate of reaction from under 30 seconds to almost ten minutes.

Methanethiol was used as an analogue for sulfide with only one reactive site to investigate whether the addition of the second NEM adduct was the reason for the much slower rate of reaction. The rate of reaction of MT with NEM occurs at a similar rate as the other reduced thiols, completing in under 30 seconds (k =  $110 \pm 4 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ). Although like the sulfide the UV absorbance does not drop to as close to zero as with the reduced thiols as MT is also very volatile and will rapidly evaporate after the dissolution of the dry salt. As with the sulfide some loss through evaporation of methane thiol can be observed by the relatively high baseline absorbance after the reaction has completed. This will likely have affected the rate of reaction as when the methanethiol is lost the molar ratio will be skewed. As with the reduced thiols, MT reacts with second order kinetics versus the apparent first order reaction of sulfide with NEM. The rapid rate of reaction supports the theory that the second addition of a NEM adduct is the slow step of the reaction between sulfide and NEM and the cause of the slower rate of reaction. Since the reaction kinetics appear to be first order and it is the absorbance (therefore concentration) of NEM being measured this would suggest that it is the concentration of NEM that the rate of reaction is

depending on, not the sulfide which supports the conclusion that it is the addition of the second NEM slowing the rate of reaction. This however will require further investigations in order to confirm. The exact mechanism behind the difference in rate of the first and second addition is still unknown, whether it is a steric or kinetic effect or otherwise. It is possible that the addition of one NEM adduct to the sulfide affects the electron density, reducing the reactivity of the remaining lone pair on the sulfur and therefore slowing the second NEM addition but further investigation would be required to test this.

The order of reactivity of Cys, GSH and Hcys with NEM follows the inverse of their pKa, with Cys having the lowest pKa (8.22)<sup>341</sup>, followed by GSH (9.42)<sup>341</sup> and then Hcys (9.99)<sup>342</sup>. Whilst a lower pKa can correspond with a lower nucleophilicity, the lower the pKa, the more available the thiolate will be at physiological pH and therefore more readily available to react with the electrophile<sup>343,344</sup>. The availability of the thiolate however is not the only factor than can influence thiol reactivity, steric factors can also have a significant impact on the reactivity<sup>344</sup>. This could explain why MT, despite having a higher pKa (10.33)<sup>345</sup> and so less thiolate availability, reacts faster than Hcys as the methyl group will offer less steric hindrance. Sulfide also does not follow the same pattern with the pKa, sulfide has a pKa<sub>1</sub> of  $\sim$ 7.02 and a pKa<sub>2</sub> of  $\sim$ 15, the pKa of sulfide however if difficult to determine, particularly the pKa<sub>2</sub> and the values reported vary significantly<sup>18,346</sup>. Nevertheless, at physiological pH there will be very little S<sup>2-</sup> present in solution. If the first reaction step follows the same pattern as Cys, GSH and Hcys the it will be faster due to the lower pKa<sub>1</sub> and the higher availability of HS<sup>-</sup> with very little steric effects. However, the complete reaction will also depend on the reactivity of the electrophile-sulfide adduct (RS<sup>-</sup>) for the second step of the reaction as determined by the availability of the thiolate (pKa) and its steric properties. These properties of the initial electrophile-sulfide adduct are unknown and would likely be difficult to determine accurately.

#### 5.4.2 Iodoacetamide

As anticipated, IAM is slower reacting with reduced thiols and sulfide than NEM; it was, however, considerably slower than anticipated. Cys reacts the fastest ( $0.202 \pm 0.012 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) followed by GSH ( $0.187 \pm 0.008 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) then Hcys ( $0.101 \pm 0.004 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ), which is almost twice as slow; this follows the slight differences in reaction rate with NEM but is seen more clearly due to the slower reaction times. What differed was the rate of reaction of IAM with sulfide was in fact faster or equal to (k =  $0.185 \pm 0.003 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) Hcys and GSH, compared to the increased reaction time of NEM with sulfide versus the reduced thiols. This difference between IAM and NEM is most likely due to the different mechanisms of reaction, with the second addition of IAM to sulfide not taking significantly slower than the first addition. The rate of reaction with methanethiol on the

other hand was slower (k =  $0.116 \pm 0.011 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) than with sulfide. This may be due to the high volatility of methanethiol resulting in a large loss before it can react, as evidenced by a strong odour before addition of the electrophile. As with the NEM this results in a change in the molar ratios but to a larger extent due to the longer reaction times. This can be seen by the absorbance at 280 nm remaining high and not dropping to the same level as with the reduced thiols after the reaction has completed showing that unreacted IAM remains in the solution. The same effect can be observed with the sulfide but to a lesser extent. Additionally, all of the reduced thiols and sulfide react with second order kinetics. This differs from NEM, which reacted with second order kinetics for the reduced thiols, but not for sulfide. This may explain why with IAM no large increase is observed in reaction time for sulfide compared to the reduced thiols as there was for NEM as there is no apparent difference in reaction order.

The relatively slow rate of reaction of IAM is a concern for the analysis of thiols and volatile sulfur compounds in biological samples. The longer the reaction takes the more reactive compounds such as reduced thiols will oxidise and remain unprotected from enzymatic breakdown and other mechanisms of loss. Of particular concern are the volatile sulfur compounds such as methanethiol and sulfide. In the time it takes for a complete reaction there will have been significant losses due to evaporation which will give an inaccurate picture of the true levels of these compounds. The differences observed in measured polysulfide speciation between NEM and IAM in Chapter 4: may in part be explained by the slower rate of reaction allowing the polysulfides more time to rearrange before the reactive end sulfurs are alkylated but this will require further investigation.

The order of reactivity of Cys, GSH and Hcys with IAM follows the same pattern as with NEM and is the inverse of their pKa, with Cys having the lowest pKa  $(8.22)^{341}$ , followed by GSH  $(9.42)^{341}$  and then Hcys  $(9.99)^{342}$ . MT also followed the same pattern as it was faster than Hcys but slower than both Cys and GSH. This is again potentially due to lower steric hindrance from the methyl group compared to Hcys having a greater impact on reaction rate than the availability of the thiolate ion. Whilst sulfide is not the slowest reacting thiol with IAM as it is with NEM, it is still slower than Cys, which does not follow the inverse pattern with the pKa values. Since sulfide both has a low pKa<sub>1</sub> (~7.02<sup>18,346</sup>) and low potential steric hindrance compared to the other thiols the overall rate of reaction will, as with NEM, be determined by the second step of the reaction as well. It is possible that the acetamide-sulfide adduct has lower steric hindrance than the NEM-sulfide adduct and this may potentially explain why the rate of reaction is relatively quick compared to the other IAM thiol reactions in contrast to NEM.

#### 5.4.3 Monobromobimane

Alkylation with monobromobimane is considered one of the gold standard methods for the determination of sulfide in biological samples<sup>113,277,347</sup> as well as other sulfur containing species, such as thiols<sup>325,340 thiols</sup>. Whilst it is known that the rate of reaction is slower than that of NEM it was somewhat surprising how much slower it really is. The measured absorbance levels are generally higher (**Figure 32**) than with IAM (**Figure 30**) and NEM (**Figure 29**) as the main absorbance peak for MBB is seen to shift to the left as it reacts, resulting in a smaller drop in absorbance (**Figure 31, A**). To give a much greater drop in absorbance in order to better visualise the reaction rates, the difference spectrum was calculated and the absorbance monitored at 250 nm as this gave the largest overall decrease (**Figure 31, B**).

The rate of reaction of MBB with the reduced thiols is closer to that of IAM than NEM, with a complete reaction being on the scale of hours rather than minutes. Likewise, both IAM and MBB react with sulfide with second order kinetics whilst NEM appears to react with first order kinetics. Like NEM and IAM, with reduced thiols MBB reacts with Cys the fastest ( $k = 0.307 \pm$  $0.051 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) followed by GSH (k =  $0.179 \pm 0.02 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1}$ ) and then Hcys (k =  $0.092 \pm$ 0.006 M<sup>-1</sup>min<sup>-1</sup>). The relative reaction rates of MBB with Cys and GSH also differ; there is a much greater difference between the two for MBB compared to IAM. As with NEM and IAM, the reactions of MBB with sulfide and methanethiol complete with a higher final absorbance than with the reduced thiols, despite exact molar ratios of reactants being used. This is likely due to the high volatility of both sulfide and methanethiol, coupled with the long reaction times, which results in significant amounts being lost by evaporation from the solution before complete reaction. This loss will have an effect on the rate of reaction as it is reducing the concentration of one reactant but not the other, changing the molar ratio. Overall, this change in reaction rate is not a major concern as MBB is clearly an unsuitable electrophile for the trapping of volatile compounds due to the slow rate of reaction. In order to avoid these losses a closed reaction vial would be required with minimal headspace which may complicate sample preparation. It does raise questions over the widespread use of MBB for the analysis of sulfide, are the lower sulfide concentrations reported when using MBB due to the slower reaction rate leading to losses in the sample. The slow rate of reaction is more of a concern for the reduced thiols as in biological samples they will be lost due to oxidation, enzymatic activity and other biological processes before all of the reduced thiols can be alkylated and stabilised.

The order of reactivity of Cys, GSH and Hcys with MBB follows the same pattern as with NEM and IAM, being the inverse of the order of pKa values, with Cys having the lowest pKa (8.22)<sup>341</sup>, followed by GSH (9.42)<sup>341</sup> and then Hcys (9.99)<sup>342</sup>. Unlike NEM and IAM, MT is the slowest reacting

thiol which follows the inverse pattern with the pKa values (MT = 10.33)<sup>345</sup>. With MBB, it is possible that steric effects have less of an impact resulting in the pKa having more of an impact on the rate of reaction for MT. The rate of reaction with sulfide follows the same pattern as with IAM. As with NEM and IAM it is hard to make a judgement on how the availability of thiolate ions and steric effects will impact the rate of reaction as the overall rate will depend on both the first and second steps and the pKa values of the electrophile-sulfide adducts are unknown.

# 5.5 Conclusion

Many methods utilising NEM for the alkylation of reduced thiols take the rate of reaction of NEM as being very rapid and running to completion within five minutes<sup>120,279,317,348</sup>. This matches with our findings here, and is in fact even quicker than anticipated with the reactions of GSH, Cys and Hcys all completing within 30 seconds at a 1:1 molar ratio at 25°C. With an excess of NEM the reduced thiols should be completely alkylated even faster as with second order kinetics doubling the concentration of one of the reactants will double the rate of reaction. What came as a surprise is the difference in reaction times between the reduced thiols and sulfide. On further investigation, this difference in rate of reaction has been mentioned in the literature<sup>122,349</sup> but is often overlooked and not explored in detail.

When used to alkylate biological samples NEM, IAM and MBB are all used in molar excess since the total levels of all reactive species cannot be known in advance. Since the levels of reactive species (including non-target compounds) will vary from sample to sample, the molar ratio of electrophile to the reactive species will vary between samples. For IAM and MBB the slow rates of reaction will mean that from sample to sample there may be significant differences in the time it takes for all of the compounds of interest to alkylate fully. This will also be true for NEM but as the rate of reaction is much faster the absolute differences will be smaller and therefore of less consequence. With MBB and IAM this could mean that differences observed between samples may not be just due to differing endogenous levels but also due to the slow rate of reaction resulting in higher losses in some samples.

Due to the high volatility of sulfide and methanethiol, an electrophile with a high rate of reaction is required to avoid large losses through evaporation. The high volatility can be seen by the higher baseline absorbances after the alkylation reactions have completed than with the reduced thiols. As the reaction is started with exact molar ratios this shows that sulfide or methanethiol must have been lost leaving unreacted electrophile in solution. Out of the three electrophiles tested only NEM has a sufficient rate of reaction to avoid most of these losses. Both IAM and MBB react slowly and therefore may not provide an accurate picture of the concentration of volatile species

in solution, any data on volatile species collected using these electrophiles should be considered with this in mind. However, the slower rate of reaction of NEM with sulfide is still of concern for the same reasons. NEM is still faster than IAM and MBB and with a larger molar excess the rate of reaction should be sufficient to trap the majority of the free sulfide before it is lost through evaporation or oxidation. In Chapter 4: significant differences are observed in the measured polysulfide species when using either NEM or IAM to alkylate them. This was found to be in part due to the ability of NEM to attack the mid chain sulfurs and fragment the chains, but could also be due to the differences in reaction rate. As IAM reacts much slower than NEM the polysulfides, which exist in an equilibrium between different chain lengths in solution, will have longer to rearrange before all of the reactive end sulfurs are alkylated. This could lead to higher chain length polysulfides being generated during the reaction.

These experiments support the use of NEM to alkylate reduced thiols and sulfide over slower reacting alternatives. Questions are raised about the suitability of both IAM and MBB for sulfur related redox analysis as the much longer reaction times required compared to NEM could have significant impact on the species measured. In particular, care needs to be taken with sulfide as it cannot be assumed to react in the same manner as the reduced thiols, as well as other volatile sulfur compounds, which are not well suited for analysis using slower reacting alkylating agents. IAM was chosen as a more suitable alkylating agent for inorganic polysulfides in Chapter 4: due less chain fragmentation being observed. Following these experiments, it is clear that this could also partly be due to the much slower reaction time, leading to artificial shifts in apparent sulfur chain lengths due to incomplete alkylation of both chain ends; this possibility requires further investigation. HPE-IAM ( $\beta$ -(4-hydroxyphenyl)ethyl iodoacetamide) has been used as an alternative electrophile for the analysis of polysulfides with longer chain lengths observed compared to IAM<sup>143,322</sup>, the rate of reaction of HPE-IAM compared to IAM has not been investigated in detail but should be considered as a possible factor for these observations.

# Chapter 6: Ascorbate Redox Analysis

# 6.1 Introduction

Further to my project hypothesis; An imbalance in the ascorbate redox cycle is indicative of further imbalance in the sulfur redox metabolome as well as being associated with unfavourable outcomes in diseases associated with oxidative stress.

Intake of ascorbic acid occurs entirely through the diet. Ascorbate metabolism is closely linked to sulfur metabolism through the crosstalk between ascorbic acid and glutathione as well as the interaction of sulfate with ascorbic acid forming the metabolite ascorbic acid-2-sulfate.

By measuring the three key metabolites, ascorbic acid, dehydroascorbic acid, and ascorbic acid-2sulfate further insight into the hierarchy of the redox metabolite and specific roles of ascorbate can be gained.

Ascorbic acid (Asc) and its oxidised form dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) are an important redox regulatory couple (Scheme 25) with links to the glutathione redox system<sup>65,154,169</sup>. Asc is an important dietary antioxidant that cannot be synthesised by humans. It is one of the most widely used vitamin/antioxidant supplement taken worldwide on top of being used as an antioxidant in cosmetics and the food industry<sup>159</sup>. Since DHA is the oxidised form of Asc is not as effective an antioxidant, but it does have some distinct protective properties of its own (see section 1.6.2 for details). DHA is also strongly associated with diabetes<sup>173,174</sup>. DHA is readily recycled back to Asc, forming an important pathway for the maintenance of cellular Asc<sup>165,166</sup>. If DHA is not recycled back to Asc then it can irreversibly oxidise to diketogulonic acid (DKGA)<sup>172</sup> (Scheme 25) leading to the loss of Asc which can only be regained through the diet. The regeneration of Asc from DHA and the interaction with glutathione makes a point of crosstalk between the ascorbate and sulfur related redox regulation pathways. Ascorbic acid-2-sulfate (AAS) forms a different point of crosstalk between these two metabolomes as it can be formed by the interaction of Asc with sulfate, a metabolic product of H<sub>2</sub>S<sup>155</sup> (see section 1.3.2 for details). AAS has been detected in human plasma and is rapidly filtered from the blood by the kidneys and excreted in urine<sup>176</sup> but not much is known about its biological functions in humans (see section 1.6.3 for details). These points of crosstalk once again illustrate that the different redox cycles cannot be considered as discreet separate mechanisms but must be taken as part of the wider interlinked redox interactome<sup>36</sup>.



Scheme 25: The ascorbate redox pathway: The redox pair ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) with the sulfated metabolite of Asc, ascorbic acid-2sulfate (AAS). The degradation pathway of dehydroascorbic acid to diketogulonic acid can account for loss of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid from this redox system. Crucially the oxidation of ascorbic acid is reversible but the degradation of dehydroascrobic acid to diketogulonic acid is irreversible.

The analysis of this key redox system is important to both improve our understanding of redox biology as well as for the monitoring of the many products and supplements that make use of Asc and DHA. Most analytical methods focus on Asc, but this does not show the complete picture of redox status linked to the Asc/DHA pair. Additionally DHA has its own distinct biological activities and should not be ignored. Ascrobic acid-2-sulfate (AAS) is a metabolite of Asc found in humans with not much known about its biological activities. The elucidation of AAS's potential activities is important to build on previous literature. Making use of more powerful modern methodologies will hopefully provide further insight into this little known metabolite in humans.

To this end I undertook a feasibility study to determine if either supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC) or ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC) coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) would be suitable for the simultaneous analysis of these three important metabolites. The stability of Asc and DHA in plasma samples during storage and analysis was also investigated to ensure that with the proper collection, handling and storage procedures the sample analysis would provide the best possible picture of circulatory ascorbate redox status and would be applicable to high throughput analysis.

Initially the SFC based method showed good promise for the separation and simultaneous analysis of Asc and DHA. However a suitable compromise between Asc peak shape and ion suppression of DHA by the mobile phase was not reached. The focus of the chromatographic development was then shifted to UHPLC. Whilst the separation was not as good as with the SFC it was still suitable for our needs. Asc and DHA suffer from significant stability issues which presents a significant challenge for the sample collection processing and storage. It was found that none of the commonly used methods for stabilising Asc and DHA worked adequately to enable high throughput analysis of the Asc/DHA redox couple and requires further investigation. AAS is much more stable than both Asc and DHA but is only present in low levels in human plasma making quantification challenging. It is likely that the analysis of AAS will be better suited to urine and other sample types than plasma. Unfortunately, the time and resources remaining were insufficient to further address this topic and further work remains to understand and resolve the issue of sample stability.

#### 6.1.1 Supercritical Fluid Chromatography

Supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC) is a separation technique that utilises a supercritical fluid, typically CO<sub>2</sub>, as the major apolar mobile phase. A supercritical fluid is any substance at a temperature and pressure above its critical point<sup>350</sup>. When a substance becomes a supercritical fluid it has properties of both a gas and a liquid<sup>351</sup> as the distinction between these two phases does not exist above the critical point. Modern ultra-high pressure supercritical fluid chromatography (UHPSFC) offers an alternative to conventional normal phase liquid chromatography, providing faster, more robust and reproducible chromatography. The mobile phase can easily switch from apolar CO<sub>2</sub> to increasing amounts of polar co-solvent such as methanol meaning compounds with a wide range of polarities can be efficiently separated on a single column in a single chromatographic run<sup>264</sup>.

Asc, DHA and AAS are all small polar molecules, with the major difference in the properties of the two compounds being their polarity due to the oxidation of the carbonyl groups of Asc or sulfated at the 2-O position (**Scheme 25**). Due to this, they are all not well suited for separation on reversed phase chromatography as was observed with other small polar metabolites such as homocystine and cystine, which are also poorly retained (Chapter 3:). Therefore, SFC was investigated to determine if it could provide a rapid, robust normal phase type separation for Asc,

DHA and AAS in order to provide a high throughput method for the determination of Asc/DHA redox status, levels of AAS and their fluxes.

#### 6.1.2 Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography

Due to limitations we experienced during the development of the SFC based methodology, it was decided to pursue methodology based on more traditional UHPLC separation. As discussed in (section 3.4.1 and 6.1.1), reversed phase chromatography will most likely be poorly suited for this analysis due to poor retention of small polar molecules such as Asc, DHA and AAS without the use of highly polar mobile phases or ion pairing agents. These can lead to complications of their own and affect the stability of the column or decrease the ionisation of target compounds and affect the chromatography, removing the main advantages of RPLC. HILIC has been used previously for the simultaneous analysis of Asc and DHA<sup>186</sup> but has other limitations such as long equilibration times and inconsistent chromatography including poor peak shapes with drifting retention times which can change with different concentrations of injected compounds<sup>195</sup>. It was therefore decided to investigate mixed mode chromatography (MMC) as an alternative mode of separation, as with the thiol redox analysis (section 3.4.1). MMC combines polar separation characteristics with the stability of reversed phase chromatography providing a more robust separation than HILIC based methods<sup>296</sup>.

There is limited previous work on the simultaneous analysis of Asc, DHA and especially AAS using liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry. A large number of methods for Asc redox analysis using chromatographic separation have relied on UV detection<sup>159,187,199</sup>, which is not well suited for the detection of DHA due to its low UV absorbance<sup>163</sup>. For this reason, many methods use what is known as a subtraction technique where each sample is analysed twice, once to measure the levels of free Asc, and then a second time after a reduction step to measure the total Asc with the difference being taken as the levels of free DHA<sup>185,196</sup>. This can be somewhat time consuming as each sample needs to be analysed twice and the extra time required for preparation may result in more sample degradation. The use of tandem mass spectrometry coupled with UHPLC mixed mode separation should help avoid these issues by enabling the selective, sensitive and direct analysis of Asc, DHA and AAS within a single rapid chromatographic run.

### 6.1.3 Sample Analysis, Preparation and Stability

Biological samples such as plasma and urine are complex mixtures containing many additional components other than the analytes of interest from larger proteins to other small polar

metabolites. Whilst a method might be capable of separating and quantifying standard mixtures, it may not be suitable for the analysis of biological samples especially without careful sample preparation. This can be due to the additional complexity of the sample matrix, which can cause numerous effects including suppression of analyte signal, false peaks arising from matrix components and shifts in the chromatographic separation<sup>319</sup>. There may also be biological or physical mechanisms that continue to function after sample collection, such as enzymatic pathways or metal catalysed degradation, which can have a negative impact on analyte stability further complicating the analysis of complex biological samples<sup>196,207,209,352</sup>.

To avoid these potential negative effects the chromatographic separation has to be sufficient so the analytes do not co-elute with any interfering matrix components<sup>211</sup>. Not only does the chromatography have to be suitable, but the collection, storage and preparation of the samples also have to be carefully considered<sup>171</sup>. For the analysis of small metabolites in biological samples such as plasma or urine, the most common preparation methods involve the removal of proteins by precipitation, often using an organic solvent or acid<sup>319</sup>.

It has been widely noted that ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid are not stable at physiological pH even when stored at -80°C. Numerous different causes have been attributed to this instability including oxidation by metal ions, enzymatic degradation and pH<sup>158,207-209</sup>. For the analysis of ascorbic acid, it is widely agreed that the best method of protein precipitation is acid precipitation<sup>352</sup>. By acidifying the sample, the stability of both Asc and DHA is improved whilst removing a large percentage of the proteins that might otherwise negatively affect the analysis. Metaphosphoric acid is one of the most widely used acids for protein precipitation and has been found to be the best precipitant for the analysis of Asc<sup>159,210,352</sup>.

Other than sample acidification, there are differing reports in the literature over the best collection, preparation and storage methods for the analysis of Asc and DHA in plasma. Some groups have reported that EDTA (ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid) tubes are the best for the collection of whole blood<sup>159,204,207</sup> with other groups reporting that heparin tubes are more appropriate<sup>158,171</sup>. Whilst EDTA chelates metal ions and so should block metal ion induced oxidation of Asc it has been reported that the complexes it forms with transition metal ions can remain redox active and therefore facilitate metal ion dependant oxidation of Asc rather than blocking it<sup>171</sup>. There is further confusion over what is required in order to stabilise Asc and DHA in storage. It is clear that at physiological pH even when stored at --80°C both Asc and DHA are not stable, degrading significantly over a matter of weeks<sup>210,211</sup>. Some groups have deemed it sufficient only to acidify samples<sup>352</sup>, for example with metaphosphoric acid (MPA). Other groups

have found this to be insufficient to stabilise Asc with additional additives needed such as EDTA or diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA)<sup>204</sup>.

Due to the confusion over what is required to stabilise Asc and DHA in biological samples, it was key to investigate the existing methods presented in the literature to establish for ourselves their suitability. There is less information available about the stability of AAS in biological samples but it should be more stable than Asc/DHA<sup>176</sup> but will also require investigation to ensure accurate and robust analysis.

# 6.2 Methods

Unless otherwise stated all reagents and materials were of the highest purity available and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Gillingham, UK or Munich, Germany). HPLC-grade solvents were from Fisher Scientific (UK). Argon gas (> 99.99%) and food grade CO<sub>2</sub> were from BOC Group (Guildford, UK). Ultrapure N<sub>2</sub> gas was produced by a nitrogen generator (Parker Balston, UK).

### 6.2.1 Supercritical Fluid Chromatography

Mass spectrometry settings were established using Asc, DHA and AAS standards. The standards were made up to a concentration of 1 mM by addition of the dry powder to pH 7.4 ammonium phosphate buffer. They were then diluted with pure water as need to bring them down to a measurable concentration range ( $1 \text{ nM} - 5 \mu$ M). In order to optimise the mass spectrometry settings the individual standards were infused onto the triple quadrupole (TQD) mass spectrometer at 16  $\mu$ l/min and scanned for one minute using negative ionisation mode. Optimal precursor and fragment product ions were established for both Asc and DHA, with cone and collision energies were manually adjusted to give the highest signal for each compound (**Table 7**), additional mass spectrometry settings are listed in appendix C.1. Further optimisation was performed after initial SFC conditions had been established as the presence of the supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> phase can alter ionisation properties. Optimisation was carried out by running the established chromatographic method (see later) and adjusting the mass spec settings as required. For the SFC analysis standards were first dissolved in pure water and then diluted down using methanol.

Three different co-solvents (mobile phase B) were initially investigated in order to obtain the best separation and peak shapes. Co-solvent **1** was 100% methanol; Co-solvent **2** was 98% methanol + 2% H<sub>2</sub>O and; Co-solvent **3** was 98% methanol + 2% H<sub>2</sub>O + 50 mM ammonium acetate. Each of the different co-solvents were run on a torus diol normal phase column (ACQUY UPC<sup>2</sup> Torus diol column, 130 Å, 1.7  $\mu$ m, 3.0 mm x 100 mm) with a gradient of: 0 min, 10% B to 10 min, 40% B at

1.5 ml/min with a 1 min inlet pre-run at 10% B for column equilibration. The post column make-up solvent was 5 mM ammonium acetate in methanol with a flow rate of 0.2 ml/min.

Table 7:MRM settings for SFC analysis of ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA)using negative ion electrospray ionisation (ESI-).

ESI-	Precursor ( <i>m/z</i> )	Product ( <i>m/z</i> )	Cone (V)	Collision (V)
Asc	174.9	86.9	15	17
DHA	172.6	142.5	1	15

Further experiments focused on the DHA peak. The chromatographic method was shortened to 6 min using a compressed version of the longer gradient. The chromatography was started with a 10% mobile phase B pre run followed by a gradient starting with 0 min 10% B going to 40% B at 6 min. For these experiments the make-up solvent was changed to 0.5% ammonia flowing at 0.2 ml/min but other settings remained the same.

# 6.2.2 Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography

Due to the ion suppression effects observed when using the ammonia related modifiers such as ammonium acetate and ammonium hydroxide with the SFC analysis (section 6.3.1) it was decided to focus on formic acid as the solvent modifier. Since UHPLC uses a regular liquid mobile phase A as opposed to the supercritical mobile phase used in SFC the ionisation in the ESI source is different. Therefore, the MRM conditions for all three compounds were re-optimised specifically for the UHPLC method (**Table 8**). Mass spectrometry settings were established using Asc, DHA and AAS standards. The Asc and AAS standards were made up to a concentration of 10 mM by addition of the dry powder to pure water, DHA is less soluble in water and so was made up to 1 mM. They were then diluted with pure water as need to bring them down to a measurable concentration range ( $1 \text{ nM} - 5 \mu$ M). The mass spectrometry settings were optimised using the individual standards as detailed before in section 6.2.1. DHA was optimised using both positive and negative ionisation.

Table 8:Final MRM setting for UHPLC analysis of ascorbic acid (Asc), dehydroascorbic acid<br/>(DHA) and ascorbic acid-2-sulfate (AAS) using positive ion (ESI+) and negative ion<br/>(ESI-) electrospray ionisation.

	Precursor ( <i>m/z</i> )	Product ( <i>m/z</i> )	Cone (V)	Collision (V)
Asc (ESI-)	174.9	86.9	15	17
DHA (ESI+)	174.9	128.6	6	15
DHA (ESI-)	172.6	142.5	6	12
AAS (ESI-)	254.9	174.6	15	17

Mixed mode chromatography (MMC) was used with a 1.6 mm Modus 100 x 2.1 mm Aqua UPLC column. The best separation was obtained using an isocratic method using 100% of mobile phase A ( $H_2O$  plus formic acid). Regular washes consisting of 100% MeOH were used to ensure the column remained in good condition. Optimal separation was obtained using a flow rate of 0.1 ml/min with a total run time of 6 min, the column was kept at 30°C throughout the analysis. Three different concentrations of formic acid were tested as the mobile phase modifier, 0.1%, 0.5% and 1.0%.

#### 6.2.3 Sample Analysis, Preparation and Stability

Blood was taken from a healthy male volunteer with informed consent to participate before enrolment. Procedures were approved by the ethics committee of the University of Southampton (ERGO 30507/31426) and conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Venous blood was collected from healthy human volunteers using a 21-gauge (0.80mmx19mm) butterfly needle and EDTA or heparin BD Vacutainer<sup>™</sup> tubes. Following gentle mixing by inversion, blood was processed immediately by centrifugation for 1 min at 3000 × g at 4°C to separate plasma from cellular components following the centrifugation method established in chapter 3.2.4<sup>293</sup>.

The separated plasma was immediately added to a 1:1 volume of 10% metaphosphoric acid (MPA). The plasma was then immediately spun down to separate out the proteins and then either immediately analysed or frozen at -80°C, as well as being frozen without removing the proteins in order to investigate the impact this had on Asc stability. The plasma was split into aliquots for storage and unless otherwise stated all aliquots were treated identically. Plasma that was frozen without removing the proteins was spun down immediately after defrosting. The effect of the metal chelator DTPA on Asc stability was tested by addition of 10  $\mu$ l of 10 mM DTPA to 100  $\mu$ M. Likewise the effect of DTT was tested by addition of 10  $\mu$ l of 2 M DTT to 100  $\mu$ l heparin plasma plus 100  $\mu$ M DTPA giving a final DTT concentration of 20 mM.

All analysis was carried out using the UHPLC-MS/MS method detailed in section 6.1.2 using the established MRM scans. All samples were analysed using duplicate injections and quantified using prepared standard curves.

# 6.3 Results

#### 6.3.1 Supercritical Fluid Chromatography

When using co-solvent 1 (100% MeOH, **Figure 33**) on the torus diol column DHA elutes first at 2.31 min with some minor tailing, followed by Asc which elutes at 6.61 min with major tailing. The tailing is likely due to the retention on the diol column being too strong<sup>353</sup> with the polarity of the co-solvent not being strong enough to elute Asc off the column efficiently.

The added water to co-solvent 2 (98% MeOH, 2%  $H_2O$ , **Figure 33**) increases the polarity of the cosolvent, the elution time of DHA does not change, eluting at 2.31 min with the peak shape largely unaffected though with a lower intensity, Asc however elutes earlier at 6.01 min with a much improved peak shape but still tailing slightly.



Figure 33: Separation of Asc and DHA with three different co-solvents on a Torus diol column; 1) 100% MeOH, 2) 98% MeOH, 2% H<sub>2</sub>O and 3) 98% MeOH, 2% H<sub>2</sub>O + 50 mM ammonium acetate. All three co-solvents give a very good separation between Asc and DHA. 1) With pure methanol DHA has a well-shaped peak but Asc shows significant tailing. 2) The addition of 2% water to the co-solvent improves the peak

shape of Asc whilst moving its elution time slightly forward. DHA however shows a drop in signal intensity. **3)** The addition of ammonium acetate to the co-solvent further improves the peak shape of Asc and moves the elution time later. DHA shows a further reduction in signal intensity and a slightly later elution time.

Co-solvent 3 (98% MeOH, 2% H2O + 50 mM ammonium acetate, **Figure 33**) produces the best chromatography with DHA eluting later at 3.22 min with less tailing than co-solvent 2, Asc also elutes later at 7.93 min with a much improved peak shape with virtually no tailing. Adding a mobile phase modifier can help improve peak shapes by interacting with the stationary phase of the column helping to prevent the excess retention which causes peak tailing as well as also controlling the mobile phase pH which can also have an impact on peak shape<sup>353,354</sup>. However, the peak intensity for DHA is considerably reduced compared to co-solvent 1, seemingly due to the addition of ammonium acetate to the co-solvent. Despite the precursor ions being close in mass (m/z 175 and m/z 173) there is little or no false signal generated for Asc or DHA by the other peak.

Shortening the chromatographic method from 10 to 6 min does not significantly affect the separation of Asc and DHA, both peaks elute earlier but are still well separated by 2 min, allowing for faster analysis time (**Figure 34, A and B**). Using ammonium formate in the co-solvent shows the same suppression effects as ammonium acetate but does improve the peak shape for Asc (**Figure 34, A and B**).



Figure 34: A and B, faster 6 min elution gradient with 98% MeOH, 2% H<sub>2</sub>O and 25 mM ammonium formate co-solvent for the seoaration of Asc and DHA. C and D, the effect of ammonia in the co-solvent for the analysis of DHA using the shorter 6 min

gradient. **C)** DHA with 100% MeOH co-solvent. **D)** DHA with 98% MeOH, 2% H<sub>2</sub>O + 0.5% ammonia co-solvent. The addition of ammonia to the co-solvent significantly effects the peak shape for DHA to the point where no peak is visible.

It was hoped that by using ammonia instead of ammonium acetate or formate as the modifier in the co-solvent the ion suppression of DHA by the acetate<sup>189</sup> could be avoided whilst improving the peak shape for Asc. Focusing on DHA, the addition of 0.5% ammonia to the co-solvent significantly worsens the peak for DHA to the point where there is no longer a true peak visible but one that is spread out from 2 min to 6 min+ (**Figure 34, C and D**). This is entirely unsuitable for the analysis of DHA.

### 6.3.2 Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography

Both Asc and DHA have a good peak shape and are well separated by 0.5 min using an isocratic gradient of 100% H<sub>2</sub>O plus formic acid. AAS co-elutes with DHA, but has a poor peak shape with significant tailing when using 0.1% formic acid. This peak tailing causes issues with the measured Asc peak as AAS is subject to source fragmentation and generates signal for Asc that interferes with the true Asc peak (**Figure 36, A**). Increasing the concentration of formic acid improves the AAS peak shape, with 1.0% formic acid giving the best peak shape (**Figure 35**) that also leaves a distinct peak for Asc (**Figure 36, B**). DHA appears to have a split peak in the standard mixture but the second peak is likely due to interfering signal from Asc. A DHA standard on its own gives a single peak and the later DHA peak is observed when analysing an Asc standard on its own. The separation between Asc and DHA is sufficient that the true DHA peak can be distinguished from the false peak. AAS and DHA do not interfere with each other so the co-elution of these two compounds does not cause any issues. With the final chromatographic conditions, Asc elutes at 3.34 min, DHA at 2.86 min and AAS at 2.88 min (**Figure 36, B**).

Increasing the formic acid concentration in the mobile phase however does appear to supress the signal for DHA as with the ammonium acetate in the SFC method development. DHA is normally analysed using negative ionisation due to its low pK<sub>a</sub> but due to the relatively high concentration of formic acid in the mobile phase it was investigated if positive ionisation was more appropriate for the analysis of DHA. Using positive ionisation does give 10-fold increased signal for DHA (**Figure 37**).



Figure 35: Effect of increasing mobile phase formic acid concentration on the peak shape of ascorbic acid-2-sulfate. The peak shape improves with significantly less tailing with increasing formic acid from A to C.



Figure 36: Effect of formic acid concentration on the chromatographic separation of Asc, DHA and AAS. With 0.1% formic acid (A) AAS has significant peak tailing which interferes with the measured peak for Asc. With 1.0% formic acid (B) the peak shape for AAS is much improved and the Asc becomes more distinct.



**Figure 37:** Analysis of DHA using negative ion (ESI-) and positive ion (ESI+) electrospray ionisation. Positive ionisation gives 10-fold higher signal than negative ionisation when measuring the same standard mix.

## 6.3.3 Sample Analysis, Preparation and Stability

The chromatograms for freshly collected plasma samples looks very different to the standard mixture. This is unsurprising as physiological levels of Asc DHA and AAS will vary from sample to sample, and the levels of each analyte are equal. Asc is much more abundant than DHA and the levels of plasma AAS have not been widely investigated in humans and so remain unclear. **Figure 38** shows an exemplary chromatogram for a freshly collected and extracted plasma sample measured using the UHPLC method detailed in section 6.2.2. A good peak for Asc is clearly visible, but DHA is absent and AAS has a small peak that is difficult to quantify reliably. There are two peaks visible in the DHA chromatogram at 3.60 min and 4.50 min that do not match up with the retention time of DHA (3.00 min, **Figure 36, B**). This suggests that these peaks are originating from unknown matrix components and not from DHA. The physiological levels of DHA are lower than the detection limit of this method, which complicates the ascorbic acid redox analysis.



Figure 38: Exemplary chromatogram showing the detected Asc, AAS and DHA in freshly collected EDTA plasma extracted with metaphosphoric acid. There are two visible peaks in the DHA trace but neither of them elute at the correct time for DHA (3.00 min) and so are likely arising from other matrix components. Asc has a strong peak but AAS whilst visible is not a very strong peak.

The stability of Asc in plasma was investigated following different methods reported in literature along with different sample collection conditions. The effect of using both EDTA and heparin blood tubes for blood collection on the stability of Asc was tested as there is no agreement on which of these blood tubes are the most suitable. There is a small difference in Asc concentration observed between the tubes, with EDTA giving the highest concentration of Asc (**Figure 39, A**). Asc is also slightly more stable when collected with an EDTA tube with a smaller decrease in concentration when refrigerated for 72 min than in heparin plasma (**Figure 39, B**). From our experiments, EDTA tubes appear to be the most suitable. When removing the plasma proteins the addition of MPA rapidly precipitates the proteins, it was tested if leaving the precipitated proteins in the plasma before freezing had any effect on the levels of Asc compared to removing them

before. There is a clear drop in Asc levels when the precipitated proteins are left in the plasma when frozen (**Figure 39, D**), which occurs in both heparin and EDTA plasma. For best results, the precipitated proteins should be spun down and the supernatant decanted before freezing.



Figure 39: Initial investigations into the stability of Asc in plasma, all blood samples were immediately spun down after collection and the plasma was extracted with metaphosphoric acid. A) The difference in measured Asc levels in freshly collected plasma using EDTA and heparin blood tubes. Higher levels of Asc are recorded using EDTA tubes. B) Asc stability in plasma collected in both EDTA and heparin blood tubes in the sample manager (set to 4°C) over 72 min. Both plasma samples show significant drops in Asc concentration, more so in heparin than EDTA. C) Asc stability in plasma collected using both EDTA and heparin tubes after freezing at -80°C, there is a large drop in the measured Asc concentration after one freeze thaw for both tubes. D) Effect of spinning out and removing the proteins after MPA addition before or after freezing. All samples were stored in the same manner at -80°C. Leaving the proteins in the sample during storage decreases the measured levels of Asc.

Asc in both EDTA and heparin acid extracted plasma was found to be unstable when kept in the autosampler set to 4°C. Over 72 min at 4°C there was a significant drop in measured Asc concentration (**Figure 39, B**). Asc in acidified plasma was also found to not only unstable when refrigerated but also when stored frozen. In both heparin and EDTA plasma there is a large

decrease in Asc concentration after only one freeze thaw after storage at -80°C for 12 hours (**Figure 39, C**). DTPA is an alternative metal chelator to EDTA<sup>171</sup>, when tested in MPA extracted heparin plasma (kept at 4°C) no stabilising effect was observed. The concentration of Asc decreased at the same rate with and without the addition of DTPA (**Figure 40, A**).

Dithiothreitol (DTT) is also used widely in the analysis of Asc, since it is a strong reducing agent, it should reduce any DHA present in the plasma and continue to do so as Asc oxidises to DHA. The DHA concentration can be calculated from the increase in Asc concentration after the addition of DTT, which is advantageous with the lack of a DHA peak in the chromatogram. The initial concentration of Asc is higher when DTT is added to plasma, but the addition of DTT does not prevent the loss of Asc over time (**Figure 40, B**). In fact, whilst it did start higher the concentration of Asc in the DTT plasma converges with the MPA only plasma suggesting that there is another mechanism other than just oxidation occurring.





# 6.4 Discussion

#### 6.4.1 Supercritical Fluid Chromatography

Supercritical fluid chromatography is a promising technique for the separation and analysis of Asc and DHA. The initial conditions tested using a torus diol column all had a large separation of 4-5

min between the two compounds using a quick and simple gradient. All of the co-solvents tested gave a good separation with the main differences being the peak shapes and sensitivities. Peak tailing can be caused by too strong an interaction between the analytes and the stationary phase, to improve the peak shape and reduce peak tailing this interaction needs to be weakened by either modifying the mobile phase, modifying the stationary phase or both<sup>353</sup>.

The addition of 2% H<sub>2</sub>O in co-solvent 2 improves the peak shapes (**Figure 33**) over co-solvent 1 (100% methanol) significantly reducing the tailing for Asc. Adding H<sub>2</sub>O increases the polarity of the co-solvent increasing the interaction between the mobile phase and analytes. This decreases the peak tailing by eluting Asc from the column quicker and by decreasing the interaction of Asc and the stationary phase. The peak shapes however are not ideal, as there is still some tailing for Asc. There is also a decrease in DHA signal that may be due to decreased ionisation efficiency because of the added water<sup>355</sup>.

Co-solvent 3 gives the best peak shapes (**Figure 33**) with the addition of H<sub>2</sub>O and ammonium acetate markedly improving the peak shapes compared to co-solvents 1 and 2 with little tailing for Asc. However compared to co-solvent 2 DHA has a much weaker signal, likely due to ion suppression caused by the addition of ammonium acetate. This effect has been previously reported elsewhere with the acetate found to be responsible for the signal suppression<sup>189</sup>. Since the addition of ammonium acetate to the co-solvent improves the Asc peak shape, ammonia was investigated to identify if it can also give better peak shapes but without supressing the signal for DHA. Ammonium formate was also investigated as another possibility, however due to the structural similarities between acetate and formate it was unsurprising that it was also found to cause suppression of the DHA signal (**Figure 34**, **A**).

The lower signal intensity for DHA compared to Asc seen with the initial three co-solvents was thought to be potentially due to the use of ammonium acetate in the post column make-up solvent. Even with only MeOH as the co-solvent the signal for DHA is two orders of magnitude lower than for the equivalent concentration of Asc (**Figure 33**). The make-up solvent is required to ensure sufficient ionisation after the CO<sub>2</sub> has evaporated off in the ESI source. Both Asc and DHA ionise best in negative mode due to their low pK<sub>a</sub> and ammonium acetate improves the ionisation efficiency in both positive and negative mode. However, since acetate supresses the signal for DHA it should be avoided in the make-up flow as well as the co-solvent, ammonia could potentially be a better choice to assist with the ionisation in negative mode without supressing DHA signal. When the make-up solvent was changed to MeOH with 0.5% ammonia the signal for DHA it is likely that DHA does not ionise as efficiently as Asc using negative ion electrospray.

DHA has a lower pKa than Asc<sup>356</sup> and so might be expected to ionise better with negative ion ESI but it has been found that the pKa of a molecule does not necessarily correspond to its ionisation efficiency in negative ion ESI<sup>355</sup>.

SFC has proven to be a powerful chromatographic technique for the separation of Asc and DHA using normal phase type separation without suffering from the typical drawbacks associated with HPLC/UHPLC normal phase chromatography. However, despite the good separation of Asc and DHA in order to give Asc a good peak shape a modifier has to be used in the co-solvent. Ammonium acetate, ammonium formate and ammonia, the most commonly used modifiers for negative electrospray ionisation all give good peak shapes for Asc. Nevertheless, both ammonium acetate and formate supress the signal for DHA whilst ammonia results in a very poor peak shape if not a non-existent peak for DHA. These modifiers are all unsuitable for the analysis of DHA, and without any modifier in the co-solvent Asc had a poor peak shape on the Torus Diol SFC column. Due to these issues, time constraints, and instrument availability, it was decided that the best course of action was to investigate alternate stationary phases that would give a better peak shape for Asc without the need for ammonium acetate, ammonium formate or ammonia. To this end the focus of the development was shifted to UHPLC using a mixed mode column following the method development performed in chapter 2.

### 6.4.2 Ultra-High Pressure Liquid Chromatography

With the developed UHPLC method, the separation between Asc and DHA is not as good with the SFC method. However, the separation of Asc and DHA is sufficient that any false signal for DHA generated by the Asc due to due to their similarities in structure and m/z is separated giving a distinct DHA peak. Likewise, AAS generates false signal for Asc elutes at the same time as DHA, 0.5 min before Asc. When using a lower concentration of formic acid in the mobile phase AAS has a large tail that continues past the true Asc peak partly obscuring it and making reliable quantification difficult. By increasing the concentration of formic acid in the mobile phase, the peak shape for AAS was improved with minimal tailing allowing the true Asc peak to be distinguished from the false signal (**Figure 35**).

The increase in formic acid concentration however had a negative impact on the measured signal for DHA, decreasing it by 10-fold (**Figure 36**). DHA is normally measured using negative ionisation, however due to the increased formic acid it was investigated if using positive ionisation would provide a better signal for DHA. By re-optimising the MRM scan for DHA using positive ionisation the measured signal in the standard mixture was improved by 10-fold (**Figure 37**) negating some of the negative impact of the higher formic acid concentration. However, in a more complex

sample matrix such as plasma or urine there will be many more potentially interfering matrix components that may have a negative impact on the measurement of DHA when using positive ionisation.

Overall, the developed UHPLC-MS/MS method is capable of the separation and analysis of ascorbic acid, dehydroascorbic acid and ascorbic acid-2-sulfate in standard mixtures (**Figure 36**). The method could nevertheless run into issues when applied to more complex biological samples.

#### 6.4.3 Sample Preparation, Analysis and Stability

Despite being widely discussed in the literature there is no consensus on the best way to collect, process and store samples for the analysis of Asc and DHA<sup>171,209,211,357,358</sup>. This is further complicated by the lack of methods for the simultaneous analysis of Asc and DHA with many methods focusing on measuring total ascorbic acid. In order to determine the best method for the collection, processing and storage of blood and plasma for ascorbate redox analysis a number of different methodologies reported in the literature were tested to determine their suitability for use with the developed UHPLC-MS/MS method.

Both heparin and EDTA blood tubes have been stated to be the best tubes for the collection of samples for Asc analysis<sup>158,159,171,196,207</sup>. Due to this lack of agreement, we investigated both types of tube to establish for ourselves which type would be the most suitable for our use with the developed UHPLC-MS/MS method. In our experiments EDTA tubes gave the highest levels of Asc but only by a small margin of ~5% (**Figure 39, A**). Asc also appears to be more stable in plasma collected using EDTA tubes rather than heparin. Both types of plasma see a large decrease when kept at 4°C with a decrease of ~10% with EDTA and ~20% for heparin (**Figure 39, B**). Overall, for our analysis EDTA tubes are the most suitable for the collection of whole blood.

The main method for stabilising Asc and DHA in plasma is acidification of the sample preventing the oxidation of Asc and the irreversible degradation of DHA to DKGA<sup>172</sup> (**Scheme 25**), this also conveniently doubles as a protein precipitation method. Metaphosphoric acid has been found to be the best acid for this purpose<sup>171,185,190</sup> and is best added to the plasma as soon as it has been separated from the red blood cells. It was found that after addition of MPA it is best to spin down and remove the proteins before freezing the plasma for storage. When the proteins were precipitated but left in the plasma during freezing there was a significant drop in Asc concentration with both EDTA and heparin plasma (**Figure 39, C**). This suggests that the plasma proteins are at least partly involved in the oxidation and loss of Asc after sample collection. Unfortunately the acidification of plasma is not sufficient to stabilise Asc, even when refrigerated or frozen at -80°C. Contrary to what is reported in the literature when refrigerated, for example
during sample analysis (sample manager set to 4°C), Asc decreases in concentration by up to ~20% over 72 min (**Figure 39, B**). This instability would significantly affect any analysis involving even a small number of samples as with a 6 min chromatographic run ten samples would take upwards of 60 min, not including any standards or blanks. This would result in a substantial decrease in Asc in the last samples compared to the first. Whilst this instability appears to be worse in heparin plasma it is not much better than with EDTA. Even storing the acidified samples at -80°C does not appear to be sufficient to prevent the loss of Asc, with a decrease of ~18% when frozen for less than 12 hours and only defrosted once (**Figure 39, C**).

EDTA blood tubes are suggested to be more appropriate for the collection of blood for Asc analysis as EDTA can chelate metal ions that can otherwise catalyse the oxidation of Asc<sup>171</sup>. Whilst EDTA tubes do give better stability than heparin tubes (**Figure 39, B**) they are clearly not sufficient to block completely the loss of Asc through oxidation or other means. In fact, whilst EDTA is an effective metal chelator it does not completely block the redox activity of some metal ions allowing them to continue to catalyse the oxidation of Asc. The metal chelator DTPA has been suggested as a more appropriate alternative as it more effectively blocks the redox activity of the metal ions<sup>171</sup>. Heparin plasma was tested with and without DTPA, avoiding EDTA plasma in order to avoid EDTA chelating metal ions and potentially blocking the DTPA leaving the metal ions redox active. There however is still a large drop in Asc concentration over time when stored in the refrigerated sample manager regardless of whether DTPA is added or not. There is no clear difference in stability observed between the two samples (**Figure 40, A**). This suggests that there may be a different degradation mechanism occurring as sample acidification should have blocked autoxidation and addition of metal chelators should have neutralised any metal ion catalysed oxidation.

Many methods do not simultaneously monitor Asc and DHA but instead rely on reduction in order to measure the DHA. The free Asc is measured as well the total Asc which is measured after the addition of a reducing agent such as dithiothreitol (DTT). The concentration of free DHA is taken as the difference between the total Asc and free Asc. This adds extra preparation steps, as the sample either has to be split before analysis (requiring larger sample volume) or it has to be treated with DTT after the first measurement has been taken. Either way this doubles the number of measurements that have to be made which is undesirable in large sample sets. The addition of DTT to the sample will not stop the oxidation of Asc, it will however reduce any DHA produced by oxidation and therefore prevent the level of Asc from decreasing in the sample. When DTT was added to a heparin plasma sample, there was a measured increase in the initial Asc concentration as would be expected. Nevertheless, when stored at 4°C in the sample manager the concentration of Asc in the DTT treated sample decreases at a similar rate as the MPA only plasma. In fact, the

concentration of Asc in DTT plasma converges with the Asc in MPA plasma (**Figure 40, B**). In all experiments whilst Asc was decreasing there was no peak observed for DHA that would be expected to start appearing as Asc oxidised. Coupled with the lack of stability even in the presence of DTT this further reinforces the conclusion that there is a different mechanism other than oxidation occurring that is responsible for the loss of Asc in plasma.

### 6.5 Conclusion

Ascorbic acid is easily detected and quantified in plasma using the established UHPLC-MS/MS method. Unfortunately, however our investigations into the simultaneous analysis of Asc, DHA and AAS in plasma have not been successful in establishing a fully workable method. The developed chromatographic separation and tandem mass spectrometry detection works well in a simple matrix such as a standard mixture but in more complex biological matrices there are significant limitations. Whilst SFC looked promising for the rapid separation of Asc and DHA time constraints, instrument availability and issues with the method prevented further development. This provides an interesting avenue for future method development.

The analysis of Asc in plasma is complicated by its instability with none of the tested stabilisation methods having a significant impact on its stability. The acidification of samples should block the degradation of DHA to diketogulonic acid (DKGA) (**Scheme 25**), and therefore the loss of Asc following this pathway. This should then be reflected by a corresponding increase in DHA, however throughout our experiments there was no significant increase in DHA observed. In fact when treated with the reducing agent DTT, which will convert any oxidised Asc back, there was no improvement in the stability of Asc. Likewise, the addition of metal chelators to block metal ion induced oxidation also had no impact on stability. All of these factors imply that there is a different mechanism of loss occurring other than simple oxidation.

The endogenous levels of DHA present in plasma are below the limit of detection of the method meaning that the ascorbate redox ration cannot be calculated. This is not unexpected as the physiological levels of free DHA have been reported to be very low and methods that have reported higher levels may have been measuring artifactual DHA generated from oxidation of the Asc<sup>171,204</sup>. AAS is detectable in plasma samples but only in very low levels near the limit of detection making it hard to quantify consistently. It is likely that the measurement of AAS will be more applicable to urine samples that contain higher endogenous levels<sup>176</sup>. The method could be used for the tracing of AAS metabolism using a stable isotope AAS the levels in plasma would be increased and potentially more reliably quantifiable and the tracer should be easily monitored as it is excreted in the urine. This could help determine if AAS has any biological roles in human

biology building on the previous works<sup>176,183,359</sup> by using more modern methodologies to help increase our understanding.

The instability of Asc has substantial implications for its analysis, significant drops in Asc concentration when kept in the refrigerated autosampler mean that measurements will be unreliable even over short sample runs. For example, ten samples would take over 60 min to run and the levels of Asc will be significantly lower at the end of the run compared to the beginning. During analysis it was also noticed that an unknown deposit was forming on the sample cone of the mass spectrometer ESI source and column performance was degrading faster than expected. This was likely occurring due to one of the additives used to try to improve sample stability, as it has not been encountered in other plasma analysis such as in Chapter 3:. It will require further investigation to identify the interfering compound and find an ESI compatible alternative. Due to restrictions on time the further development on this method required to solve these issues was not possible.

Ultimately, the established method provides a good starting point but is not currently suitable for the simultaneous analysis of Asc, DHA and AAS in plasma and requires significant further development.

## Chapter 7: Further Work

### 7.1 Outlook

Significant progress has been made on the development of a method for the simultaneous analysis of key components of the sulfide redox metabolome including oxidised and reduced thiols and sulfide. The ability to readily analyse the free thiols and sulfide as well as their bound forms using efficient workflow makes effective use of limited sample volumes whilst providing a large amount of information. Key factors affecting sample collection, processing and storage have also been assessed to not only establish the best conditions for the most accurate analysis currently possible, but also to investigate the effect of each of the different factors. Knowing the limitations of samples collected under non-ideal conditions allows for better use of such samples, which, for example may have been collected for the analysis of different metabolites/pathways but may still contain important information relating to the sulfide metabolome. This allows access to a wider pool of potential samples including those previously collected for studies and currently being stored whilst being able to draw conclusions that are more confident from the analysis. The established method could easily be combined with stable isotope tracing for the sulfide metabolome as well as being used in conjunction with existing stable isotope tracing methods for the NO metabolome.

Further insight into the analysis of per- and polysulfides has been gained. These highly reactive species have proven difficult to accurately analyse and quantify. The measured speciation pattern of pure polysulfide standards depends on the reaction conditions used, in particular the electrophile selected. Whilst NEM reacts rapidly it was found to be able to either react with the mid chain sulfurs or cause chain fragmentation, thereby decreasing the overall chain lengths of the polysulfides detected. When using electrophiles to trap the polysulfide speciation the reaction occurs under Curtin-Hammett conditions where the relative concentrations of the products depend on the reactivities of the individual polysulfide species and the rate of interconversion between them rather than the relative concentrations of the polysulfides when none are present in the sample, and therefore can be used to confirm or rule out the presence of polysulfides. To this end the metabolism of sulfide by superoxide dismutase, producing polysulfides was analysed by derivatisation with IAM confirming this unexpected metabolic activity.

Following from the use of NEM for the analysis of thiols and sulfide, as well as IAM for the analysis of polysulfides it was apparent that the kinetics of the derivatisation reaction were important to understand as they can have significant impacts on the measured results. Whilst NEM reacts rapidly with reduced thiols, it was found that the reaction with sulfide takes substantially longer. This difference is not reflected by IAM or MBB and may be due to the difference in reaction mechanism with NEM reacting via Michael addition and IAM and MBB via a S<sub>N</sub>2 mechanism. The kinetic investigations highlighted the importance of using rapidly reacting electrophiles, particularly for volatile compounds such as sulfide and methanethiol.

The simultaneous analysis of ascorbic acid (Asc), dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) and ascorbic acid-2sulfate (AAS) proved more challenging than first anticipated. Super critical fluid chromatography showed promise for the separation of Asc and DHA but due to time constraints and limited access to instrumentation was not completed. A UHPLC based method was then established and is able to separate Asc, DHA and AAS. However, sample stability was found to be a significant challenge. None of the methods to stabilise Asc and DHA that were tried were able to sufficiently stabilise the samples to make accurate analysis possible. Even reduction with an excess of DTT in the sample was insufficient to stabilise Asc. Due to time and resource limitations further investigation into this issue was not possible and still remains to be solved.

### 7.2 Thiols and Sulfide

The method developed for the analysis of the sulfur redox metabolome is by no means exhaustive. The in depth analysis of this metabolome could benefit from the incorporation of further thiols and sulfide metabolites. These include the oxidised forms of glutamylcysteine (OxGluCys) and cysteinylglycine (OxCysGly) which may form redox pairs of the glutathione cycle intermediate thiols (see section 1.3.4). Taurine, whilst not a thiol, is the most abundant sulfur containing amino acid. It is semi-essential with the main source being through the diet but is also produced in vivo through the metabolism of Cys by cysteine dioxygenase<sup>59</sup>. Taurine potentially has beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system involving regulation of the NO pathway<sup>82</sup> as well as oxidative stress regulation<sup>83</sup>. Taurine can also increase the expression of the H<sub>2</sub>S producing enzymes CBS and CSE providing another mechanism by which it can help regulate the cardiovascular system and redox pathways<sup>84</sup>. 3-mercaptopyruvate (3MP) would be another small thiol that would be beneficial to incorporate into the method, as it is a precursor to polysulfide synthesis by the enzyme 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase<sup>134</sup>. Incorporation of 3MP, which is a metabolic product of Cys, would help the elucidation of the links between thiol metabolism and the biological activities of polysulfides.

It was also attempted to incorporate coenzyme A (CoA) into the thiols and sulfide method. Unfortunately, CoA is not well suited for analysis using the mixed mode aqua column and had very poor peak shape (section 3.4.1.1). This poor peak shape is likely due to the structure of CoA (polar head group with a more apolar tail, **Table 2**) resulting in multiple modes of interaction with the stationary phase. Alternate column chemistries will be needed for the analysis of CoA, with a standard reversed phase C<sub>18</sub> column likely providing suitable retention characteristics.

In order to add these compounds into the method appropriate MRM scans will have to be established, and mass spectrometry (MS) settings optimised, for CoA these have already been established. Once the MS settings are established, their chromatographic behaviour in the current method will have to be determined and if necessary, the method adjusted to incorporate these analytes. Most likely OxCysGly, OxGluCys and taurine will all elute close to the other oxidised thiols, as they will all not react with NEM. For CoA different chromatographic conditions will certainly have to be established. With an alternate separation method, the analysis of CoA could be incorporated with analysis of the rest of the thiols/sulfide metabolome by utilising the same samples with the established collection, preparation and storage protocols.

Thiol metabolism does not exist in isolation, a key point of interaction between the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes exists in the methionine cycle (**Figure 42**, Box 2). Homocysteine is synthesised from methionine and provides an irreversible metabolic link through synthesis of cysteine. A better understanding of the metabolic pathways leading into the H<sub>2</sub>S metabolome would help better understand thiol metabolism and the factors that can influence it. A separate method would likely be needed to analyse the key metabolites involved as the lack of a free SH group in these metabolites will mean they will not react with NEM and be poorly retained in the method developed for thiol analysis. Alternate derivatisation or column chemistries will be needed to get sufficient retention for the analysis of this metabolic pathway.

### 7.3 Polysulfides and Persulfides

Whilst iodoacetamide (IAM) has been shown to produce longer polysulfide chains than NEM when used to alkylate inorganic polysulfides and is considered more suitable for this task (section 4.3.3), there remains some questions about the appropriateness of IAM for polysulfide analysis. It is possible IAM is able to fragment polysulfide chains in the same manner as NEM, though to a lesser extent. This should be investigated utilising the same experimental procedure as for NEM (section **Error! Reference source not found.**); in short the polysulfides should be completely derviatised with an excess of an alternate electrophile (such as MBB) before IAM is added and monitored for the potential formation of any IAM polysuifde adducts. The speciation of inorganic

polysulfides in solution has so far been investigated using NEM and IAM, the effect on polysulfide speciation of alternate electrophiles. Alternate electrophiles include the 'milder' HPE-IAM and the commonly used MBB. MBB in particular is a widely applied for the analysis of thiols and sulfide<sup>112</sup> (section 1.4.3), therefore its impact on polysulfide speciation will be important to investigate for comparison with other electrophiles.  $\beta$ -(4-hydroxyphenyl)ethyl iodoacetamide (HPE-IAM, **Figure 41**) is an IAM derivative which is a milder electrophile than NEM, MBB and IAM<sup>322</sup>. HPE-IAM could provide a more accurate picture of the polysulfide speciation but the rate of reaction should also be considered. IAM reacts much slower than NEM (Chapter 5:), so if HPE-IAM reacts even slower than IAM the polysulfide speciation will likely change before the reaction has completed. The impact of different electrophiles should be investigated to determine their suitability for the analysis of polysulfide speciation and to attempt to determine the true physiological distributions of polysulfides.





It has recently been reported that the enzyme catalase, which is a well-known antioxidant enzyme involved in dismutating  $H_2O_2$  to  $O_2$  and  $H_2O$ , is also involved in the metabolism of reactive sulfur species (RSS)<sup>137</sup>. Catalases evolved when metabolism was largely sulfur-based, long before oxygen based metabolism was abundant, so it involvement in RSS metabolism is not a complete surprise. Catalase was shown to be able to catalyse the oxidation of  $H_2S$  and  $H_2S_x$  under normoxic conditions, but also that it is able to generate H<sub>2</sub>S under hypoxic conditions<sup>137</sup>. This forgotten biochemistry of catalase raises questions about similar dismutase enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD)<sup>255</sup>. SOD in fact has since been demonstrated to have functions involving the metabolism of sulfide and polysulfides. In the presence of SOD sulfide is metabolised into polysulfides faster than oxidation without SOD<sup>138</sup> (section 4.4.5). The mechanism by which this metabolism occurs is not yet clear and warrants further investigation. Additionally the biological relevance of this metabolic activity is not yet apparent. Is this a metabolic relic from earlier evolution before the presence of reactive oxygen species (ROS) or is the metabolism of sulfide by SOD still biologically relevant? The activity of what were thought to be solely ROS related enzymes with RSS suggests that some of the biological effects so far attributed to ROS could potentially involve RSS. Further investigations into catalase, SOD and other antioxidant enzymes should shed more light on their roles in sulfur biology and their involvement in the reactive species interactome.

Inorganic polysulfides are intermediates in the synthesis of SSNO<sup>-</sup>, a key product of the direct interaction of NO with H<sub>2</sub>S, and products of its decomposition<sup>10</sup>. The importance of polysulfides in the biological activities of this key species and its interactions with other thiols are not yet fully understood<sup>12,36</sup>. There is potential for collaborative work with other researchers more focused on the properties of the SSNO<sup>-</sup> species using the developed methods in Chapter 4: to help characterise the decomposition of SSNO<sup>-</sup> and its interactions with other relevant compounds including the small thiols such as cysteine and glutathione.

### 7.4 Small Polar Metabolites and NO

Supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC) is a promising technique for the analysis of small polar metabolites related to one carbon metabolism and the NO metabolome. Currently only ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) have been investigated using SFC. Development of a SFC based method would be beneficial for the NO/arginine metabolome as it could provide better separation of the small polar metabolites, whilst likely decreasing the analysis time and even allowing simplified sample preparation techniques to be used. Initial investigations using standard mixtures will need to be undertaken to identify if SFC is suitable for this analysis and to identify an appropriate stationary phase. Currently available SFC specific columns include the Torus series with diol, 2-picolylamine selector, diethylamine selector and aminoanthracene selector stationary phases<sup>360</sup>. Any HPLC or UHPLC column can also be used with SFC including traditional stationary phases such as reversed phase C<sub>18</sub>, though not specifically designed for the use with SFC. The torus diol column would be a likely candidate for initial method development as this has shown promise for the analysis of Asc and DHA, which are also small polar molecules. If SFC proves to be suitable for the separation and analysis of the mixed metabolite standard the method will then have to be tested in biological samples such as urine, plasma, red blood cells and saliva. Further method validation will also be needed and sample collection and handling procedures established in the same manner as has been undertaken for the thiol and sulfide method (section 3.2.4).

Suitable internal standards for quantification purposes in biological samples will have to be identified. Stable isotope labelled compounds would provide suitable internal standards as long as the mass difference between the labelled and unlabelled compounds is sufficient. It would be unfeasible to have an internal standard for every single compound of interest, especially when using expensive stable isotope labelled compounds. A number of compounds that are representative of the different classes of compounds of interest will have to be selected.

### 7.5 Ascorbate Redox Analysis

Initial investigations into the analysis of ascorbic acid (Asc) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) show good initial separation. Development of the SFC method for the simultaneous analysis of Asc, DHA and AAS was stopped largely due to time constraints on the instrumentation. Whilst a suitable alternative separation method using UHPLC was developed, there would be a benefit in further work into the SFC method to improve the peak shape for DHA as the SFC method provided better separation and faster analysis. Regardless of the separation method used an internal standard would need to be selected for this method for quantification purposes in biological samples, a stable isotope labelled version of either Asc or DHA would be sufficient as long as there is a high enough mass difference between the labelled and unlabelled compounds.

Of a greater concern is the instability of both Asc and DHA. Whilst they are both widely known to oxidise readily at physiological pH after sample collection none of the methods tested to stabilise the samples were successful despite what has been reported in the literature. Additionally it appeared that one or some of the additives tried were causing rapid degradation of the column and so would not be suitable for routine use. Due to these reasons, further investigation into stabilisation of Asc and DHA is required. Since DHA is also unstable, even analysis total ascorbate using a reducing agent such as DTT will not be sufficient (**Figure 40**, **B**), as DHA is irreversibly lost. Derivatisation may be required to stabilise Asc and DHA as with the reduced thiols, which would also likely alter their chromatographic properties as well potentially improving their separation by the UHPLC method. If they are successfully stabilised then method validation will need to be performed to ensure it is suitable for the reliability and accuracy of the measurements will have to be investigated. As with the NEM-thiol method, the collection and handling of samples will also have to be considered to ensure the levels of Asc DHA and AAS are not significantly perturbed post sample collection.

### 7.6 Stable Isotope Tracing

Stable isotope tracing has been widely utilised in tracing NO and arginine metabolism with many well-established methods and does not require significant development (section 1.10). These established protocols can target different parts of the arginine-NO-nitrate pathway by monitoring the conversion of arginine into either citrulline or NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (Figure 42)<sup>215</sup>. One carbon metabolism is another target of stable isotope tracing<sup>273</sup>, and forms an important link between the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes (Figure 2, Scheme 4). By using a <sup>13</sup>C stable isotope label the movement of carbon could be traced through the methionine cycle and identify its direction and flux into and through

the two metabolomes. Creatinine could provide one important metabolic pathway endpoint to monitor the isotope labelling as it considered metabolically inert and is largely excreted in urine (section 1.7.5). Once appropriate methodology has been established stable isotope tracing will then be assessed to determine the most important areas to trace and how best to apply the established method to it.



Figure 42: Metabolic pathways for potential targeted stable isotope tracing in the NO and H<sub>2</sub>S metabolomes. Arg: arginine, Cit: citrulline, NO: nitric oxide, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-/</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>: Nitrite/Nitrate, Met: methionine, SAM: S-adenosylmethionine, SAH: S-adenosylhomocysteine, Hcys: Homocysteine, Cys: Cysteine, GSH: Reduced glutathione, H<sub>2</sub>S: Hydrogen sulfide, S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>/SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>: Thiosulfate/Sulfate. Box 1): Small thiol metabolism. Box 2): The methionine cycle. Box 3) Thiosulfate/Sulfate, targets for stable isotope tracing using existing methodology.

Stable isotope tracing has not yet been applied to the H<sub>2</sub>S metabolome, development of methodology that can make use of stable isotope tracing techniques in sulfide metabolism, similar to those used in the NO metabolome. Stable isotope tracing is needed to fill gaps in the current knowledge of sulfur metabolism including questions relating to the biological activities of reactive sulfur species such as per and polysulfides<sup>36,130</sup>. Using <sup>34</sup>S as a tracer for the movement of sulfur through this metabolome would provide an important insight into its importance in biology (**Figure 42**). The use of <sup>34</sup>S could also be combined with other stable isotopes such as <sup>15</sup>N, <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>18</sup>O to provide a comprehensive picture of the fluxes through the H<sub>2</sub>S metabolome and its crosstalk with NO, reactive oxygen species and the ascorbate metabolome. Sulfate will form an

important endpoint of  $H_2S$  metabolism to monitor, as it is one of the final metabolic products of  $H_2S$  and is excreted in urine<sup>361</sup> and can be found in saliva<sup>362</sup> providing a good potential point to monitor the endpoint of  $H_2S$  metabolism including labelling by <sup>34</sup>S.

The stable end products of oxidative sulfide metabolism are thiosulfate (S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>) and sulfate (SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>) (**Figure 42**, box **3**)). Sulfate is excreted as a metabolic product of sulfide as well as performing some biological functions, and forms a convenient endpoint to monitor sulfur metabolism. Analysis of sulfate could be performed using already established methodology such as ion chromatography mass spectrometry and would not require significant development. The principles of stable isotope tracing techniques, which have been widely utilised in the NO/Arginine metabolome<sup>215</sup>, could be applied to the sulfide metabolome. NO metabolism can be traced by using <sup>15</sup>N labelled arginine and monitoring either the production of labelled citrulline or the NO oxidation products nitrite and nitrate using existing methods. For sulfide, <sup>34</sup>S labelled methionine could be used to trace the metabolism of sulfur through homocysteine to cysteine and glutathione as well as monitoring the production and metabolism of sulfide by analysing the production of labelled sulfate (**Figure 42**) making use of the methodologies developed in this thesis.

# Appendix A UHPLC-MS/MS Development

## A.1 Mass Spectrometry Settings

Table 9:	Additional mass spectrometr	ry settings for the NEM-thiol UHPLC-MS/MS method

Capillary (kV)	2.80
Source Offset (V)	4
Desolvation Temp.	
(°C)	300
Desolvation Gas	
Flow (L/h)	800
Cone Gas Flow	
(L/h)	150
Nebuliser Pressure	
(Bar)	7.0
Collision Gas Flow	
(ml/min)	0.14

# Appendix B Polysulfides and Persulfides

## B.1 Mass Spectrometry Settings

Capillary (kV)	2.80
Source Offset (V)	4
Desolvation Temp. (°C) - <b>Direct</b>	100
Desolvation Temp. (°C) - <b>UHPLC</b>	300
Desolvation Gas Flow (L/h)	800
Cone Gas Flow (L/h)	150
Nebuliser Pressure (Bar)	7.0
Collision Gas Flow (ml/min)	0.14

### B.2 Additional data generated for NEM and IAM concentration series



Figure 43: Measured polysulfide speciation with a series of NEM concentrations using different polysulfide salts. A) 0.0031 g mixed potassium polysulfide (K<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub>) in 1 ml H<sub>2</sub>O. B)
0.0054 g mixed potassium polysulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub>) in 2 ml H<sub>2</sub>O. C) 0.0038 g mixed potassium polysulfide (K<sub>2</sub>S<sub>x</sub>) in 1 ml H<sub>2</sub>O. D) 0.0018 g sodium trisulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>) in 1 ml H<sub>2</sub>O (120 µM). E) 0.0017 g sodium tetrasulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub>) in 10 ml H<sub>2</sub>O (10 µM).



Figure 44: Measured polysulfide speciation with a series of IAM concentrations using different polysulfide salts. A) 0.0018 g sodium trisulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>) in 1 ml H<sub>2</sub>O (120 μM). B)
 0.0017 g sodium tetrasulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub>) in 10 ml H<sub>2</sub>O (10 μM).

# Appendix C Small Polar Metabolites

## C.1 UHPSFC Mass Spectrometry Settings

Table 10:Additional mass spectrometry settings for the ascorbic acid UHPSFC-MS/MS method<br/>on the Xevo TQD-MS.

Capillary (kV)	3.00
Source Offset (V)	10
Desolvation Temp. (°C)	400
Desolvation Gas Flow (L/h)	800
Cone Gas Flow (L/h)	150
Nebuliser Pressure (Bar)	7.0
Collision Gas Flow (ml/min)	0.14

## **Bibliography**

- 1. Feelisch M, Martin JF. The early role of nitric oxide in evolution. *Trends Ecol Evol* 1995;10(12):496-9.
- Olson KR. Mitochondrial adaptations to utilize hydrogen sulfide for energy and signaling. Journal of Comparative Physiology B-Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology 2012;182(7):881-97.
- 3. Olson KR, Straub KD. The Role of Hydrogen Sulfide in Evolution and the Evolution of Hydrogen Sulfide in Metabolism and Signaling. *Physiology* 2016;31(1):60-72.
- 4. Wang R. Two's company, three's a crowd: can H2S be the third endogenous gaseous transmitter? *FASEB Journal* 2002;16(13):1792-98.
- 5. Mustafa AK, Gadalla MM, Snyder SH. Signaling by Gasotransmitters. *Science Signaling* 2009;2(68):8.
- 6. Wang R. Hydrogen sulfide: a new EDRF. *Kidney International* 2009;76(7):700-04.
- 7. Yang G, Wu L, Jiang B, et al. H2S as a physiologic vasorelaxant: hypertension in mice with deletion of cystathionine gamma-lyase. *Science* 2008;322(5901):587-90.
- 8. Jiang B, Tang GH, Cao K, et al. Molecular Mechanism for H2S-Induced Activation of K-ATP Channels. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2010;12(10):1167-78.
- 9. Kimura Y, Kimura H. Hydrogen sulfide protects neurons from oxidative stress. *Faseb j* 2004;18(10):1165-7.
- 10. Cortese-Krott MM, Kuhnle GGC, Dyson A, et al. Key bioactive reaction products of the NO/H2S interaction are S/N-hybrid species, polysulfides, and nitroxyl. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2015;112(34):E4651-E60.
- 11. Kimura H. The physiological role of hydrogen sulfide and beyond. *Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry* 2014;41:4-10.
- 12. Cortese-Krott MM, Fernandez BO, Kelm M, et al. On the chemical biology of the nitrite/sulfide interaction. *Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry* 2015;46:14-24.
- 13. Bailey TS, Henthorn HA, Pluth MD. The Intersection of NO and H2S: Persulfides Generate NO from Nitrite through Polysulfide Formation. *Inorganic Chemistry* 2016;55(24):12618-25.
- Whiteman M, Le Trionnaire S, Chopra M, et al. Emerging role of hydrogen sulfide in health and disease: critical appraisal of biomarkers and pharmacological tools. *Clinical Science* 2011;121(11-12):459-88.
- 15. Whiteman M, Moore PK. Hydrogen sulfide and the vasculature: a novel vasculoprotective entity and regulator of nitric oxide bioavailability ? *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 2009;13(3):488-507.
- 16. Kimura H. Hydrogen sulfide: its production, release and functions. *Amino Acids* 2011;41(1):113-21.
- 17. Shen X, Peter EA, Bir S, et al. Analytical measurement of discrete hydrogen sulfide pools in biological specimens. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2012;52(11-12):2276-83.

- Nagy P, Palinkas Z, Nagy A, et al. Chemical aspects of hydrogen sulfide measurements in physiological samples. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-General Subjects* 2014;1840(2):876-91.
- 19. Ono K, Akaike T, Sawa T, et al. Redox chemistry and chemical biology of H2S, hydropersulfides, and derived species: implications of their possible biological activity and utility. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2014;77:82-94.
- 20. Olson KR. The therapeutic potential of hydrogen sulfide: separating hype from hope. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 2011;301(2):R297-R312.
- 21. Furne J, Saeed A, Levitt MD. Whole tissue hydrogen sulfide concentrations are orders of magnitude lower than presently accepted values. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 2008;295(5):R1479-R85.
- 22. Tsikas D. Analysis of the L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway: The unique role of mass spectrometry. *Current Pharmaceutical Analysis* 2005;1(1):15-30.
- 23. Harrison D, Griendling KK, Landmesser U, et al. Role of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. *American Journal of Cardiology* 2003;91(3):7A-11A.
- 24. Baynes JW, Thorpe SR. Role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications A new perspective on an old paradigm. *Diabetes* 1999;48(1):1-9.
- 25. Chang D, Wang F, Zhao YS, et al. Evaluation of oxidative stress in colorectal cancer patients. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences* 2008;21(4):286-89.
- 26. Furukawa S, Fujita T, Shimabukuro M, et al. Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2004;114(12):1752-61.
- 27. Moriarty SE, Shah JH, Lynn M, et al. Oxidation of glutathione and cysteine in human plasma associated with smoking. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2003;35(12):1582-88.
- 28. Zhang YX, Du YZ, Le WD, et al. Redox Control of the Survival of Healthy and Diseased Cells. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2011;15(11):2867-908.
- 29. Trachootham D, Lu WQ, Ogasawara MA, et al. Redox regulation of cell survival. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2008;10(8):1343-74.
- 30. Sies H. Oxidative stress: a concept in redox biology and medicine. *Redox Biology* 2015;4:180-83.
- 31. Jones DP, Carlson JL, Mody VC, et al. Redox state of glutathione in human plasma. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2000;28(4):625-35.
- 32. Grunwell JR, Gillespie SE, Ward JM, et al. Comparison of glutathione, cysteine, and their redox potentials in the plasma of critically ill and healthy children. *Frontiers in Pediatrics* 2015;3:6.
- 33. Zitka O, Skalickova S, Gumulec J, et al. Redox status expressed as GSH:GSSG ratio as a marker for oxidative stress in paediatric tumour patients. *Oncology Letters* 2012;4(6):1247-53.
- 34. Jones DP. Redefining oxidative stress. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 2006;8(9-10):1865-79.
- 35. Jones DP, Sies H. The Redox Code. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 2015;23(9):734-46.

- 36. Cortese-Krott MM, Koning A, Kuhnle GGC, et al. The Reactive Species Interactome: Evolutionary Emergence, Biological Significance, and Opportunities for Redox Metabolomics and Personalized Medicine. Antioxid Redox Signal 2017;27(10):684-712.
- 37. Fukuto JM, Carrington SJ, Tantillo DJ, et al. Small Molecule Signaling Agents: The Integrated Chemistry and Biochemistry of Nitrogen Oxides, Oxides of Carbon, Dioxygen, Hydrogen Sulfide, and Their Derived Species. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 2012;25(4):769-93.
- 38. Saund SS, Sosa V, Henriquez S, et al. The chemical biology of hydropersulfides (RSSH): Chemical stability, reactivity and redox roles. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 2015;588:15-24.
- 39. Turell L, Radi R, Alvarez B. The thiol pool in human plasma: The central contribution of albumin to redox processes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2013;65:244-53.
- 40. Nagy P, Winterbourn CC. Redox Chemistry Of Biological Thiols. In: Fishbein JC (ed.) Advances in Molecular Toxicology, Vol 4. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Bv; 2010 p183-222.
- 41. Wu GY, Morris SM. Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. *Biochemical Journal* 1998;336:1-17.
- 42. Go YM, Jones DP. Cysteine/cystine redox signaling in cardiovascular disease. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2011;50(4):495-509.
- 43. Ho PI, Ortiz D, Rogers E, et al. Multiple aspects of homocysteine neurotoxicity: Glutamate excitotoxicity, kinase hyperactivation and DNA damage. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 2002;70(5):694-702.
- 44. Jones DP, Carlson JL, Samiec PS, et al. Glutathione measurement in human plasma Evaluation of sample collection, storage and derivatization conditions for analysis of dansyl derivatives by HPLC. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 1998;275(2):175-84.
- Patel RS, Ghasemzadeh N, Eapen DJ, et al. Novel Biomarker of Oxidative Stress Is Associated With Risk of Death in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation* 2016;133(4):361-69.
- 46. Koning AM, Meijers WC, Pasch A, et al. Serum free thiols in chronic heart failure. *Pharmacol Res* 2016;111:452-8.
- 47. Mungli P, Shetty MS, Tilak P, et al. Total thiols: biomedical importance and their alteration in various disorders. *Online journal of health and allied sciences* 2009;8(2).
- 48. Whiteman M, Winyard PG. Hydrogen sulfide and inflammation: the good, the bad, the ugly and the promising. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol* 2011;4(1):13-32.
- 49. Gong QH, Shi XR, Hong ZY, et al. A New Hope for Neurodegeneration: Possible Role of Hydrogen Sulfide. *Journal of Alzheimers Disease* 2011;24:173-82.
- 50. Lefer DJ. Potential importance of alterations in hydrogen sulphide (H(2)S) bioavailability in diabetes. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2008;155(5):617-19.
- 51. Whiteman M, Gooding KM, Whatmore JL, et al. Adiposity is a major determinant of plasma levels of the novel vasodilator hydrogen sulphide. *Diabetologia* 2010;53(8):1722-26.
- 52. Chen XL, Jhee KH, Kruger WD. Production of the neuromodulator H2S by cystathionine betasynthase via the condensation of cysteine and homocysteine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004;279(50):52082-86.

- 53. Shibuya N, Tanaka M, Yoshida M, et al. 3-Mercaptopyruvate Sulfurtransferase Produces Hydrogen Sulfide and Bound Sulfane Sulfur in the Brain. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2009;11(4):703-14.
- 54. King AL, Polhemus DJ, Bhushan S, et al. Hydrogen sulfide cytoprotective signaling is endothelial nitric oxide synthase-nitric oxide dependent. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2014;111(8):3182-87.
- 55. Kimura H. Hydrogen polysulfide (H2S (n) ) signaling along with hydrogen sulfide (H2S) and nitric oxide (NO). *Journal of Neural Transmission* 2016;123(11):1235-45.
- 56. Ubuka T, Abe T, Kajikawa R, et al. Determination of hydrogen sulfide and acid-labile sulfur in animal tissues by gas chromatography and ion chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography B* 2001;757(1):31-37.
- Warenycia MW, Goodwin LR, Francom DM, et al. Dithiothreitol Liberates Nonacid Labile Sulfide from Brain-Tissue of H2s-Poisoned Animals. *Archives of Toxicology* 1990;64(8):650-55.
- 58. Olson KR. Hydrogen Sulfide as an Oxygen Sensor. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2015;22(5):377-97.
- 59. Ueki I, Roman HB, Valli A, et al. Knockout of the murine cysteine dioxygenase gene results in severe impairment in ability to synthesize taurine and an increased catabolism of cysteine to hydrogen sulfide. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2011;301(4):E668-E84.
- 60. Heggendorn FL, Goncalves LS, Dias EP, et al. Detection of sulphate-reducing bacteria in human saliva. *Acta Odontol Scand* 2013;71(6):1458-63.
- 61. Meister A, Anderson ME. Glutathione. Annu Rev Biochem 1983;52:711-60.
- 62. Blair IA. Analysis of endogenous glutathione-adducts and their metabolites. *Biomedical Chromatography* 2010;24(1):29-38.
- 63. Cotgreave IA, Gerdes RG. Recent trends in glutathione biochemistry Glutathione-protein interactions: A molecular link between oxidative stress and cell proliferation? *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 1998;242(1):1-9.
- 64. Blair IA. Endogenous glutathione adducts. Current Drug Metabolism 2006;7(8):853-72.
- 65. Meister A. Glutathione-ascorbic acid antioxidant system in animals. *J Biol Chem* 1994;269(13):9397-400.
- 66. Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, et al. Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 2007;39(1):44-84.
- 67. Masella R, Di Benedetto R, Vari R, et al. Novel mechanisms of natural antioxidant compounds in biological systems: Involvement of glutathione and glutathione-related enzymes. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 2005;16(10):577-86.
- 68. Jones DP, Liang YL. Measuring the poise of thiol/disulfide couples in vivo. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2009;47(10):1329-38.
- 69. Yeh MY, Burnham EL, Moss M, et al. Chronic alcoholism alters systemic and pulmonary glutathione redox status. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2007;176(3):270-76.

- 70. Lu SC. Regulation of hepatic glutathione synthesis: current concepts and controversies. *FASEB Journal* 1999;13(10):1169-83.
- 71. Kleinman WA, Richie JP. Status of glutathione and other thiols and disulfides in human plasma. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2000;60(1):19-29.
- 72. Hultberg B, Andersson A, Isaksson A. Metabolism of homocysteine, its relation to the other cellular thiols and its mechanism of cell damage in a cell culture line (human histiocytic cell line U-937). *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1995;1269(1):6-12.
- 73. Giustarini D, Campoccia G, Fanetti G, et al. Minor thiols cysteine and cysteinylglycine regulate the competition between glutathione and protein SH groups in human platelets subjected to oxidative stress. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 2000;380(1):1-10.
- 74. Nakamura YK, Dubick MA, Omaye ST. gamma-Glutamylcysteine inhibits oxidative stress in human endothelial cells. *Life Sciences* 2012;90(3-4):116-21.
- 75. Stipanuk MH. Sulfur amino acid metabolism: Pathways for production and removal of homocysteine and cysteine. *Annual Review of Nutrition* 2004;24:539-77.
- 76. Mosharov E, Cranford MR, Banerjee R. The quantitatively important relationship between homocysteine metabolism and glutathione synthesis by the transsulfuration pathway and its regulation by redox changes. *Biochemistry* 2000;39(42):13005-11.
- 77. Jones DP, Mody VC, Carlson JL, et al. Redox analysis of human plasma allows separation of pro-oxidant events of aging from decline in antioxidant defenses. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2002;33(9):1290-300.
- 78. Janaky R, Varga V, Hermann A, et al. Mechanisms of L-cysteine neurotoxicity. *Neurochemical Research* 2000;25(9-10):1397-405.
- Hildebrandt W, Kinscherf R, Hauer K, et al. Plasma cystine concentration and redox state in aging and physical exercise. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development* 2002;123(9):1269-81.
- 80. Banjac A, Perisic T, Sato H, et al. The cystine/cysteine cycle: a redox cycle regulating susceptibility versus resistance to cell death. *Oncogene* 2008;27(11):1618-28.
- 81. Kamoun P. Endogenous production of hydrogen sulfide in mammals. *Amino Acids* 2004;26(3):243-54.
- 82. Abebe W. Effects of taurine on the reactivity of aortas from diabetic rats. *Life Sciences* 2008;82(5-6):279-89.
- 83. Zhang M, Izumi I, Kagamimori S, et al. Role of taurine supplementation to prevent exerciseinduced oxidative stress in healthy young men. *Amino Acids* 2004;26(2):203-07.
- 84. Sun Q, Wang B, Li Y, et al. Taurine Supplementation Lowers Blood Pressure and Improves Vascular Function in Prehypertension: Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *Hypertension* 2016.
- Samuni Y, Goldstein S, Dean OM, et al. The chemistry and biological activities of Nacetylcysteine. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-General Subjects* 2013;1830(8):4117-29.
- 86. Celma C, Allue JA, Prunonosa J, et al. Determination of N-acetylcysteine in human plasma by liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2000;870(1-2):13-22.

### Bibliography

- 87. Zhou J, Coles LD, Kartha RV, et al. Intravenous Administration of Stable-Labeled N-Acetylcysteine Demonstrates an Indirect Mechanism for Boosting Glutathione and Improving Redox Status. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 2015;104(8):2619-26.
- 88. Lu C, Liu G, Jia J, et al. Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method for determination of N-acetylcysteine in human plasma using an isotope-labeled internal standard. *Biomedical Chromatography* 2011;25(4):427-31.
- 89. Glowacki R, Bald E. Determination of N-Acetylcysteine and Main Endogenous Thiols in Human Plasma by HPLC with Ultraviolet Detection in the Form of Their S-Quinolinium Derivatives. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies* 2009;32(17):2530-44.
- 90. Finkelstein JD. The metabolism of homocysteine: pathways and regulation. *European Journal* of Pediatrics 1998;157:S40-S44.
- 91. Gregory JF, DeRatt BN, Rios-Avila L, et al. Vitamin B nutritional status and cellular availability of pyridoxal 5'-phosphate govern the function of the transsulfuration pathway's canonical reactions and hydrogen sulfide production via side reactions. *Biochimie* 2016.
- 92. Cuskelly GJ, Stacpoole PW, Williamson J, et al. Deficiencies of folate and vitamin B(6) exert distinct effects on homocysteine, serine, and methionine kinetics. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2001;281(6):E1182-E90.
- 93. Pogribna M, Melnyk S, Pogribny I, et al. Homocysteine metabolism in children with Down syndrome: In vitro modulation. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 2001;69(1):88-95.
- 94. Hankey GJ, Eikelboom JW. Homocysteine and vascular disease. *Lancet* 1999;354(9176):407-13.
- 95. Bottiglieri T, Laundy M, Crellin R, et al. Homocysteine, folate, methylation, and monoamine metabolism in depression. *Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* 2000;69(2):228-32.
- 96. Seshadri S, Beiser A, Selhub J, et al. Plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002;346(7):476-83.
- 97. Ueland PM. Homocysteine species as components of plasma redox thiol status. *Clinical Chemistry* 1995;41(3):340-42.
- 98. Finkelstein JD. Methionine metabolism in mammals. J Nutr Biochem 1990;1(5):228-37.
- 99. Drotar A, Burton GA, Jr., Tavernier JE, et al. Widespread occurrence of bacterial thiol methyltransferases and the biogenic emission of methylated sulfur gases. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1987;53(7):1626-31.
- 100. Wainwright T, Mcdowell J, Mcmahon JF. Formation of Methional and Methanethiol from Methionine. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 1972;23(7):911-+.
- 101. Pol A, Renkema GH, Tangerman A, et al. Mutations in SELENBP1, encoding a novel human methanethiol oxidase, cause extraoral halitosis. *Nat Genet* 2018;50(1):120-29.
- 102. Suylen GMH, Large PJ, Vandijken JP, et al. Methyl Mercaptan Oxidase, a Key Enzyme in the Metabolism of Methylated Sulfur-Compounds by Hyphomicrobium Eg. *Journal of General Microbiology* 1987;133:2989-97.
- 103. Tangerman A. Measurement and biological significance of the volatile sulfur compounds hydrogen sulfide, methanethiol and dimethyl sulfide in various biological matrices. Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences 2009;877(28):3366-77.

- 104. Blom HJ, Tangerman A. Methanethiol metabolism in whole blood. *J Lab Clin Med* 1988;111(6):606-10.
- 105. Hansen RE, Winther JR. An introduction to methods for analyzing thiols and disulfides: Reactions, reagents, and practical considerations. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2009;394(2):147-58.
- 106. Eyer P, Podhradsky D. Evaluation of the Micromethod for Determination of Glutathione Using Enzymatic Cycling and Ellman Reagent. *Analytical Biochemistry* 1986;153(1):57-66.
- 107. Peng HJ, Chen WX, Cheng YF, et al. Thiol Reactive Probes and Chemosensors. *Sensors* 2012;12(11):15907-46.
- 108. Witter AE, Jones AD. Comparison of methods for inorganic sulfur speciation in a petroleum production effluent. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 1998;17(11):2176-84.
- 109. Lindell H, Jappinen P, Savolainen H. Determination of Sulfide in Blood with an Ion-Selective Electrode by Pre-Concentration of Trapped Sulfide in Sodium-Hydroxide Solution. *Analyst* 1988;113(5):839-40.
- 110. Fogo JK, Popowsky M. Spectrophotometric determination of hydrogen sulfide. *Analytical Chemistry* 1949;21(6):732-34.
- 111. Ishigami M, Hiraki K, Umemura K, et al. A Source of Hydrogen Sulfide and a Mechanism of Its Release in the Brain. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2009;11(2):205-14.
- 112. Newton GL, Dorian R, Fahey RC. Analysis of biological thiols: derivatization with monobromobimane and separation by reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. *Anal Biochem* 1981;114(2):383-7.
- 113. Wintner EA, Deckwerth TL, Langston W, et al. A monobromobimane-based assay to measure the pharmacokinetic profile of reactive sulphide species in blood. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2010;160(4):941-57.
- 114. Ducros V, Demuth K, Sauvant MP, et al. Methods for homocysteine analysis and biological relevance of the results. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2002;781(1-2):207-26.
- 115. Warwick GP. The mechanism of action of alkylating agents. *Cancer Res* 1963;23((8 Pt. 1)):1315-33.
- 116. Winther JR, Thorpe C. Quantification of thiols and disulfides. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-General Subjects* 2014;1840(2):838-46.
- 117. Akaike T, Ida T, Wei F-Y, et al. Cysteinyl-tRNA synthetase governs cysteine polysulfidation and mitochondrial bioenergetics. *Nature Communications* 2017;8(1):1177.
- 118. Yang ZH, Attygalle AB. LC/MS characterization of undesired products formed during iodoacetamide derivatization of sulfhydryl groups of peptides. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* 2007;42(2):233-43.
- 119. Monostori P, Wittmann G, Karg E, et al. Determination of glutathione and glutathione disulfide in biological samples: An in-depth review. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2009;877(28):3331-46.
- 120. Rogers LK, Leinweber BL, Smith CV. Detection of reversible protein thiol modifications in tissues. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2006;358(2):171-84.

### Bibliography

- 121. Ellis RJ. Sulphur Metabolism: The Usefulness of n-Ethylmaleimide. *Nature* 1966;211(5055):1266-68.
- 122. Ellis RJ. The use of N-ethylmaleimide in stabilizing and measuring inorganic sulphur compounds. *The Biochemical journal* 1968;110(3):43P-43P.
- 123. Zabet-Moghaddam M, Kawamura T, Yatagai E, et al. Electrospray ionization mass spectroscopic analysis of peptides modified with N-ethylmaleimide or iodoacetanilide. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 2008;18(17):4891-95.
- 124. Mani AR, Ebrahimkhani MR, Ippolito S, et al. Metalloprotein-dependent decomposition of Snitrosothiols: Studies on the stabilization and measurement of S-nitrosothiols in tissues. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2006;40(9):1654-63.
- 125. Nashef AS, Osuga DT, Feeney RE. Determination of hydrogen sulfide with 5,5'-dithiobis-(2nitrobenzoic acid), N-ethylmaleimide, and parachloromercuribenzoate. *Analytical Biochemistry* 1977;79(1-2):394-405.
- 126. Sacchetta P, Di Cola D, Federici G. Alkaline hydrolysis of N-ethylmaleimide allows a rapid assay of glutathione disulfide in biological samples. *Anal Biochem* 1986;154(1):205-8.
- 127. New L-S, Chan ECY. Evaluation of BEH C-18, BEH HILIC, and HSS T3 (C-18) column chemistries for the UPLC-MS-MS analysis of glutathione, glutathione disulfide, and ophthalmic acid in mouse liver and human plasma. *Journal of Chromatographic Science* 2008;46(3):209-14.
- 128. New LS, Chan ECY. Evaluation of BEH C-18, BEH HILIC, and HSS T3 (C-18) column chemistries for the UPLC-MS-MS analysis of glutathione, glutathione disulfide, and ophthalmic acid in mouse liver and human plasma. *Journal of Chromatographic Science* 2008;46(3):209-14.
- 129. Mansoor MA, Svardal AM, Ueland PM. Determination of the Invivo Redox Status of Cysteine, Cysteinylglycine, Homocysteine, and Glutathione in Human Plasma. *Analytical Biochemistry* 1992;200(2):218-29.
- 130. Bianco CL, Chavez TA, Sosa V, et al. The chemical biology of the persulfide (RSSH)/perthiyl (RSS center dot) redox couple and possible role in biological redox signaling. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2016;101:20-31.
- 131. Ida T, Sawa T, Ihara H, et al. Reactive cysteine persulfides and S-polythiolation regulate oxidative stress and redox signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2014;111(21):7606-11.
- 132. Liu H, Radford MN, Yang C-T, et al. Inorganic hydrogen polysulfides: chemistry, chemical biology and detection. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2018.
- 133. Doka E, Pader I, Biro A, et al. A novel persulfide detection method reveals protein persulfideand polysulfide-reducing functions of thioredoxin and glutathione systems. *Science Advances* 2016;2(1).
- 134. Kimura Y, Toyofuku Y, Koike S, et al. Identification of H2S3 and H2S produced by 3mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase in the brain. *Scientific Reports* 2015;5:11.
- 135. Yadav PK, Martinov M, Vitvitsky V, et al. Biosynthesis and Reactivity of Cysteine Persulfides in Signaling. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2016;138(1):289-99.
- 136. Nakano S, Ishii I, Shinmura K, et al. Hyperhomocysteinemia abrogates fasting-induced cardioprotection against ischemia/reperfusion by limiting bioavailability of hydrogen sulfide anions. *Journal of Molecular Medicine-Jmm* 2015;93(8):879-89.

- 137. Olson KR, Gao Y, DeLeon ER, et al. Catalase as a sulfide-sulfur oxido-reductase: An ancient (and modern?) regulator of reactive sulfur species (RSS). *Redox Biology* 2017;12:325-39.
- 138. Olson KR, Gao Y, Arif F, et al. Metabolism of hydrogen sulfide (H2S) and Production of Reactive Sulfur Species (RSS) by superoxide dismutase. *Redox Biology* 2017;15:74-85.
- 139. Francoleon NE, Carrington SJ, Fukuto JM. The reaction of H2S with oxidized thiols: Generation of persulfides and implications to H2S biology. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 2011;516(2):146-53.
- 140. Bailey TS, Pluth MD. Reactions of isolated persulfides provide insights into the interplay between H2S and persulfide reactivity. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2015;89:662-67.
- 141. Chen YH, Yao WZ, Geng B, et al. Endogenous hydrogen sulfide in patients with COPD. *Chest* 2005;128(5):3205-11.
- 142. Kimura H. Signaling Molecules: Hydrogen Sulfide and Polysulfide. *Antioxidants & Redox* Signaling 2015;22(5):362-76.
- 143. Bogdandi V, Ida T, Sutton TR, et al. Speciation of reactive sulfur species and their reactions with alkylating agents: do we have any clue about what is present inside the cell? *Br J Pharmacol* 2018;0(ja).
- 144. Jacob C, Anwar A. The chemistry behind redox regulation with a focus on sulphur redox systems. *Physiologia Plantarum* 2008;133(3):469-80.
- 145. Kristiana I, Heitz A, Joll C, et al. Analysis of polysulfides in drinking water distribution systems using headspace solid-phase microextraction and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2010;1217(38):5995-6001.
- 146. Kamyshny A, Ekeltchik I, Gun J, et al. Method for the determination of inorganic polysulfide distribution in aquatic systems. *Analytical Chemistry* 2006;78(8):2631-39.
- 147. Shimamoto K, Hanaoka K. Fluorescent probes for hydrogen sulfide (H2S) and sulfane sulfur and their applications to biological studies. *Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry* 2015;46:72-79.
- 148. Kimura Y, Mikami Y, Osumi K, et al. Polysulfides are possible H2S-derived signaling molecules in rat brain. *FASEB Journal* 2013;27(6):2451-57.
- 149. Gun J, Modestov AD, Kamyshny A, et al. Electrospray ionization mass spectrometric analysis of aqueous polysulfide solutions. *Microchimica Acta* 2004;146(3-4):229-37.
- 150. Kamyshny A, Gun J, Rizkov D, et al. Equilibrium distribution of polysulfide ions in aqueous solutions at different temperatures by rapid single phase derivatization. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2007;41(7):2395-400.
- 151. Miyamoto R, Koike S, Takano Y, et al. Polysulfides (H2Sn) produced from the interaction of hydrogen sulfide (H2S) and nitric oxide (NO) activate TRPA1 channels. *Scientific Reports* 2017;7:10.
- 152. Bianco CL, Akaike T, Ida T, et al. The Reaction of Hydrogen Sulfide with Disulfides: Formation of a Stable Trisulfide and Implications to Biological Systems. *Br J Pharmacol* 2018.
- 153. Park CM, Weerasinghe L, Day JJ, et al. Persulfides: current knowledge and challenges in chemistry and chemical biology. *Molecular Biosystems* 2015;11(7):1775-85.

- 154. Padayatty SJ, Katz A, Wang YH, et al. Vitamin C as an antioxidant: Evaluation of its role in disease prevention. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 2003;22(1):18-35.
- 155. Tolbert BM, Downing M, Carlson RW, et al. Chemistry and metabolism of ascorbic acid and ascorbate sulfate. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1975;258(SEP30):48-69.
- 156. Figueroa-Mendez R, Rivas-Arancibia S. Vitamin C in Health and Disease: Its Role in the Metabolism of Cells and Redox State in the Brain. *Frontiers in Physiology* 2015;6.
- 157. Frei B, Stocker R, England L, et al. *Ascorbate The most effective antioxidant in human blood-plasma*; 1990.
- 158. Chung WY, Chung JKO, Szeto YT, et al. Plasma ascorbic acid: measurement, stability and clinical utility revisited. *Clinical Biochemistry* 2001;34(8):623-27.
- 159. Klimczak I, Gliszczynska-Swiglo A. Comparison of UPLC and HPLC methods for determination of vitamin C. *Food Chemistry* 2015;175:100-05.
- 160. Haytowitz DB. Information from USDA's Nutrient Data-Bank. *Journal of Nutrition* 1995;125(7):1952-55.
- 161. Telang PS. Vitamin C in dermatology. Indian dermatology online journal 2013;4(2):143-6.
- 162. Odriozola-Serrano I, Hernandez-Jover T, Martin-Belloso O. Comparative evaluation of UV-HPLC methods and reducing agents to determine vitamin C in fruits. *Food Chemistry* 2007;105(3):1151-58.
- 163. Deutsch JC. Dehydroascorbic acid. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2000;881(1-2):299-307.
- 164. May JM, Qu ZC, Cobb CE. Human erythrocyte recycling of ascorbic acid Relative contributions from the ascorbate free radical and dehydroascorbic acid. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004;279(15):14975-82.
- 165. Maellaro E, Del Bello B, Sugherini L, et al. Purification and characterization of glutathionedependent dehydroascorbate reductase from rat liver. *Biochem J* 1994;301 (Pt 2):471-6.
- 166. Wang Y, Kashiba M, Kasahara E, et al. Metabolic cooperation of ascorbic acid and glutathione in normal and vitamin C-deficient ODS rats. *Physiological Chemistry and Physics and Medical NMR* 2001;33(1):29-39.
- 167. May JM, Mendiratta S, Hill KE, et al. Reduction of dehydroascorbate to ascorbate by the selenoenzyme thioredoxin reductase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1997;272(36):22607-10.
- 168. Del Bello B, Maellaro E, Sugherini L, et al. Purification of NADPH-dependent dehydroascorbate reductase from rat liver and its identification with 3 alphahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. *Biochem J* 1994;304 (Pt 2):385-90.
- 169. Winkler BS, Orselli SM, Rex TS. The redox couple between glutathione and ascorbic acid: A chemical and physiological perspective. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 1994;17(4):333-49.
- 170. Buettner GR, Jurkiewicz BA. Ascorbate Free-Radical as a Marker of Oxidative Stress an Epr Study. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 1993;14(1):49-55.
- 171. Pullar JM, Bayer S, Carr AC. Appropriate Handling, Processing and Analysis of Blood Samples Is Essential to Avoid Oxidation of Vitamin C to Dehydroascorbic Acid. *Antioxidants* 2018;7(2):11.

- 172. Szultka M, Buszewska-Forajta M, Kaliszan R, et al. Determination of ascorbic acid and its degradation products by high-performance liquid chromatography-triple quadrupole mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis* 2014;35(4):585-92.
- 173. Patterson JW. The diabetogenic effect of dehydroascorbic acid. *Endocrinology* 1949;45(3):344.
- 174. Banerjee A. Blood dehydroascorbic acid and diabetes mellitus in human beings. *Ann Clin Biochem* 1982;19(Pt 2):65-70.
- 175. Som S, Basu S, Mukherjee D, et al. Ascorbic acid metabolism in diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 1981;30(6):572-7.
- 176. Baker EM, 3rd, Hammer DC, March SC, et al. Ascorbate sulfate: a urinary metabolite of ascorbic acid in man. *Science* 1971;173(3999):826-7.
- 177. Takebayashi J, Kaji H, Ichiyama K, et al. Inhibition of free radical-induced erythrocyte hemolysis by 2-O-substituted ascorbic acid derivatives. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2007;43(8):1156-64.
- 178. Takebayashi J, Tai A, Gohda E, et al. Characterization of the radical-scavenging reaction of 2-0-substituted ascorbic acid derivatives, AA-2G, AA-2P, and AA-2S: A kinetic and stoichiometric study. *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 2006;29(4):766-71.
- 179. Verlangi.Aj, Mumma RO. In-Vivo Sulfation of Cholesterol by Ascorbic-Acid 2-Sulfate. Atherosclerosis 1973;17(1):37-48.
- 180. Tsujimura M, Fukuda T, Kitamura S. Hydrolysis of L-Ascorbic-Acid 2-Sulfate to L-Ascorbic-Acid in Coho Salmon and Ayu. *Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries* 1982;48(12):1823-23.
- 181. Felton SP, Dukelow A, Felton HM. Ascorbyl-2-sulfate compared with ascorbic acid in Atlantic salmon: uptake and distribution confirmed by mass spectroscopy. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1997;215(3):248-57.
- 182. Tsujimura M, Fukuda T, Kasai T. Studies on the Excretion of Ascorbic-Acid 2-Sulfate and Total Vitamin-C into Human-Urine after Oral-Administration of Ascorbic-Acid 2-Sulfate. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology* 1982;28(5):467-76.
- 183. Manowitz P, Shapiro SS, Goldstein L. Ascorbate-2-sulfate levels in metachromatic leukodystrophy patients. *Biochem Med* 1977;18(3):274-82.
- 184. Fluharty AL, Stevens RL, Miller RT, et al. Ascorbic acid-2-sulfate sulfhohydrolase activity of human arylsulfatase A. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1976;429(2):508-16.
- 185. Campos FM, Ribeiro SMR, Della Lucia CM, et al. Optimization of Methodology to Analyze Ascorbic and Dehydroascorbic Acid in Vegetables. *Quimica Nova* 2009;32(1):87-91.
- 186. Taujenis L, Olsauskaite V, Padarauskas A. Comparison of RPLC and HILIC coupled with tandem mass spectrometry for the determination of ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids in fruits. *Chemija* 2016;27(1):52-59.
- 187. Kand'ar R, Zakova P. Determination of ascorbic acid in human plasma with a view to stability using HPLC with UV detection. *Journal of Separation Science* 2008;31(20):3503-08.
- 188. Novakova L, Solich P, Solichova D. HPLC methods for simultaneous determination of ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids. *Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2008;27(10):942-58.

- 189. Fenoll J, Martinez A, Hellin P, et al. Simultaneous determination of ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids in vegetables and fruits by liquid chromatography with tandemmass spectrometry. *Food Chemistry* 2011;127(1):340-44.
- 190. Chebrolu KK, Jayaprakasha GK, Yoo KS, et al. An improved sample preparation method for quantification of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid by HPLC. *Lwt-Food Science and Technology* 2012;47(2):443-49.
- 191. Przybyciel M, Majors RE. Phase collapse in reversed-phase LC. *Lc Gc Europe* 2002;15(10):652-+.
- 192. Dolan JW. Ion pairing Blessing or curse? Lc Gc Europe 2008;21(5):258-+.
- 193. Salminen I, Alfthan G. Plasma ascorbic acid preparation and storage for epidemiological studies using TCA precipitation. *Clinical Biochemistry* 2008;41(9):723-27.
- 194. Karlsen A, Blomhoff R, Gundersen TE. High-throughput analysis of Vitamin C in human plasma with the use of HPLC with monolithic column and UV-detection. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2005;824(1-2):132-38.
- 195. Hemstrom P, Irgum K. Hydrophilic interaction chromatography. *Journal of Separation Science* 2006;29(12):1784-821.
- 196. Lykkesfeldt J. Ascorbate and dehydroascorbic acid as biomarkers of oxidative stress: validity of clinical data depends on vacutainer system used. *Nutrition Research* 2012;32(1):66-69.
- 197. Schorah CJ, Downing C, Piripitsi A, et al. Total vitamin C, ascorbic acid, and dehydroascorbic acid concentrations in plasma of critically ill patients. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1996;63(5):760-65.
- 198. Levine M, Wang YH, Rumsey SC. Analysis of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in biological samples. *Oxidants and Antioxidants, Pt A* 1999;299:65-76.
- 199. Gokmen V, Kahraman N, Demir N, et al. Enzymatically validated liquid chromatographic method for the determination of ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids in fruit and vegetables. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2000;881(1-2):309-16.
- 200. Burini G. Development of a quantitative method for the analysis of total L-ascorbic acid in foods by high-performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2007;1154(1-2):97-102.
- 201. Simoes SID, Eleuterio CV, Cruz MEM, et al. Biochemical changes in arthritic rats: dehydroascorbic and ascorbic acid levels. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 2003;18(2):185-89.
- 202. Iwase H. Routine high-performance liquid chromatographic determination of ascorbic acid in foods using L-methionine for the pre-analysis sample stabilization. *Talanta* 2003;60(5):1011-21.
- 203. Deutsch JC. Spontaneous hydrolysis and dehydration of dehydroascorbic acid in aqueous solution. *Analytical Biochemistry* 1998;260(2):223-29.
- 204. Lykkesfeldt J. Ascorbate and dehydroascorbic acid as reliable biomarkers of oxidative stress: Analytical reproducibility and long-term stability of plasma samples subjected to acidic deproteinization. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2007;16(11):2513-16.

- 205. Khaled MY. Simultaneous hplc analysis of L-ascorbic acid, L-ascorbyl-2-sulfate and L-ascorbyl-2-polyphosphate. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies* 1996;19(19):3105-18.
- 206. Tsao CS, Young M, Rose SM. Quantitative analysis of ascorbic acid-2-sulfate by highperformance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. *J Chromatogr* 1984;308(JUN):306-9.
- 207. Ching SYL, Prins AW, Beilby JP. Stability of ascorbic acid in serum and plasma prior to analysis. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry 2002;39:518-20.
- 208. Guild LP, Lockhart EE, Harris RS. Stability of Solutions of Pure Ascorbic Acid and of Dehydroascorbic Acid. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 1948;107(2774):226-7.
- 209. Bobrowicz E, Naskalski JW, Siedlecki A. Preanalytical factors in human plasma ascorbate assay. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 2001;314(1-2):237-39.
- 210. Bradley DW, Emery G, Maynard JE. Vitamin-C in Plasma Comparative Study of Vitamin Stabilized with Trichloroacetic Acid Metaphosphoric Acid and Effects of Storage at -70 Degrees, -20 Degrees, 4 Degrees, and 25 Degrees on Stabilized Vitamin. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 1973;44(1):47-52.
- 211. Karlsen A, Blomhoff R, Gundersen TE. Stability of whole blood and plasma ascorbic acid. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2007;61(10):1233-36.
- 212. Forstermann U, Closs EI, Pollock JS, et al. Nitric oxide synthase isozymes. Characterization, purification, molecular cloning, and functions. *Hypertension* 1994;23(6 Pt 2):1121-31.
- 213. Yu YM, Young VR, Castillo L, et al. Plasma arginine and leucine kinetics and urea production rates in burn patients. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental* 1995;44(5):659-66.
- 214. Wu GY, Bazer FW, Davis TA, et al. Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health and disease. *Amino Acids* 2009;37(1):153-68.
- 215. Siervo M, Stephan BCM, Feelisch M, et al. Measurement of in vivo nitric oxide synthesis in humans using stable isotopic methods: a systematic review. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2011;51(4):795-804.
- 216. Martens-Lobenhoffer J, Bode-Boger SM. Mass spectrometric quantification of L-arginine and its pathway related substances in biofluids: The road to maturity. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2014;964:89-102.
- 217. Tsikas D. A critical review and discussion of analytical methods in the L-arginine/nitric oxide area of basic and clinical research. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2008;379(2):139-63.
- 218. Oosterink JE, Buijs N, van Goudoever JB, et al. A novel method for simultaneous measurement of concentration and enrichment of NO synthesis-specific amino acids in human plasma using stable isotopes and LC/MS ion trap analysis. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2014;958:10-15.
- 219. Di Gangi IM, Chiandetti L, Gucciardi A, et al. Simultaneous quantitative determination of N-G,N-G-dimethyl-L-arginine or asymmetric dimethylarginine and related pathway's metabolites in biological fluids by ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 2010;677(2):140-48.

- 220. van Dyk M, Mangoni AA, McEvoy M, et al. Targeted arginine metabolomics: A rapid, simple UPLC-QToF-MSE based approach for assessing the involvement of arginine metabolism in human disease. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 2015;447:59-65.
- 221. Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev* 1991;43(2):109-42.
- 222. Alderton WK, Cooper CE, Knowles RG. Nitric oxide synthases: structure, function and inhibition. *Biochemical Journal* 2001;357:593-615.
- 223. Saraiva RM, Hare J. Nitric oxide signaling in the cardiovascular system: implications for heart failure. *Current Opinion in Cardiology* 2006;21(3):221-28.
- 224. Garthwaite J, Boulton CL. Nitric oxide signaling in the central nervous system. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1995;57:683-706.
- 225. Liaudet L, Soriano FG, Szabo C. Biology of nitric oxide signaling. *Critical Care Medicine* 2000;28(4):N37-N52.
- 226. Kubes P, Suzuki M, Granger DN. Nitric oxide: an endogenous modulator of leukocyte adhesion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991;88(11):4651-5.
- 227. Wink DA, Mitchell JB. Chemical biology of nitric oxide: Insights into regulatory, cytotoxic, and cytoprotective mechanisms of nitric oxide. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 1998;25(4-5):434-56.
- 228. Wink DA, Hanbauer I, Krishna MC, et al. Nitric oxide protects against cellular damage and cytotoxicity from reactive oxygen species. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993;90(21):9813-7.
- 229. Moellering D, Mc Andrew J, Patel RP, et al. The induction of GSH synthesis by nanomolar concentrations of NO in endothelial cells: a role for gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase and gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase. *Febs Letters* 1999;448(2-3):292-96.
- 230. Li H, Marshall ZM, Whorton AR. Stimulation of cystine uptake by nitric oxide: regulation of endothelial cell glutathione levels. *Am J Physiol* 1999;276(4 Pt 1):C803-11.
- 231. Kelm M. Nitric oxide metabolism and breakdown. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Bioenergetics* 1999;1411(2-3):273-89.
- 232. Weitzberg E, Hezel M, Lundberg JO. Nitrate-Nitrite-Nitric Oxide Pathway Implications for Anesthesiology and Intensive Care. *Anesthesiology* 2010;113(6):1460-75.
- 233. Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Gladwin MT. The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 2008;7(2):156-67.
- 234. Tomlinson C, Rafii M, Sgro M, et al. Arginine is synthesized from proline, not glutamate, in enterally fed human preterm neonates. *Pediatric research* 2011;69(1):46-50.
- 235. Andrade F, Rodriguez-Soriano J, Prieto JA, et al. The arginine-creatine pathway is disturbed in children and adolescents with renal transplants. *Pediatric research* 2008;64(2):218-22.
- 236. Aktan F. iNOS-mediated nitric oxide production and its regulation. *Life Sciences* 2004;75(6):639-53.
- 237. Forstermann U, Sessa WC. Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. *European Heart Journal* 2012;33(7):829-+.

- 238. Hibbs JB, Jr., Westenfelder C, Taintor R, et al. Evidence for cytokine-inducible nitric oxide synthesis from L-arginine in patients receiving interleukin-2 therapy. *J Clin Invest* 1992;89(3):867-77.
- 239. Moali C, Boucher JL, Sari MA, et al. Substrate specificity of NO synthases: Detailed comparison of L-arginine, homo-L-arginine, their N-omega-hydroxy derivatives, and Nomega-hydroxynor-L-arginine. *Biochemistry* 1998;37(29):10453-60.
- 240. Marz W, Meinitzer A, Drechsler C, et al. Homoarginine, Cardiovascular Risk, and Mortality. *Circulation* 2010;122(10):967-75.
- 241. Cooke JP. Asymmetrical dimethylarginine The Uber marker? *Circulation* 2004;109(15):1813-18.
- 242. Teerlink T. HPLC analysis of ADMA and other methylated L-arginine analogs in biological fluids. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2007;851(1-2):21-29.
- 243. Kielstein JT, Salpeter SR, Bode-Boeger SM, et al. Symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA) as endogenous marker of renal function - a meta-analysis. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 2006;21(9):2446-51.
- 244. Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME. Creatine: Endogenous metabolite, dietary, and therapeutic supplement *Annual Review of Nutrition*. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews; 2007 p241-61.
- 245. Lawler JM, Barnes WS, Wu GY, et al. Direct antioxidant properties of creatine. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2002;290(1):47-52.
- 246. Bassit RA, Curi R, Rosa L. Creatine supplementation reduces plasma levels of proinflammatory cytokines and PGE(2) after a half-ironman competition. *Amino Acids* 2008;35(2):425-31.
- 247. Gualano B, Novaes RB, Artioli GG, et al. Effects of creatine supplementation on glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in sedentary healthy males undergoing aerobic training. *Amino Acids* 2008;34(2):245-50.
- 248. Sestili P, Martinelli C, Colombo E, et al. Creatine as an antioxidant. *Amino Acids* 2011;40(5):1385-96.
- 249. Wyss M, Kaddurah-Daouk R. Creatine and creatinine metabolism. *Physiological Reviews* 2000;80(3):1107-213.
- 250. Patel SS, Molnar MZ, Tayek JA, et al. Serum creatinine as a marker of muscle mass in chronic kidney disease: results of a cross-sectional study and review of literature. *Journal of Cachexia Sarcopenia and Muscle* 2013;4(1):19-29.
- 251. Minamishima S, Bougaki M, Sips PY, et al. Hydrogen Sulfide Improves Survival After Cardiac Arrest and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation via a Nitric Oxide Synthase 3-Dependent Mechanism in Mice. *Circulation* 2009;120(10):888-U132.
- 252. Marcolongo JP, Morzan UN, Zeida A, et al. Nitrosodisulfide S2NO (-) (perthionitrite) is a true intermediate during the "cross-talk" of nitrosyl and sulfide. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* 2016;18(43):30047-52.
- 253. DeLeon ER, Gao Y, Huang E, et al. A Case Of Mistaken Identity: Are Reactive Oxygen Species Actually Reactive Sulfide Species? Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2016:ajpregu.00455.2015.

- 254. Toohey JI, Cooper AJL. Thiosulfoxide (Sulfane) Sulfur: New Chemistry and New Regulatory Roles in Biology. *Molecules* 2014;19(8):12789-813.
- 255. Sheng YW, Abreu IA, Cabelli DE, et al. Superoxide Dismutases and Superoxide Reductases. *Chemical Reviews* 2014;114(7):3854-918.
- 256. Lenton KJ, Therriault H, Cantin AM, et al. Direct correlation of glutathione and ascorbate and their dependence on age and season in human lymphocytes. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2000;71(5):1194-200.
- 257. Swartz ME. UPLC (TM): An introduction and review. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies* 2005;28(7-8):1253-63.
- 258. Ho CS, Lam CWK, Chan MHM, et al. Electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry: principles and clinical applications. *The Clinical biochemist. Reviews* 2003;24(1):3-12.
- 259. Whitehouse CM, Dreyer RN, Yamashita M, et al. Electrospray interface for liquid chromatographs and mass spectrometers. *Anal Chem* 1985;57(3):675-9.
- 260. Banerjee S, Mazumdar S. Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry: A Technique to Access the Information beyond the Molecular Weight of the Analyte. *International Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 2012:40.
- 261. Cole RB. Some tenets pertaining to electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* 2000;35(7):763-72.
- 262. Suh JH, Kim R, Yavuz B, et al. Clinical assay of four thiol amino acid redox couples by LC-MS/MS: Utility in thalassemia. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2009;877(28):3418-27.
- 263. Saito M. History of supercritical fluid chromatography: Instrumental development. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 2013;115(6):590-99.
- 264. Taylor LT. Supercritical Fluid Chromatography. Analytical Chemistry 2010;82(12):4925-35.
- 265. Perrenoud AGG, Veuthey JL, Guillarme D. Comparison of ultra-high performance supercritical fluid chromatography and ultra-high performance liquid chromatography for the analysis of pharmaceutical compounds. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2012;1266:158-67.
- 266. Stokvis E, Rosing H, Beijnen JH. Stable isotopically labeled internal standards in quantitative bioanalysis using liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry: necessity or not? *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 2005;19(3):401-07.
- 267. Wieling J. LC-MS-MS experiences with internal standards. *Chromatographia* 2002;55:S107-S13.
- 268. Kriengsinyos W, Wykes LJ, Ball RO, et al. Oral and intravenous tracer Protocols of the indicator amino acid oxidation method provide the same estimate of the lysine requirement in healthy men. *Journal of Nutrition* 2002;132(8):2251-57.
- 269. Shin BS, Fung H-L, Upadhyay M, et al. Estimation of nitric oxide synthase activity via liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometric assay determination of N-15(3)-citrulline in biological samples. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 2015;29(5):447-55.
- 270. Marletta MA, Yoon PS, Iyengar R, et al. Macrophage Oxidation of L-Arginine to Nitrite and Nitrate Nitric-Oxide Is an Intermediate. *Biochemistry* 1988;27(24):8706-11.
- 271. Bross R, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Development of a minimally invasive protocol for the determination of phenylalanine and lysine kinetics in humans during the fed state. *Journal of Nutrition* 1998;128(11):1913-19.
- 272. Avogaro A, Toffolo G, Kiwanuka E, et al. L-arginine-nitric oxide kinetics in nonnal and type 2 diabetic subjects A stable-labelled N-15 arginine approach. *Diabetes* 2003;52(3):795-802.
- 273. Davis SR, Stacpoole PW, Williamson J, et al. Tracer-derived total and folate-dependent homocysteine remethylation and synthesis rates in humans indicate that serine is the main one-carbon donor. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2004;286(2):E272-E79.
- 274. Parker SJ, Metallo CM. Chasing One-Carbon Units to Understand the Role of Serine in Epigenetics. *Molecular Cell* 2016;61(2):185-86.
- 275. Maddocks ODK, Labuschagne CF, Adams PD, et al. Serine Metabolism Supports the Methionine Cycle and DNA/RNA Methylation through De Novo ATP Synthesis in Cancer Cells. *Molecular Cell* 2016;61(2):210-21.
- 276. Harris C, Hansen JM. Oxidative stress, thiols, and redox profiles. *Methods Mol Biol* 2012;889:325-46.
- 277. Nagy P. Mechanistic chemical perspective of hydrogen sulfide signaling. *Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry* 2015;47:S5-S6.
- 278. Hansen RE, Roth D, Winther JR. Quantifying the global cellular thiol-disulfide status. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2009;106(2):422-27.
- 279. Giustarini D, Dalle-Donne I, Milzani A, et al. Analysis of GSH and GSSG after derivatization with N-ethylmaleimide. *Nature Protocols* 2013;8(9):1660-69.
- 280. Regazzoni L, Del Vecchio L, Altomare A, et al. Human serum albumin cysteinylation is increased in end stage renal disease patients and reduced by hemodialysis: mass spectrometry studies. *Free Radical Research* 2013;47(3):172-80.
- 281. Sies H, Berndt C, Jones DP. Oxidative Stress. Annu Rev Biochem 2017;86:715-48.
- 282. Szabo C. A timeline of hydrogen sulfide (H2S) research: From environmental toxin to biological mediator. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2017.
- 283. Mustafa AK, Gadalla MM, Sen N, et al. H2S Signals Through Protein S-Sulfhydration. *Science Signaling* 2009;2(96):8.
- 284. Ortmayr K, Schwaiger M, Hann S, et al. An integrated metabolomics workflow for the quantification of sulfur pathway intermediates employing thiol protection with N-ethyl maleimide and hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Analyst* 2015;140(22):7687-95.
- 285. Escobar J, Sanchez-Illana A, Kuligowski J, et al. Development of a reliable method based on ultra-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry to measure thiol-associated oxidative stress in whole blood samples. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* 2016;123:104-12.
- 286. Fischer E. Bildung von Methylenblau als Reaktion auf Schwefelwasserstoff. *Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft* 1883;16(2):2234-36.

- 287. Gilboagarber N. Direct Spectrophotometric Determination of Inorganic Sulfide in Biological Materials and in Other Complex Mixtures. *Analytical Biochemistry* 1971;43(1):129-+.
- 288. Olson KR, DeLeon ER, Liu F. Controversies and conundrums in hydrogen sulfide biology. *Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry* 2014;41:11-26.
- 289. Lin VS, Chen W, Xian M, et al. Chemical probes for molecular imaging and detection of hydrogen sulfide and reactive sulfur species in biological systems. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2015;44(14):4596-618.
- 290. Shen XG, Pattillo CB, Pardue S, et al. Measurement of plasma hydrogen sulfide in vivo and in vitro. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2011;50(9):1021-31.
- 291. Kolluru GK, Shen XG, Bir SC, et al. Hydrogen sulfide chemical biology: Pathophysiological roles and detection. *Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry* 2013;35:5-20.
- 292. Tan B, Jin S, Sun JP, et al. New method for quantification of gasotransmitter hydrogen sulfide in biological matrices by LC-MS/MS. *Scientific Reports* 2017;7:12.
- 293. Sutton TR, Minnion M, Barbarino F, et al. A robust and versatile mass spectrometry platform for comprehensive assessment of the thiol redox metabolome. *Redox Biology* 2018;16:359-80.
- 294. Toyo'oka T. Review Recent advances in separation and detection methods for thiol compounds in biological samples. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2009;877(28):3318-30.
- 295. Guan XM, Hoffman B, Dwivedi C, et al. A simultaneous liquid chromatography/mass spectrometric assay of glutathione, cysteine, homocysteine and their disulfides in biological samples. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* 2003;31(2):251-61.
- 296. Yang Y, Geng XD. Mixed-mode chromatography and its applications to biopolymers. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2011;1218(49):8813-25.
- 297. Giustarini D, Tsikas D, Colombo G, et al. Pitfalls in the analysis of the physiological antioxidant glutathione (GSH) and its disulfide (GSSG) in biological samples: An elephant in the room. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2016;1019:21-28.
- 298. Zinellu A, Sotgia S, Usai MF, et al. Thiol redox status evaluation in red blood cells by capillary electrophoresis-laser induced fluorescence detection. *Electrophoresis* 2005;26(10):1963-68.
- 299. Polson C, Sarkar P, Incledon B, et al. Optimization of protein precipitation based upon effectiveness of protein removal and ionization effect in liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2003;785(2):263-75.
- 300. Want EJ, O'Maille G, Smith CA, et al. Solvent-dependent metabolite distribution, clustering, and protein extraction for serum profiling with mass spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* 2006;78(3):743-52.
- 301. D'Agostino LA, Lam KP, Lee R, et al. Comprehensive Plasma Thiol Redox Status Determination for Metabolomics. *Journal of Proteome Research* 2011;10(2):592-603.
- 302. Isokawa M, Kanamori T, Funatsu T, et al. Analytical methods involving separation techniques for determination of low-molecular-weight biothiols in human plasma and blood. *Journal*

of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences 2014;964:103-15.

- 303. Tuck MK, Chan DW, Chia D, et al. Standard Operating Procedures for Serum and Plasma Collection: Early Detection Research Network Consensus Statement Standard Operating Procedure Integration Working Group. Journal of Proteome Research 2009;8(1):113-17.
- 304. Anderson ME, Meister A. Dynamic state of glutathione in blood plasma. *J Biol Chem* 1980;255(20):9530-3.
- 305. Evans BC, Nelson CE, Yu SS, et al. Ex Vivo Red Blood Cell Hemolysis Assay for the Evaluation of pH-responsive Endosomolytic Agents for Cytosolic Delivery of Biomacromolecular Drugs. *Jove-Journal of Visualized Experiments* 2013(73):5.
- 306. De Paepe E, Van Meulebroek L, Rombouts C, et al. A validated multi-matrix platform for metabolomic fingerprinting of human urine, feces and plasma using ultra-high performance liquid-chromatography coupled to hybrid orbitrap high-resolution mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 2018;1033:108-18.
- 307. Bouatra S, Aziat F, Mandal R, et al. The Human Urine Metabolome. Plos One 2013;8(9):28.
- 308. Rasmussen LG, Savorani F, Larsen TM, et al. Standardization of factors that influence human urine metabolomics. *Metabolomics* 2011;7(1):71-83.
- 309. Elliot JS, Sharp RF, Lewis L. Urinary pH. The Journal of urology 1959;81(2):339-43.
- 310. Cleland WW. Dithiothreitol, a New Protective Reagent for Sh Groups. *Biochemistry* 1964;3:480-2.
- 311. Di Giuseppe D, Frosali S, Priora R, et al. The effects of age and hyperhomocysteinemia on the redox forms of plasma thiols. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* 2004;144(5):235-45.
- 312. Keller AS, Diederich L, Panknin C, et al. Possible roles for ATP release from RBCs exclude the cAMP-mediated Panx1 pathway. *American journal of physiology. Cell physiology* 2017:ajpcell.00178.2017-ajpcell.78.2017.
- 313. Allen DW, Cadman S. Comparison of the effects of N-ethylmaleimide and iodoacetamide on red blood cell membranes. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1976;152(3):318-21.
- 314. Kuninori T, Nishiyama J. Some Properties of Diastereomers Formed in the Reactions of N-Ethylmaleimide with Biological Thiols. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry 1985;49(8):2453-54.
- 315. Smyth DG, Blumenfeld OO, Konigsberg W. Reactions of N-ethylmaleimide with peptides and amino acids. *Biochem J* 1964;91((3)):589-95.
- 316. Matsui S, Aida H. Hydrolysis of Some N-Alkylmaleimides. *Journal of the Chemical Society-Perkin Transactions 2* 1978(12):1277-80.
- 317. Gregory JD. The stability of N-ethylmaleimide and its reaction with sulfhydryl groups. *Journal* of the American Chemical Society 1955;77(14):3922-23.
- 318. Bryan NS, Rassaf T, Maloney RE, et al. Cellular targets and mechanisms of nitros(yl)ation: An insight into their nature and kinetics in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2004;101(12):4308-13.

## Bibliography

- 319. Yang YH, Cruickshank C, Armstrong M, et al. New sample preparation approach for mass spectrometry-based profiling of plasma results in improved coverage of metabolome. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2013;1300:217-26.
- 320. Tumey LN, Charati M, He T, et al. Mild Method for Succinimide Hydrolysis on ADCs: Impact on ADC Potency, Stability, Exposure, and Efficacy. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2014;25(10):1871-80.
- 321. Montoya LA, Shen XG, McDermott JJ, et al. Mechanistic investigations reveal that dibromobimane extrudes sulfur from biological sulfhydryl sources other than hydrogen sulfide. *Chemical Science* 2015;6(1):294-300.
- 322. Akaike T, Ida T, Wei F-Y, et al. Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases govern protein polysulfidation and mitochondrial bioenergetics. Personal Correspondence, 2017.
- 323. Kimura H. Hydrogen Sulfide and Polysulfide Signaling. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2017;27(10):619-21.
- 324. Hill BG, Reily C, Oh JY, et al. Methods for the determination and quantification of the reactive thiol proteome. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2009;47(6):675-83.
- 325. Sardi F, Manta B, Portillo-Ledesma S, et al. Determination of acidity and nucleophilicity in thiols by reaction with monobromobimane and fluorescence detection. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2013;435(1):74-82.
- 326. Rule A, Thomas JS. CCLXIV.-The polysulphides of the alkali metals. Part II. The polysulphides of potassium. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Transactions* 1914;105(0):2819-29.
- 327. Kamyshny A, Goifman A, Gun J, et al. Equilibrium distribution of polysulfide ions in aqueous solutions at 25 degrees C: A new approach for the study of polysulfides equilibria. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2004;38(24):6633-44.
- 328. Waters. SYNAPT G2-Si MS System Instrument Specifications: Waters Corporation, 2016.
- 329. Baldwin AD, Kiick KL. Tunable Degradation of Maleimide-Thiol Adducts in Reducing Environments. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2011;22(10):1946-53.
- 330. Numakura T, Sugiura H, Akaike T, et al. Production of reactive persulfide species in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 2017.
- 331. Chernushevich IV, Loboda AV, Thomson BA. An introduction to quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *J Mass Spectrom* 2001;36(8):849-65.
- 332. Rosman KJR, Taylor PDP. Isotopic compositions of the elements 1997. *Pure and Applied Chemistry* 1998;70(1):217-35.
- 333. Seeman JI. The Curtin-Hammett Principle and the Winstein-Holness Equation New Definition and Recent Extensions to Classical Concepts. *Journal of Chemical Education* 1986;63(1):42-48.
- 334. Chang LY, Slot JW, Geuze HJ, et al. Molecular immunocytochemistry of the CuZn superoxide dismutase in rat hepatocytes. *J Cell Biol* 1988;107(6 Pt 1):2169-79.
- 335. Bowling AC, Barkowski EE, McKenna-Yasek D, et al. Superoxide dismutase concentration and activity in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurochem* 1995;64(5):2366-9.

- 336. Olson KR. A theoretical examination of hydrogen sulfide metabolism and its potential in autocrine/paracrine oxygen sensing. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology* 2013;186(2):173-79.
- 337. Olson KR. Is hydrogen sulfide a circulating "gasotransmitter" in vertebrate blood? *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Bioenergetics* 2009;1787(7):856-63.
- 338. Santori G, Domenicotti C, Bellocchio A, et al. Different efficacy of iodoacetic acid and Nethylmaleimide in high-performance liquid chromatographic measurement of liver glutathione. *Journal of Chromatography B* 1997;695(2):427-33.
- 339. Alexander NM. Spectrophotometric assay for sulfhydryl groups using N-ethylmaleimide. Analytical Chemistry 1958;30(7):1292-94.
- 340. Kosower NS, Kosower EM, Newton GL, et al. Bimane fluorescent labels: labeling of normal human red cells under physiological conditions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1979;76(7):3382-6.
- 341. Tajc SG, Tolbert BS, Basavappa R, et al. Direct determination of thiol pK(a) by isothermal titration microcalorimetry. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2004;126(34):10508-09.
- 342. Glushchenko AV, Jacobsen DW. Molecular targeting of proteins by L-homocysteine: Mechanistic implications for vascular disease. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling* 2007;9(11):1883-98.
- 343. Peskin AV, Winterbourn CC. Kinetics of the reactions of hypochlorous acid and amino acid chloramines with thiols, methionine, and ascorbate. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2001;30(5):572-79.
- 344. Ferrer-Sueta G, Manta B, Botti H, et al. Factors Affecting Protein Thiol Reactivity and Specificity in Peroxide Reduction. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 2011;24(4):434-50.
- 345. International Union of P, Applied C, Commission on Equilibrium D, et al. *Ionisation constants* of organic acids in aqueous solution. Oxford; New York: Pergamon Press; 1979.
- 346. Li Q, Lancaster JR. Chemical foundations of hydrogen sulfide biology. *Nitric Oxide-Biology and Chemistry* 2013;35:21-34.
- 347. Togawa T, Ogawa M, Nawata M, et al. High-Performance Liquid-Chromatographic Determination of Bound Sulfide and Sulfite and Thiosulfate at Their Low-Levels in Human Serum by Precolumn Fluorescence Derivatization with Monobromobimane. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 1992;40(11):3000-04.
- 348. Nair DP, Podgorski M, Chatani S, et al. The Thiol-Michael Addition Click Reaction: A Powerful and Widely Used Tool in Materials Chemistry. *Chemistry of Materials* 2014;26(1):724-44.
- 349. Bailey TS, Zalcharov LN, Pluth MD. Understanding Hydrogen Sulfide Storage: Probing Conditions for Sulfide Release from Hydrodisulfides. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2014;136(30):10573-76.
- 350. Simeoni GG, Bryk T, Gorelli FA, et al. The Widom line as the crossover between liquid-like and gas-like behaviour in supercritical fluids. *Nature Physics* 2010;6(7):503-07.
- 351. Bolmatov D, Brazhkin VV, Trachenko K. Thermodynamic behaviour of supercritical matter. *Nat Commun* 2013;4:2331.

- 352. Zinellu A, Sotgia S, Deiana L, et al. Pre-analytical factors affecting ascorbic and uric acid quantification in human plasma. *Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods* 2006;67(2-3):95-105.
- 353. Pan L, LoBrutto R, Kazakevich YV, et al. Influence of inorganic mobile phase additives on the retention, efficiency and peak symmetry of protonated basic compounds in reversed-phase liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2004;1049(1-2):63-73.
- 354. Jenkins K. 'Tips and Tricks' for Retaining and Separating Polar Compounds using Reversed-Phase and Hydrophilic Interaction Chromatography (HILIC). *Meet the Experts*: Waters Corporation, 2014.
- 355. Henriksen T, Juhler RK, Svensmark B, et al. The relative influences of acidity and polarity on responsiveness of small organic molecules to analysis with negative ion electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* 2005;16(4):446-55.
- 356. O'Neil MJ. The Merck index: an encyclopedia of chemicals, drugs, and biologicals. In: O'Neil MJ, editor. 15th ed: Cambridge, UK : Royal Society of Chemistry, 2013.
- 357. Koshiishi I, Mamura Y, Liu J, et al. Evaluation of an acidic deproteinization for the measurement of ascorbate and dehydroascorbate in plasma samples. *Clinical Chemistry* 1998;44(4):863-68.
- 358. Margolis SA, Duewer DL. Measurement of ascorbic acid in human plasma and serum: Stability, intralaboratory repeatability, and interlaboratory reproducibility. *Clinical Chemistry* 1996;42(8):1257-62.
- 359. Baker EM, Halver JE, Johnsen DO, et al. Metabolism of ascorbic acid and ascorbic-2-sulfate in man and the subhuman primate. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1975;258(SEP30):72-80.
- 360. Waters. SFC Analytical and Preparative Columns Brochure: Waters, 2016.
- 361. Florin T, Neale G, Gibson GR, et al. Metabolism of Dietary Sulfate Absorption and Excretion in Humans. *Gut* 1991;32(7):766-73.
- 362. Cole DE, Landry DA. Determination of inorganic sulfate in human saliva and sweat by controlled-flow anion chromatography. Normal values in adult humans. *J Chromatogr* 1985;337(2):267-78.